

Ivacaftor-tezacaftor-elexacaftor, tezacaftor-ivacaftor and lumacaftorivacaftor for treating cystic fibrosis [ID3834]

MTA Report

August 2023

Source of funding

This report was commissioned by the NIHR Evidence Synthesis Programme as project number 135829.

| Title: | Ivacaftor-tezacaftor-elexacaftor, tezacaftor-ivacaftor and lumacaftor-ivacaftor for treating cystic fibrosis |
|---|---|
| Produced by: | BMJ Technology Assessment Group (BMJ-TAG) |
| Authors: Correspondence to: Date completed: | Steve Edwards, Director of Health Technology Assessment, BMJ-TAG, London Ben Farrar, Senior Clinical Evidence Analyst, BMJ-TAG, London Kate Ennis, Senior Health Economist, BMJ-TAG, London Nicole Downes, Senior Clinical Evidence Analyst, BMJ-TAG, London Victoria Wakefield, Clinical Evidence Manager, BMJ-TAG, London Isaac Mackenzie, Health Economist, BMJ-TAG, London Archie Walters, Health Economist, BMJ-TAG, London Tracey Jhita, Health Economist, BMJ-TAG, London Steve Edwards, BMJ TAG, BMJ, BMA House, Tavistock Square, London, WC1H 9JR. 11/08/2023 |
| Source of funding: | This report was commissioned by the NIHR Evidence Synthesis Programme as project number 135829. |
| Declared competing interests of the authors | No competing interests were declared which affect the impartiality of this report. BMJ Technology Assessment Group (BMJ-TAG) and the editorial team of The BMJ work independently to one another. The views and opinions expressed in this report are those of the BMJ-TAG. |
| Acknowledgments: | The EAG would like to thank Dr Charlotta Karner, Kayleigh Kew, and Alexander Allen for their assistance with title, abstract and full-text appraisal, and data extraction. The EAG would like to thank the Newcastle External Assessment Group for their critique of the Second Interim Analysis of the real-world data collected as part of the Data Collection Agreement. The EAG would like to thank Dr Paul Aurora, Consultant, Great Ormond Street Hospital, for providing clinical advice throughout the project, and Dr Rishi Pabary, Consultant, Royal Brompton and Harefield Hospitals and Dr Joanna Whitehouse, Consultant and Centre Director, West Midlands Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre, for providing clinical advice throughout the project and for providing feedback on the clinical sections of the report. The EAG thanks Professor Ruth Keogh, Professor of Biostatistics and Epidemiology, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, for providing advice on survival modelling during the project. The EAG thanks Professor Paul Tappenden, Professor of Health Economics, University of Sheffield, for providing advice on the health economic model. The EAG would also like to thank Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis for support and discussion during evidence identification, and the UK CF Registry for providing data as part of Data Request 469. We thank people with cystic fibrosis and their families for consenting to their data being help in the UK CF Registry, and NHS teams in CF centres and clinics for the input of data into the Registry. The UK cystic fibrosis registry is supported and coordinated by the UK Cystic Fibrosis Trust. |
| Rider on responsibility for report: | The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NIHR Evidence Synthesis Programme. Any errors are the responsibility of the authors. |
| Report reference: | Edwards SJ, Farrar B, Ennis K, Downes, N, Wakefield, V, Mackenzie I, Walters A, Jhita, T. Ivacaftor–tezacaftor–elexacaftor, tezacaftor–ivacaftor and lumacaftor–ivacaftor for treating cystic fibrosis: A Multiple Technology Appraisal. BMJ Technology Assessment Group, 2023. |

Copyright is retained by



Contribution of authors:

| Steve Edwards | Project lead: supervised the production of the final report; critical appraisal of the clinical evidence; critical appraisal of the economic evidence; and provided feedback on all versions of the report. Guarantor of the report |
|--------------------|---|
| Ben Farrar | Devised and carried out the literature searches on clinical effectiveness; contributed to study selection and data extraction; critical appraisal of the clinical evidence; carried out network meta-analyses; critique of the Company submission; and writing the clinical sections of the report. |
| Nicole Downes | Assisted with project co-ordination. |
| Victoria Wakefield | Assisted with project co-ordination and validated statistical analyses. |
| Kate Ennis | Devised and carried out the economic literature searches; study selection; data extraction; critical appraisal of the economic evidence; development of the conceptual model; performing economic analyses; critique of the Company submission; and writing the economic sections of the report. |
| Isaac Mackenzie | Study selection; data extraction; critical appraisal of the economic evidence; development of the economic model; carried out the economic analysis; and critique of the Company submission. |
| Archie Walters | Study selection and data extraction. |
| Tracey Jhita | Critical appraisal of the economic evidence; and quality assurance of the economic model. |

All authors read and commented on draft versions of the EAG report.

All commercial in confidence data and information are highlighted in All academic in confidence data and information are highlighted in

Please note that the analyses in this report are based on list prices and do not take into account any confidential pricing arrangements. This means that the cost-effectiveness results are for illustration only. For the avoidance of doubt, they will not underpin the committee decision-making.



Abstract

Background

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a life-limiting genetic condition that affects around 9,500 people in England and Wales. CF is usually diagnosed through newborn screening and causes symptoms throughout the body, including the lungs and digestive system. Around 90% of individuals with CF have at least one copy of the *F508del* mutation on the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (*CFTR*) gene.

Objectives

To appraise the clinical and cost effectiveness of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA), tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) and lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) within their expected marketing authorisations for treating people with CF and at least one *F508del* mutation, compared to each other and established clinical management (ECM) before these treatments.

Methods

A *de novo* systematic literature review (SLR [search date February 2023]) was conducted searching electronic databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, CENTRAL), bibliographies of relevant SLRs including a relevant Cochrane review, clinical trial registers, recent conferences and evidence provided by Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Boston, MA, USA). Data on the following key outcomes were summarised: acute change in ppFEV₁; change in weight-for-age z-score and; the change in frequency of pulmonary exacerbations. Network meta-analyses were conducted where head-to-head data for comparisons were not available. Data from clinical trials and real-world evidence were examined to assess the long-term effects of ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA. A patient level simulation model was developed to assess the cost effectiveness of the three modulator treatments within their expected marketing authorisations. The model employed a lifetime horizon and was developed from perspective of the National Health Service (NHS).

Results

Data from 19 primary studies and seven open-label extension studies were prioritised in the SLR. ELX/TEZ/IVA was associated with a significantly greater increase in ppFEV₁, weight-for-age z-score and reduction in pulmonary exacerbations than ECM, LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA, and also led to a reduction in the rate of ppFEV₁ decline relative to ECM, although the magnitude of this decrease was



uncertain. LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA were also associated with significant increases in ppFEV₁ and reduction in pulmonary exacerbations relative to ECM, but with a smaller effect size than ELX/TEZ/IVA. There was some evidence that TEZ/IVA reduced the rate of ppFEV₁ decline relative to ECM, but little evidence that LUM/IVA reduced the rate of ppFEV₁ decline relative to ECM.

For the F/F population, the ICERs from the fully incremental analysis were £3,757,021; £2,290,917 and £510,269 for LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA, respectively. In the F/MF and F/Gating population, only ELX/TEZ/IVA is available. Deterministic results were similar across the two populations when compared to ECM, with ICERs of £1,157,437 and £1,217,660, respectively. In the F/RF population, the fully incremental results suggest that ELX/TEZ/IVA is the most cost-effective of the two treatments available, with a resulting ICER of £818,427 compared to the TEZ/IVA ICER of £1,885,946.

Conclusions

Despite the improved clinical benefits observed, none of the CFTR modulators assessed would be considered cost-effective based on the NICE threshold of £20,000–£30,000 per QALY gained. This is largely driven by the high acquisition costs of CFTR modulator treatments.

Abstract Word Count: 484

Study registration

The protocol for the systematic review is registered on PROSPERO (registration number CRD42023399583).

Funding

This report was commissioned by the NIHR Evidence Synthesis Programme as project number 135829.



Scientific summary

Background

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a life-limiting genetic condition that is most often diagnosed through newborn screening. There are around 9,500 people with CF in England and Wales, and 89% of these people have CF caused by at least one *F508del* mutation on the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (*CFTR*) gene. CF affects organ systems throughout the body, including the digestive system and lungs. Lung disease is the primary cause of death for people with CF, and most people with CF experience progressive lung function loss over their lifetime.

Before the availability of CFTR modulator therapies, established clinical management for CF involved treating the symptoms of CF, rather than the underlying cause of the disease. Existing therapies include inhaled mucolytics, bronchodilators antibiotics and enzyme replacement therapy. A multidisciplinary team are involved in care for people with CF which includes physiotherapists, psychologists, dieticians and social workers, in addition to specialist nurses and doctors.

CFTR modulator therapies treat the underlying cause of CF by altering the form or function of the CFTR protein. CFTR modulators have been available through the NHS via managed access agreements:

- Lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) has been available for people aged 12+ years with CF and two *F508del* copies (F/F genotype) since October 2019, and currently is available for people aged 1+ years with CF and an F/F genotype;
- Tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) has been available for people aged 12+ years with CF and an F/F genotype or one *F508del* copy and an eligible residual function mutation (F/RF genotype) since October 2019, and currently is available for people aged 6+ years with CF and an F/F or F/RF genotype;
- Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA) has been available for people aged 12+ years with CF and a single *F508del* copy with another eligible mutation (F/F, F/RF, F/minimal function [F/MF] or F/Gating genotype) since August 2020 2019, and currently is available for people aged 6+ years with CF and an F/F, F/RF, F/MF or F/Gating genotype. ELX/TEZ/IVA has also been studied in clinical trials for people with an eligible genotype aged 2 to 5.



The clinical effectiveness and safety of CFTR modulator combination therapies has been studies in clinical trials, and through real-world data collection – notably through a Data Collection Agreement between the National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE), the UK Cystic Fibrosis Trust, Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Boston, MA, USA), National Health Service (NHS) England, and NHS Improvement.

Objectives

The objective of this multiple technology appraisal (MTA) is to compare the clinical and costeffectiveness of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA with each other and established clinical management for treating CF in England and Wales for people with at least one *F508del* mutation.

Methods

A de novo systematic literature review (SLR) was conducted to identify relevant studies through searches of electronic databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, CENTRAL) up to February 2023, from bibliographies of retrieved studies including a relevant Cochrane review, clinical trial registers, relevant conferences and from an evidence submission provided by Vertex Pharmaceuticals. Prespecified eligibility criteria were used to identify studies to be include in the SLR. Two independent reviewers appraised the titles and abstracts of identified records and performed an evaluation of full-texts. Data from included studies were extracted into a standardised data extraction form by one reviewer and validated by a second. The quality of included studies was assessed by a single reviewer at both the study and outcome level using standard checklists, which was then validated by a second reviewer. Extracted data and the quality assessments were presented in structured tables. Where sufficient data were available for an outcome measure within a genotype and age-group of interest, network meta-analyses (NMA) were performed using Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo simulations. The key outcomes of the clinical effectiveness review were: changes in percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second (ppFEV₁); changes in weight-for-age z-score and; the frequency of pulmonary exacerbations. Additional real-world evidence was obtained through targeted searches of electronic databases, a data request to the UK CF Registry, reviewing the UK CF Registry records, and through an appraisal of the final report of the Data Collection Agreement produced by Vertex Pharmaceuticals.

A *de novo* economic model was developed to assess the cost-effectiveness of the three CFTR modulator treatments, using an individual patient simulation model. The economic model uses a Cox

BMJ TAG

proportional hazards model developed by Liou 2001 to predict patient survival based on changes in individual characteristics over a patient's lifetime. Individual baseline characteristics are sourced from either patient level trial data, assumptions or population data from the UK CF Registry. The populations modelled are in line with the expected marketing authorisation of each intervention. Therefore, any patients who start the model in each treatment arm before the marketing authorisation age is reached for that specific CFTR modulator receives ECM only.

Estimates of treatment effectiveness, based on change in ppFEV₁, weight-for-age z-score and rate of pulmonary exacerbations were taken from the clinical assessment of the evidence. Due to a lack of long-term data available on the treatment effectiveness of CFTR modulators over a patient's lifetime, a number of assumptions needed to be made, based on clinical expert opinion and published evidence.

Utilities based on ppFEV₁ severity (<40, 40–69, \geq 70) were obtained from the key trial of LUM/IVA; this was the only CFTR modulator trial that collected EQ-5D data. Costs were obtained from standard UK sources, with the costs of CFTR modulator treatments provided by the Company and based on published list price.

The economic model used a lifetime horizon (up to a maximum of 100 years) and the analysis is from an NHS perspective. Costs and QALYs have been discounted at 3.5%, as per the NICE reference case. The impact of uncertainty in key assumptions and model parameters was tested through a range of scenario analyses and probabilistic sensitivity analysis (PSA).

Results

Nineteen relevant studies and seven associated open label extension studies were included for data extraction from the SLR. Sixteen of these were Phase 3 (n=14), Phase 2 (n=1) or Phase 4 (n=1) randomised controlled trials, most of which were assessed to be high quality. Three non-randomised Phase 3 trials of children with CF were also included. The clinical trials were international studies but were assessed to have good generalisability to clinical practice in England and Wales.

Across genotypes, treatment with ELX/TEZ/IVA led to large and statistically significant acute increases in ppFEV₁ (F/F 12+ years genotype compared to ECM: +14.20% [95% CrI: 12.07 to 16.31]), weight-for-age z-score (F/F 12+ years genotype compared to ECM: _______) and a reduction in pulmonary exacerbations requiring intravenous antibiotics compared to ECM (F/MF

12+ years genotype compared to ECM:

, data not reported for

F/F genotype) and, where available, LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA. Clinical experts advised the EAG that the magnitude of these effects with ELX/TEZ/IVA are clinically meaningful, and likely to lead to increased survival relative to ECM, LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA. LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA were also associated with acute increases in increases in ppFEV₁, (F/F 12+ years genotype compared to ECM: LUM/IVA +2.83% [95% Crl: 1.84 to 3.81], TEZ/IVA +4.00% [95% Crl: 3.15 to 4.85]), and reductions in pulmonary exacerbations requiring intravenous antibiotics (F/F 12+ years genotype compared to ECM rate ratio: LUM/IVA: 0.44 [95% CI: NR], TEZ/IVA 0.53 [95% CI: 0.34 to 0.80]) and LUM/IVA was associated with an increase in weight-for-age z-score relative to ECM (F/F 12+ years genotype compared to ECM: LUM/IVA: DUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA were smaller than for ELX/TEZ/IVA. Nevertheless, the effects are still expected be clinical meaningful and be associated with better long-term lung-function and increased survival

compared to ECM.

The main outstanding uncertainty in the clinical effectiveness evidence is the effect of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA on the long-term annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline for people with CF. No head-to-head comparative effectiveness data are available for these long-term outcomes, and where uncontrolled long-term data are available, follow-up is often limited to 2 to 3 years follow-up. Real world data collection as part of the Data Collection Agreement does not provide robust longterm data for LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA due to the rapid transitioning of most patients to ELX/TEZ/IVA once it became available. For ELX/TEZ/IVA, the unforeseen COVID-19 pandemic likely had a strong confounding effect on clinical trial data and real-world evidence collected during periods of viral shielding. The EAG considers the magnitude of any effects of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA on the long-term annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline for people with CF to be highly uncertain, but considers there to be:

- Little evidence to suggest LUM/IVA meaningfully reduces the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM (external assessment group [EAG] preferred assumption: 0% reduction in rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM);
- Some evidence that TEZ/IVA reduces the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM, with a small effect size (EAG preferred assumption: 10.63% reduction in rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM);



 Good evidence that ELX/TEZ/IVA reduces the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM, with a highly uncertain magnitude (EAG preferred assumption: 37.70% reduction in rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM).

Additional uncertainty was noted concerning:

BMJ TAG

- The effects of CFTR modulator therapy on EQ-5D measurements of health-related quality of life in CF;
- The effects of CFTR modulator therapy on the long-term rate of pulmonary exacerbations, which were inconsistently reported across clinical trials;
- Clinically important differences for acute changes in ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-score;
- The rate of co-adherence to non-CFTR modulator therapies and the effects of reduced coadherence on CFTR modulator effectiveness;
- The long-term adverse event profile of CFTR modulators, specifically regarding mental health outcomes, hypertension and cataracts and lens opacities.

NICE typically considers interventions a cost-effective use of the NHS resources if the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) sits below a £20,000–£30,000 cost per QALY threshold. None of the EAG's base case ICERs (both pairwise versus ECM alone or full incremental results) were lower than £30,000, and were substantially higher than this upper threshold. For the F/F population, all three modulator treatments have marketing authorisation. The ICERs from the full incremental analysis within the population were £3,757,021; £2,290,917 and £510,269 for LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA, respectively.

In the F/MF and F/Gating population, only ELX/TEZ/IVA is available. Base case deterministic results were similar across the two populations when compared to ECM, with ICERs of £1,157,437 and £1,217,660, respectively.

In the F/RF population, both TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA have marketing authorisation. The full incremental results suggest that ELX/TEZ/IVA is the most cost-effective of the two treatments, producing both higher costs and higher QALYs than TEZ/IVA, with a resulting ICER of £818,427 compared to the TEZ/IVA ICER of £1,885,946.

The EAG ran a range of scenario analyses to explore the impact of different assumptions. The key drivers of cost-effectiveness for all genotype populations were the long-term assumptions of the

treatment effect of CFTR modulators on $ppFEV_1$ decline. None of the implemented scenarios resulted in an ICER below £30,000 and were substantially higher than this upper threshold.

The EAG also implemented an additional exploratory scenario to investigate the impact of ELX/TEZ/IVA preventing any long-term lung decline post treatment initiation. This exploratory scenario also assumes that the direct treatment effect of ELX/TEZ/IVA on the rate of pulmonary exacerbations lasts for a lifetime. Although this scenario resulted in lower ICERs for ELX/TEZ/IVA compared to the base case, they were still not below the £30,000 threshold, despite a severity modifier of 1.2 being applied, a 1.5% discount rate and highly optimistic assumptions regarding the long-term effectiveness of ELX/TEZ/IVA.

Conclusions

ELX/TEZ/IVA is associated with large and clinically meaningful acute improvements in lung function and weight-for-age z-score in people with CF, and results in a reduction in the frequency of pulmonary exacerbations. In the long term, ELX/TEZ/IVA reduces the rate of ppFEV₁ decline, although the magnitude of this reduction is uncertain. TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA are also associated with improved clinical outcomes for people with CF relative to ECM, but with a smaller benefit than ELX/TEZ/IVA.

Despite the improved clinical outcomes observed, none of the included CFTR modulators would be considered cost-effective based on the NICE threshold of £20,000–£30,000 per QALY gained. This is largely driven by the high acquisition costs of CFTR modulator treatments.

If multiple treatments are made available in clinical practice, it is unknown if patients may switch between CFTR modulators once they reach the age at which a more effective treatment holds marketing authorisation (i.e., TEZ/IVA or ELX/TEZ/IVA). In addition, if more than one CFTR modulator was available in routine clinical practice, patients may be started on another upon discontinuation. There is currently a lack of both clinical and cost-effectiveness data on sequences of CFTR modulator treatments.

The following areas for future research are recommended:

 Further data collection concerning the long-term effects of CFTR modulators on the rate of ppFEV₁ decline, frequency of pulmonary exacerbations and changes in infection status in people with CF;



- The impact of co-adherence to ECM medications for people treated with CFTR modulators, and the effects of discontinuing CFTR modulators;
- The lifetime adverse event profile of CFTR modulators, including regarding liver disease, cataracts, lens opacities, hypertension and adverse effects on a person's mental health;
- Further validation of the Cox proportional hazards model used to model the impact of changes in patient characteristics over time on survival in the UK population.

Scientific Summary Word Count: 2,220



Plain English summary

This project reviewed the medical benefits, risks and costs of three treatments for cystic fibrosis: elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor, lumacaftor/ivacaftor and tezacaftor/ivacaftor. They correct the underlying cause of cystic fibrosis. in people who have a specific faulty version of the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene, called *F508del*.

A thorough search of medical journals and other relevant publications was undertaken to identify evidence on how well each treatment works. People treated with elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor had large increases in lung function and other markers of overall health compared to people not treated with this medication, and this was expected to make them live longer. People treated with lumacaftor/ivacaftor and tezacaftor/ivacaftor also had increases in lung function, but this was not as large an improvement as with elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor. These treatments have only been widely available in the UK since 2019 (lumacaftor/ivacaftor and tezacaftor/ivacaftor) or 2021 (elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor), and so there is still uncertainty about their long-term effectiveness.

This project also assessed whether these treatments are likely to be considered good value for money for the NHS. The analysis found that based on the current prices of these treatments, they are unlikely to be considered good value for money for the NHS.

In summary, lumacaftor/ivacaftor and tezacaftor/ivacaftor appear to be effective, and elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor appears to be very effective, at improving the health of people with cystic fibrosis, but they are also very expensive.

Plain English Summary Word Count: 226



Table of Contents

| Abstract | |
|------------------|---|
| Scientific summ | nary6 |
| Plain English su | mmary13 |
| Table of Conter | nts14 |
| List of Tables | |
| List of Figures | |
| List of Abbrevia | itions |
| 1 Backgrour | nd |
| 1.1 Descr | ription of health problem32 |
| 1.1.1 | Brief statement describing the health problem32 |
| 1.1.2 | Aetiology, pathology and prognosis32 |
| 1.1.3 | Epidemiology34 |
| 1.1.4 | mpact of health problem |
| 1.1.5 | Measurement of disease |
| 1.2 Curre | ent service provision |
| 1.2.1 | Management of disease42 |
| 1.2.2 | Current service cost |
| 1.2.3 | Variation in services and/or uncertainty about best practice |
| 1.2.4 | Relevant national guidelines, including National Service Frameworks45 |
| 1.3 Descr | ription of technology under assessment47 |

| | 1.3.1 | Summary of Intervention | 47 |
|---|-----------|---|-----|
| | 1.3.2 | Identification of important subgroups | 49 |
| | 1.3.3 | Current usage in the NHS | 51 |
| | 1.3.4 | Anticipated costs associated with intervention | 52 |
| 2 | Definitio | n of the decision problem | 54 |
| 2 | 2.1 Dec | ision problem | 54 |
| | 2.1.1 | Critique of Company adherence to the NICE Final Scope | 60 |
| | 2.1.2 | Decision problem addressed in the Assessment Report | 60 |
| 2 | 2.2 Ove | erall aims and objectives of the assessment | 64 |
| 3 | Assessme | ent of clinical effectiveness | 65 |
| 3 | 3.1 Met | thod for reviewing effectiveness | 65 |
| | 3.1.1 | Identification of studies | 65 |
| | 3.1.2 | Inclusion and exclusion criteria | 68 |
| | 3.1.3 | Data abstraction strategy | 69 |
| | 3.1.4 | Critical appraisal strategy | 71 |
| | 3.1.5 | Methods of data synthesis | 72 |
| | 3.2 Res | ults | 73 |
| | 3.2.1 | Quantity and quality of research available | 73 |
| | 3.2.2 | EAG assessment of clinical effectiveness | 90 |
| | 3.3 Disc | cussion | 156 |
| | 3.3.1 | Summary of key results | 156 |



| | 3.3.2 | Generalisability | 158 |
|---|----------|---|-----|
| | 3.3.3 | Key issues and uncertainties | 159 |
| 4 | Assessme | ent of cost-effectiveness | 161 |
| 4 | .1 Syst | ematic review of existing cost-effectiveness evidence | 161 |
| | 4.1.1 | Methods | 161 |
| | 4.1.2 | Results – economic evaluations | 163 |
| | 4.1.3 | Results – HRQoL searches | 176 |
| | 4.1.4 | Assessment of the Company's submission | 179 |
| | 4.2 | Independent economic assessment | 183 |
| | 4.2.1 | Methods | 183 |
| | 4.2.2 | Results | 232 |
| | 4.2.3 | Discussion | 246 |
| | 5 | Assessment of factors relevant to the NHS and other parties | 254 |
| | 6 | Discussion | 255 |
| | 6.1 | Statement of principle findings | 255 |
| | 6.2 | Strengths and limitations of the assessment | 259 |
| | 6.3 | Uncertainties | 261 |
| | 7 | Conclusions | 262 |
| | 7.1 | Implications for service provision | 262 |
| | 7.2 | Suggested research priorities | 262 |
| | 8 | References | 264 |

| 9 | Appendices | 288 |
|-------|---|-----|
| 9.1 | Literature search strategies | 288 |
| 9.1.1 | EAG database searches | 288 |
| 9.1.2 | Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register | 289 |
| 9.1.3 | Economic evaluation and HRQoL SLR search strategies | 292 |
| 9.1.4 | Critique of Company's SLR | 298 |
| 9.2 | Quality assessment | 302 |
| 9.2.1 | Study-level quality assessment | 302 |
| 9.2.2 | Outcome-level risk of bias assessment for ppFEV1 and LCI2.5 | 310 |
| 9.2.3 | Outcome-level risk of bias assessment for pulmonary exacerbations | 316 |
| 9.2.4 | Outcome-level risk of bias assessment for serious adverse events | 321 |
| 9.2.5 | Economic evaluations studies quality assessment- Drummond checklist | 326 |
| 9.3 | Clinical data extraction tables | 336 |
| 9.3.1 | Baseline characteristics | 336 |
| 9.3.2 | Participant disposition | 343 |
| 9.3.3 | Prior and concomitant medication | 345 |
| 9.3.4 | Clinical outcomes | 347 |
| 9.3.5 | Adverse events | 354 |
| 9.4 | Linked references of prioritised studies | 357 |
| 9.5 | Tables of excluded and deprioritised records with rationale | 377 |
| 9.6 | Detailed data extraction tables | 385 |



| 9.6.1 | Economic evaluation searches data extraction | |
|------------------------------------|--|--|
| 9.6.2 | HRQoL searches data extraction400 | |
| 9.7 | NMA diagnostic plots | |
| 9.8 | Age distribution of patients for each genotype in CF Registry 2018 to inform model | |
| population produced by the Company | | |
| 9.9 | Health economic established clinical management costs408 | |



List of Tables

| Table 1. The prevalence of CF genotypes of people with CF aged ≥ 6 years in England and Wales 36 |
|---|
| Table 2. Common measurements of the severity of cystic fibrosis. 40 |
| Table 3. Proportion of people with CF receiving non-CFTR modulator treatments reported in the UK |
| Cystic Fibrosis Registry 2021 Annual Report43 |
| Table 4. Guidelines for the care and treatment of CF 46 |
| Table 5. Dosing recommendations for LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 1 to 5 years |
| Table 6. Dosing recommendations for TEZ/IVA patients aged 6 years and older |
| Table 7. Dosing recommendations for ELX/TEZ/IVA patients aged 6 years and older |
| Table 8. Intervention costs for the included CFTR modulator treatments |
| Table 9. The decision problem in the NICE final scope, addressed in the Company submission and the |
| decision problem addressed by the EAG in the Assessment Report |
| Table 10. Interventions and comparators relevant to the appraisal by CF genotype. 62 |
| Table 11. Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the SLR69 |
| Table 12. Outcomes and corresponding data extracted as part of the SLR. 70 |
| Table 13. Summary of studies prioritised from the systematic review of clinical effectiveness78 |
| Table 14. Open-label extension studies of studies included in the systematic review of clinical |
| effectiveness |
| Table 15. Data availability for studies including ELX/TEZ/IVA by age and CF genotype 83 |
| Table 16. Data availability for studies including TEZ/IVA by age and CF genotype 84 |
| Table 17. Data availability for studies including LUM/IVA by age and CF genotype |
| Table 18. EAG's study-level quality assessment of RCTs included in the clincial effectiveness SLR87 |

BMJ TAG

| Table 19. Study start dates and primary completion dates of studies prioritised in the EAG SLR where |
|--|
| data collection overlapped with the COVID-19 pandemic90 |
| Table 20. Clinical efficacy outcomes of study NCT04537793 of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 2 |
| to 5 with either an F/F or F/MF genotype92 |
| Table 21. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Zemanick 2021 of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 |
| with either an F/F or F/MF genotype93 |
| Table 22. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Mall 2022 of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with |
| an F/MF genotype94 |
| Table 23. Clinical efficacy outcomes of RCTs of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+97 |
| Table 24. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Davies 2021 of TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with |
| either an F/F or F/RF genotype99 |
| Table 25. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Davies 2021 and Walker 2019 of TEZ/IVA in people with CF |
| aged 6 to 11 with either an F/F or F/RF genotype100 |
| Table 26. Clinical efficacy outcomes of placebo-controlled RCTs of TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged |
| 12+ |
| Table 27. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Rayment 2022 of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 1 to 2 years |
| with an F/F CF genotype |
| Table 28. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Stabl 2021 of LUM/IVA in people with CE aged 2 to 5 with an |
| F/F CF genotype |
| Table 29. A comparison of weight-for-age z-score, treatment compliance and discontinuation data |
| from Stahl 2021 and McNamara 2019107 |
| Table 30. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Ratjen 2017 of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with |
| an F/F genotype108 |
| Table 31. Clinical efficacy outcomes of placebo-controlled RCTs of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged |
| 12+ |



| Table 32. Between treatment difference in absolute change from $ppFEV_1$, by $ppFEV_1$ subgroup, for |
|--|
| people with CF aged 12+ years114 |
| Table 22. The frequency of cataract and hypertension AEs in CETP modulator trial open label |
| Table SS. The frequency of cataract and hypertension AES in CFTR modulator that open laber |
| extension studies |
| Table 34. Psychiatric disorders reported across RCTs of CFTR combination modulator therapies in |
| people with CF aged 12+ years over 28 weeks safety follow-up121 |
| |
| Table 35. Different sources of estimates for the relative acute increase from baseline in $ppFEV_1$ and |
| weight-for-age z-score in the F/F 6 to 11 years populations124 |
| |
| Table 36. Results of the EAG base-case NMA for absolute change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ through |
| Week 24 in the F/F 12+ years population |
| |
| Table 37. Results of the EAG sensitivity NMA for absolute change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ through |
| Week 24 in the F/F 12+ years population129 |
| Table 28 Posults of the EAG NMA for absolute change from baseling in weight for age z-score at |
| Table 56. Results of the EAG MMA for absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age 2-score at |
| week 24 in the F/F 12+ years population |
| Table 39. Rate ratio of pulmonary exacerbations of CFTR modulators compared to placebo, and |
| percentage of participants with serious pulmonary exacerbations in the F/F genotype, 12+ years. 130 |
| |
| Table 40. The distribution of non-F508del mutations in study subgroups included in the F/Gating |
| NMA |
| |
| Table 41. Results of the EAG NMA for absolute change from baseline in $ppFEV_1$ through Week 8 in |
| the F/Gating 12+ years population136 |
| Table 42 Results of the EAG NMA for absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score at |
| Wook 8 in the E/Gating 12+ years population |
| week o in the Lydating 12+ years population |
| Table 43. An assessment of the EAG's NMAs following the Confidence in Network Meta-Analysis |
| framework137 |
| |
| Table 44. EAG critique of estimates of the long-term rate of ppFEV ₁ decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA146 |



| Table 45. EAG critique of estimates of the long-term rate of $ppFEV_1$ decline for LUM/IVA and |
|--|
| TEZ/IVA |
| |
| Table 46. MMRM analysis of absolute change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ and difference from placebo |
| for CFTR modulator clinical trials of people with CF aged 12+ years |
| Table 47. Comment on analyses investigating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health |
| outcomes for people with CF from the UK CF Registry Research Committee and clinical members of |
| the UK CF Registry Steering Committee and Vertex155 |
| Table 48. Inclusion criteria: economic evaluations163 |
| Table 49. Inclusion criteria: HRQoL studies 163 |
| Table 50. Summary of included economic evaluations 169 |
| Table 51. Changes made to Company submission in HTA organisation re-analyses176 |
| Table 52. Publications identified in the health-related quality of life literature review |
| Table 53. Details of patients used from key CFTR modulator trials in the economic model |
| Table 54. Number of patients aged <6 added to total patient cohort |
| Table 55. Annual incidence of CFRD by age group and sex 197 |
| Table 56. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in $ppFEV_1$ for patients 6–11. Values also applied to |
| patients aged <6 |
| Table 57. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in ppFEV ₁ for patients 12+200 |
| Table 58. Change in the rate of pulmonary exacerbations for patient's aged 12+ |
| Table 59. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in weight for age z score for patients 6–11. Values |
| also applied to patients aged <6 |
| Table 60. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in weight for age z score for patients aged 12+.209 |
| Table 61. ELX/TEZ/IVA acute period discontinuation rates 211 |

BMJ TAG

| Table 62. TEZ/IVA acute period discontinuation rates | 212 |
|---|-----|
| Table 63. LUM/IVA acute period discontinuation rates | 212 |
| Table 64. Long term annual discontinuation rates | 213 |
| Table 65. Compliance rates applied during the acute period | 215 |
| Table 66. Included annual rates of adverse events | 218 |
| Table 67. EAG applied EQ-5D value | 220 |
| Table 68. CFTR-modulator acquisition costs (source: British National Formulary) | 222 |
| Table 69. CFTR-modulator acquisition costs per year according to dose | 223 |
| Table 70. Annual ECM costs by $ppFEV_1$ group | 226 |
| Table 71. Cost per pulmonary exacerbation event | 227 |
| Table 72. Annual monitoring costs associated with CFTR modulators | 228 |
| Table 73. Lung transplant and follow up costs | 229 |
| Table 74. EAG base case assumptions | 230 |
| Table 75. Comparisons of EAG and Company model key base case assumptions | 232 |
| Table 76. Deterministic base case results compared against ECM only | 235 |
| Table 77. Full incremental deterministic base case results | 236 |
| Table 78. Key clinical outcomes from EAG base case | 236 |
| Table 79. QALY weighting for severity modifier | 239 |
| Table 80. QALY shortfall calculations | 240 |
| Table 81. EAG scenario analyses | 240 |
| Table 82. Additional exploratory scenario analyses, pairwise results | 246 |

| Table 83. EAG search strategy for MEDLINE via Ovid. 290 |
|--|
| Table 84. EAG search strategy for Embase via Ovid. 291 |
| Table 85. Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group CENTRAL search strategy used to compile the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register |
| Table 86. Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group MEDLINE search strategy used to compile the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register |
| Table 87. EAG search strategy of CENTRAL to identify records for inclusion in the systematic literature review, using the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register (SR-CF filter) |
| Table 88. Economic evaluations search strategy for Medline via Ovid 294 |
| Table 89. EAG HRQoL search strategy for Medline via Ovid |
| Table 90. Summary of EAG's critique of the methods implemented by the Company to identify evidence relevant to the decision problem 300 |
| Table 91. A comparison between the Company's and EAG's SLRs for clinical trials |
| Table 92. Risk of bias assessment conducted at the study level by the EAG for RCTs included in the EAG SLR. |
| Table 93. EAG risk of bias assessment for ppFEV ₁ (adult and adolescent) or LCI _{2.5} outcomes (children) reported in RCTs prioritised in the EAG SLR |
| Table 94. EAG risk of bias assessment for pulmonary exacerbations reported in RCTs prioritised in the EAG SLR |
| Table 95. EAG risk of bias assessment for serious adverse events reported in RCTs prioritised in the EAG SLR. 324 |
| Table 96. Baseline characteristics of CFTR modulator trials of children with CF aged 1 to 12 prioritised in the EAG's SLR 339 |
| Table 97. Baseline characteristics of LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA trials of people with CF aged 12+ prioritised in the EAG's SLR |



| Table 98. Baseline characteristics of ELX/TEZ/IVA trials of people with CF aged 12+ prioritised in the |
|---|
| EAG's SLR |
| Table 99. Baseline characteristics of IVA trials of people with CF aged 12+ prioritised in the EAG's SLR |
| Table 100. Participant disposition in studies prioritised in the EAG SLR |
| Table 101. Prior and concomitant medications reported in studies prioritised in the EAG SLR348 |
| Table 102. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies recruiting people under 12 years prioritised in the EAG SLR. 350 |
| Table 103. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies of LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA recruiting people 12+ years prioritised in the EAG SLR. |
| Table 104. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies of ELX/TEZ/IVA studies recruiting people 12+ years prioritised in the EAG SLR. 354 |
| Table 105. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies of IVA monotherapy studies, post hoc analyses provided by the Company for people 12+ years with F/Gating mutations |
| Table 106. Summary of adverse events extracted by the EAG from ELX/TEZ/IVA clinical trials358 |
| Table 107. Summary of adverse events extracted by the EAG from TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA clinical trials 359 |
| Table 108. Linked references of studies prioritised in the EAG's clinical systematic literature review |
| Table 109. Table of studies included in the SLR but deprioritised for extractions following the pre-specified prioritisation plan in the Assessment Protocol.380 |
| Table 110. Table of studies excluded at the full-text appraisal stage of the clinical systematic literature review. 386 |
| Table 111. Weighted cost of inhaled antibiotics 413 |



List of Figures

| Figure 1. PRISMA flow diagram of records included in the clinical systematic literature review76 |
|---|
| Figure 2. Network diagram for the EAG 12+ years F/F network meta-analyses |
| Figure 3. Network diagram for the EAG 12+ years F/RF network meta-analyses |
| Figure 4. Network diagram for the EAG 12+ years F/Gating (including F/R117H) network meta- analyses |
| Figure 5. PRISMA diagram of economic evaluations searches165 |
| Figure 6. PRISMA diagram for HRQoL search178 |
| Figure 7. Individual simulation model diagram189 |
| Figure 8. Main EAG analyses based on genotype191 |
| Figure 9. ppFEV ₁ rate of change for <i>F508del</i> homozygous population. Reproduced from Szczesniak <i>et al.</i> 2023, Figure 5 |
| Figure 10. Population level ppFEV ₁ rate of change for CF patients. Reproduced from Szczesniak <i>et al.</i> 2023, Figure 2 |
| Figure 11. Absolute and relative reductions in decline of ppFEV1 applied in EAG base case and |
| scenario ages. Simulated for F/F genotype initiating treatment aged 6 years with a baseline ppFEV ₁ of 80 |
| Figure 12. F/F population model predicted survival237 |
| Figure 13. F/MF population model predicted survival238 |
| Figure 14. F/Gating population model predicted survival238 |
| Figure 15. F/RF population model predicted survival239 |



List of Abbreviations

| AE | Adverse event |
|----------|---|
| ALT | Alanine transaminase |
| AST | Aspartate transaminase |
| BL | Baseline |
| BMI | Body mass index |
| CADTH | Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health |
| CEA | Cost-Effectiveness Analysis |
| CENTRAL | Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials |
| CDR | Common Drug Review |
| CF | Cystic fibrosis |
| CFB | Change from baseline |
| CFRD | Cystic fibrosis related diabetes |
| CFFPR | Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry |
| CFTR | Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene |
| CFTR | Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein |
| CFTRm | Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator modulator |
| CFQ-R | Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised |
| CI | Confidence interval |
| CRD | Centre for Reviews and Dissemination |
| Crl | Credible interval |
| CSR | Clinical study report |
| DARE | Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects |
| DIC | Deviance information criterion |
| DPI | Dry powder for inhalation |
| DSU | Decision Support Unit |
| EAG | External Assessment Group |
| ECFS | European Cystic Fibrosis Society |
| ECM | Established clinical management |
| ELX | Elexacaftor |
| EMA | European Medicines Agency |
| ESC | Economics subcommittee |
| ESPEN | European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism |
| ESPGHAN | European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition |
| EQ-5D | European Quality of Life 5 Dimensions |
| EQ-5D-3L | European Quality of Life 5 Dimensions 3 Level Version |
| EQ-5D-5L | European Quality of Life 5 Dimensions 5 Level Version |
| F | F508del |



| FAS | Full analysis set | |
|--------------------|---|--|
| FCE | Finished consultant episode | |
| FEV ₁ | Forced expiratory volume in one second | |
| HR | Hazard ratio | |
| HRQoL | Health-related quality of life | |
| HSE | Heath Survey for England | |
| HTA | Health technology assessment | |
| HUI | Health utilities index | |
| IA | Interim analysis | |
| ICER | Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio | |
| INAHTA | International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment | |
| IQR | Interquartile range | |
| ISPOR | The International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research | |
| ITC | Indirect treatment comparison | |
| ITT | Intention to treat | |
| IV | Intravenous | |
| IVA | Ivacaftor | |
| IVRS | Interactive voice response system | |
| IWRS | Interactive web response system | |
| kg | Kilograms | |
| LCI _{2.5} | Lung clearance index 2.5% | |
| LT | Long-term | |
| LUM | Lumacaftor | |
| LY | Life years | |
| LYG | Life years gained | |
| MA | Meta-analysis | |
| MCMC | Markov Chain Monte Carlo | |
| MedDRA | Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities | |
| MeSH | Medical Subject Headings | |
| MF | Minimal function | |
| mg | Milligrams | |
| ml | Millilitre | |
| mmol/L | Millimoles per litre | |
| MMRM | Mixed effects model for repeated measures | |
| MTA | Multiple technology appraisal | |
| NA | Not applicable | |
| NC | No change | |
| NICE | National Institute for Health and Care Excellence | |
| | | |

| NHB | Net health benefit |
|--------------------|---|
| NHS | National Health Service |
| NHS EED | NHS Economic Evaluations Database |
| NMA | Network meta-analysis |
| NR | Not reported |
| OLE | Open-label extension |
| PBAC | Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee |
| РВО | Placebo |
| PERT | Pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy |
| PE | Pulmonary exacerbation |
| ppFEV ₁ | Percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second |
| PRISMA | Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses |
| PSS | Personal Social Service |
| q12h | Every 12 hours |
| QALY | Quality-adjusted life year |
| qd | Once daily |
| RCT | Randomised controlled trial |
| RD | Respiratory domain |
| RF | Residual function |
| RoB 2 | Version 2 of the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomised trials |
| SAP | Statistical analysis plan |
| SAS | Safety analysis set |
| SE | Standard error |
| SD | Standard deviation |
| SF-6D | Short-Form 6-Dimension |
| SF-12 | 12-item Short-Form Health Survey |
| SF-36 | 36-Item Short Form Health Survey |
| SLR | Systematic literature review |
| SMC | Scottish Medicines Consortium |
| SmPC | Summary of Product Characteristics |
| STA | Single technology appraisal |
| TEZ | Tezacaftor |
| TSD | Technical Support Document |
| ТТО | Time trade-off |
| USA | United States of America |
| UK | United Kingdom |
| VAS | Visual analogue scale |
| WHO ICTRP | World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform |



1 Background

1.1 Description of health problem

1.1.1 Brief statement describing the health problem

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a life-limiting genetic condition affecting over 9,000 people in England and Wales,¹ and is most often diagnosed through newborn screening.² CF is a recessive condition caused by mutations in the *CFTR* gene, which codes for the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) protein: an anion transporter expressed throughout the body. CF is associated with symptoms across organ systems, including the lungs, digestive system, skin, and liver. Lung disease is the primary cause of death for people with CF, and most people with CF experience pulmonary exacerbations and progressive lung function decline over their lifetime.³

1.1.2 Aetiology, pathology and prognosis

CF is a recessive autosomal condition caused by mutations in the *CFTR* gene. The *CFTR* gene codes for the CFTR protein: an anion transporter expressed in exocrine glands throughout the body.⁴ While primarily a chloride ion transporter, CFTR also transports bicarbonate and plays a key role in maintaining osmotic pressure across the cell membranes. In CF, CFTR dysregulation leads to the build-up of thick secretions that affect multiple organ systems, including the lungs, digestive system, skin and liver.

The most common mutation causing CF is a deletion of phenylalanine at residue 508 of the *CFTR* gene (*F508del* mutation). In the UK, 89.0% of genotyped individuals had at least one *F508del* copy.¹ *F508del* leads to the misfolding and subsequent targeting for degradation of the CFTR protein, reducing CFTR expression at the plasma membrane of cells in the body.⁵ *F508del* homozygous individuals (F/F genotype) comprise 47.7% of people with CF in the UK, and 41.3% of individuals are *F508del* heterozygous including the following other mutation groups:

- *F508del* heterozygous with a minimal function mutation (F/MF genotype): Patients with one *F08del* copy and another mutation that produces no CFTR protein or one that is unresponsive to CFTR modulators.
- *F508del* heterozygous with a gating mutation (F/Gating genotype): Patients with one *F08del* copy and another mutation that is associated with CFTR expression at the cell membrane but with a reduced open probability of the CFTR ion channel.



• *F508del* heterozygous with a residual function mutation (F/RF genotype): Patients with one *F08del* copy and another mutation that is associated with CFTR expression at the cell membrane but with residual CFTR activity and ion transport. F/RF individuals typically have milder disease progression than other individuals with CF with at least one *F508del* copy.

People with CF without an *F508del* mutation comprise 10.7% of people with CF in England and Wales.¹ These individuals, on average, have milder disease compared to patients with at least one *F508del* copy, having a higher best forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), lower probability of pancreatic insufficiency and lower probability of chronic *Pseudomonas* infection.⁶

Since 2007, all babies born in England and Wales have been screened for CF using a blood spot immunoreactive trypsin test.² Serum immunoreactive trypsin can be elevated in babies with CF due to thick secretions preventing trypsinogen from reaching the intestines. Babies with positive immunoreactive trypsin tests will have a confirmatory gene test for CF, covering over 50 different mutations, and a sweat chloride test.⁷ The sweat chloride test detects elevated chloride levels on the skin of babies with CF, which builds up due to aberrant chloride ion transportation. If necessary, further genetic testing for a larger number of CF mutations may be conducted. In rare cases, a diagnosis of CF can be made upon clinical manifestations alone.⁸

Many symptoms of CF stem from damage to the pancreas and damage to the lungs. Irreversible pancreatic damage often occurs early in life, with around 83% of adults with CF in the UK being pancreatic insufficient, i.e., requiring pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy (PERT).⁹⁻¹¹ Damage to pancreatic cells is caused by thick secretions clogging the pancreatic ducts,¹¹ which can lead to the loss of acinar cells and severe impairment to β -cell function and reduced enzyme and hormone availability in the intestines.^{12, 13} This produces a host of gastrointestinal symptoms in people with CF, including bloating, cramps and malnutrition.¹⁴ Approximately 35% of adults with CF have CFRD.¹

In the lungs, CFTR dysregulation leads to thick mucus obstructing the airways, causing difficulty breathing and leading to inflammation and susceptibility to infection. Such respiratory infections are a primary cause of pulmonary exacerbations requiring hospitalisation in CF, with 38.0% of people with CF in the UK received hospital-based intravenous antibiotics in 2019.¹⁵ During the COVID-19 pandemic, this figure was lower: in 2021 18.7% of people with CF in the UK received hospital-based intravenous antibiotics.^{1, 16} Lung disease is the primary cause of death for people with CF, and most people with CF experience progressive lung function loss over their lifetime, which can be measured



using the percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second (ppFEV₁). Estimates of the rate of decline in ppFEV₁ vary between regions, age-groups, genotypes and studies; however most studies report an annual decline of around 1.5% for patients aged 12 to 30, after which the rate of decline may decrease.^{3, 17} The annual rate of decline is also lower in people with milder CF, such as those who are pancreatic sufficient.¹⁰

In 2020, 101 (1.0%) of people with CF registered in the UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry died, with a median age of death of 36 years. For people born with CF between 2015 and 2019, median predicted survival is 49.1 years, 7.6 years longer than the median predicted survival of individuals born between 2007 and 2011.¹⁵

1.1.3 Epidemiology

1.1.3.1 Incidence and/or prevalence

The Cystic Fibrosis Registry is a national centralised registry maintained by the Cystic Fibrosis Trust containing data from over 99% of people with CF in England, Wales, Scotland, and Northern Ireland.^{1, 18} The registry provides comprehensive and up-to-date data on the incidence and prevalence of CF in England and Wales. The CF Registry manages data submitted by UK CF centres from patient annual reviews, including details on pulmonary function and infections. Since the 2019 Data Collection Agreement between The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), the UK Cystic Fibrosis Trust, Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Boston, MA, USA, hereafter referred to as "Vertex"), National Health Service (NHS) England, and NHS Improvement, encounter-based data has been more systematically captured by the CF Registry.^{19, 20}

In 2021, 10,908 individuals were registered in the UK CF Registry (people with CF with at least one annual review recorded in the last three years), including 9,044 people with CF in England and 454 people with CF in Wales.¹ Across the UK, there were 188 new diagnoses of CF in 2021. Genotyping was available for at least one mutation for 99.0% of registered individuals, and for both mutations for 96.3% of registered individuals. Of those with both mutations available, 47.7% of people were *F508del* homozygous and 41.3% of people were *F508del* heterozygous, meaning that 89.0% of genotyped individuals had at least one *F508del* copy. In England, 8,072 (89.3%) of patients had at least one *F508del* copy, and in Wales, 405 (89.2%) of patients had at least one *F508del* copy. For people with CF aged \geq 6 years, the Company Submission contained data on the prevalence of F/F (*F508del* homozygous), F/MF (*F508del* heterozygous with a minimal function mutation), F/RF (*F508del*

heterozygous with a residual function mutation), and F/Gating (*F508del* heterozygous with a gating mutation), genotypes in England and Wales (Table 1).

| | Genotype prevalence ≥ 6 years, n (% of all genotyped individuals with at least one <i>F508del</i> copy) | | | |
|--|--|--------------------------|--|--|
| <i>F508del</i> genotype | England (N total = 7,600) | Wales (N total = 465) | | |
| | (N genotyped = 7,537) | (N genotyped = 456) | | |
| F/F | | | | |
| F/MF | | | | |
| F/RF | | | | |
| F/Gating | | | | |
| F/R117Hª | | | | |
| F/Other | | | | |
| No recorded <i>F508del</i> copy | | | | |
| ^a <i>R117H</i> is a non-gating residual function mutation, however is presented separately due to being within the marketing authorisation for ivacaftor monotherapy alongside other gating mutations, but not being within the marketing authorisation for tezacaftor/ivacaftor, unlike other residual function mutations. | | | | |
| Source: Vertex, data on file obtained from the UK CF Registry 2021 ²¹ | | | | |

Table 1. The prevalence of CF genotypes of people with CF aged \geq 6 years in England and Wales

1.1.4 Impact of health problem

1.1.4.1 Significance for patients in terms of ill-health (burden of disease).

The impact of CF on a person's health includes: a shortened life-expectancy; the clinical symptom burden; the treatment burden; the psychological burden of having CF and a potential lifestyle and financial burden. One of the major clinical burdens of CF is hospitalisation and requirements for IV antibiotics due to pulmonary exacerbations. In 2019, people with CF in the UK spent a median of 14 days (IQR: 12 days to 34 days) receiving hospital-based IV antibiotics, and 18 days (IQR: 12 days to 34 days) receiving home-based IV antibiotics, with a total of 44.5% of people with CF receiving IV antibiotics across the year.¹⁵ In addition, people with CF can experience a host of symptoms associated with declining lung function and symptoms associated with malabsorption, including but not limited to:^{14, 22}

- Cough and wheezing;
- Breathlessness and reduced exercise tolerance;
- Tiredness and fatigue;
- Chest pain;
- Distal intestinal obstruction syndrome;
- Gastro oesophageal reflux disease;
- Meconium ileus;
- Bloating, cramps and malnutrition;
- Pancreatic insufficiency and CFRD.

People with CF are prone to bone conditions such as osteopenia and osteoporosis,²³ and some patients may develop CF-associated liver disease.²⁴ Such longer-term outcomes can introduce a significant clinical and psychological burden of disease for people with CF, including burden associated with infertility, transplant, and shortened life expectancy:

- Infertility affects around 98% of men with CF, due to obstructive azoospermia caused by the blockage, atypical development, or absence of the vas deferens. In women with CF, fertility issues are less common, but can be caused by thicker vaginal mucus or due to CF-related illnesses.²⁵ Infertility can be associated with stress, anxiety and depression, although there is limited research regarding the burden of infertility in people with CF in paritcular.²⁶
- People with CF with severe organ damage, most commonly of the lungs, may require transplantation. In 2019 in the UK, 241 people with CF were evaluated for transplantation and 96 were accepted, with 49 people ≥ 16 years receiving a bilateral lung transplant.¹

People with CF have a large treatment burden. According to the Cystic Fibrosis Trust 2017 and 2018 Insight Surveys, adults with CF report spending an average of 150 minutes a day on treatments and physiotherapy,²⁷ with physiotherapy for airway clearance occurring at least twice daily for 10-30 minutes.²⁸ The high treatment burden associated with CF care was noted by multiple stakeholder submissions,²⁸⁻³³ and by the EAG's clinical experts. Such a high treatment burden is often translated into a large caregiver burden for caregivers of children with CF, who often must coordinate, supervise or perform certain therapies. A Vertex-sponsored systematic review of caregiver burden in
CF found publications reporting a lower utility score in CF caregivers in the UK compared to population norms in both Germany and the UK,³⁴ and a high incidence of anxiety and depression among CF caregivers.³⁵ In addition, a survey performed by CF Voices in the UK in Spring 2020 highlighted that:³⁰

- UK CF caregivers described how the work, life and financial wellbeing of carers and families had been negatively impacted by their care burden;
- The overall mean CarerQol-7D utility score of CF caregivers was 62.8, similar to that reported of carers of people with degenerative cervical myelopathy;³⁶
- The carer burden extends beyond the primary carer, with a significant impact on siblings of children with CF.

A UK-wide survey conducted by the CF Trust on the cost of living with CF in Spring 2022³⁷ reported that 77% of parents, carers and spouses felt their caring responsibilities for family members with CF had an effect on their employment.

Despite the life-limiting nature of CF, the psychological burden of CF is complex. The NICE guideline on the diagnosis and management of CF (NG78) recommends a psychological assessment should occur at each annual review,⁸ and the need for a clinical psychologist as a part of an individual's multidisciplinary team is outlined in the Cystic Fibrosis Trust's Standards for the Clinical Care of Children and Adults with cystic fibrosis in the UK.³⁸

The Standards for the Clinical Care of Children and Adults with cystic fibrosis in the UK highlights a diversity of psychological and behavioural burden that a person with CF may experience, including: the psychosocial impact of segregation from others with CF; eating difficulties; issues concerning needle aversion/phobia; the difficulty of adherence to therapies; school problems; anxiety disorders, depression; concerns over infertility; and end of life/transplant issues. Several studies have also found an association between poor clinical outcomes, such as low ppFEV₁ and pulmonary exacerbations, and reduced quality of life between people with CF.³⁹⁻⁴¹ Stakeholder submissions also foregrounded difficulties in psychological adjustment that may be particularly relevant when new, highly effective therapies are introduced.³³

Despite the clinical, psychosocial, and treatment burden of CF, people with CF often report highquality of life — similar to healthy controls on generic measures of health-related quality of life (HRQoL). In two clinical trials where the European Quality of Life 5 Dimensions 3 Level Version (EQ-

BMJ TAG

5D-3L) has been used to measure HRQoL in people with CF, namely TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT, the mean baseline EQ-5D-3L index score of participants was 0.92,^{42, 43} and EQ-5D-3L was highest for those with ppFEV₁ ≥90% (0.95), followed by 70%–90% (0.93), 40–70% (0.91) and lowest for those with ppFEV₁ <40% (0.88). Similar values were reported using the EQ-5D-5L scale in the STRIVE clinical trial.⁴⁴ These values are approximately in-line with UK population norms for ages <25 years (0.94) and 35–44 years (0.91).⁴⁵

The Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R) is a CF-specific HRQoL measure with versions available for adolescents and adults aged ≥14 years, children, and for parents of children with CF.^{46,} ⁴⁷ It is comprised of nine HRQoL domains, three symptom scales, and one health status perception scale: HRQoL domains — Physical Functioning, Vitality, Emotional state, Social limitations, Role Limitations/School Performance, Embarrassment, Body Image, Eating Disturbances and Treatment Constraints; Symptom scales — Respiratory, Digestive and Weight. The CFQ-R has been validated across CF cohorts, including parent cohorts, and displays sensitivity to differences in the HRQoL related to lung-function.^{48, 49} That CF patients can experience difficulties throughout the domains of the CFQ-R was highlighted across stakeholder submissions, and also by the EAG's clinical experts, especially for those with a high treatment burden.²⁸⁻³³ Other, system specific CF patient reported outcome measures have also been developed, such as the CFAbd-Score for abdominal symptoms.⁵⁰

The EAG's clinical experts highlighted how chronic diseases with symptom burdens like those with CF may limit earning potential of many patients. The financial burden of CF on patients and their families has been explored in a 2023 report conducted by the University of Bristol and CF Trust,⁵¹ in which 59% of adults with CF surveyed noted that they had incurred loss in income due to needing to reduce work hours, attend routine appointment or leave employment completely. It was estimated that a typical family with a member with CF will lose £6,768 a year due to the additional costs associated with travel for medical appointments, prescription costs, dietary requirements and higher energy bills. Another recent CF Trust report found that 7 in 10 people with CF reported being on benefits, with 25% of those reporting having to use their benefits for prescriptions.³⁷

1.1.4.2 Significance for the NHS

There are 30 paediatric and 26 regional CF centres in the UK, four stand-alone clinics and 76 networked clinics in the UK.¹ A multidisciplinary team is involved in care for people with CF, including a medical consultant, clinical nurse specialist, physiotherapist, dietitian, clinical psychologist, social worker and pharmacist.³⁸ People with CF should have at least two outpatient visits to their CF centre

each year, including an annual review. The recommended frequency of visits is one every 2 to 3 months, and visits may be more frequent for people experiencing clinical problems. Many people with CF will require inpatient visits, most often to receive IV antibiotics to treat infective pulmonary exacerbations. In 2019, people with CF in the UK spent a median of 14 days (IQR: 12 days to 34 days) receiving hospital-based IV antibiotics.¹⁵ Homecare for CF is also offered by most specialist CF services in the UK, often provided by the clinical nurse specialist but may also involve other members of the multidisciplinary team. Homecare for CF can involve many aspects of clinical and social care, from the provision of home-based IV antibiotics and clinical assessments to psychosocial support and health education.

Due to the multidisciplinary nature of CF and wide range of symptoms and associated comorbidities, the costs to the NHS are substantial. A cost-of-illness study conducted in 2012 estimated that the average direct health care costs for a person with CF in the UK was €20,854 (costs presented in Euros in 2012).⁵² In 2019, the confidential commercial arrangement made between NHS England and Vertex, resulted in access to the three CFTR modulator combination therapies for an estimated 5000 patients. While the amount agreed as part of the commercial arrangement is confidential, with the high costs associated with CFTR-modulator therapies it is likely that the cost for the NHS has risen in recent years.

1.1.5 Measurement of disease

An overview of common indicators of CF severity and quality of life in people with CF is detailed in Table 2.

| Measure | Description |
|------------------|--|
| Disease severity | |
| ppFEV1 | The percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second (ppFEV ₁) is a measure of a person's lung function, representing the volume of air that can be blown out in the first second following a full inspiration, standardised against the population average for a person of the same age, height, sex, and race. A variety of reference equations for calculating ppFEV ₁ have been developed, including by Knudson, ⁵³ Wang and Hankinson, ^{54, 55} Stanojevic, ⁵⁶ and the Quanjer-Global Lung Function Initiative. ⁵⁷ |

Table 2. Common measurements of the severity of cystic fibrosis.



| | In 2021, the mean ppFEV ₁ of people with CF in the UK CF Registry was 92.0% (aged <18 years) and 72.4% (aged ≥18 years). The lowest mean ppFEV ₁ , 62.6%, was observed in the highest age group, ≥60 years, reflecting the progressive loss of lung function observed in CF. ¹ A ppFEV ₁ <40% is considered advanced lung disease, ⁵⁸ and is a point at which the EAG's clinical experts stated patients would be considered for lung transplant. |
|----------------------------|---|
| LCI _{2.5} | The lung clearance index 2.5% (LCl _{2.5}) is a measure of relaxed tidal breathing through a multiple-breath washout test. The LCl _{2.5} measures the number of lung volume turnovers required to clear a tracer gas to 2.5% of its starting volume. Without requiring forced expiration, the LCl _{2.5} is suitable for use in young children and infants, where ppFEV ₁ can be difficult to measure and unreliable. ⁵⁹ Abnormal LCl _{2.5} aged 3-5 years may be a more sensitive predictor of later spirometry abnormalities than ppFEV ₁ at the same age. ⁶⁰ The LCl _{2.5} is therefore a preferred measure of lung function in young children. |
| Pulmonary exacerbations | Pulmonary exacerbations are both a cause of lung function decline in CF and are associated with reduced quality of life for people with CF.⁴⁴ The EAG's clinical experts stated that pulmonary exacerbations are acute worsening of CF symptoms that is usually associated with infection, and often requires the use of IV antibiotics. Pulmonary exacerbations are the primary cause of hospitalisation for people with CF. However, pulmonary exacerbations have been inconsistently recorded in clinical trials, and are not directly recorded in the UK CF Registry. The following definitions of pulmonary exacerbation are available: Definitions used in clinical trial protocols, such as: "New event or change in antibiotic therapy (intravenous, inhaled, or oral) for any 4 or more of the following signs/symptoms: change in sputum; new or increased haemoptysis; increased cough; increased dyspnoea; malaise, fatigue, or lethargy; temperature above 38°C (equivalent to approximately 100.4°F); anorexia or weight loss; sinus pain or tenderness; change in sinus discharge; change in physical examination of the chest; decrease in pulmonary function by 10%; radiographic changes indicative of pulmonary infection";⁶¹ In the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA) as Infective pulmonary exacerbation of CF, which has been used to recorded pulmonary exacerbations as adverse events in trials; IV antibiotic use, which is recorded in the UK CF Registry, may be used as a proxy for the rate of pulmonary exacerbations.⁶² |



| Pulmonary bacterial colonisation | Many people with CF will suffer from chronic or intermittent bacterial infections of the lung, which are monitored at each clinic visit through the microbiological surveillance of respiratory secretions. The most common bacterial infections reported in the UK CF Registry are: <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i> <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> <i>Burkholderia cepacia complex</i> <i>Aspergillus</i> <i>Haemophilus influenzae</i> Methicillin-resistant <i>S. aureus</i> Of these, <i>B. cepacia</i> infection is a severe infection predictive of a rapid decline in lung function and subsequently mortality. ⁶³ The EAG's clinical experts also highlighted how the age of <i>Pseudomonas</i> acquisition can influence future lung function decline and clinical outcomes. |
|--|--|
| Pancreatic insufficiency and CF related diabetes | Pancreatic insufficiency is often measured indirectly through the need for pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy (PERT). Pancreatic insufficiency is correlated with a more rapid decline in lung function than pancreatic sufficiency, ¹⁰ which is a marker of less severe CF. Damage to the endocrine function of the pancreas can lead to later developing CF- related diabetes, with 8.3% of people with CF in the UK in 2021 age 10 to 15 years and 35.2% of those aged ≥16 years receiving treatment for CF related diabetes. ¹ |
| Weight-, height- and BMI-for-age z-scores | Measurements of weight, height and BMI are markers of the effects of cystic fibrosis on the digestive system, and independent predictors of survival. Standardised z- scores are calculated across ages up to 20 years. |
| Sweat chloride | A sweat test is used in the diagnosis of CF and is taken in accordance with the Guidelines for the Performance of the Sweat Test for the Investigation of Cystic Fibrosis. 2nd Version. ⁷ Due to CFTR dysregulation, chloride can be elevated in the sweat of people with CF, and changes to sweat chloride levels can be indicative of the severity of CF, in addition to the efficacy of CF treatments that aim to improve CFTR function. A sweat chloride concentration of <40 mmol/L is considered normal, whereas a concentration >60 mmol/L is sufficient to support a diagnosis of CF. |
| Quality of life | |



 CFQ-R
 is a CF-specific HRQoL measure with versions available for adolescents and adults aged ≥14 years, children, and for parents of children with CF.^{46, 47} It is comprised of nine HRQoL domains, three symptom scales, and one health status perception scale: HRQoL domains: Physical Functioning, Vitality, Emotional state, Social limitations, Role Limitations/School Performance, Embarrassment, Body Image, Eating Disturbances and Treatment Constraints; Symptom scales: Respiratory, Digestive and Weight.

 The CFQ-R has been validated across CF cohorts, including parent cohorts, and displays sensitivity to differences in the HRQoL related to lung-function.^{48, 49}

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; HRQoL: health-related quality of life; IV: intravenous; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; PERT: pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy; ppFEV₁: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; UK: United Kingdom

1.2 Current service provision

1.2.1 Management of disease

Established clinical management (ECM) for CF involves managing both CF symptoms and symptoms associated with CF treatments. No ECM therapy treats the underlying cause of the disease, i.e., restores CFTR protein function. ECM for CF is coordinated by a multidisciplinary team, which includes prescribing and administering medication, planning diets, coordinating physical therapy such as airway clearance, and social and psychological support. The 2021 UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Annual Report provides details on the frequency of use of many of these therapies used by people with CF in the UK, and these are provided in Table 3. In addition, people with CF who are pancreatic insufficient will receive PERT, and those with cystic fibrosis related diabetes (CFRD) will receive insulin.

Table 3. Proportion of people with CF receiving non-CFTR modulator treatments reported in the UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry 2021 Annual Report.¹

| Therapy ^a | Percentage of people with CF using each therapy in 2021 |
|-----------------------------|---|
| Inhaled antibiotics | 53.0 |
| Long-term azithromycin | 40.9 |
| Prophylactic flucloxacillin | 19.3 |
| IV antibiotics | |
| Home | 12.6 |
| Hospital | 18.7 |



| Overall | 24.3 | | |
|---|------|--|--|
| Inhaled bronchodilators and corticosteroids | | | |
| Inhaled bronchodilators | 60.2 | | |
| Inhaled corticosteroids | 18.6 | | |
| Inhaled bronchodilators and inhaled corticosteroids combination | 29.1 | | |
| Mucoactive therapies | | | |
| DNase | 69.2 | | |
| Hypertonic saline | 37.3 | | |
| Mannitol | 3.0 | | |
| Non-invasive ventilation and oxygen use | | | |
| Non-invasive ventilation | 1.4 | | |
| Oxygen use | 4.1 | | |
| Physiotherapy | | | |
| Active cycle of breathing techniques | 12.5 | | |
| Autogenic drainage | 17.7 | | |
| Postural drainage | 6.2 | | |
| Any form of positive expiratory pressure | 59.7 | | |
| High-frequency chest wall oscillation | 1.6 | | |
| Exercise | 59.9 | | |
| Other | 17.6 | | |
| Feeding | | | |
| Any supplemental feeding | 34.6 | | |
| Gastrostomy tube/button | 4.5 | | |
| ^a Only therapies used by ≥1.0% of pwCF are reported. Therapies are not mutually exclusive. Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis: CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; IV: intravenous | | | |

Source: UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Annual Report 2021¹

The existing NICE guidance for diagnosing and managing CF recommends (NG78):⁸

- A mucoactive agent for people with CF who have clinical evidence of lung disease;
- Oral pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy for people with exocrine pancreatic insufficiency;



- Use of physical airway clearance techniques;
- A range of eradication therapies, including oral, intravenous (IV) or inhaled antibiotics for treating pulmonary infections;
- Offering oral or IV fluids to ensure adequate hydration (and rehydration if needed) for people with distal intestinal obstruction syndrome, and further treatment if this is unsuccessful;
- Referring liver disease to a liver specialist and seeking specialist advice for people with a bone mineral density standard deviation below –2.0 (z score);
- The off-label use of immunomodulators for people with CF and deteriorating lung function or repeated pulmonary exacerbations.

In addition, two therapies have been approved through NICE Single Technology Appraisals, specifically:

- TA266: Mannitol dry powder for inhalation (DPI) is recommended as an option for treating CF in adults:
 - who cannot use rhDNase because of ineligibility, intolerance or inadequate response to rhDNase and;
 - whose lung function is rapidly declining, i.e., FEV₁ decline greater than 2% annually and;
 - o for whom other osmotic agents are not considered appropriate.⁶⁴
- TA276: Tobramycin DPI and colistimethate sodium DPI are recommended, with conditions, as options for treating chronic pulmonary infection caused by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in people with CF.⁶⁵

In 2021, mannitol use was 5.0% for people with CF in the UK \ge 18 years, and 0.1% for those <18 years. Of people with CF who had a chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection, 18.1% were treatment with tobramycin DPI, and 18.0% were treated with collistimethate sodium DPI.

1.2.2 Current service cost

Treatments used as part of ECM can vary greatly between patients and care is often individualised to manage symptoms and comorbidities. Due to this, there is no set treatment cost for all CF patients. Since the introduction of the managed access agreement between Vertex and NHS England, the majority of patients are currently on a CFTR modulator treatment. The annual cost per patient based

on current list prices for ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA are: £200,187; £173,414 and £104,357 respectively. Based on the latest available data from the CF Trust on the number of patients taking each CFTR modulator in December 2021,¹ this results in an annual cost of £1.2 billion.

1.2.3 Variation in services and/or uncertainty about best practice

CF services in the UK follows the Standards for the Clinical Care of Children and Adults with cystic fibrosis in the UK,³⁸ and NG78,⁸ which recommend a multidisciplinary team for the care of people with CF, and appropriate treatments for CF symptoms. The UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Annual Data Reports provide by centre-analyses on clinical, demographic and treatment use statistics by UK CF centre. Overall, these data suggest that the use of antibiotic and mucoactive therapy is consistent between CF centres, with the possible exception of mannitol, which was not reported as being used by five adult centres. Much of the variability that exists between centres may be attributable to the patient needs of those centres, rather than systematic differences between centres.^{1, 15} UK CF centres are also consistent in having a doctor, nurse, physiotherapist and dietician available to form part of the CF multidisciplinary team, with 95.7% of surveyed adult centres and 100% of surveyed paediatric centres in 2021 reporting a member of staff available for each position. Pharmacists (adult centres: 56.5%; paediatric centres: 30.8%) and psychologists (adult centres: 65.2%; paediatric centres: 30.8%) were commonly, but not ubiquitously, available, whereas there was an inconsistent availability of social workers (adult centres: 82.6%; paediatric centres: 76.9%) and research staff (adult centres: 82.6%; paediatric centres: 76.9%).⁶⁶ The EAG's clinical experts also noted variability across England and Wales in:

- The likelihood of receiving home versus hospital-based IV antibiotic therapy;
- The treatment of first *Pseudomonas* isolation;
- The CF facilities available to patients.

1.2.4 Relevant national guidelines, including National Service Frameworks

Relevant guidelines for the care and treatment of CF are presented in Table 4.



Table 4. Guidelines for the care and treatment of CF.

| Overall CF Care Standards for the Clinical Care of Children and Adults with cystic fibrosis in the UK. Second edition. (2011) ³⁸ , currently being updated. NICE Cystic fibrosis: idignosis and management (NG78) (2017) ⁶ NHS England National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Children) ⁶⁷ National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Children) ⁶⁷ Specific CF Care Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁶⁸ Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abacessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ¹² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2017) ¹² Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ¹⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abacessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ¹² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2017) ¹² Antibiotic Treatment for cystic Fibrosis (2022) ¹⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic Fibrosis (2022) ¹⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic Fibrosis (2022) ¹⁴ Mational Consensus Standards for the versing Microbiological Samples from People with cystic Fibrosis (2022) ¹⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic Fibrosis (2022) ¹⁴ Antibiotic | Publisher | Document | |
|--|---------------------------------------|--|--|
| CF Trust Standards for the Clinical Care of Children and Adults with cysits fibrosis in the UK. Second edition. (2011) ³⁸ , curneity being updated. NICE Cystis fibrosis: itidignosis and management (NG78) (2017) ⁶ NHS England National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Children) ⁶⁷ National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Adults) ⁶⁶ Specific CF Care Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁶⁰ Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abacessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and contic (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic Fibrosis (2009) ⁷³ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁷³ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestio | Overall CF Care | | |
| NICE Cysic fibrosis: diagnosis and management (NG78) (2017) ⁸ NHS England National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cysic Fibrosis (Children) ⁹⁷ Specific CF Care Pharmacy standards in cysic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁹⁸ Standards of Care and Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cysic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷⁰ Nutitional Management of Cysic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷⁰ Rutritional Management of Cysic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷⁰ Nutitional Management of Cysic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Pharmacy Standards of Care Control (2004) ⁷⁶ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Stand | CF Trust | Standards for the Clinical Care of Children and Adults with cystic fibrosis in the UK. Second edition. (2011) ³⁸ , <i>currently being updated</i> . | |
| NHS England National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Children) ⁶⁷ Specific CF Care Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁶⁹ Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mutitional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mutitional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards of Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2002) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nur | NICE | Cystic fibrosis: diagnosis and management (NG78) (2017) ⁸ | |
| National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Aduits) ⁸⁸ Specific CF Care Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁹⁹ Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷⁰ Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁰ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Iolabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society Standards of Care | | National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Children) ⁶⁷ | |
| Specific CF Care Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁶⁹ Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷⁰ Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with Cystic fibrosis (2002) ⁷⁰ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society Standards of Care | | National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Adults) ⁶⁸ | |
| Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁶⁹ Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷⁰ Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society Standards of Care | Specific CF Care | | |
| Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2020)70Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016)71Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017)72Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011)73Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022)74Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009)75Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008)76Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004)77The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004)77The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004)78Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2002)79National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001)80European CF Society Standards of CareEuropean CF Society Standards of CareEuropean CF Society Standards of Care | | Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022) ⁶⁹ | |
| CF Trust Consensus Documents Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁹ Mational Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ European CF Society ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ | | Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2020) ⁷⁰ | |
| Kernel Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2002) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ European CF Society ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ | | Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis (2016) ⁷¹ | |
| Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society European CF Society | | <i>Mycobacterium abscessus</i> : Recommendations for infection prevention and control (2017) ⁷² | |
| CF Trust Consensus Documents Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ European CF Society European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines ⁸² | | Pharmacy Standards of Care (2011) ⁷³ | |
| CP Hust Consensus Documents Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ European CF Society European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines ⁸² | CE Trust Consonsus Decuments | Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis (2022) ⁷⁴ | |
| Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society European CF Society European CF Society Standards of Care | CF Trust Consensus Documents | Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis (2009) ⁷⁵ | |
| Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of CareEuropean CF SocietyEuropean CF SocietyEuropean CF SocietyEuropean CF SocietyEuropean CF SocietyStandards of CareEuropean CF SocietyStandards of CareEuropean CF SocietyEuropean cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines ⁸² | | Methicillin-resistant <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (MRSA) (2008) ⁷⁶ | |
| The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society European CF Society European CF Society European CF Society | | <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i> infection in people with cystic fibrosis. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁷ | |
| Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society European CF Society European CF Society European CF Society | | The <i>Burkholderia cepacia complex</i> . Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control (2004) ⁷⁸ | |
| National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society European CF Society European CF Society European CF Society | | Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes (2022) ⁷⁹ | |
| European CF Society Standards of Care European CF Society European CF Society European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines ⁸² | | National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis (2001) ⁸⁰ | |
| European CF Society ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines ⁸² | European CF Society Standards of Care | | |
| European CF Society European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines ⁸² | | ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision ⁸¹ | |
| | European CF Society | European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines ⁸² | |



| | Standards of Care for Cystic Fibrosis ten years later ⁸³ |
|--|--|
| | European Cystic Fibrosis Society Standards of Care: Framework for the Cystic Fibrosis Centre ⁸⁴ |
| | European Cystic Fibrosis Society Standards of Care: Quality Management in cystic fibrosis ⁸⁵ |
| | ESPEN-ESPGHAN-ECFS guidelines on nutrition care for infants, children and adults with cystic fibrosis (2016) ⁸⁶ |

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; ECFS: European CF Society; ESPEN: European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism; ESPGHAN: European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition; NHS: National Health Service; NHS: N

1.3 Description of technology under assessment

1.3.1 Summary of Intervention

Three CFTR modulator combination therapies are being appraised in this Multiple Technology Appraisal (MTA):

- lumacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy (LUM/IVA);
- tezacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy (TEZ/IVA);
- elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy (ELX/TEZ/IVA).

CFTR modulators treat the underlying cause of CF by altering the form or function of the CFTR protein. CFTR modulators have five categories depending on their effect on the CFTR protein: correctors; potentiators; stabilisers; amplifiers; and read-though agents. Each combination therapy includes ivacaftor (Kalydeco[®], Vertex), a CFTR potentiator, which itself has marketing authorisation as a monotherapy for the treatment of infants aged 4 months and over weighing 5 kg to 25 kg,⁸⁷ and for adults, adolescents, and children aged 6 years and older and weighing 25 kg or more with CF who have an *R117H CFTR* mutation or one of the following gating (class III) mutations in the *CFTR* gene:⁸⁸ *G551D*, *G1244E*, *G1349D*, *G178R*, *G551S*, *S1251N*, *S1255P*, *S549N* or *S549R*. Ivacaftor binds to the CFTR protein at the cell membrane, increasing the open probability and ability of the channel to transport chloride. In contrast to ivacaftor, lumacaftor, tezacaftor and elexacaftor are CFTR correctors that improve CFTR protein folding and subsequent cellular processing, preventing the CFTR protein being targeted for degradation in people with an *F508del* mutation, and increasing CFTR expression at the cell membrane.⁸⁹⁻⁹³

LUM/IVA combination therapy (Orkambi[®], Vertex) is a systemic protein modulator, comprising of lumacaftor and ivacaftor. LUM/IVA is administered orally and has a marketing authorisation in the

UK for treating, "cystic fibrosis (CF) in patients aged 6 years and older who are homozygous for the *F508del* mutation in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene".⁹⁴ For patients aged 6–11 years, two tablets of lumacaftor 100 mg/ivacaftor 125 mg are taken every 12 hours. For patients ≥12 years, two tablets of lumacaftor 200 mg/ivacaftor 125 mg are taken every 12 hours.⁹⁴ LUM/IVA granules also have a marketing authorisation for children with CF who are homozygous for *F508del* and who are aged 1 year and older.⁹⁵ The dosing recommendations for people with CF <6 years for LUM/IVA are presented in Table 5. LUM/IVA has previously been appraised by NICE. In TA398, LUM/IVA was not recommended within its marketing authorisation for treating cystic fibrosis in people 12 years and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation in the CFTR gene.⁹⁶

| Age | Weight | Dose per sachet | Dose every 12 hours | |
|--|-----------------|--|---------------------------|--|
| | 7 kg to < 9 kg | lumacaftor 75 mg/ ivacaftor 94 mg | | |
| 1 to 2 years | 9 kg to < 14 kg | lumacaftor 100 mg/ ivacaftor 125 mg | | |
| | ≥14 kg | lumacaftor 150 mg/ ivacaftor 188 mg | One sachet every 12 hours | |
| 2 to 5 years | <14 kg | lumacaftor 100mg/ivacaftor 125 mg | | |
| 2 to 5 years | ≥ 14 kg | lumacaftor 150 mg/ivacaftor 188 mg | | |
| Abbraulational CE: quetia fibracia: N/A, iucasftar: kg, kilograma: LUA); humasaftar: mg, miligrama | | | | |

| Table 5. Dosin | g recommendations | for LUM/IVA in pe | eople with CF ag | ed 1 to 5 years. |
|----------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|
|----------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|

cystic fibrosis; IVA: ivacattor; kg: kilograms; LUM: lumacattor; mg: milligrams

TEZ/IVA combination therapy (Symkevi®, Vertex) is a systemic protein modulator, comprising of tezacaftor, a CFTR corrector, and ivacaftor. TEZ/IVA is administered orally and has a marketing authorisation in the UK, "in a combination regimen with ivacaftor tablets for the treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) aged 6 years and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation or who are heterozygous for the F508del mutation and have one of the following mutations in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene: P67L, R117C, L206W, R352Q, A455E, D579G, 711+3A→G, S945L, S977F, R1070W, D1152H, 2789+5G→A, 3272-26A \rightarrow G, and 3849+10kbC \rightarrow T".⁹⁷ Dosing for TEZ/IVA is age and weight dependent, and is presented in Table 6.97

| Age and weight | Morning dose | Evening dose |
|--|---|--|
| 6 to <12 years, <30 kg | One tablet containing tezacaftor 50 mg/ivacaftor 75 mg | One tablet containing ivacaftor 75 mg |
| 6 to <12 years, ≥30 kg | One tablet containing tezacaftor 100 mg/ivacaftor 150 mg | One tablet containing ivacaftor 150 mg |
| ≥12 years | One tablet containing tezacaftor 100 mg/ivacaftor 150 mg | One tablet containing ivacaftor 150 mg |
| Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; mg: milligrams; TEZ: tezacaftor | | |

Table 6. Dosing recommendations for TEZ/IVA patients aged 6 years and older.⁹⁷

ELX/TEZ/IVA combination therapy (Kaftrio[®], Vertex) is a systemic protein modulator, comprising of elexacaftor, a CFTR corrector, tezacaftor and ivacaftor. ELX/TEZ/IVA is administered orally and has a marketing authorisation in the UK, "in a combination regimen with ivacaftor for the treatment of cystic fibrosis (CF) in patients aged 6 years and older who have at least one *F508del* mutation in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene".⁹⁸ Dosing for ELX/TEZ/IVA is age and weight dependent, and is presented in Table 7.⁹⁸ The clinical effectiveness and safety of ELX/TEZ/IVA has also been studied in a Phase III clinical trial in children aged ≥2 years.⁹⁹

Table 7. Dosing recommendations for ELX/TEZ/IVA patients aged 6 years and older.⁹⁸

| Age and weight | Morning dose | Evening dose |
|---------------------------|---|--|
| 6 to <12 years, <30 kg | Two tablets, each containing ivacaftor 37.5 mg/tezacaftor 25 mg/elexacaftor 50 mg | One tablet containing ivacaftor 75 mg |
| 6 to <12 years, ≥30 kg | Two tablets, each containing ivacaftor 75 mg/tezacaftor 50 mg/elexacaftor 100 mg | One tablet containing ivacaftor 150 mg |
| ≥12 years | Two tablets, each containing ivacaftor 75 mg/tezacaftor 50 mg/elexacaftor 100 mg | One tablet containing ivacaftor 150 mg |
| | | |

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; mg: milligrams; TEZ: tezacaftor

1.3.2 Identification of important subgroups

The NICE final scope included the following subgroups:¹⁰⁰

- People with CF who are homozygous for the *F508del* mutation;
- People with CF who are heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation and a residual function mutation or a gating mutation in the *CFTR* gene.

The EAG agrees that CF genotype is a clinically meaningful subgroup, and that CF genotype is a key subgroup to consider in this MTA given the marketing authorisation of some of the comparator therapies are limited to certain CF genotypes, and the inclusion criteria of key clinical trials are based on CF genotypes. The EAG considers the following subgroups to be important:

- People with CF who are homozygous for the *F508del* mutation (F/F genotype);
 - LUM/IVA (≥1 year), TEZ/IVA (≥6 years) and ELX/TEZ/IVA (≥6 years) have marketing authorisation for this genotype.
- People with CF who are heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation and a residual function mutation (F/RF genotype);
 - TEZ/IVA (≥6 years) and ELX/TEZ/IVA (≥6 years) have marketing authorisation for this genotype.
- People with CF who are heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation and a gating function mutation or an *R117H* mutation (F/Gating genotype);
 - ELX/TEZ/IVA (≥6 years) and ivacaftor monotherapy (≥4 months) have a marketing authorisation for this genotype.
- People with CF who are heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation and a minimal function mutation (F/MF genotype);
 - \circ ELX/TEZ/IVA (\geq 6 years) has a marketing authorisation for this genotype.

The EAG's clinical experts noted that there is considerable overlap in the phenotype and clinical outcomes of patients with F/F, F/MF and F/Gating genotypes, but that the F/RF genotype has a less severe CF phenotype, which is supported by real-world data.³

The NICE final scope also included the following statement in other considerations: "If evidence allows, the appraisal will consider the relationship between baseline lung function and clinical effectiveness." The EAG's clinical experts considered it plausible that low baseline lung function may either decrease or increase the potential effectiveness of CFTR modulator therapies for an individual, which may differ between patients with CF. On the one hand, lung damage may be irreversible in people with CF, which would limit the overall potential effectiveness of CFTR modulator therapies in people with existing lung damage. On the other hand, patients with little existing lung damage may have near ceiling ppFEV₁, which may limit the overall acute response they can achieve through CFTR modulator therapy. The EAG's clinical experts highlighted how a key subgroup of people with CF may be those who receive highly effective CFTR modulator therapy prior to developing initial and irreversible lung and pancreas damage. They suggested that the closer to birth that these people initiate CFTR modulator therapy, the more benefit they are likely to achieve, which may include preventing long term ppFEV₁ decline. As such, the EAG will consider the following subgroups:

- If data are available, the EAG will present clinical efficacy data by trial-reported lung function subgroups;
- The EAG will consider a scenario analysis in which patients initiating highly effective CFTR modulator therapies early receive a sustained reduction in long-term decline of ppFEV₁.

1.3.3 Current usage in the NHS

All three CFTR modulator therapies that are part of this MTA (LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA) are currently available on the NHS through a managed access agreement.¹⁰¹ LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA have been available on the NHS since October 2019 and ELX/TEZ/IVA has been available since August 2020. Of the 10,175 individuals registered and who had an annual review in 2021 in the UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry, 7,384 (72.6%) were taking a CFTR modulator by December 2021, including:¹

- 5,321 people (72.1% of individuals on a CFTR modulator) taking ELX/TEZ/IVA;
- 515 people (7.0%) taking TEZ/IVA;
- 942 people (12.8%) taking LUM/IVA and;
- 606 people (8.2%) taking ivacaftor monotherapy.

Following a request by the EAG to the UK CF Registry (Data Request 469),¹⁰² the UK CF Registry provided updated numbers of people taking a CFTR modulator by December 2022:

- people taking ELX/TEZ/IVA;
- people taking TEZ/IVA;
- people taking LUM/IVA and;
- people taking ivacaftor monotherapy.



These figures demonstrate a widespread uptake of CFTR modulator therapy, and that this uptake now primarily consists of individuals taking ELX/TEZ/IVA. During 2021, the number of people receiving ELX/TEZ/IVA rose from 4,195 in January 2021 to 5,321 in December 2021, which to by December 2022. whereas the use of TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA combination therapies . The EAG's clinical experts stated that most patients who started on LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA have now switched to ELX/TEZ/IVA, and that ELX/TEZ/IVA is the preferred

therapy for any person who is eligible, except in the rare cases where their CF is not severe enough to require CFTR modulator therapy.

1.3.4 Anticipated costs associated with intervention

The three CFTR modulator treatments included in this MTA employ flat pricing, meaning that despite the strength of dose for each CFTR-modulator combination therapy varying by age and weight, the pack price of the different strengths available is the same. The list prices for each of the included interventions is shown in Table 8. Both ELX/TEZ/IVA and TEZ/IVA combinations include a separate dose of ivacaftor, therefore costs of ivacaftor monotherapy are also reported below. Each intervention is given in combination with ECM.

| Treatment | Strength* | Pack size | List price (per pack) |
|-----------|--------------------------------|-----------|--------------------------|
| | 75 mg / 94 mg sachet | | |
| | 100 mg / 125 mg sachet 56 | | £8,000.00 |
| LUM/IVA | 150 mg / 188 mg sachet | | |
| | 100 mg / 125 mg tablets | 110 | £8,000.00 |
| | 200 mg / 125 mg | 112 | |
| | 50 mg / 75 mg tablets | 20 | £6,293.91 |
| TEZ/IVA | 100 mg / 150 mg tablets | 20 | |
| | | | ** |
| | | | |
| | 37.5 mg / 25 mg / 50mg tablets | 56 | £8,346.30 |
| | 75 mg / 50 mg/ 100 mg tablets | 50 | |
| | | | ** |
| lvacaftar | | | |
| Ivacator | 75 mg tablets | 28 | £7,000.00 |
| | 150 mg tablets | 20 | |

Table 8. Intervention costs for the included CFTR modulator treatments



*The order of the strength of the tablets reflects the order of the associated combination therapy. For example, for the LUM/IVA strength of 100 mg / 125 mg represents lumacaftor 100 mg and ivacaftor 125 mg.

Abbreviations: CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; mg: milligram; TEZ: tezacaftor

**

2 Definition of the decision problem

2.1 Decision problem

The decision problem outlined in the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) final scope is presented in Table 9. In Table 9, the external assessment group (EAG) highlights any differences between the decision problem outlined in the NICE final scope and, i) the decision problem addressed by the EAG in this Assessment Report and, ii) the decision problem addressed by Vertex in the Company Submission. The EAG provides further critique of the Company Submission throughout the Assessment Report, and highlights where the EAG's approach to modelling the clinical and cost-effectiveness of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA differs from the Company's.



Table 9. The decision problem in the NICE final scope, addressed in the Company submission and the decision problem addressed by the EAG in the Assessment Report

| | Final scope issued by NICE | Decision problem addressed in the Company submission | Decision problem addressed in EAG Assessment Report | EAG comment |
|--------------|---|--|---|--|
| Intervention | Ivacaftor, tezacaftor and elexacaftor combination therapy (Kaftrio[®]) Tezacaftor and ivacaftor combination therapy (Symkevi[®]) Lumacaftor and ivacaftor combination therapy (Orkambi[®]) | Same as NICE final scope | Same as NICE final scope | NA |
| Population | People with CF with at least one <i>F508del</i> mutation | Same as NICE final scope | Same as NICE final scope | The EAG notes that the majority of trial evidence in people aged 12+ years includes only individuals with ppFEV ₁ between 40% and 90%. The EAG considers the long-term clinical outcomes of CFTR modulator therapy from the trials to likely generalise to people with ppFEV ₁ >90%, but may be more limited in people with pre-existing severe lung disease, i.e., $ppFEV_1 < 40\%$. The EAG notes that such people comprise around 18.3% of people aged 16+ years attending UK specialist adult centres had a $ppFEV_1 < 40\%$, ¹⁰³ |
| Subgroups | People who are homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation, or heterozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation and gating mutation or a residual function mutation | People with CF with at least one <i>F508del</i> mutation in the <i>CFTR</i> gene are in scope. | People who are homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation; heterozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation and a residual function mutation; heterozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation and a gating mutation; heterozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation and a minimal function mutation. | As described in Section 1.3.2, the EAG considers it appropriate to consider distinct CF genotype subgroups to mirror the differences in the marketing authorisation between the comparators. |



| | | are nomozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation: • ECM without TEZ/IVA PwCF aged 6 years or older who are heterozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation with one of the specified licensed residual function mutations (F/RF) (P67L, R117C, L206W, R352Q, A455E, D579G, 711+3A \rightarrow G, S945L, S977F, R1070W, D1152H, 2789+5G \rightarrow A, 3272-26A \rightarrow G, and 3849+10kbC \rightarrow T): • ECM without TEZ/IVA | | |
|----------|---|---|--------------------|--|
| Outcomes | The outcome measures to be considered include: Mortality Change in the percentage of predicted forced expiratory volume Forced vital capacity Lung function, including transplantation Body mass index Respiratory symptoms Pulmonary exacerbations including frequency and severity of acute infections Sweat chloride LCI_{2.5} Pulmonary bacterial colonisation Need for hospitalisation and other treatments including | The outcome measures to be considered include: Mortality Lung function Change in the percentage of predicted forced expiratory volume Lung clearance index 2.5 (LCI_{2.5}) Lung transplantation Body mass index Respiratory symptoms Pulmonary exacerbations including frequency and severity of acute infections Need for hospitalisation & other treatments including antibiotics Adverse effects of treatments Health-related quality of life | Same as NICE scope | The EAG performed literature searches that would include all clinical trial evidence relevant to the NICE final scope from relevant study designs. These data are presented in Section 3.2.2 where available. Due to data availability, and the structure of the final economic model, the following variables informed the economic model: • Mortality • Change in the percentage of predicted forced expiratory volume • Change in weight-for-age z-score • Lung transplantation • Pulmonary exacerbations • Adverse effects of treatment • Health-related quality of life |

BMJ TAG

| | a u til hi a ti a a | | | |
|-----------------------------------|--|---|---|--|
| | Adverse effects of treatment Health-related quality of life | | | |
| Economic analysis | The reference case stipulates that the cost effectiveness of treatments should be expressed in terms of incremental cost per quality- adjusted life year. The reference case stipulates that the time horizon for estimating clinical and cost effectiveness should be sufficiently long to reflect any differences in costs or outcomes between the technologies being compared. Costs will be considered from an NHS and Personal Social Services perspective. The availability of any commercial arrangements for the intervention, comparator and subsequent treatment technologies will be taken into account. The availability and cost of biosimilar and generic products should be taken into account. | Cost-effectiveness results are expressed in terms of ICER A lifetime horizon is used in the model Costs are considered from a National Health Service and Personal Social Services perspective A differential annual discount rate of 1.5% for health outcomes and 3.5% for costs is applied in the base case QALY shortfall analyses has been conducted to reflect the high degree of the severity of CF The impact of loss of exclusivity on cost-effectiveness is considered in a scenario analysis | Same as NICE scope | See critique on deviation from NICE Reference Case in Section 4.1.4 |
| Equality and other considerations | Guidance will only be issued in accordance with the marketing authorisation. Where the wording of the therapeutic indication does not include specific treatment combinations, guidance will be issued only in the context of the evidence that has underpinned the | An appraisal approach of subgrouping the indicated populations according to <i>CFTR</i> genotype or baseline lung function may raise equality concerns. | The EAG notes the following subgroups may be relevant for equality and other considerations, although notes the small evidence base of CFTR modulator therapy specifically within these subgroups: • Socioeconomic status | The EAG's clinical experts noted that socioeconomic status was a predictor of outcomes for people with CF; The EAG's clinical experts noted that people with CF |



| marketing authorisation granted by the regulator. If evidence allows, the appraisal will consider the relationship between baseline lung function and clinical effectiveness. | • Peo moc deve pan | ople initiating CFTR dulator therapy prior to eloping lung and/or creatic damage | • | who initiate highly effective CFTR modulator therapies early in life, or before irreversible lung and/or pancreatic damage, may have the most favourable clinical outcomes. Such age groups may currently be outside the marketing authorisation of CFTR modulator combination therapies; The EAG's clinical experts and stakeholder submissions also noted the approximately 10% of people with CF who are currently ineligible for CFTR modulator therapy may be a relevant subgroup to consider for equality. However, the EAG notes that this non-F508del subgroup is outside of the scope of this MTA. |
|--|-----------------------------|---|---|---|

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene protein; *CFTR*: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene; EAG: external assessment group; ECFS: European Cystic Fibrosis Society; ECM: established care management; ELX: elexacaftor; FEV: forced expiratory volume; HRQoL: health related quality of life; ICER: incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; NHS: National Health Service; MTA: multiple technology appraisal; TEZ: tezacaftor.

2.1.1 Critique of Company adherence to the NICE Final Scope

The EAG considers the Company to have adhered to the NICE Final Scope in terms of the intervention, population and outcomes. In addition, while the Company (Company Submission, page 19) stated that: "It is not relevant or appropriate to consider subgroups within CF", the EAG notes that the Company has provided separate economic models for each genotype (F/F, F/Gating, F/RF and F/MF), and as such has implicitly followed the NICE Final Scope.

The Company deviates from the NICE Final Scope in the comparators and economic analysis. Specifically, the Company:

- Provided a cost-effectiveness analysis of ivacaftor monotherapy compared to established clinical management (ECM) in the F/Gating population, which is outside of the NICE Final Scope and;
- Deviated from the NICE reference case in using a differential annual discount rate of 1.5% for health outcomes and 3.5% for costs.

2.1.2 Decision problem addressed in the Assessment Report2.1.2.1 Interventions

The interventions relevant to this multiple technology appraisal (MTA) are:

- lumacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy (LUM/IVA);
- tezacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy (TEZ/IVA);
- elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy (ELX/TEZ/IVA).

Details of these interventions, including their marketing authorisations, have been presented in Section 1.3.1.

2.1.2.2 Population including sub-groups

The population relevant to this MTA is people with cystic fibrosis (CF) with at least one *F508del* mutation. Relevant genotype subgroups are based the marketing authorisation for each CFTR modulator combination therapy. Only individuals homozygous for the *F508del* mutation are eligible for LUM/IVA, whereas individuals with at least one copy of the *F508del* mutation are eligible for ELX/TEZ/IVA. To be eligible for TEZ/IVA, an individual must either be homozygous for the *F508del* mutation, or have one copy of the *F508del* mutation and one of the following residual function



mutations: P67L, R117C, L206W, R352Q, A455E, D579G, 711+3A \rightarrow G, S945L, S977F, R1070W, D1152H, 2789+5G \rightarrow A, 3272-26A \rightarrow G, and 3849+10kbC \rightarrow T. The relevant CF genotype subgroups for this appraisal have been outlined in Section 1.3.2 and are presented in Table 10 are:

| Genotype | Relevant interventions and comparators | |
|--|--|--|
| F/F | ELX/TEZ/IVA, LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA, ECM | |
| F/Gating | ELX/TEZ/IVA, ECM | |
| F/RF | ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA, ECM | |
| F/MF | ELX/TEZ/IVA, ECM | |
| Abbreviations: CE: cystic fibrosis: ELX: elexacattor: ECM: established clinical management: IVA: ivacattor: LUM: lumacattor: | | |

Table 10. Interventions and comparators relevant to the appraisal by CF genotype.

TEZ: tezacaftor

As outlined in Section 1.3.2, the EAG will consider the relationship between lung function and clinical effectiveness by:

- If data are available, the EAG will present clinical efficacy data by trial-reported lung function subgroups;
- The EAG will consider a scenario analysis in which patients initiating highly effective CFTR modulator therapies early receive a sustained reduction in long-term decline of ppFEV₁.

In addition, the Company stated that: "Vertex is exploring this post-hoc analysis of clinical trial data internally and will share with NICE once this is available" in response to Clarification Question A26, but this was not available to the EAG at the time of the Assessment Report.

2.1.2.3 Relevant comparators

The comparators of interest listed in the NICE final scope are:¹⁰⁰

- Each of the interventions under consideration in the MTA:
 - o LUM/IVA;
 - TEZ/IVA;
 - ELX/TEZ/IVA.
- Established clinical management, including:
 - Best supportive care;
 - Mannitol dry powder for inhalation (DPI);
 - Inhaled mucolytics;



- Nebulised hypertonic saline;
- Anti-inflammatory agents;
- Bronchodilators;
- Vitamin supplements;
- Pancreatic enzymes.

Of the listed established clinical management therapies, only mannitol DPI (Bronchitol[®], Pharmaxis Europe Limited, Dublin, Ireland) has been approved by NICE (TA266).⁶⁴ The use of mannitol DPI is restricted to adults who cannot use rhDNase because of ineligibility, intolerance or inadequate response to rhDNase, and whose lung function is rapidly declining and for whom other osmotic agents are not considered appropriate. The EAG considers that inhaled mucolytics, of which mannitol DPI, nebulised hypertonic saline and rhDNase are examples, are therapies that individuals receiving a CFTR modulator would still be eligible for, and would still receive, should their symptoms require. As CFTR modulator therapies are an addition to established clinical management, participants in clinical trials informing this appraisal will have had access to all the established clinical management therapies available at the time of the trial, both in the placebo arms and the CFTR modulator arms.

Overall, the EAG considers the comparators listed in the NICE final scope to be appropriate, but notes that best supportive care also includes some therapies, procedures, and lifestyle changes not explicitly mentioned, such as antibiotics, physiotherapy, supplemental feeding, and exercise, as outlined in Table 3. The EAG also notes that the availability of some established clinical management therapies varies with age. For example, rhDNase is only indicated for people with CF who are over 5 years of age and who have a ppFEV₁ >40%, and mannitol DPI is indicated for the treatment of CF in adults aged 18 and over. Although not a relevant comparator in the NICE final scope, the EAG notes that a number of people with CF (n=606) were receiving ivacaftor monotherapy in the CF Trust Register, as of December 2021.¹ The EAG considers ivacaftor monotherapy to be relevant to the appraisal because of the likelihood that evidence from placebo randomised controlled trials of ivacaftor to form a connected evidence network with ivacaftor monotherapy active-controlled trials with ELX/TEZ/IVA.

2.1.2.4 Outcomes

The NICE final scope states the following outcomes should be addressed in this MTA:



- Mortality;
- Lung function, including ppFEV₁, forced vital capacity, LCI_{2.5}, respiratory symptoms and transplantation;
- Body mass index (BMI);
- Pulmonary exacerbations, including the frequency and severity of acute infections leading to exacerbations;
- Pulmonary bacterial colonisation;
- Need for hospitalisation and other treatments including use of antibiotics;
- Sweat chloride;
- Adverse effects of treatment;
- Health-related quality of life (HRQoL);
- If evidence allows, the relationship between baseline lung function and clinical effectiveness.

For one HRQoL scale used in cystic fibrosis, the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R), a minimally important difference for the CFQ-R has been reported for the respiratory domain for people with stable CF (4 points), according to a study of 140 people with CF.¹⁰⁴ No minimally clinically important difference has been established for other domains of the CFQ-R.¹⁰⁴ The EAG did not find evidence that a minimally important difference has been established for lung-function outcomes such as ppFEV₁ or LCl_{2.5} in cystic fibrosis, although the short-term variability of ppFEV₁ has been reported as around 6.3%.¹⁰⁵ The EAG's clinical experts also noted that while patients may not feel a difference of 5% difference in ppFEV₁, this may lead to other measurable differences over time, for example less time spent doing physio. The 2012 European Medicines Agency "Report of the workshop on endpoints for cystic fibrosis clinical trials" noted that while no minimal important difference has been defined, any statistically significant difference between an intervention and ECM is potentially important as ppFEV₁ is predictive of mortality.¹⁰⁶ The EAG's clinical experts also noted that while no minimal important difference that any reduction in pulmonary exacerbations would be meaningful for a person with CF, given the likelihood that treatment for exacerbations will require IV antibiotics either at home, or in hospital.

2.1.2.5 Treatment effect modifiers

The EAG's clinical experts did not consider any clinical variable to likely be a treatment effect modifier of CFTR modulators. The EAG's clinical experts outlined that ceiling effects for some outcome measures in some individuals, e.g., ppFEV₁ and LCl_{2.5} in younger children may limit the sensitivity of such measures in these groups, and also noted the difficulty in obtaining reliable

measurements of ppFEV₁ in younger children. In addition to age-related ceiling effects, disease severity and prior treatment history may modify the magnitude of the treatment effect a patient could gain from CFTR modulator therapy.

2.1.2.6 Equality

The following issues that may be relevant for equality were identified by the EAG:

- The EAG's clinical experts noted that socioeconomic status was a predictor of outcomes for people with CF;
- The CF Voices submission provided survey data that suggests caregivers of people with CF are predominantly female, although it was noted that this is observed across caregivers more generally and is not specific to CF;³⁰
- The EAG's clinical experts and stakeholder submissions noted the approximately 10% of people with CF who are currently ineligible for CFTR modulator therapy. People with CF in the UK who are not eligible for CFTR modulator therapy due to not having an *F508del* copy are more likely to Black, Asian and Minority ethnic groups. Of particular note is the proportion of people of Asian ethnicity was higher in people with no *F508del* copy (19.2% of people) than those with at least one *F508del* copy (1.2% of people).⁶

2.2 Overall aims and objectives of the assessment

The purpose of this MTA is to assess the clinical and cost-effectiveness of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA within their marketing authorisations for treating CF, compared with each other and established clinical management in England and Wales.



3 Assessment of clinical effectiveness

3.1 Method for reviewing effectiveness

The external assessment group (EAG) performed a systematic literature review (SLR) of the clinical effectiveness evidence of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA for treating cystic fibrosis (CF), and reports it in line with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA).¹⁰⁷

3.1.1 Identification of studies

The EAG performed systematic searches of MEDLINE, Embase and CENTRAL, and grey literature sources, to identify all randomised controlled trials (RCTs, excluding Phase I RCTs) and all non-randomised Phase III or Phase IV clinical trials that report on the clinical effectiveness or safety of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with CF with at least one *F508del* mutation.

De novo searches of MEDLINE and Embase were conducted using search terms for cystic fibrosis and LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA, which are presented in Table 83 (MEDLINE: Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations) and Table 84 (Embase) of Appendix 9.1.1. For CENTRAL, the EAG identified the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register as an up-to-date systematic search repository for CF RCTs.¹⁰⁸ The Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register is a continually-updated register of RCTs relating to CF, compiled from database searches of MEDLINE (weekly searches from 1966 to present), Embase (searched 1974 to August 1995) and CENTRAL (searched on each new issue of the Cochrane library), and also includes records hand-searched from the Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, Pediatric Pulmonology and conference abstracts. As such, the EAG's search strategy for CENTRAL used the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register filter and used search terms for LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA within this. The EAG's search strategy for CENTRAL is presented in Table 87 of Appendix 9.1.2, and further details of the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register are presented in Appendix 9.1.2 (including Table 85 and Table 86). The Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register was the primary search of a large-scale Cochrane review relevant to the MTA, "Corrector therapies (with or without potentiators) for people with cystic fibrosis with class II CFTR gene variants (most commonly *F508del)*" (Southern *et al.* 2020).¹⁰⁸

The EAG's database searches of MEDLINE and Embase were performed separately via Ovid, and then deduplicated against each other. The remaining records were deduplicated against the trials indexed

on the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register. Deduplication was performed using a custom script in R 4.2.0.¹⁰⁹ The resulting records entered screening for inclusion in the SLR.

The EAG conducted grey literature searches to identify any records not indexed in MEDLINE, Embase or the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register via CENTRAL, and any ongoing studies. The following grey literature searches were performed by a single reviewer:

3.1.1.1 Conference proceedings

- European Cystic Fibrosis Conference abstracts 2020, 2021 and 2022;
- Annual North American Cystic Fibrosis Conference abstracts 2020, 2021 and 2022.

3.1.1.2 Trial Registries and Registers

- US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov);
- World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (WHO ICTRP);
- European Medicines Agency (EMA) (www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctrsearch/search).

The EAG's search strategy for WHO ICTRP and EMA matched that used by the Southern *et al*.:¹⁰⁸ "Cystic fibrosis AND (VX OR corrector)". For the US National Institutes of Health database search, the EAG's search strategy was: Condition or disease: cystic fibrosis AND Other terms: VX OR corrector OR "Vertex Pharmaceuticals" OR CFTR AND Study type: Interventional Studies (Clinical Trials).

3.1.1.3 CDSR/DARE/HTA database

- The Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE) and Health Technology Assessment (HTA) database was searched via the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD) database, using the key word "cystic fibrosis".
- The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews was searched using the key words "cystic fibrosis" and the intervention terms from Table 87 of Appendix 9.1.2 to identify any Cochrane reviews relevant to the current appraisal. During scoping, the EAG identified Southern *et al.* as a Cochrane review highly relevant to the MTA. Following discussion with the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group, the EAG was notified that the Southern *et al.* review is currently undergoing a large update, and that the review authors provided materials from the updated unpublished Cochrane review to facilitate the conduct of the EAG's systematic review, including but not limited to:

- A full list of included and excluded trials in the Cochrane review update, including reasons for exclusion;
- A confidential copy of the updated Cochrane review;
- Details on how the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register is compiled, and details of the latest search dates;
- Discussion and clarification as required throughout the project.

3.1.1.4 HTA bodies

As the CRD Databases were last updated in March 2018, the following English-language HTA body websites were searched to identify HTA appraisals relevant to the current MTA, with references of any eligible studies contained within the HTA documents extracted:

- NICE;
- Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC);
- Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC);
- Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH).

Each HTA body was searched on its website of records for "cystic fibrosis".

3.1.1.5 Company submissions

• The Company submission was searched for relevant unpublished data, and data were also retrieved from clinical study reports and data on file provided by the Company.

No language restrictions were applied in any search strategy, but only records with a full-text published in English were included in the SLR. Abstracts published in English were included if they contained relevant data.

3.1.1.6 Types of studies included and prioritised

RCTs (excluding Phase I RCTs) and non-randomised Phase III or Phase IV clinical trials were included in the SLR. Following scoping searches, the EAG anticipated the evidence base would be of different sizes between age ranges and genotypes, with some interventions having multiple Phase III or Phase IV RCTs available within a certain genotype and age range, and others with no Phase III or Phase IV RCT data. Hence, the EAG prioritised studies for extraction based on the study designs available for each intervention, specifically:



- Data were extracted for all included Phase III or Phase IV RCTs;
- Should no Phase III or Phase IV RCT data be available for an intervention within a group of interest, relevant Phase II RCT data were extracted;
- Should no Phase II, Phase III or Phase IV RCT data be available for an intervention within a group of interest, then data from relevant non-randomised Phase III or Phase IV clinical trials were be extracted for this group.

3.1.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Table 11 details the inclusion and exclusion criteria of the SLR. Based on these criteria, two reviewers independently reviewed all titles and abstracts. Full texts of any titles/abstracts that may be relevant were obtained where possible and the full text of each study was assessed by two independent reviewers for inclusion in the SLR. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion, with a third reviewer resolving any outstanding conflicts.

| Factor | Inclusion criteria | Exclusion criteria | |
|------------|---|---|--|
| Design | RCTs (excluding Phase I RCTs), and non-randomised Phase III or Phase IV trials | Phase I RCTs Non-randomised studies, except for Phase III or Phase IV clinical trials Observational studies Case reports In vitro studies SLRs/MAs^a | |
| Population | People with CF with at least one copy of the <i>F508del</i> mutation. Studies will be included if they contain an arm of patients of the following ages for the following interventions: • LUM/IVA, ≥1 year • TEZ/IVA, ≥6 years • ELX/TEZ/IVA, ≥2 years • Ivacaftor monotherapy, ≥2 years | People with CF who do not have at least one copy of the <i>F508del</i> mutation People with CF where CF genotype is not reported The study does not report an arm of patients of the following ages for one of: LUM/IVA, ≥1 year; TEZ/IVA, ≥6 years; ELX/TEZ/IVA, ≥2 years; ivacaftor monotherapy, ≥2 years. People without CF Animal studies | |

Table 11. Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the SLR



| Interventions | LUM/IVA TEZ/IVA ELX/TEZ/IVA Ivacaftor monotherapy | Any other intervention |
|---------------|--|--------------------------------|
| Comparators | The interventions will be compared to each other or established clinical management | Any other comparator |
| Outcomes | Outcomes listed in Table 12 | No outcomes listed in Table 12 |

^aSLRs and MAs were included past the abstract screening stage to enable bibliography searching, but were excluded at full-text stage.

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; MA: meta-analysis; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor.

3.1.3 Data abstraction strategy

Data were extracted by a single reviewer using a standardised data extraction form, and validated by a second reviewer. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion, with involvement of a third reviewer when necessary. Study design, clinical effectiveness data were extracted into Microsoft Excel[®], and dose and adverse event data were extracted directly into Microsoft Word[®]. Outcome data were prioritised for extraction at the following timepoints: Week 4; Week 24; Week 48 and the timepoint of the primary outcome or end of study. Where key relevant data for the economic model were not reported, Vertex were contacted to gain further details. If Vertex were unable to provide the data, it was assumed the data were not available.

For clinical efficacy outcomes, data were preferentially extracted for the intention-to-treat (ITT) populations, where available. For safety outcomes, data were preferentially extracted from the safety analysis set. For missing data, estimates obtained using imputation methods were preferentially extracted, and if multiple methods of imputation are reported, estimates based on multiple imputation or mixed-effects models were preferred over last observation carried forward, or variants of this method.

Table 12 lists the outcomes included in the NICE final scope and the variables that were extracted for these outcomes as part of the SLR.¹⁰⁰ The EAG prioritised variables likely to be included in the economic model for extraction.



| Outcomes included in NICE final scope ¹⁰⁰ | Data extracted, if reported | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Mortality | All-cause mortality | | |
| Lung function | Absolute and change from baseline: ppFEV1 Lung clearance index 2.5 Number of people with, or time until: Lung transplant Need for lung transplant | | |
| Respiratory symptoms | Absolute and change from baseline:CFQ-R respiratory domain score | | |
| Body mass index | Absolute and change from baseline: Weight Weight for age z-score BMI | | |
| Pulmonary exacerbations | Study reported definition of pulmonary exacerbation Any measure of absolute or relative frequency or time until: Pulmonary exacerbations Pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics or hospitalisation | | |
| Pulmonary bacterial colonisation | Trial defined frequency or relative frequency of:<i>Pseudomonas</i> colonisation | | |
| Need for hospitalisation and other treatments | Trial reported: Hospitalisation Number of days Number of episodes Planned hospitalisation vs unplanned hospitalisation | | |

Table 12. Outcomes and corresponding data extracted as part of the SLR.



| | Intensive care unit use | |
|--|--|--|
| | Other CF treatment use | |
| | Other non-CF treatment use | |
| | Number of people with: | |
| | • Any serious adverse event (Grade 3 and above) | |
| | Any serious treatment-emergent adverse event (Grade 3 and above) | |
| Adverse effects of | Any trial-defined adverse event of special interest | |
| treatment | Adverse events of particular importance as identified by the EAG's clinical experts, including: | |
| | Adverse events relating to the liver | |
| | Cataracts or lens opacities | |
| | Hypertension | |
| Health-related quality of life | Absolute and change from baseline: EQ-5D-5L and EQ-5D-3L Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R), total score or respiratory domain CFQ Child, total score or respiratory domain CFQ-Parent (for child), total score or respiratory domain If no EQ-5D measure was reported, the EAG extracted SF-36 data when available. | |
| Sweat chloride | Absolute and change from baseline: Sweat chloride | |
| Not included in NICE scope | Development of CF-related diabetes | |
| Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic | | |

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator; EAG: external assessment group; EQ-5D: EuroQol five-dimensions: HR: hazard ratio; IV: intravenous; MA: meta-analysis; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SLR: systematic literature review.

3.1.4 Critical appraisal strategy

Study quality was assessed by a single reviewer, and independently checked for agreement by a second reviewer. Any disagreements were resolved by discussion and, when necessary, a third reviewer. Risk of bias was assessed at both the study and key outcome level. At the study level, risk of bias was assessed using the risk of bias tables presented in Table 92 in Appendix 9.2. At the

outcome level, risk of bias was assessed using Version 2 of the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomised trials (RoB 2).¹¹⁰ The RoB 2 template was completed for the following outcomes that informed the economic model: change from baseline in ppFEV₁, rate of pulmonary exacerbations, and adverse events. A quality assessment was not performed for single-arm non-randomised studies, which were assumed to be at high risk-of-bias when they were used to inform relative treatment effects.

3.1.5 Methods of data synthesis

Extracted data and a quality assessment for each study of clinical effectiveness are presented in tables and described as a narrative summary in Section 3.2.2.1 and Appendix 9.2 and 9.3.

The EAG conducted a feasibility assessment for network meta-analyses (NMA) of each of the clinical efficacy outcomes that are used in the economic model, namely: change from baseline in ppFEV₁, change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score and pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics. The feasibility assessment was based around the quantity of evidence available within each genotype (F/F, F/Gating, F/MF and F/RF) and age-group (6 to 11 years, 12+ years). The similarity of studies available for each group was assessed by comparing the following study and sample characteristics: disease severity; treatment history; eligibility criteria; comparator dosing; placebo response; end-point definition and timing; definition of pulmonary exacerbation; withdrawal frequency; clinical trial setting and study design.¹¹¹

NMAs were deemed feasible for the absolute change from baseline in ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age zscore for the F/F, F/MF and F/Gating 12+ years populations (Section 3.2.2.4), and were performed following the techniques outlined in the NICE Decision Support Unit (DSU) Technical Support Document (TSD) 2.¹¹² Contrast-based NMAs were performed using a Bayesian Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulation, implemented in JAGS using the 'gemtc' package (version 1.0-1) in R 4.2.0.¹¹³ NMAs were conducted using four chains with results based on 100,000 iterations after a "burn in" of 10,000 iterations. Convergence was assessed by visually assessing the convergence of the shrink factor towards one in Brooks-Gelman-Rubin diagnostic plots, and through verifying that the point estimate of the multivariate potential scale reduction factor was less than 1.05.¹¹⁴ The 'gemtc' default uninformative prior distributions were used for all treatment effects.¹¹³

Fixed effect NMAs were performed when the maximum number of studies informing a single contrast was two or less across a network. For networks where at least three studies informed a
single contrast, both fixed effect and random effects NMAs were explored. This was conducted for the F/F 12+ years ppFEV₁ NMA and the F/Gating 12+ years ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-score NMAs. The relative fit of each model was compared using the deviance information criterion (DIC), and the posterior distribution of the estimated between-study standard deviation was inspected to assess whether sufficient posterior updating had occurred. For the F/F 12+ years ppFEV₁ NMA, the DIC was lower in the fixed effect NMA (DIC = 6.2) than the random effects NMA (DIC = 8.0), and the mode of posterior distribution of the estimated between-study standard deviation was 0. Hence, only the results of the fixed effect NMA are presented. For the F/Gating 12+ years ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-score NMAs, the DICs were lower in the random effect NMA (DIC = 8.1 ppFEV₁, 8.5 weight-for-age z-score) than the corresponding fixed effect NMAs (DIC = 9.0 ppFEV₁, 13.5 weight-for-age z-score), and the posterior distribution of the estimated between-study standard deviation was not dominated by the prior. Hence, for the F/Gating analyses, both the results of the fixed effect and random effects NMAs are presented.

Treatment effects are presented in league tables as weighted mean differences for continuous data. When not reported, missing standard errors were estimated from the width of confidence intervals for use in the NMA models. Where the Company also submitted indirect treatment comparisons, the consistency of the Company estimates with the EAG estimates is commented on. Due to the limited number of studies informing the NMAs, the EAG and Company estimates are often aligned, but the EAG notes that small differences in the results often occur due to the EAG using trial-reported outcomes, where available. In contrast, the Company aligned the covariate structures of each model, using individual participant data, before conducting their analyses.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Quantity and quality of research available

Figure 1 is a PRISMA flow diagram of the identification of records and studies included in the EAG's SLR. The EAG's database searches were conducted on 16 February 2023 and retrieved a total of 5,574 records. After deduplication, 4,334 records were appraised in the title and abstract review. Of these, 304 records were included from the title and abstract review: 19 records (including 2 duplicates) were relevant SLRs used for later bibliographic searching,^{43, 115-129} and 285 records proceeded to full text review. Two-hundred and thirty records were included at full text review, and 49 records were excluded at full text review. Excluded records are presented in Table 110 of Appendix 9.5, along with the reasons for exclusion. Grey literature searching identified a further 60

records, including two relevant conference abstracts, two records identified from the Cochrane review and 56 records from clinical trial registries. Overall, 295 records were included in the SLR, from 55 unique studies. The results of the EAG's clinical SLR were consistent with the results of the Company's SLR for clinical trials, and the EAG is satisfied that the Company's SLR identified all evidence relevant to the decision problem. A critique of the Company's SLR is provided in Appendix 9.1.4.







*All records from the update to Southern et al. Cochrane review were screened but not included in this figure.

BMJ TAG

PAGE 75

Following the Assessment Protocol,¹³⁰ studies were prioritised for clinical analyses based on data availability according to the following hierarchy for each intervention in each prespecified age group (1 to 2 years, 2 to 5 years, 6 to 11 years and 12+ years):

- All included Phase III or Phase IV RCTs were prioritised;
- Should no Phase III or Phase IV RCT data be available for an intervention within a group of interest, relevant Phase II RCTs were prioritised;
- Should no Phase II, Phase III or Phase IV RCT data be available for an intervention within a group of interest, then data from non-randomised Phase III or Phase IV clinical trials were prioritised for this group.

Of the 54 studies included in the SLR, 19 were prioritised for extraction and seven further studies were open-label extension studies associated with the prioritised studies. The 29 studies that were deprioritised are presented in Table 110 of Appendix 9.5, along with the following reasons for their deprioritisation:

- No results at time of review (n = 9);
- Study of IVA monotherapy with no F/Gating subgroup data available (n = 6);
- Phase 2 RCT or non-randomised study in population with Phase 3 RCT data available (n = 11);
- Non-randomised study where Phase 2 RCT data are available (n = 1);
- Open label extension of deprioritised study (n = 1);
- Study of a subgroup of people with CF who had previously discontinued CFTR modulator therapy (n = 1).

Table 13 provides a brief overview of the studies prioritised in the SLR, and Table 14 lists the openlabel extension studies. Linked references to the studies prioritised in the SLR can be found in Appendix 9.4.



| Study | Vertex Protocol | Genotype/Mutation | Age, years | Interventions, comparators and doses | Phase and Randomisation | Follow-up duration |
|-------------------------------|-----------------|-------------------|------------|--|-------------------------|--|
| Studies including EL | X/TEZ/IVA | | | | | |
| Sutharsan 2022 ¹³¹ | VX18-445-109 | F/F | 12+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA (200 mg qd/100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks |
| Barry 2021 ¹³² | VX18-445-104 | F/RF F/Gating | 12+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA (200 mg qd/100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) IVA (150 mg q12h) | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 8 Weeks Safety: 12 Weeks |
| Middleton 2019 ⁶¹ | VX17-445-102 | F/MF | 12+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA (200 mg qd/100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks |
| Heijerman 2019 ¹³³ | VX17-445-103 | F/F | 12+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA (200 mg qd/100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/ 150 mg q12h) | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 4 Weeks Safety: 8 Weeks |
| Mall 2022 ¹³⁴ | VX19-445-116 | F/MF | 6 to 11 | ELX/TEZ/IVA (if <30 kg: 100 mg qd/50 mg qd/75 mg q12h) ELX/TEZ/IVA (if ≥30 kg: 200 mg qd/100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks |

Table 13. Summary of studies prioritised from the systematic review of clinical effectiveness



| Zemanick 2021 ¹³⁵ | VX18-445-106 | F/F F/MF | 6 to 11 | ELX/TEZ/IVA (if <30 kg: 100 mg qd/50 mg qd/75 mg q12h) ELX/TEZ/IVA (if ≥30 kg: 200 mg qd/100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) | Phase 3, non- randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------------|---|---------|---|-----------------------------|---|
| NCT04537793 ¹³⁶ | VX20-445-111 | F/F F/MF | 2 to 5 | Part B ELX/TEZ/IVA (if ≥10 kg to < 14 kg: 80 mg qd/40 mg qd/60 mg am daily and 59.5 mg daily pm for IVA) ELX/TEZ/IVA (if ≥14 kg 80 mg qd/40 mg qd/ 75 mg q12h) | Phase 3, non- randomised | Safety: 28 Weeks |
| Studies including TE | Z/IVA, excluding thos | e including ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 ¹³⁷ | VX14-661-106 | F/F | 12+ | TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks |
| Rowe 2017 ¹³⁸ | VX14-661-108 | F/RF F/Gating (not a relevant population for this MTA) | 12+ | TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) Placebo IVA (150 mg qd) | Phase 3, randomised | Crossover trial consisting of two 8- week treatment periods with an 8- week washout period between |
| Davies 2021 ¹³⁹ | VX16-661-115 | F/F F/RF | 6 to 11 | TEZ/IVA (if <40 kg: 50 mg qd/75 mg g12h) TEZ/IVA (if ≥40 kg: 100 mg qd/150 mg q12h) IVA (150 mg qd) | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 8 Weeks Safety: 12 Weeks |



| | | | | Placebo | | | | | |
|--|--------------|-----|---------|---|-----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Studies including LUM/IVA | | | | | | | | | |
| TRAFFIC Wainwright 2015 ⁴² | VX12-809-103 | F/F | 12+ | LUM/IVA (400 mg q12h/250 mg q12h) LUM/IVA (600 mg qd/250 mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks | | | |
| TRANSPORT Wainwright 2015 ⁴² | VX12-809-104 | F/F | 12+ | LUM/IVA (400 mg q12h/250 mg q12h) LUM/IVA (600 mg qd/250 mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks | | | |
| Wilson 2021 ¹⁴⁰ | VX15-809-112 | F/F | 12+ | LUM/IVA (400 mg q12h/250 mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 4, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks | | | |
| Ratjen 2017 ¹⁴¹ | VX14-809-109 | F/F | 6 to 11 | LUM/IVA (200 mg q12h/250 mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks | | | |
| Stahl 2021 ¹⁴² | VX16-809-121 | F/F | 2 to 5 | LUM/IVA (if <14 kg: 100 mg qd/125 mg g12h) LUM/IVA (if ≥14 kg: 150 mg qd/188mg q12h) Placebo | Phase 2, randomised | Efficacy: 48 Weeks Safety: 48 Weeks | | | |
| Rayment 2022 ¹⁴³ | VX16-809-122 | F/F | 1 to 2 | Part B LUM/IVA (if 7 to <9 kg: 75 mg qd/94mg g12h) | Phase 3, non- randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 26 Weeks | | | |



| | | | | LUM/IVA (if 9 to <14 kg: 100 mg qd/125 mg q12h LUM/IVA (if ≥14 kg: 150 mg qd/188mg q12h | | | | |
|---|----------------------|---|--|---|------------------------|--|--|--|
| Placebo controlled st | tudies of IVA monoth | erapy | | | | | | |
| Ramsey 2011 ¹⁴⁴ | VX08-770-102 | F/Gating, <i>G551D</i> mutation | 12+ | IVA 150 mg q12hPlacebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 48 Weeks Safety: 48 Weeks | | |
| De Boeck 2014 ¹⁴⁵ | VX12-770-111 | F/Gating, non- <i>G551D</i> mutation | 6+ (12+ subgroup data provided by Company) | IVA 150 mg q12hPlacebo | Phase 3, randomised | Crossover trial consisting of two 8- week treatment periods with a 4 to 8 week washout period between | | |
| Moss 2015 ¹⁴⁶ | VX11-770-110 | F/R117H mutation | 6+ (12+ subgroup data provided by Company) | IVA 150 mg q12hPlacebo | Phase 3, randomised | Efficacy: 24 Weeks Safety: 28 Weeks | | |
| Abbreviations: ELX: elexacaftor: IVA: ivacaftor: kg: kilograms: LUM: lumacaftor: mg: milligrams: g12b: once every 12 hours: gd: once daily: TEZ: tezacaftor | | | | | | | | |

| OLE study | Vertex Protocol Number | Genotype | Intervention | Age group | Parent studies |
|------------------------------|------------------------------|------------------|--------------|-----------|-----------------------------------|
| Griese 2022 ¹⁴⁷ | VX17-445- 105 | F/F F/MF | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 12+ | Heijerman 2019, Middleton 2019 |
| Ratjen 2021 ¹⁴⁸ | VX19-445- 107 | F/F F/MF | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 6+ | Zemanick 2021 |
| Study 445-110 ¹⁴⁹ | VX18-445- 110 | F/RF F/Gating | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 12+ | Barry 2021 |
| Flume 2021 ¹⁵⁰ | VX14-661- 110 | F/F F/RF | TEZ/IVA | 12+ | Taylor-Cousar 2017 |
| Sawicki 2022 ¹⁵¹ | VX17-661- 116 | F/F F/RF | TEZ/IVA | 6+ | Davies 2021, Walker 2019 |
| Konstan 2017 ¹⁵² | VX12-809- 105 | F/F | LUM/IVA | 12+ | TRAFFIC, TRANSPORT |
| Chilvers 2021 ¹⁵³ | VX15-809- 110 | F/F | LUM/IVA | 6+ | Ratjen 2017, Milla 2017 |

Table 14. Open-label extension studies of studies included in the systematic review of clinical effectiveness

Abbreviations: ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; OLE: open-label extension; TEZ: tezacaftor.

3.2.1.1 ELX/TEZ/IVA

Seven studies were prioritised in the SLR that reported at least one ELX/TEZ/IVA arm (Table 15). All seven studies were Phase 3 clinical trials sponsored by Vertex. Four were RCTs in people with CF aged 12+ years:

- Sutharsan 2022 and Heijerman 2019 were TEZ/IVA active-controlled Phase 3 RCTs recruiting people with an F/F CF genotype;^{131, 133}
- Barry 2021 was an active controlled Phase 3 RCT recruiting people with either F/RF or F/Gating CF genotypes. F/RF participants not in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arm received TEZ/IVA, and F/Gating participants not in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arm received IVA monotherapy;¹³²
- Middleton 2019 was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT recruiting people with an F/MF CF genotype.⁶¹

One trial was an RCT in people with CF aged 6 to 11 years:



 Mall 2022 was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT that recruited people aged 6 to 11 years with an F/MF CF genotype.¹³⁴

The final two studies were single-armed Phase 3 trials in children:

- Zemanick 2021 was a Phase 3 non-randomised trial of people with CF aged 6 to 11 years with either an F/F or F/MF genotype;¹³⁵
- NCT04537793 was a Phase 3 non-randomised trial of people with CF aged 2 to 5 years with either an F/F or F/MF genotype.¹³⁶

|--|

| ٨٩٩ | Genotype | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|--|------------------------------|--|---------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Age | F/F | F/RF | F/MF | F/Gating | | | | | |
| 2 to 5 years | NCT04537793 ¹³⁶ | No studies identified | NCT04537793 ¹³⁶ | No studies identified | | | | | |
| 6 to 11 years | Zemanick 2021 ¹³⁵ | No studies identified | Mall 2022 ¹³⁴ Zemanick 2021 ¹³⁵ | No studies identified | | | | | |
| 12+ years | Sutharsan 2022 ¹³¹ Heijerman 2019 ¹³³ | Barry 2021 ¹³² | Middleton 2019 ⁶¹ | Barry 2021 ¹³² | | | | | |
| Abbreviations: CF: cysti | c fibrosis; ELX: elexacafto | or; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lui | macaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor | | | | | | |

3.2.1.2 TEZ/IVA

Six studies were prioritised in the SLR that reported at least one TEZ/IVA arm (Table 16). All six studies were Phase 3 clinical trials sponsored by Vertex. Three were RCTs in people with CF aged 12+ that also included an ELX/TEZ/IVA arm and were described in Section 3.2.1.1:

- Sutharsan 2022 and Heijerman 2019 were ELX/TEZ/IVA active-controlled Phase 3 RCTs recruiting people with an F/F CF genotype;^{131, 133}
- Barry 2021 was an active controlled Phase 3 RCT recruiting people with either F/RF or F/Gating CF genotypes. F/RF participants not assigned to ELX/TEZ/IVA received TEZ/IVA.¹³²

Two studies were placebo controlled RCTs in people with CF aged 12+ years:

 Taylor-Cousar 2017 was a Phase 3 placebo-controlled RCT in participants aged 12+ years with an F/F genotype;¹³⁷



Rowe 2017 was a cross-over placebo-controlled RCT in participants aged 12+ years with an F/RF genotype.¹³⁸ Rowe 2017 also included patients with an F/Gating genotype; however, as F/Gating is outside of the marketing authorisation of TEZ/IVA, this subgroup is not considered further.

One study was a PBO controlled RCT in people with CF aged 6 to 11 years:

Davies 2021 was a Phase 3 placebo- or IVA-controlled RCT in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with either an F/F or F/RF CF genotype.¹³⁹ While Davies 2021 was an RCT, efficacy data were only reported for the TEZ/IVA arm (n =54), as "placebo [n = 10] or IVA [n = 3] groups were used for blinding purposes only".¹⁵⁴ Safety data, was, however, available for all three arms.

Table 16. Data availability for studies including TEZ/IVA by age and CF genotype

| ٨٩٥ | Genotype | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|--|---|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Age | F/F | F/RF | F/MF | F/Gating | | | | | | |
| 6 to 11 years | Davies 2021 ¹³⁹ | Davies 2021 ¹³⁹ | Genotyne outside | Genotype outside | | | | | | |
| 12+ years | Taylor-Cousar 2017 ¹³⁷ Heijerman 2019 ¹³³ Sutharsan 2022 ¹³¹ | Rowe 2017 ¹³⁸ Barry 2021 ¹³² | of marketing authorisation | of marketing authorisation | | | | | | |
| Abbroviations: CE: ovati | Abbassisticases OF susting there is N/A increasing TF7, to see the | | | | | | | | | |

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; IVA: Ivacattor; TE2: te2

3.2.1.3 LUM/IVA

Six studies were prioritised in the SLR that reported at least one LUM/IVA arm (Table 17). Five studies were Phase 3 clinical trials sponsored by Vertex, one study was a randomised Phase 4 clinical trial sponsored by Vertex, and one study was a randomised Phase 2 clinical trial sponsored by Vertex. All studies were in people with an F/F CF genotype. Three studies were RCTs in people with CF aged 12+:

- TRAFFIC was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT in people with CF aged 12+ who have an F/F CF genotype;⁴²
- TRANSPORT was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT in people with CF aged 12+ who have an F/F CF genotype;⁴²
- Wilson 2021 was a placebo-controlled Phase 4 RCT in people with CF aged 12+ who have an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴⁰



One study was prioritised in the 6 to 11 years age group:

 Ratjen 2017 was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT in people with CF aged 6 to 11 who have an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴¹

One study was prioritised in the 2 to 5 years age group:

 Stahl 2021 was a placebo-controlled Phase 2 RCT in people with CF aged 2 to 5 who have an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴²

One study was prioritised in the 1 to 2 years age group:

 Rayment 2022 was a non-randomised Phase 3 clinical trial in people with CF aged 1 to 2 who have an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴³

Table 17. Data availability for studies including LUM/IVA by age and CF genotype

| ٨٩٥ | Genotype | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------|--|-------------------------------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Aye | F/F | F/RF | F/MF | F/Gating | | | | | |
| 1 to 2 years | Rayment 2022 ¹⁴³ | | | | | | | | |
| 2 to 5 years | Stahl 2021 ¹⁴² | Genotype outside | Genotype outside of marketing authorisation | Genotype outside of marketing authorisation | | | | | |
| 6 to 11 years | Ratjen 2017 ¹⁴¹ | of marketing authorisation | | | | | | | |
| 12+ years | TRAFFIC ⁴² TRANSPORT ⁴² Wilson 2021 ¹⁴⁰ | | | | | | | | |
| Abbreviations: CF: cysti | Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor. | | | | | | | | |

3.2.1.4 IVA monotherapy

Although not included as a comparator in the Final Scope issued by NICE, the pivotal trial of ELX/TEZ/IVA in the F/Gating 12+ years population, Barry 2021,¹³² was an IVA-controlled RCT. In order to compare ELX/TEZ/IVA to ECM in the F/Gating population, an indirect treatment comparison using data from PBO-controlled IVA trials was required. Three Phase 3 PBO-controlled RCTs of IVA were identified in the EAG's SLR, all sponsored by Vertex:

- Ramsey 2011 was a PBO-controlled RCT of IVA in patients aged 12+ years with a G551D gating mutation. The Company provided data on the subset of patients from this study who also had an F508del mutation, i.e., who had an F/Gating CF genotype.¹⁴⁴
- De Boeck 2014 was a PBO-controlled RCT of IVA in patients aged 6+ years with a non-G551D gating mutation. The Company provided data on the subset of patients from this study who also had an F508del mutation, i.e., who had an F/Gating CF genotype, and who were 12+ years.¹⁴⁵
- Moss 2014 was a PBO-controlled RCT of IVA in patients aged 6+ years with an *R117H* mutation. *R117H* is a non-gating residual function mutation, however it is within the marketing authorisation of IVA monotherapy alongside gating mutations, but is not within the marketing authorisation of TEZ/IVA. People with an *R117H* mutation were included in the F/Gating group of Barry 2021. The Company provided data on the subset of patients from this study who also had an *F508del* mutation, i.e., who had an F/Gating (*R117H*) CF genotype, and who were 12+ years.¹⁴⁶

3.2.1.5 Quality Assessment

An overview of the study level quality assessment performed by the EAG is presented in Table 18, with reasons provided for any items rated as some concern. An expanded version of this table with comments for all items is presented in Table 92 in Appendix 9.2. In addition, Version 2 of the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool (RoB2) was completed for the following outcomes within each study:¹¹⁰ ppFEV₁/LCI_{2.5}; pulmonary exacerbations; and adverse event reporting. The completed checklists are provided in Table 93, Table 94 and Table 95 of Appendix 9.2.



| Study | Random sequence generation | Allocation concealment | Blinding | Blinding of outcome assessment | Incomplete outcome data | Selective reporting | Overall |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------|----------|--------------------------------------|--|---------------------|---------------|
| Sutharsan 2022 ¹³¹ | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low |
| Barry 2021 ¹³² | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low |
| Middleton 2019 | Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |
| Heijerman 2019 ¹³³ | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low | Low |
| Mall 2022 ¹³⁴ | Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |
| Rowe 2017 | Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |
| Davies 2021 | Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Some concerns 54/55 TEZ/IVA, 3/3 IVA and 8/11 Placebo (for LCl _{2.5} , 9/11 for ppFEV ₁) were included in the analyses, representing a higher percentage of missing data in the placebo group (as per clinicaltrials.gov data tables). Reasons for missing data were not provided to assess whether missingness depended on the outcome's true value. | Low | Some concerns |
| TRAFFIC | Low. | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |

Table 18. EAG's study-level quality assessment of RCTs included in the clincial effectiveness SLR

BMJ TAG

| Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Some concerns For ppFEV ₁ , 8 (11%) of participants had missing outcome data. | Low | Low |
| Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |
| Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Low | Low |
| Some concerns The study was not stratified by the subgroup reported. No large differences between the subgroups were observed but limited data on each group was available. | Low | Low | Some concerns | Some concerns It was unclear if there was missing data as it was unclear how many people comprised the subgroup of interest. | Some concerns This was a <i>post-hoc</i> analysis. It is unclear how the analysis was developed and if multiple analyses were performed. The alignment between this analysis and the pre- specified analyses from Barry 2021 reduces the risk of bias. | Some concerns |
| Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011. | Low | Low | Some concerns | Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011. | Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011. | Some concerns |
| Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011 | Low | Low | Some concerns | Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011. | Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011. | Some concerns |
| | Low Low Low Low Some concerns The study was not stratified by the subgroup reported. No large differences between the subgroups were observed but limited data on each group was available. Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011. Some concerns As <i>per</i> Ramsey 2011 | LowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowSome concerns The study was not stratified by the subgroup reported. No large differences between the subgroups were observed but limited data on each group was available.LowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.Low | LowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowLowSome concerns The study was not stratified by the subgroup reported. No large differences between the subgroups were observed but limited data on each group was available.LowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011LowLow | LowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowSome concernsSome concernsThe study was not stratified by the subgroup reported. No large differences between the subgroups were observed but limited data on each group was available.LowLowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concerns some concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concerns some concerns has per Ramsey 2011.LowLow | LowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowLowSome concernsFor ppFEV1, 8 (11%) of participants had missing outcome data.LowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowLowSome concernsLowSome concernsLowLowSome concernsLowSome concernsLowLowSome concernsLowSome concernsLowLowSome concernsSome concernsThe study was not stratified by the subgroup reported. No large differences between the subgroups were observed but limited data on each group was available.LowLowSome concernsSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concernsSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011.Some concerns As per Ramsey 2011.Some concerns As per Ramsey 2011.Some concerns As per Ramsey 2011.LowLowSome concerns As per Ramsey 2011. | LowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowLowLowSome concernsSome concernsSome concernsFor pPEV1, 8 (11%) of participants had missing outcome data.LowLowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowLowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowLowLowSome concernsLowLowLowLowLowSome concernsLowLowSome concernsLowLowSome concernsSome concernsThe study was not stratified by the subgroup reported. No large differences between the subgroup reported. No large differencesLowSome concernsSome concerns hetween the subgroup was available.LowLowSome concernsSome concerns hetween the subgroup was available.LowLowSome concerns some concerns how the analysis was developed and if malysis and the pre- specified analyses from Barry 2021 reduces the sing data as it was unalysis and the pre- |

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; IVRS: interactive voice response system; IWRS: interactive web response system: LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SLR: systematic literature review.



Of the 16 RCTs included from the SLR, 12 were rated as low risk of bias. Four RCTs were identified at a higher risk of bias: Davies 2021, Ramsey 2011 (F/Gating *post hoc* subgroup analysis), De Boeck 2014 (F/Gating *post hoc* subgroup analysis) and Moss 2015 (F/Gating *post hoc* subgroup analysis). Davies was assessed as at a high risk of bias due to the placebo (n = 10) and IVA (n = 3) control groups being used for blinding purposes only, and efficacy data only being reported for TEZ/IVA. As such, the outcome data from this trial are uncontrolled and are approximately equivalent to a singlearm trial. For the three RCTs of IVA monotherapy compared to placebo, namely Ramsey 2011, De Boeck 2014 and Moss 2015, the quality assessment was conducted with regards to the F/Gating subgroup of patients for which outcome data were provided by the Company. These were *post-hoc* subgroup analyses performed by the Company to provide a connected evidence network between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo, via IVA monotherapy. Randomisation was not stratified on this subgroup and the analyses were not prespecified. As such each of these analyses were rated at risk of bias. Nevertheless, the EAG notes that the analyses performed by the Company were performed in-line with the prespecified analyses performed across the CFTR modulator clinical trials, minimising the likelihood that the reported analyses were selectively reported.

Throughout the RCTs included in the SLR, the EAG's risk of bias assessment consistently noted some concerns about the blinding of outcome assessment. Specifically, the EAG noted that it was plausible that participants or outcome assessors could guess the intervention a participant was receiving in placebo-controlled trials, i.e., being unblinded due to the clinical effects of the treatment on the participant. This is because spontaneous and large improvements in sweat chloride and spirometry measures are implausible for patients on a stable CF treatment regimen who are not receiving CFTR modulator therapy. The Company acknowledged this possibility in several study CSRs, and to mitigate this bias,

.155

At the outcome level, the EAG completed RoB2 assessments for ppFEV₁/LCI_{2.5}; pulmonary exacerbations; and adverse event reporting. These are presented in Table 93, Table 94 and Table 95 of Appendix 9.2. In general, the measurement of ppFEV₁, LCI_{2.5}, and pulmonary exacerbations when reported as efficacy outcomes were assessed to be at low risk of bias in RCTs, with low rates of missing outcome data across most trials. However, the EAG noted concerns about the consistency of the recording of pulmonary exacerbations when recorded as adverse events between sites within the same study and between different studies. The EAG notes, however, that are general concerns

about non-protocol defined adverse event reporting,¹⁵⁶ rather than being specific to pulmonary exacerbations in CF clinical trials.

The EAG did not complete a formal risk of bias assessment for weight-for-age z-score, as change from baseline in weight-for-age z-scores was only calculated for participants aged 20 and younger in the trials. Change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score was calculated for the full trial populations in *post hoc* analyses that were later provided by the Company. In response to a clarification question, the Company stated that this was because growth statistics are only available up to age 20. In order to calculate a weight-for-age z-score for people aged 21 and older, the Company applied the growth statistics from patients aged 20 and older. Overall, the EAG considers the measurement of change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score to likely be a robust measure across studies. The EAG considers the use of a change from baseline statistic, rather than absolute values, to likely mitigate the effects of using growth statistics of 20-year-olds for older participants, and notes that any consequences will equally affect participants in CFTR modulator and placebo arms in RCTs.

Following the Assessment Protocol, the EAG considered all single-arm trials at a high risk of bias when used to inform relative treatment effects in the economic model. The EAG is particularly concerned about the risk of bias in single-arm studies that collected data during the COVID-19 pandemic, as viral shielding likely led to lower rates of pulmonary exacerbations and preserved, or even improved, lung function, compared to the period prior to the pandemic, across respiratory disorders.^{157, 158} Hence, the occurrence of COVID-19 is confounder when interpreting the results of single-arm clinical trials that collected data from 2020 onwards. Table 19 lists the Start Date and Primary Completion Date, as listed on ClinicalTrials.gov, of the single-arm studies identified by the EAG that may be confounded by COVID-19. These studies included both single-arm Phase 3 trials of ELX/TEZ/IVA in people under 12, as well as the Phase 3 single-arm trial of LUM/IVA in infants aged 1 to 2 years. Of note, all three open-label extension studies of ELX/TEZ/IVA with results available at the time of review involved data collection throughout 2020 and 2021, and are therefore at high risk of bias due to COVID-19 related confounding.

Table 19. Study start dates and primary completion dates of studies prioritised in the EAG SLR where data collection overlapped with the COVID-19 pandemic.

| Study | Intervention | Genotype | Age | Start Date | Primary Completion Date |
|--------------------|-------------------|-----------|---------|---------------------|-------------------------------|
| Primary single-ar | m clinical trials | | | | |
| Zemanick 2021 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | F/F, F/MF | 6 to 11 | 2 October 2018 | 7 August 2020 |
| NCT04537793 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | F/F, F/MF | 2 to 5 | 19 November 2020 | 3 June 2022 |
| Rayment 2022 | LUM/IVA | F/F | 1 to 2 | 7 September 2018 | 29 October 2021 |
| Extension studies | 3 | | | | |
| Griese 2022 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | F/F, F/MF | 12+ | 9 October 2018 | 9 January 2023 |
| Ratjen 2021 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | F/F, F/MF | 6+ | 17 February 2020 | April 2024 (estimated) |
| Study 445-110 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | F/F, F/MF | 12+ | 5 December 2019 | 16 December 2022 |
| Sawicki 2022 | TEZ/IVA | F/F, F/RF | 6+ | 25 April 2018 | 28 October 2020 |
| Abbroviational EAC | | | | | |

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor

3.2.2 EAG assessment of clinical effectiveness

3.2.2.1 Critical review and synthesis of information

Detailed data extraction tables of study design, baseline characteristics and clinical outcomes of each study prioritised in the SLR are presented in Table 96 to Table 105 in Appendix 9.3. In the following section, the key clinical outcome data that inform the economic model are presented by intervention and age group.

3.2.2.1.1 ELX/TEZ/IVA

3.2.2.1.1.1 2 to 5 years

NCT04537793 (VX20-445-111) was a Phase 3 non-randomised trial of people with CF aged 2 to 5 with either an F/F or F/MF genotype.^{136, 159} Part A recruited 18 participants to evaluate the pharmacokinetics and safety and tolerability of ELX/TEZ/IVA, and Part B recruited 75 participants to evaluate the pharmacokinetics, safety and tolerability and efficacy of ELX/TEZ/IVA. Part B is most relevant to the current research and so is focussed on here. The study period of NCT04537793 overlapped with the COVID-19 pandemic (Start Date: 19 November 2020; Primary Completion Date:

3 June 2022), and as such the EAG assesses the LCI_{2.5}, pulmonary exacerbation and weight-for-age zscore data to be at very high risk of bias. Through 24 weeks, participants on ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a constraint decrease (improvement) in LCI_{2.5}, and a constraint increase in weight-for-age z-score. Constraints participants experienced a pulmonary exacerbation during the study, although only constraints required hospitalisation or IV antibiotics

(Table 20).

Table 20. Clinical efficacy outcomes of study NCT04537793 of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 2 to 5 with either an F/F or F/MF genotype.

| NCT04537793: Part B, FAS at Week 24 | ELX/TEZ/IVA (n=75) (n F/F = 23; n F/MF = 52) |
|---|---|
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | |
| Number of participants with PEx, n (%) | |
| Number of participants with PEx requiring hospitalisation or IV antibiotics, n (%) | |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z- score at Week 24 (95% CI) | |
| | |

Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacattor; FAS: full analysis set; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacattor; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacattor; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; TEZ: tezacattor.

Given the efficacy outcomes included in the economic model were judged to be at high risk of bias, the EAG considers the absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in sweat chloride to be an important clinical endpoint for this trial that is at low risk of bias due to:

- The lack of a plausible mechanism by which the COVID-19 pandemic could confound this outcome and;
- The low likelihood of spontaneous improvement in sweat chloride without CFTR modulators.

| Participants in NCT04537793 experienced a | change from |
|---|---------------|
| baseline in sweat chloride through Week 24, from a mean baseline of | . This change |
| from baseline demonstrates the clinical efficacy of ELX/TEZ/IVA in the 2 to 5 age gro | oup, and the |

magnitude of the sweat chloride response is in-line with that seen at older age groups Sections (3.2.2.1.1.2 and 3.2.2.1.1.3).

3.2.2.1.1.2 6 to 11 years

Zemanick 2021 (VX18-445-106) was a Phase 3 non-randomised trial of ELX/TEZ/IVA in children aged 6 to 11 with either an F/F or F/MF CF genotype.¹³⁵ The study period of Zemanick 2021 overlapped with the COVID-19 pandemic (Start Date: 2 October 2018; Primary Completion Date: 7 August 2020), and as such the EAG assesses the LCI_{2.5}, pulmonary exacerbation and weight-for-age z-score data to be at high risk of bias, but notes that much of the data collection may have occurred prior to COVID-19. Through 24 weeks, participants on ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a -1.71 (95% CI: 2.11 to -1.30) decrease (improvement) in LCI2.5, and a 0.25 (95% CI: 0.16 to 0.33) increase in weight-for-age zscore. Four (6%) participants experienced a pulmonary exacerbation during the study, although only required hospitalisation or IV antibiotics (Table 21). Participants in Zemanick 2021 experienced a –60.9 mmol/L (95% CI: –63.7 to –58.2) change from baseline in sweat chloride through Week 24, from a mean baseline of 102.2 mmol/L.

| Zemanick 2021: mITT at Week 24 | ELX/TEZ/IVA (n=66) | | | |
|---|------------------------|--|--|--|
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | -60.9 (-63.7 to -58.2) | | | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | -1.71 (-2.11 to -1.30) | | | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in ppFEV1, LS mean (95% CI) | 10.2 (7.9 to 12.6) | | | |
| Number of participants with PEx, n (%) | 4 (6%) | | | |
| Number of participants with PEx requiring hospitalisation or IV antibiotics, n (%) | | | | |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z- score at Week 24 (95% CI) | 0.25 (0.16 to 0.33) | | | |
| Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; LCI _{2.5} : lung | | | | |

Table 21. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Zemanick 2021 of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with either an F/F or F/MF genotype.

mITT: modified intention-to-treat; TEZ: tezacaftor

Mall 2022 (VX19-445-116) was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA in children with CF aged 6 to 11 with an F/MF CF genotype.¹³⁴ Through 24 weeks, participants on ELX/TEZ/IVA

experienced a –2.26 (95% CI: –2.71 to –1.81) greater decrease (improvement) in LCI_{2.5} compared to placebo, and 11.0 (95% CI: 6.9 to 15.1) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to placebo. Participants treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a **second second seco**

Table 22. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Mall 2022 of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with an F/MF genotype.

| Mall 2022: FAS at Week 24 | ELX/TEZ/IVA (n=60) | Placebo (n=61) |
|--|------------------------|-----------------------|
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | -52.1 (-55.0 to -49.2) | -0.9 (-3.8 to 2.0) |
| Difference from placebo | -51.2 (-55.3 t | o –47.1) |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | -2.29 (-2.60 to -1.97) | -0.02 (-0.34 to 0.29) |
| Difference from placebo | -2.26 (-2.71 t | o –1.81) |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in ppFEV ₁ , LS mean (95% CI) | 9.5 (6.6 to 12.4) | -1.5 (-4.4 to 1.4) |
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | 11.0 (6.9 to | 15.1) |
| Number of participants with PEx adverse event (not including serious), n (%). <i>Reported as adverse</i> <i>event through Week 28 only.</i> | 1 (1.67) | 14 (22.95) |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event, n (%). <i>Reported</i> <i>as adverse event through Week 28</i> <i>only</i> . | 0 (0.00) | 3 (4.92) |
| Number of participants with PEx requiring hospitalisation or IV antibiotics, n (%) | NR | NR |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score at Week 24 (95% CI) | | |
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | | |

Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor; FAS: full analysis set; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; TEZ: tezacaftor.

3.2.2.1.1.3 12+ years

Sutharsan 2022 (VX18-445-109) was a TEZ/IVA-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+ with an F/F CF genotype.¹³¹ Prior to baseline, participants completed a 4-week TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/ 150 mg q12h) run-in period. Through 24 weeks, participants randomised to ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a 10.2 (95% CI: 8.2 to 12.1) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to TEZ/IVA. Participants treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a

greater increase in weight-for-age z-score at Week 24 compared to participants randomised to TEZ/IVA. Pulmonary exacerbations were reported as adverse events through Week 28 and followed MedDRA 23.0 coding. Thirty-two (36.36%) participants experienced a non-serious pulmonary exacerbation in the TEZ/IVA arm, compared to 10 (11.49%) in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arm. Nine (10.23%) participants experienced a serious pulmonary exacerbation in the TEZ/IVA arm (Table 23).

Heijerman 2019 (VX17-445-103) was a TEZ/IVA-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+ with an F/F CF genotype.¹³³ Prior to baseline, participants completed a 4-week TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/ 150 mg q12h) run-in period. Through 4 weeks, participants randomised to ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a 10.0 (95% CI: 7.4 to 12.6) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to TEZ/IVA. Pulmonary exacerbations were reported as adverse events through Week 8 and followed MedDRA 21.1 coding. Five (9.62%) participants experienced a non-serious pulmonary exacerbation in the TEZ/IVA arm, compared to 0 in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arm. One (1.92%) participant experienced a serious pulmonary exacerbation in the TEZ/IVA arm (Table 23).

Barry 2021 was an active controlled Phase 3 RCT recruiting people with CF aged 12+ with either F/RF or F/Gating CF genotypes.¹³² F/RF participants were randomised to either ELX/TEZ/IVA or TEZ/IVA, and received a 4-week TEZ/IVA (100 mg qd/ 150 mg q12h) run-in period. F/Gating participants, including F/*R117H* participants, were randomised to either ELX/TEZ/IVA or IVA monotherapy, and received a 4-week IVA monotherapy (150 mg q12h) run-in period. Through 8 weeks, F/RF participants randomised to ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a 2.0 (95% CI: 0.5 to 3.4) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to TEZ/IVA. Participants treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a greater increase in weight-for-age z-score at Week 8



compared to participants randomised to TEZ/IVA. Through 8 weeks, F/Gating participants randomised to ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a 5.8 (95% CI: 3.5 to 8.0) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to IVA monotherapy. Participants treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a greater increase in weight-for-age z-score at Week 8 compared to participants randomised to IVA monotherapy. Pulmonary exacerbations were reported for the overall Barry 2021 cohort, rather than by CF genotype, as adverse events through Week 12 and followed MedDRA 23.0 coding. Ten (7.94%) participants experienced a non-serious pulmonary exacerbation in the TEZ/IVA or IVA monotherapy arms, compared to 2 (1.52%) in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arms. Seven (5.56%) participants experienced a serious pulmonary exacerbation in the TEZ/IVA or IVA monotherapy arms, compared to two (1.52%) in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arm (Table 23).

Middleton 2019 (VX17-445-102) was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+ with an F/MF CF genotype.¹³³ Prior to baseline, there was no active run-in period. Through 24 weeks, participants randomised to ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a 14.3 (95% CI: 12.7 to 15.8) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to placebo. Participants treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA experienced a **10** greater increase in weight-for-age z-score at Week 24 compared to participants randomised to placebo, and fewer participants experienced protocol-defined pulmonary exacerbations in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arm (20.3%) than the placebo arm (56.5%, Table 23).



| | Sutharsa mITT through | n 2022 n 24 weeks = | Heijerman 2019 Barry 2021 FAS through 4 weeks FAS through 8 weeks | | Barry 2021 FAS through 8 weeks | | Middleton 2019 FAS through 24 weeks | | | |
|---|---------------------------|---------------------------|--|----------------------|---|---|--|--------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------|
| | | | | | | TEZ/IV/A | | | | |
| | (n=87) | (n=88) | (n=55) | (n=52) | (n=82) | (n=81) | (n=50) | (n=45) | (n=200) | (n=203) |
| Absolute change from baseline in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | -46.2 (-48.7 to -43.7) | −3.4 (−5.8 to −1.0) | -43.4 (-46.9 to -40.0) | 1.7 (–1.9 to 5.3) | -23.1 (-25.6 to -20.6) | -1.7 (-0.9 to 4.3) | –21.8 (–25.7 to -17.8) | –1.8 (–5.7 to 2.2) | -42.2 (-40.4 to -41.8) | -0.4 (-2.2 to 1.4) |
| Difference from TEZ/IVA or placebo (95% CI) | -42.8 (-46.2 | 2 to -39.3) | -45.1 (-50.1 to -40.1) -20.0 (-25.4 | | -20.0 (-25.4 t | -20.0 (-25.4 to -14.6) -24.8 (-28.4 to -21.2) | | -41.8 (-44.4 to -39.3) | | |
| Absolute change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ , LS mean (95% CI) | 11.2 (98 to 12.6) | 1.0 (-0.4 to 2.4) | 10.4 (8.6 to 12.1) | 0.4 (-1.4 to 2.3) | 2.5 (1.4 to 3.5) | 0.5 (–0.5 to 1.5) | 5.8 (4.2 to 7.5) | 0.1 (–1.6 to 1.7) | 13.9 (12.8 to 15.0) | -0.4 (-1.5 to 0.7) |
| Difference from TEZ/IVA or placebo (95% CI) | 10.2 (8.2 | to 12.1) | 10.0 (7.4 to 12.6) | | 2.0 (0.5 to 3.4) | | 5.8 (3.5 to 8.0) | | 14.3 (12.7 to 15.8) | |
| Number of participants with PEx adverse event (not including serious), n (% of SAS) | 10 (11.49)* | 32 (36.36)* | 0 ** | 5 (9.62)** | Combined across genotypes:*** ELZ/TEZ/IVA = 2 (1.52%) Active control = 10 (7.94%) | | 41 (20.30) | 83 (41.29) | | |

Table 23. Clinical efficacy outcomes of RCTs of ELZ/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+

| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event, n (% of SAS) | 1 (1.15)* | 9 (10.23)* | 1 (1.82)** | 1 (1.92)** | | Combined acr ELZ/TEZ/IV Active contro | ross genotypes: A = 2 (1.52%) ol = 7 (5.56%) | | 11 (5.45) | 33 (16.42) |
|---|-----------|------------|------------|------------|----|---|--|----|-----------|---------------|
| Number of participants with protocol defined PEx, (%) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 41 (20.5) | 113 (56.5) |
| Annual event rate PEx requiring IV antibiotics | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | | |
| Difference from TEZ/IVA or placebo (rate ratio, 95% CI) | NF | | NF | 2 | NR | · | NR | · | | |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z- score | | | | | | | | | | |
| Difference from TEZ/IVA or placebo (95% CI) | | | | | | | | | | |

Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor; FAS: full analysis set; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; mITT: modified intention-to-treat; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; SAS; safety analysis set; TEZ: tezacaftor.

* Reported as adverse event through Week 28.

** Reported as adverse event through Week 8.

*** Reported as adverse event through Week 12.

BMJ TAG

3.2.2.1.2 TEZ/IVA

3.2.2.1.2.1 6 to 11 years

Davies 2021 (VX16-661-115) was a Phase 3 RCT of TEZ/IVA in children aged 6 to 11 with either an F/F or F/RF CF genotype. Participants were randomised 4:1 either to TEZ/IVA or to a "blinding arm" (placebo for F/F, IVA monotherapy for F/RF), and the study was only powered to detect a treatment effect within the TEZ/IVA arm, approximating a non-randomised trial with blinding. Through 8 weeks, participants on TEZ/IVA experienced a -0.51 (95% CI: -0.74 to -0.29) decrease (improvement) in LCI_{2.5}, a 2.8 (95% CI: 1.0 to 4.6) increase in ppFEV₁ and a -0.04 (SD: 0.17) decrease in weight-for-age z-score. Three (5.56%) participants experienced a pulmonary exacerbation adverse event during the study, although none were rated as severe. Table 24 presents these data, alongside the efficacy and pulmonary exacerbation data from the two blinding arms. The EAG notes that outcome data were not available for the F/F and F/RF subgroups of participants treated with TEZ/IVA in this trial.

| | TEZ/IVA | IVA | Placebo | |
|---|------------------------|------------------|-----------------|--|
| Davies 2021: mITT at Week 8 | (n=54) | F/RF | F/F | |
| | (F/F n=42, F/RF n=12) | (n=3) | (n=10) | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 8 in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | –12.3 (–15.3 to –9.3) | -1 (SD: 9) | –1 (SD: 12.3) | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 8 in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | -0.51 (-0.74 to -0.29) | -0.61 (SD: 0.88) | 0.10 (SD: 1.16) | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 8 in ppFEV ₁ , LS mean (95% CI) | 2.8 (1.0 to 4.6) | -0.4 (SD: 6.0) | -3.7 (SD: 6.1) | |
| Number of participants with PEx adverse event (not including serious), n (% of SAS). <i>Reported as adverse</i> <i>event through Week 12 only</i> | 3 (5.56) | 0 | 2 (20.0) | |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event, n (% of SAS). <i>Reported as</i> | 0 | 0 | 0 | |

Table 24. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Davies 2021 of TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with either an F/F or F/RF genotype.



| adverse event through Week 12 only | | | |
|--|------------------|-----------------|------------------|
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z- score at Week 8 | -0.04 (SD: 0.17) | 0.03 (SD: 0.23) | -0.02 (SD: 0.15) |

Abbreviations: Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacaftor; mITT: modified intention-to-treat; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; SAS; safety analysis set; TEZ: tezacaftor.

In the Company submission, Walker 2019 (VX15-661-113) was also presented as a source of clinical efficacy data for the acute effects of TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 years.¹⁶⁰ Walker 2019 was a Phase 3 non-randomised trial, but was deprioritised in the EAG SLR due to RCT evidence being available in the same population from Davies 2021. However, the EAG notes that due to the small sample size of the control "blinding" arms in Davies 2021, Walker 2019 and Davies 2021 may provide a similar quality of evidence. The EAG compares the efficacy data from the Davies 2021 TEZ/IVA arm and Walker 2019 in Table 25. The EAG considers these outcome data to be consistent, but notes that: i) despite overlapping with each other, the confidence intervals for the change from baseline in ppFEV₁ for Davies 2021 excluded 0, but did not for Walker 2019, ii) a higher rate of pulmonary exacerbations were reported in Walker 2019.

| | Davies 2021: Week 8 | Walker 2019 Part B: Week 24 |
|--|------------------------|-----------------------------|
| | TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA |
| | (n=54) | (n=70)* |
| | (F/F n=42, F/RF n=12) | (F/F n=61, F/RF n=9) |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 8 (Davies 2021) or Week 24 (Walker 2019) in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | –12.3 (–15.3 to –9.3) | –14.5 (–17.4 to –11.6) |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 8 (Davies 2021) or Week 24 (Walker 2019) in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | –0.51 (–0.74 to –0.29) | NR |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 8 (Davies 2021) or Week 24 | 2.8 (1.0 to 4.6) | 0.9 (-0.6 to 2.3) |

Table 25. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Davies 2021 and Walker 2019 of TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with either an F/F or F/RF genotype.



| (Walker 2019) in ppFEV ₁ , LS mean (95% CI) | | |
|---|------------------|---------------------|
| Number of participants with PEx adverse event (not including serious), n (% of SAS). Reported as adverse event through Week 12 (Davies 2021) or Week 28 (Walker 2019) only | 3 (5.56) | 16 (22.9) |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event, n (% of SAS). <i>Reported as</i> <i>adverse event through Week</i> <i>12 (Davies 2021) or Week</i> <i>28 (Walker 2019) only</i> | 0 | 2 (2.9) |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z- score at Week 8 (Davies 2021) or Week 24 (Walker 2019) | –0.04 (SD: 0.17) | 0.0 (–0.05 to 0.05) |

*N = 64 participants had baseline measurements

Abbreviations: Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacaftor; mITT: modified intention-to-treat; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; SAS; safety analysis set; TEZ: tezacaftor.

3.2.2.1.2.2 12+ years

Three studies including TEZ/IVA in the 12+ years age group were presented in Section 3.2.2.1.1.3, with TEZ/IVA being an active control arm in RCTs of ELX/TEZ/IVA in Sutharsan 2022, Heijerman 2019 and Barry 2021. Due to the 4-week TEZ/IVA run-in period used in these trials, the change from baseline at Week 24 for participants on TEZ/IVA is close to 0, for most variables. This is because most of the acute clinical effects of TEZ/IVA would have manifested in the 4-week TEZ/IVA run-in period for participants naïve to TEZ/IVA, rather than in the post-baseline efficacy period.

Taylor-Cousar 2017 (VX14-661-106) was a Phase 3 placebo-controlled RCT in people with CF aged 12+ with an F/F CF genotype.¹³⁷ Through 24 weeks, participants randomised to TEZ/IVA experienced a 4.0 (95% CI: 3.1 to 4.8) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to placebo. Participants treated with TEZ/IVA experienced a **Construction of the second structure of the**



Rowe 2017 (VX14-661-108) was a Phase 3 placebo-controlled crossover RCT in people with CF aged 12+ with an F/RF CF genotype.¹³⁸ Participants were randomised to one of six treatment sequences, receiving either TEZ/IVA, IVA monotherapy or placebo for 8 weeks, followed by an 8-week washout period, and then either TEZ/IVA, IVA monotherapy or placebo for a further 8 weeks. Primary and secondary endpoints were reported as averages across treatment periods for the following contrasts: IVA monotherapy vs placebo, TEZ/IVA vs placebo and, TEZ/IVA vs IVA monotherapy. As IVA monotherapy is not within the scope of this MTA and there are head-to-head trial data for TEZ/IVA vs placebo, the IVA monotherapy data are not considered further here. Across both 8-week treatment periods, participants receiving to TEZ/IVA experienced a 6.8 (95% CI: 5.7 to 7.8) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants receiving placebo. Participants receiving TEZ/IVA greater increase in weight-for-age z-score across treatment experienced a periods compared to participants receiving placebo. Pulmonary exacerbations were reported as a protocol-defined efficacy outcome and as adverse events through Week 28 following MedDRA 19.1 coding. There were 11 protocol-defined pulmonary exacerbations in the TEZ/IVA arm, compared to 20 in the placebo arm (Table 26).



| | Taylor-Cousar 2017 mITT through 24 weeks F/F | | Rowe 2017 FAS across both 8-week treatment periods F/RF | | |
|---|--|------------------------|---|-------------------------|--|
| | TEZ/IVA (n=248) | Placebo (n=256) | TEZ/IVA (n=161) | Placebo (n=161) | |
| Absolute change from baseline in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | _9.9* (−10.9 to −8.9) | 0.2** (-0.8 to 1.2) | -9.9 (-11.8 to -8.0) | -0.4 (-2.3 to 1.5) | |
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | –10.1 (–11.4 | to -8.8) | -9.5 (-11.7 | to -7.3) | |
| Absolute change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ , LS mean (95% CI) | 3.4 (2.7 to 4.0) | -0.6 (-1.3 to 0.0) | 6.5 (5.6 to 7.3) | -0.3 (-1.2 to 0.6) | |
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | 4.0 (3.1 to | o 4.8) | 6.8 (5.7 to 7.8) | | |
| Number of participants with PEx adverse event (not including serious), n (% of SAS) | 57 (22.7)*** | 75 (29.1)*** | 19 (11.73) [†] | 25 (15.43) [†] | |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event, n (% of SAS) | 23 (9.16)*** | 32 (12.4)*** | 4 (2.47)† | 8 (4.94)† | |
| Number protocol defined PEx events, (annualised event rate) | 78 (0.64) | 122 (0.99) | 11 (0.34) | 20 (0.63) | |
| Rate ratio of PEx events requiring IV antibiotics vs placebo (95% CI) | 0.53 (0.34 t | to 0.80) | 0.54 (0.26 | to 1.13) | |

Table 26. Clinical efficacy outcomes of placebo-controlled RCTs of TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+



| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | | | | | | |
| *n=240 for this outcome | | | | | | |
| **n=242 for this outcome | | | | | | |
| *** Reported as adverse event in SAS through Week 28, SAS n = 251 TEZ/IVA, SAS n = 256 placebo. | | | | | | |
| [†] Reported as adverse event in SAS through Week 28, SAS n = 162 for both TEZ/IVA and placebo | | | | | | |
| Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; LS: least squares; mITT: modified intention-to-treat; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV ₁ : percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; SAS; safety analysis set; TEZ: tezacaftor.: | | | | | | |

3.2.2.1.3 LUM/IVA

3.2.2.1.3.1 1 to 2 years

Rayment 2022 (VX16-809-122) was a Phase 3 non-randomised trial of people with CF aged 1 to 2 years with an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴³ Part A recruited 14 participants for a treatment duration of 15 days and Part B recruited 47 participants for a treatment duration of 24 weeks. The results of Part B are presented here. The study period of Rayment 2022 overlapped with the COVID-19 pandemic (Start Date: 7 September 2018; Primary Completion Date: 29 October 2021), and as such the EAG assesses the pulmonary exacerbation and weight-for-age z-score data to be at high risk of bias, but notes that much of the data collection was likely completed prior to COVID-19. Through 24 weeks, participants on LUM/IVA experienced a 0.06 (95% CI: -0.05 to 0.17) increase in weight-for-age z-score. In the 26-week safety assessment period, 10 (21.1%) participants experienced a non-serious adverse event of pulmonary exacerbation, and three (6.5%) participants experienced a serious adverse event of pulmonary exacerbation (Table 20). A spirometry outcome, LCl_{2.5} was due to be collected as part of a substudy, but this recruited only one participant. The EAG's clinical experts highlighted the difficulty in measuring spirometry outcomes in infants. In lieu of spirometry outcomes, the EAG considers the absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in sweat chloride to be an informative clinical outcome that is likely prognostic of future spirometry results.

Participants treated with LUM/IVA had a mean reduction of –29.1 mmol/L (95% CI: –34.8 to –23.4) in sweat chloride through Week 24. However, the EAG considers there to be a high risk of bias in both the sweat chloride and change in weight-for-age z-score data due to a high rate of data missingness. Only 24 of the 46 participants in the FAS provided a sweat chloride measurement at Week 24, and only 38 participants had a weight-for-age z-score measurement at Week 24. The EAG considers it plausible that such data were not missing at random.



Table 27. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Rayment 2022 of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 1 to 2 years with an F/F CF genotype.

| Rayment 2022: Part B, FAS at Week 24 | LUM/IVA (n=46) | |
|--|--------------------------------|--|
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | -29.1 (-34.8 to -23.4), n = 24 | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | NR | |
| Number of participants with non-serious PEx adverse event through Week 26, n (%) | 10 (21.2%) | |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event through Week 26, n (%) | 3 (6.5%) | |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z- score at Week 24 (95% CI) | 0.06 (–0.05 to 0.17), n = 38 | |
| Abbraviations: Chaonfidence interval: ELV: elevenetter: EAS: full englysis act: N/: introvenous: N/A: ivecefter: LCL: : hung | | |

Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor; FAS: full analysis set; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacaftor; LS: least squares; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; NR: not reported.

3.2.2.1.3.2 2 to 5 years

Stahl 2021 (VX16-809-121) was a placebo-controlled Phase 2 RCT of LUM/IVA in children with CF aged 2 to 5 years with an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴² Stahl 2021 was defined as an exploratory study to explore the impact of LUM/IVA on disease progression in CF in people aged 2 to 5, and had a primary endpoint of the absolute change from baseline in MRI global chest score at Week 48. However, all key variables relevant to the economic model of this MTA were reported as secondary outcomes for both LUM/IVA and placebo, and as such, the EAG considers Stahl 2021 to be a stronger source of data on the relative treatment effect of LUM/IVA compared to ECM than the Phase 3 non-randomised trials in this population.

Through 48 weeks, participants randomised to LUM/IVA experienced a -0.37 decrease in LCl_{2.5}, compared to a 0.32 decrease in LCl_{2.5}, compared to a 0.32 decrease in crease for participants randomised to placebo. Participants randomised to LUM/IVA experienced a 0.13 (95% CI: -0.01 to 0.27) increase in weight-for-age z-score at Week 28, compared to a -0.07 (-0.24 to 0.11) decrease for participants randomised to placebo. There were 26 (annual event rate: 0.75) protocol-defined pulmonary exacerbations in the LUM/IVA arm, and 19 (annual event rate: 1.17) in the placebo arm (Table 28).



Table 28. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Stahl 2021 of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 2 to 5 with an F/F CF genotype.

| Stahl 2021: FAS at Week 48 | LUM/IVA (n=35) | Placebo (n=16) |
|--|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 48 in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | -25.4 | 1.0 |
| Difference from placebo | NR | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 48 in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | -0.37 (-0.85 to 0.10) | 0.32 (–0.20 to 0.84) |
| Difference from placebo | NR | |
| Number of protocol defined PEx events (event rate per year) | 26 (0.75) | 19 (1.17) |
| Number of participants with PEx adverse event (not including serious), n (%). <i>Reported as adverse</i> <i>event through Week 48</i> . | 15 (42.86) | 9 (56.25) |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event, n (%). <i>Reported</i> <i>as adverse event through Week 48</i> | 3 (8.57) | 1 (6.25) |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score at Week 48 (95% CI) | 0.13 (–0.01 to 0.27) | -0.07 (-0.24 to 0.11) |
| Difference from placebo | NR | |

Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor; FAS: full analysis set; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacaftor; LS: least squares; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; NR: not reported.

In the Company submission, McNamara 2019 (VX15-809-115) was used as the source of clinical efficacy data for the acute effects of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 2 to 5.¹⁶⁰ McNamara 2019 was a Phase 3 non-randomised trial. Due to the model structure and assumptions, the only data applied from this study was absolute change in weight-for-age z-score, compliance, and discontinuation. Table 29 compares these data from Stahl 2021 and McNamara 2019. The EAG notes that the change from baseline weight-for-age z-score data are more consistent between Stahl 2021 and, i) data from participants aged 1 to 2 years and 6 to 11 years treated with LUM/IVA (Sections 3.2.2.1.3.1 and 3.2.2.1.3.2), and ii) data from participants aged 2 to 5 years treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA (3.2.2.1.1.1).

| | Stahl 2021 at Week 48 (n=35) | McNamara 2019 at Week 24 (n=60) |
|--|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Change from baseline weight-for- age z-score (95% CI) | 0.13 (-0.01 to 0.27) | |
| Treatment compliance | | |
| Annual rate of discontinuation | | 0.149 |
| Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval | | |

Table 29. A comparison of weight-for-age z-score, treatment compliance and discontinuation data from Stahl 2021 and McNamara 2019.

3.2.2.1.3.3 6 to 11 years

Ratjen 2017 (VX14-809-109) was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of LUM/IVA in children with CF aged 6 to 11 with an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴¹ Through 24 weeks, participants on LUM/IVA experienced a –1.09 (95% CI: –1.43 to –0.75) greater decrease in LCI_{2.5} compared to placebo, and 2.4 (95% CI: 0.4 to 4.4) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to placebo. Participants treated with LUM/IVA experienced a greater decrease in weight–for–age z–score at Week 24. Through Week 24, 20 participants experienced a protocol defined pulmonary exacerbation in the LUM/IVA arm (annualised event rate:), compared to 15 participants in the placebo arm (annualised event rate:), Table 30).

Table 30. Clinical efficacy outcomes of Ratjen 2017 of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 6 to 11 with an F/F genotype.

| Ratjen 2017: FAS at Week 24 | LUM/IVA (n=103) | Placebo (n=101) |
|---|------------------------|--------------------|
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | -21.6 (SE: 1.3) | 3.2 (SE: 1.3) |
| Difference from placebo | NR | |
| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in LCI _{2.5} , LS mean (95% CI) | -1.01 (-1.3 to -0.8) | 0.08 (-0.2 to 0.3) |
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | -1.09 (-1.43 to -0.75) | |

| Absolute change from baseline through Week 24 in ppFEV ₁ , LS mean (95% CI) | 1.1 (-0.4 to 2.6) | -1.3 (-2.8 to 0.2) | | |
|---|-------------------|--------------------|--|--|
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | 2.4 (0.4 to 4.4) | | | |
| Number of protocol defined PEx events (event rate per year) | | | | |
| Annualised estimated event rate of PEx requiring hospitalisation | | | | |
| Number of participants with PEx requiring IV antibiotics, n (%) | | | | |
| Number of participants with PEx adverse event (not including serious), n (%). <i>Reported as adverse</i> <i>event through Week 28 only</i> | 16 (15.84) | 13 (12.62) | | |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse event, n (%). <i>Reported</i> <i>as adverse event through Week 28</i> <i>only</i> | 5 (4.95) | 8 (7.77) | | |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score at Week 24 | | | | |
| Difference from placebo (95% CI) | | | | |
| Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; LCI _{2.5} : lung | | | | |

clearance index 2.5; IV: intravenous; FAS: full analysis set; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second.

3.2.2.1.3.4 12+ years

Wainwright 2015 reported the results of TRAFFIC (VX12-809-103) and TRANSPORT (VX12-809-104), which were both Phase 3 placebo-controlled RCTs of LUM/IVA in participants aged 12+ years with an F/F CF genotype. In both TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT, participants were randomised to one of three arms: LUM/IVA (400 mg q12h/250 mg q12h); LUM/IVA (600 mg qd/250 mg q12h); or placebo. As in TA398,¹⁶¹ the LUM/IVA (600 mg qd/250 mg q12h) arm is not considered further as this dose is not included in the marketing authorisation, and there is evidence that the treatment effects differ across doses.⁴²

Through 24 weeks in TRAFFIC, participants randomised to LUM/IVA experienced a 2.6 (95% CI: 1.18 to 4.01) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to placebo. There were 73 (annualised event rate: 0.71) protocol-defined pulmonary exacerbations in the LUM /IVA arm, compared to 112 (annualised event rate: 1.08) in the placebo arm (Table 26). In TRANSPORT, participants randomised to LUM/IVA experienced a 3.0 (1.56 to 4.44) greater increase in ppFEV₁ compared to participants randomised to placebo. There were 79 (annualised event rate: 0.67) protocol-defined pulmonary exacerbations in the LUM/IVA arm, compared to 139 (annualised event


rate: 1.18) in the placebo arm (Table 26). The relative difference in change from baseline weight-forage z-score was available for TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT pooled, and was **second state of the transport to the t**

Wilson 2021 was a Phase 4 placebo-controlled RCT of LUM/IVA in participants aged 12+ years with an F/F CF genotype.¹⁴⁰ Through 24 weeks, participants randomised to receive LUM/IVA experienced a 3.4 (–1.2 to 8.1) greater change from baseline in ppFEV₁ than participants randomised to placebo, although absolute pPFEV1 decline through Week 24 in both arms. The number of participants with serious PEx adverse events through Week 28 was 8 (23.53%) in the LUM/IVA arm, and 6 (16.67%) in the placebo arm (Table 31).



| | TRAFFIC (Wai FAS through F/I | nwright 2015) 1 24 weeks - | TRANSPORT (Wa FAS through F/F | ainwright 2015) 24 weeks | Wilson 2021 FAS through 24 weeks | | |
|---|--------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------|--|
| | LUM/IVA (n=182) | Placebo (n=184) | LUM/IVA (n=187) | Placebo (n=187) | LUM/IVA (n=34) | Placebo (n=36) | |
| Absolute change from baseline in sweat chloride, mmol/L, LS mean (95% CI) | NR | NR NR | | NR NR | | NR | |
| Difference from placebo | NF | R | NR | | N | R | |
| Absolute change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ , LS mean (95% CI) | 2.16 -0.44 (SE: 0.53) (SE: 0.524) | | 2.85 (SE: 0.54) | -0.15 (SE: 0.539) | -0.6 (-4 to 2.9) | -4.0 (-7.3 to -0.7) | |
| Difference from placebo (95% Cl) | 2.6 (1.18 | to 4.01) | 3.0 (1.56 t | 0 4.44) | 3.4 (-1.2 to 8.1) | | |
| Number of participants with PEx adverse events (not including serious), n (% of SAS), reported at Week 28 | 54 (29.67) | 58 (31.52) | 50 (26.74) | 74 (39.78)* | 8 (23.53) | 6 (16.67) | |
| Number of participants with serious PEx adverse events, n (% of SAS), reported at Week 28 | 17 (9.34) 41 (22.28) | | 24 (12.83) | 48 (25.81)* | 8 (23.53) | 6 (16.67) | |
| Number protocol defined PEx events, (annualised event rate) | 73 (0.71) 112 (1.08) | | 79 (0.67) | 139 (1.18) | NR | NR | |

Table 31. Clinical efficacy outcomes of placebo-controlled RCTs of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 12+



| Number protocol defined PEx events requiring hospitalisation, (annualised event rate) | | | | | NR | NR |
|--|------------------|---------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|----|----|
| Number protocol defined PEx events requiring IV antibiotics, (annualised event rate) | | | | | NR | NR |
| Rate ratio of PEx events requiring IV antibiotics vs placebo | Data o | only available for TRAFFI | NR | NR | | |
| Absolute change from baseline in weight-for- age z-score | | | | | NR | NR |
| Difference from placebo (95% Cl) | | | | | NR | NR |
| Absolute change from baseline in EQ-5D-3L | 0.01 (SE: 0.008) | 0.0006 (SE: 0.007) | 0.011 (SE: 0.007) | 0.012 (SE: 0.007) | NR | NR |
| Difference from placebo (95% Cl) | 0.0095 (–0.0 | 011 to 0.030) | -0.0009 (-0.0 | 19 to 0.017) | NR | NR |
| *n=186 for this outcome | | | | | | |

Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; FAS: full analysis set; IV: intravenous; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; mITT: modified intention-to-treat; PEx: pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; SAS; safety analysis set.

3.2.2.2 Relationship between clinical efficacy and baseline lung function

To consider the relationship between baseline lung function and clinical effectiveness, the EAG extracted subgroup data for the relative treatment effect of absolute change from baseline in ppFEV₁ from the clinical trials included in the SLR, by baseline ppFEV₁ groups. These were reported as pre-specified subgroups in the eight pivotal Phase 3 RCTs of people with CF aged 12+: Middleton 2019; Barry 2021; Sutharsan 2022; Heijerman 2019; Taylor-Cousar 2017; Rowe 2017; TRAFFIC; and TRANSPORT.^{42, 61, 131-133, 137, 138} Data were presented for each subgroup, although no interaction modelling was performed. The definition of subgroups differed between trials, with some trials reporting only subgroup data for only the <70 ppFEV₁ and ≥70 ppFEV₁ groups at baseline, but others also including categories of <40 ppFEV₁ and ≥40 ppFEV₁ at baseline. These subgroup data are presented in Table 32. The EAG notes that the relative treatment effect of the CFTR modulator interventions was consistently larger for the ppFEV₁ <70 at baseline group than the ppFEV₁ ≥70 at baseline group, but notes that the magnitude of this difference was inconsistent between studies.

From these subgroup analyses, the EAG considers it likely that there is a relationship between baseline ppFEV₁ and the acute increase in ppFEV₁ following CFTR modulator therapy, however notes that:

- The subgroups reported lack clinical justification, and the relationship between baseline ppFEV₁ and acute change in ppFEV₁ would be more adequately modelled using baseline ppFEV₁ as a continuous predictor in a model allowing for a non-linear interaction between baseline ppFEV₁ and acute increase in ppFEV₁, e.g., a restricted cubic spline;
- It is plausible that the same acute increase in individuals with different baseline ppFEV₁ can have different clinical interpretations and prognostic ability, especially due to ceiling effects at high ppFEV₁ levels.
 - For people with CF and preserved lung function (e.g., high baseline ppFEV₁), the EAG's clinical experts suggested the benefit of CFTR modulators for these individuals may be more visible in the prevention or delaying of lung function decline, rather than through an acute increase in ppFEV₁.



| Study | Intervention | Genotype | Timepoint | Between treatment difference in absolute change from ppFEV ₁ , by ppFEV ₁ subgroup | | | | | | | |
|------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|--|--------------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|--|
| | | | | ppFEV ₁ <40 | ppFEV₁ ≥40 | ≥40 ppFEV ₁ <70 | ppFEV₁<70 | ppFEV₁≥70 | | | |
| Middleton 2019 | ELX/TEZ/IVA vs placebo | F/MF | Week 24 | NR | NR | NR | 14.2 (95% CI: 12.0 to 16.3) | 13.0 (95% CI: 10.6 to 15.5) | | | |
| Barry 2021 | ELX/TEZ/IVA vs TEZ/IVA or IVA | F/RF or F/Gating | Week 8 | NR | NR | NR | 4.5 (95% CI: 2.7 to 6.4) | 2.5 (95% CI: 0.8 to 4.2) | | | |
| Sutharsan 2022 | ELX/TEZ/IVA vs TEZ/IVA | F/F | Week 24 | NR | NR | NR | 20.8 (95% CI: 14.5 to 27.1) | 12.1 (95% CI: 6.5 to 17.7) | | | |
| Heijerman 2019 | ELX/TEZ/IVA vs TEZ/IVA | F/F | Week 4 | NR | NR | NR | 11.2 (95% CI: 8.0 to 14.4) | 6.3 (95% CI: 2.3 to 10.4) | | | |
| Taylor- Cousar 2017 | TEZ/IVA vs placebo | F/F | Week 24 | 3.5 (95% CI: 1.0 to 6.1) | NR | 4.2 (95% CI: 3.1 to 5.2) | NR | 3.7 (95% CI: 2.2 to 5.2) | | | |
| Rowe 2017 | TEZ/IVA vs placebo | F/RF | Week 8 | 4.4 (95% CI: 0.9 to 7.9) | NR | 4.3 (95% CI: 2.9 to 5.7) | NR | 5.7 (95% CI: 3.8 to 7.6) | | | |
| TRAFFIC | LUM/IVA vs placebo | F/F | Week 24 | 1.60 (95% CI: -4.52 to 7.73) | 2.73 (95% CI: 1.26 to 4.20) | NR | 2.95 (95% CI: 1.33 to 4.57) | 2.19 (95% CI: -0.81 to 5.19) | | | |
| TRANSPORT | LUM/IVA vs placebo | F/F | Week 24 | 4.37 (95% CI: 0.91 to 7.82) | 2.79 (95% CI: 1.24 to 4.34) | NR | 3.57 (95% CI: 1.89 to 5.24) | 1.62 (95% CI: -1.26 to 4.50) | | | |
| Abbreviations: CI | : confidence interva | al; CF: cystic fibrosi | s; ELX: elexacaftor; | IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lum | nacaftor; ppFEV ₁ : perce | ent predicted forced expir | atory volume in one seco | ond: TEZ: tezacaftor. | | | |

Table 32. Between treatment difference in absolute change from ppFEV₁, by ppFEV₁ subgroup, for people with CF aged 12+ years

3.2.2.3 Generalisability of clinical trial data to clinical practice in England and Wales

The clinical trials informing the cost-effectiveness analysis were international, multicentre, trials, primarily consisting of sites across Northern American, Europe and Australia (Appendix Table 96), which may raise concerns about the generalisability of the clinical trial data to clinical practice in England and Wales. However, the EAG's clinical experts considered clinical practice across these regions to be largely generalisable to clinical practice in England and Wales, and did not consider variables that may differ across countries to likely modify the treatment effect of CFTR modulators. The EAG notes that the doses used across the trials included in the EAG's SLR matched the doses outlined in the product SmPCs, with the exception of:

- NCT04537793: There is no current marketing authorisation of ELX/TEZ/IVA in people aged 2 to 5;¹⁵⁹
- Davies 2021: In the SmPC for TEZ/IVA for people with CF aged 6 to 11, the weight threshold for receiving the higher TEZ/IVA dose (100 mg qd/ 150 mg q12h) rather than the lower TEZ/IVA dose (50 mg qd/ 75 mg q12h) is 30kg. In Davies 2021 this threshold was 40kg.¹³⁹ The EAG did not consider this to likely affect the generalisability of the trial results to clinical practice in England and Wales to a large degree.

The EAG's clinical experts noted that clinical outcomes for people with CF have continually improved in the decade before CFTR modulators were routinely available, and as such data from recent clinical trials are more likely generalisable to clinical practice in England and Wales than data from early trials of CFTR modulators.¹ The EAG notes that the median predicted survival of individuals with CF has consistently increased in the 2000s,¹⁵ and that the use of dornase alfa and hypertonic saline solution – key mucolytic therapies used in ECM – has consistently increased from 2008 to 2018.¹⁶² However, the EAG considers that in randomised controlled trials, changes to ECM and baseline survival of CF patients are likely to have similar impact across the intervention and control arms, and as such the relative treatment effects from earlier CFTR modulator RCTs are likely still generalisable to clinical practice in England and Wales today.

The EAG notes that the inclusion criteria of the clinical trials for people with CF aged 12+ years included a criterion of 40% to 90% ppFEV₁ at screening. This was noted in TA398 as a possible limitation of the generalisability of the trial results to patients with severe lung disease, likely



awaiting transplant (<40% ppFEV₁) or those with very mild CF (\geq 90%).¹⁶¹ Following discussion with its clinical experts, the EAG considers that:

- People with a ppFEV₁ outside of 40% to 90% are still likely to benefit from CFTR modulator therapy;
- For people with a ppFEV₁ <40%, the magnitude of the CFTR modulator treatment effect may be limited by pre-existing irreversible lung damage. However, in the TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA trials where subgroup data were reported for the small number of participants with baseline ppFEV₁<40% despite screening ppFEV₁ ≥40%, the magnitude of the treatment response was similar to the overall cohorts (Table 32). The EAG also notes that:
 - In a Vertex-sponsored single-arm trial of LUM/IVA in people with CF aged 12+ years and advanced lung-disease (mean ppFEV₁at baseline = 29.1), ppFEV₁ did not increase by Week 24;¹⁶³
 - In the Final Analysis of the UK Data Collection Agreement, participants who initiated ELX/TEZ/IVA with a baseline ppFEV₁ <40% experienced an increase in ppFEV₁ after one year (11.96, 95% CI: 10.97 to 12.94) that was similar in magnitude to the increase observed in clinical trials for participants with a higher baseline ppFEV₁.¹⁶⁴
- For people with ppFEV₁ >90%, a lower acute increase in ppFEV₁ is likely than people with ppFEV₁ <90%, due to ceiling effects. However, the EAG's clinical experts considered that such individuals may be the people who can achieve the best clinical outcomes on CFTR modulator therapies, due to the potential of the therapies to limit lung-function decline before any irreversible damage has occurred, and to reduce the likelihood of pulmonary bacterial colonisation.

As such, the EAG considers that while the acute effects of CFTR modulator therapies for people with $ppFEV_1$ outside of 40% to 90% are uncertain, people with $ppFEV_1$ greater than 90% will likely gain a similar, if not greater, long-term clinical benefit of CFTR modulator to those with $ppFEV_1$ within 40% to 90%. The long-term clinical outcomes of CFTR modulator treatment for people with $ppFEV_1 < 40\%$ is more uncertain for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA. In 2014, 18.3% of people aged 16+ years attending UK specialist adult centres had a $ppFEV_1 < 40\%$,¹⁰³ and as such this group comprises a significant proportion of the incident CF population. However, should CFTR modulators be approved for routine commissioning, nearly all patients eligible for CFTR modulators in the incident population would take up treatment prior to their $ppFEV_1$ declining to <40%.

BMJ TAG

The EAG notes that the clinical trial data presented in Section 3.2 may have limited generalisability to the incident population of children who initiate ELX/TEZ/IVA aged 2. The EAG notes the lack of data available for such children: the mean age of children in the clinical trial of ELX/TEZ/IVA for children aged 2 to 5 years was 4.1 years,¹⁵⁹ and the results of the long-term extension trial of this group are not yet available. The EAG's clinical experts noted that if ELX/TEZ/IVA was initiated very early, i.e., before substantial lung or pancreatic damage had occurred, it is plausible that ELX/TEZ/IVA may prevent most lung-function and other clinical decline for these individuals. While plausible, the EAG notes substantial uncertainty regarding the long-term clinical outcomes of people aged 2 initiating ELX/TEZ/IVA due to:

- The lack of any data on the long-term clinical outcomes of people aged 2 initiating ELX/TEZ/IVA;
- The likelihood of irreversible severe pancreatic and other organ damage prior to the age of 2,¹⁶⁵ with substantial damage likely occurring *in utero*;¹⁶⁶
- The effects of CFTR modulator therapy on restoring CFTR-mediated bicarbonate transport throughout the body are more unclear than the effects of CFTR modulator therapy on restoring chloride ion transport.¹⁶⁷

Hence, while the EAG notes that children initiating ELX/TEZ/IVA at age 2 may have more positive clinical outcomes than people initiating ELX/TEZ/IVA at an older age, the magnitude and consistency of the treatment response in the long-term is uncertain.

3.2.2.4 Adverse effects of treatment

Data on the adverse effects of CFTR modulator treatments from trials identified in the SLR are presented in Appendix 9.3.5. For ELX/TEZ/IVA, the number of participants experiencing adverse events and serious adverse events was lower in the ELX/TEZ/IVA arms than the placebo or TEZ/IVA control arms of RCTs. For LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA, the number of participants experiencing adverse events and serious adverse events was similar in the CFTR modulator arms and the control arms of RCTs. However, as pulmonary exacerbations were recorded as adverse events in CFTR modulator clinical trials, and CFTR modulator therapies reduce the rate of pulmonary exacerbations, the incidence of specific adverse events that are not pulmonary exacerbations is important to consider. The EAG therefore extracted data on adverse events highlighted as important by the EAG's clinical experts – liver adverse events, cataracts and lens opacities, and hypertension – and adverse events

of special interest reported throughout the CFTR modulator clinical trial programme – liver adverse events and rash events.

The number of participants experiencing increased alanine aminotransferase, increased aspartate aminotransferase and increased gamma-glutamyltransferase was numerically greater for ELX/TEZ/IVA and TEZ/IVA compared to placebo, and similar between LUM/IVA and placebo. The EAG notes that:

- The magnitude of the increased number of liver AEs was larger for ELX/TEZ/IVA than TEZ/IVA;
- The main cost of these non-serious liver adverse events is likely realised in the likelihood of discontinuation due to the adverse events, rather than the cost of treating or investigating the adverse event itself.

Rash events were more frequent in the ELX/TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA arms compared to placebo arms in RCTs, but were not elevated in TEZ/IVA arms compared to placebo arms.

When reported in the clinical trials included in the SLR, the incidence of cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension was low across all arms of the trials (Appendix Table 106 and Table 107), but the safety analysis period for most trials was only 28 weeks. The EAG's clinical experts highlighted that the 28-week safety periods may have been insufficient to detect meaningful elevations in the rate of cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension related to the long-term use of CFTR modulators. The reporting of cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension was inconsistent across extension study CSRs, and no controlled data are available. The EAG considers the magnitude of any increase in cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension following CFTR modulator to be uncertain in existing data, and notes that currently there is no evidence that such AEs are frequent enough to incur large costs (Table 33). Nevertheless, the EAG notes that follow-up data over a person's lifetime are not available, and as such there is outstanding uncertainty concerning the effects of CFTR modulator therapy on cataracts, lens opacities and hypertensions, as well as AEs more broadly.

| Table 33 | . The | frequency | y of c | ataract | and | hypert | ension | AEs i | n CFTR | modu | ulator | trial | open | label |
|----------|--------|-----------|--------|---------|-----|--------|--------|-------|--------|------|--------|-------|------|-------|
| extensio | n stud | dies. | | | | | | | | | | | | |

| | Griese | Ratjen | VX18-445- | Flume | Sawicki | Konstan | Chilvers |
|------|------------------------------|--------|--------------------------|-------|---------|---------|----------|
| | 2022 | 2022 | 110 | 2021 | 2022 | 2017 | 2021 |
| Week | 144 (Interim Analysis) | 96 | 96 (Interim analysis) | 96 | 96 | 96 | 264 |





3.2.2.4.1 Mental health

Serious adverse events relating to mental health were not common in clinical trials of CFTR modulators. However, stakeholder submissions highlighted a complex relationship between treatment with CFTR modulators and a person's mental health. The UK Psychosocial Professionals in Cystic Fibrosis submission stated that the improved long-term prognosis associated with CFTR modulators can have "considerable positive implications" for their mental health of patients who, following effective treatment may be able to "consider a fulfilling future".¹⁶⁸ However, the submission also highlighted anecdotal evidence of mental health difficulties developing, or increasing in severity, following CFTR modulator therapy use. Such concerns were also highlighted in the CF Trust submission,²⁹ and the EAG's clinical experts commented that some patients have discontinued ELX/TEZ/IVA because of the individual's concern about the mental health impacts of ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment.

The EAG considers the relationship between CFTR modulator therapy and mental health adverse effects to be uncertain, likely to have complex and differing effects on a person's mental health, and an area to prioritise for future research. The EAG notes that the frequency of psychiatric disorder adverse events reported in RCTs with 28-week safety follow-up included in the EAG's SLR were low, and there was little evidence to suggest any were elevated over placebo (Table 34).^{42, 61, 131, 137} The



EAG therefore considers that mental health adverse events are unlikely to be captured adequately in the short-term clinical trial data currently available. The EAG notes uncertainty around the rates of mental health AEs that are related to CFTR modulator therapies, although they are likely to be low, and considers that the development of mental health AEs is likely to be specific to certain individual circumstances. The EAG considers the costs for such individuals may be captured in the rate of discontinuation of therapy, and further notes that mental health AEs are likely to be quite rare, costs beyond those associated with discontinuation are unlikely to make a meaningful impact on the average cost-effectiveness of treatment with CFTR modulator therapy.



Table 34. Psychiatric disorders reported across RCTs of CFTR combination modulator therapies in people with CF aged 12+ years over 28 weeks safety follow-up.

| | TF | RAFFIC | TRA | ANSPORT | Taylor- | Cousar 2017 | Sutha | arsan 2022 | Midd | leton 2019 |
|------------------------------------|-------------------|----------------------|--------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------------------|
| | PBO | LUM/IVA | PBO | LUM/IVA | PBO | TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | PBO | ELX/TEZ/IVA |
| Week 28 | N = 184 | N = 172 | N = 186 | N = 187 | N = 258 | N = 251 | N = 88 | N = 87 | N = 201 | N = 202 |
| | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) | n (%) |
| Psychiatric disorders (overall) | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | | | | |
| Anxiety | 2 (1.09) | 2 (1.10) | 2 (1.08) | 2 (1.07) | | | | | | |
| Insomnia | 6 (3.26) | 3 (1.65) | 7 (3.76) | 2 (1.07) | | | | | | |
| Depression | 4 (2.17) | 1 (0.55) | 3 (1.61) | 1 (0.53) | | | | | | |
| Mood swings | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | | | | |
| Suicidal ideation | 0 | 0 | NR | NR | | | | | | |
| Depressed mood | 0 | 3 (1.65) | NR | NR | | | | | | |
| Abbreviations: CF: cvs | tic fibrosis: CF1 | R: cvstic fibrosis t | ransmembrane | e conductance req | ulator: ELX: elex | acaftor: IVA: ivac | aftor: PBO: place | bo: RCT: randomise | ed controlled tria | I: TEZ: tezacaftor. |

3.2.2.5 Indirect treatment comparisons

Where no direct head-to-head trial data existed for interventions and comparators included in the NICE final scope for a specific age group and genotype combination, the EAG assessed the feasibility of indirect treatment comparisons for the variables entering the economic model, namely change from baseline in ppFEV₁, weight-for-age z-score and the frequency of pulmonary exacerbations. The EAG performed indirect treatment comparisons for the following groups:

- F/F genotype aged 12+ years;
- F/RF genotype aged 12+ years;
- F/Gating genotype aged 12+ years.

In addition, there was no head-to-head trial data of key comparators, but also no connected evidence network to perform anchored ITCs in the following groups:

• F/F genotype aged 6 to 11 years: For this population, the Company submitted an anchored individual participant data-based indirect treatment comparison, whereas the EAG preferred an assumption based-approach.

All NMA models converged, and Brooks-Gelman-Rubin diagnostic plots for each model are presented in Appendix 9.7.

3.2.2.5.1 F/F 6 to 11 years

For the F/F 6 to 11 years population, only single-arm data were available for ELX/TEZ/IVA from Zemanick 2021.¹³⁵ To generate a relative treatment effect of ELX/TEZ/IVA vs placebo, the Company conducted an unanchored IPD ITC using a mixed model repeated measures (MMRM) analysis, using treatment group, visit and treatment-by-visit intervention as fixed effects, and adjusting for sex and baseline values of the dependent variable. While the EAG agrees that an IPD MMRM may be the most suitable method to perform an unanchored indirect treatment comparison in this population, the EAG was concerned that the placebo arm used in this indirect treatment comparison, from Ratjen 2017,¹⁴¹ may have overestimated the rate of $ppFEV_1$ decline for participants receiving ECM. In Ratjen 2017, the absolute change from baseline in $ppFEV_1$ through 24 weeks of treatment in the placebo arm was –2.1%, approximately –4.2% per year. This point-estimate is inconsistent with the assumed rate of annual long-term rate of decline in the F/F population sourced from real-world data in either the Company submission (–1.32% per year, Sawicki 2022³), or the EAG base case (–0.65%



per year, average of ages 6 to 11 digitised from Szczesniak 2023 stochastic model¹⁷). Hence, the EAG does not consider the Company's unanchored IPD MMRM analyses to provide reasonable estimates for relative treatment effects of TEZ/IVA or ELX/TEZ IVA in the 6 to 11 F/F population. The EAG considered the following alternative assumptions:

- Assuming no rate of decline for participants receiving ECM;
- A naïve correction of the single arm trial data using the estimated rate of decline from Szczesniak 2023, 0.3% over 24 weeks;
- Assuming equivalent efficacy of ELX/TEZ/IVA between F/MF and F/F genotypes (note, this approach was not available for TEZ/IVA as F/MF is outside of the marketing authorisation).

A comparison of the assumptions considered by the EAG, and the EAG's preferred assumptions, are presented in Table 35.



Table 35. Different sources of estimates for the relative acute increase from baseline in ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-score in the F/F 6 to 11 years populations.

| Change from baseline: F/F 6 to 11 years | Source | Value | EAG Notes |
|--|--|--------------------------------|---|
| ppFEV ₁ | | | |
| LUM/IVA vs Placebo | Ratjen 2017 | or 2.4 (95% CI: 0.4 to 4.4) | Upper estimate from Company MMRM analysis aligned with Zemanick 2021 ¹³⁵ and adjusted for sex. Lower estimate taken directly from Ratjen 2017. |
| | Company IPD model: base case | | EAG considered the assumed rate of |
| | Company IPD model: supporting analysis | | decline for ECM to be clinically implausible |
| TEZ/IVA vs Placebo | Davies 2021, no correction | 2.8 (95% CI: 1.0 to 4.6) | EAG preference Conservative to assume no rate of decline on ECM |
| | Davies 2021, adjusted using Szczesniak 2023 | 3.1 | The EAG considers this a reasonable alternative assumption, but notes additional uncertainty is introduced by applying the correction |
| | Company IPD model | | EAG considered the assumed rate of decline for ECM to be clinically implausible |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA vs Placebo | Zemanick 2022, F/F subgroup, adjusted using Sawicki 2022 | | EAG prefers alternative source of real- world evidence for ppFEV1 decline |
| | Zemanick 2022, F/F subgroup, no correction | 11.2 (95% CI: 7.2 to 15.2) | EAG preference Conservative to assume no rate of decline on ECM |



| | Zemanick 2022, F/F subgroup, adjusted using Szczesniak 2023 | 11.5 | The EAG considers this a reasonable alternative assumption, but notes additional uncertainty is introduced by applying the correction |
|------------------------|---|------------------------------|---|
| | Mall 2022: relative treatment effect of ELX/TEZ/IVA in placebo-controlled RCT in F/MF genotype | 11.0 (95% CI: 6.9 to 15.1) | The EAG considers this a reasonable alternative assumption |
| Weight-for-age z-score | | | |
| LUM/IVA vs Placebo | Company IPD model | | EAG considers the inclusion of unanchored placebo data from Ratjen 2017 to be inappropriate due to the unexpected rate of ppFEV ₁ decline |
| | Ratjen 2017 | 0.04 (95% CI: -0.03 to 0.10) | EAG preference |
| | Company IPD model | | EAG considers the inclusion of unanchored placebo data from Ratjen 2017 to be inappropriate due to the unexpected rate of ppFEV ₁ decline |
| TEZ/IVA vs Placebo | Davies 2021 | -0.04 (SD: 0.17) | EAG considers it implausible treatment with CFTR modulators will lead to a decrease in weight-for-age z-score relative to ECM |
| | Assumption | 0 | EAG preference |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA vs Placebo | Company IPD model | | EAG considers the inclusion of unanchored placebo data from Ratjen 2017 to be inappropriate due to the unexpected rate of ppFEV ₁ decline |
| | Zemanick 2022 | | EAG preference |
| | | | |

Abbreviations: CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; ECM: established clinical management; ELX: elexacaftor; IPD: individual participant data; IVA: ivacaftor; MMRM: mixed model repeated measures; NMA: network meta-analysis; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second: TEZ: tezacaftor.



In lieu of robust indirect-treatment comparison data, the EAG's preferred assumptions for the F/F 6 to 11 age group are:

Acute increase in ppFEV₁

- LUM/IVA vs placebo: 2.4 (95% CI: 0.4 to 4.4), direct trial evidence from Ratjen 2017;¹⁴¹
- TEZ/IVA vs placebo: 2.8 (95% CI: 1.0 to 4.6), taken from the single-arm estimate of Davies 2021;
- ELX/TEZ/IVA vs placebo: 11.2 (95% CI: 7.2 to 15.2), taken from the single-arm estimate of Zemanick 2022.

Weight-for-age z-score

- LUM/IVA vs placebo: 0.04 (95% CI: -0.03 to 0.10), direct trial evidence from Ratjen 2017;¹⁴¹
- TEZ/IVA vs placebo: 0, EAG assumption that weight-for-age z-score would not decrease on TEZ/IVA relative to ECM;
- ELX/TEZ/IVA vs placebo: 0.28 (0.18 to 0.39), single-arm trial data from Zemanick 2022.

For pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics, the Company did not conduct an indirect treatment comparison as only two studies reported pulmonary exacerbations as a protocol defined outcome, Ratjen 2017 (LUM/IVA vs placebo) and Zemanick 2022 (ELX/TEZ/IVA). In Ratjen 2017, seven (6.8%) participants in the LUM/IVA arm experienced a pulmonary exacerbation requiring IV antibiotics through Week 24, compared to 6 (5.9%) participants in the placebo arm. In Zemanick 2022, one (1.5%) participant experienced a pulmonary exacerbation requiring IV antibiotics through Week 24.

While Davies 2021 (TEZ/IVA) did not report the number of pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics, the EAG considers the number of pulmonary exacerbations recorded as serious adverse events (SAE) to be a related, albeit less reliably measured, outcome. In Davies 2021, 3 (5.6%) participants in the TEZ/IVA arm had a recorded pulmonary exacerbation SAE through Week 12, compared to 3 (15.4%) participants in the PBO or IVA monotherapy blinding arms.

In the economic model, the Company does not apply a direct treatment effect on pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics for people aged <12 years, although an indirect effect through $ppFEV_1$ is observed (section 4.2.1.5.3). The EAG considers this a reasonable, although potentially



conservative, approach that is unlikely to have a large impact on the model results due to the overall low rate of pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics in people <12 years.

3.2.2.5.2 F/F 12+ years

For the F/F 12+ years population, the EAG assessed indirect treatment comparisons to be feasible for the absolute change from baseline in ppFEV₁ through Week 24, and the absolute change from baseline at Week 24 for weight-for-age z-score. Six studies reported a change from baseline in ppFEV₁, three placebo-controlled RCTs of LUM/IVA, one placebo-controlled RCT of TEZ/IVA, and two TEZ/IVA controlled RCTs of ELX/TEZ/IVA. For the change from baseline in ppFEV₁ analysis, the EAG's base case included the five studies reporting this outcome through Week 24. In a sensitivity analysis, the EAG also included Heijerman 2019, which reported change from baseline in ppFEV1 at Week 4. Heijerman 2019 was only included in the sensitivity analysis as it was considered plausible that the absolute change from baseline in ppFEV₁ may not be a similar outcome between Week 4 and Week 24 as not all participants may have achieved the full magnitude of treatment response by Week 4, and some decline in $ppFEV_1$ may also have occurred by Week 24. Across the studies included in the NMA, patients had similar non-CFTR modulator prior medications (Appendix Table 101) and a similar disease severity indicated by a similar baseline ppFEV₁ and CFQ-R RD score (Appendix Table 97 and Table 98). They key ppFEV₁ eligibility criteria was the same, 40% to 90%, across all studies, study discontinuation was infrequent, and in placebo-controlled trials the placebo response was similar. Each included study was assessed to be of low risk-of-bias at both the study-level and the $ppFEV_1$ outcome level, with the exception of Wilson 2021 which was rated as "some concerns" due to 11% of participants missing outcome data for $ppFEV_1$. Overall, the EAG did not consider there to be evidence of any large violation of the transitivity assumption of NMA. The EAG notes that one of the trials was a Phase IV trial of LUM/IVA, Wilson 2021, conducted at sites only in Australia and UK, and where ppFEV₁ was a secondary outcome only. However, the EAG did not consider the trial to be too dissimilar to the Phase 3 trials to be dropped from the base case. Four of the Phase 3 trials, TRAFFIC, TRANSPORT, Taylor-Cousar 2017 and Sutharsan 2022, reported change in weight-for-age z-score. A network diagram is presented in Figure 2.





*Included in the ppFEV₁ NMAs only

**Included in the ppFEV1 sensitivity analysis only

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor

The results of the EAG's base case NMA for the absolute change in ppFEV₁ through Week 24 are presented in a league-table in Table 36. For each CFTR modulator, the treatment effect was positive, and the 95% credible intervals excluded 0. For the two contrasts informed by indirect evidence only, the mean estimated increase in ppFEV₁ through Week 24 between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo was 14.20 (95% CrI: 12.07 to 16.31), and between ELX/TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA it was 11.37 (95% CrI: 9.03 to 13.70). The only contrast for which the 95% credible intervals crossed 0 was the mean estimated increase in ppFEV₁ at Week 24 between TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA 1.17 (95% CrI: –0.13 to 2.46).

| ppFEV ₁ : F/F 12+ years: EAG base-case | ELX/TEZ/IVA | LUM/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | | |
|---|------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|--|--|
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | –11.37 (–13.70 to –9.03) | -14.20 (-16.31 to -12.07) | -10.20 (-12.16 to -8.25) | | |
| LUM/IVA | 11.37 (9.03 to 13.70) | LUM/IVA | -2.83 (-3.81 to -1.84) | 1.17 (-0.13 to 2.46) | | |
| Placebo | 14.20 (12.07 to 16.31) | 2.83 (1.84 to 3.81) | Placebo | 4.00 (3.15 to 4.85) | | |
| TEZ/IVA | 10.20 (8.25 to 12.16) | -1.17 (-2.46 to 0.13) | -4.00 (-3.15 to -4.85) | TEZ/IVA | | |

| Table 36. Results of the EAG base-case NMA f | or absolute change fron | n baseline in ppFEV ₁ through |
|--|-------------------------|--|
| Week 24 in the F/F 12+ years population. | | |

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; NMA: network meta-analysis; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second: TEZ: tezacaftor.



The results of the EAG sensitivity analysis, including the Week 4 data from Heijerman 2019,¹³³ were directly in-line with the base case analysis, and are presented in Table 37.

| ppFEV ₁ : F/F 12+ years: EAG sensitivity analysis | ELX/TEZ/IVA | LUM/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA |
|---|------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | –11.29 (–13.32 to –9.26) | –14.11 (–15.90 to –12.35) | –10.11 (–11.68 to –8.57) |
| LUM/IVA | 11.29 (9.26 to 13.32) | LUM/IVA | -2.83 (-3.82 to -1.84) | 1.17 (-0.14 to 2.48) |
| Placebo | 14.11 (12.35 to 15.90) | 2.83 (1.84 to 3.82) | Placebo | 4.00 (3.15 to 4.85) |
| TEZ/IVA | 10.11 (8.57 to 11.68) | -1.17 (-2.48 to 0.14) | -4.00 (-4.85 to -3.15) | TEZ/IVA |

Table 37. Results of the EAG sensitivity NMA for absolute change from baseline in $ppFEV_1$ through Week 24 in the F/F 12+ years population.

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; NMA: network meta-analysis; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second: TEZ: tezacaftor.

The results of the EAG's NMA for the absolute change weight-for-age z-score at Week 24 are presented in a league-table in Table 38. For all ELX/TEZ/IVA contrasts, the treatment effect was positive, and the 95% credible intervals excluded 0. The LUM/IVA vs placebo contrast was the only other contrast to have 95% credible intervals excluding 0, and the magnitude of the effect was small,

For the two contrasts informed by indirect evidence only, the mean

estimated increase in weight-for-age z-score at Week 24 between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo was

, and between ELX/TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA it was 0.35

| Table 38 | . Results | of the | EAG | NMA | for | absolute | change | from | baseline | in ۱ | weight-fo | r-age | z-scor | e at |
|----------|-----------|--------|-------|--------|-------|----------|--------|------|----------|------|-----------|-------|--------|------|
| Week 24 | in the F | /F 12+ | years | ε ρορι | ulati | on. | | | | | | | | |

| WFAZ: F/F 12+ years | ELX/TEZ/IVA | LUM/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA |
|------------------------|-------------|---------|---------|---------|
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | |
| LUM/IVA | | LUM/IVA | | |
| Placebo | | | Placebo | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | TEZ/IVA |

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; NMA: network meta-analysis; TEZ: tezacaftor; WFAZ: weight-for-age z-score

The Company performed Bucher indirect comparisons between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo in the F/F 12+ years group. The estimated Bucher mean difference from the Company analyses were in-line with the EAG's results: absolute change in ppFEV₁ from baseline through 24 weeks:



; absolute change in weight-for-age z-score from baseline at 24 weeks:

Neither the EAG nor the Company considered indirect comparisons for pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics to be feasible. Of the 7 studies included in the EAG SLR for the F/F 12+ years age group, pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics were reported as a protocol-defined outcome for three: TRAFFIC, TRANSPORT and Taylor-Cousar 2017. While all studies did report the number of pulmonary exacerbation serious adverse events, the EAG considers the Company's method of applying the rate of pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics from the F/MF genotype for the F/F genotype in the economic model to be the most appropriate assumption. The number of pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics, and the number of participants experiencing serious pulmonary exacerbation adverse events for the F/F 12+ years group, along with the F/MF 12+ ELX/TEZ/IVA data, are presented in Table 39.

| Study | Intervention | Comparator | Rate ratio of participants with pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics (intervention vs placebo) | Percentage of participants with serious pulmonary exacerbation adverse events, % of SAS at week 28 | |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------|------------|--|--|------------|
| | | | | Intervention | Comparator |
| TRAFFIC | LUM/IVA | Placebo | | 9.34 | 22.28 |
| TRANSPORT | LUM/IVA | Placebo | | 12.83 | 25.81 |
| Wilson | LUM/IVA | Placebo | NR | 23.53 | 16.67 |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | TEZ/IVA | Placebo | 0.53 (95% CI: 0.34 to 0.82) | 9.16 | 12.4 |
| Sutharsan 2022 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA | NR | 1.15 | 10.23 |
| Heijerman 2019 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA | NR | 1.82* | 1.92* |
| Middleton 2019 | ELX/TEZ/IVA F/MF genotype | Placebo | | 5.45 | 16.42 |
| *Reported at Week 4 | | | | | |

Table 39. Rate ratio of pulmonary exacerbations of CFTR modulators compared to placebo, and percentage of participants with serious pulmonary exacerbations in the F/F genotype, 12+ years.



Abbreviations: CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; NR: not reported; SAS: safety analysis set; TEZ: tezacaftor

3.2.2.5.3 F/RF 12+ years

In the F/RF 12+ years population, only two studies were included in the EAG's SLR and the Company's analysis: Rowe 2017 (F/RF subgroup: TEZ/IVA vs PBO) and Barry 2021 (F/RF subgroup: ELZ/TEZ/IVA vs PBO). In both studies included in the NMA, patients had similar non-CFTR modulator prior medications (Appendix Table 101). Participants in Barry 2021 had a slightly higher baseline ppFEV₁ (mean TEZ/IVA 68.10, mean placebo 67.80) than participants in Rowe 2017 (mean TEZ/IVA 61.80, mean placebo 62.10), however this is likely in part due to the TEZ/IVA run-in period for Barry 2021 elevating ppFEV₁ levels, which is accounted for in the indirect comparison. The EAG therefore considers the participants to be similar between Barry 2021 and Rowe 2017. They key ppFEV₁ eligibility criterion was the same, 40% to 90%, across all studies and study discontinuation was infrequent (Appendix Table 100). Both studies were assessed to be of low risk-of-bias at both the study-level and the ppFEV₁ outcome level. While Rowe was a cross-over trial, with participants contributing data to both the TEZ/IVA and placebo arms, the EAG considers the wash-out period of 8-weeks between treatments to be adequate to remove any biasing effects of pre-treatment. A network diagram for the F/RF 12+ years population is presented in Figure 3.





Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor

The EAG notes that because only two studies inform the contrast between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo, the EAG's NMA model will centre on the same estimates as an equivalent Bucher analysis, such as that conducted by the Company. The EAG's NMA estimate of the absolute change from baseline in ppFEV1 through 8 weeks between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo was 8.80 (95% Crl: 7.01 to 10.61). The Company's Bucher estimate for this contrast was **EXCOMPANY**. The slight difference between the EAG's estimate and the Company estimate could be due to:

- Differences in the MMRM model structure reported by Barry 2021 (used by EAG) and the MMRM performed for this analysis by the Company, or;
- Differences stemming from the rounding of results in Barry 2021, where outcome data were presented to one decimal place.

For the change in weight-for-age z-score at Week 8, the EAG's estimate is directly in line with the Company estimate

Similar to the F/F population, pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics were not reported in the ELX/TEZ/IVA trial for the F/RF population. In the economic model, the Company again applied the relative rate of pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics from the F/MF. The EAG



considers this approach to be reasonable, and notes the consistency of the rate ratio estimated in the F/RF population for TEZ/IVA vs placebo (Rowe 2017:) with the rate ratio estimated in the F/F population for TEZ/IVA vs placebo (Taylor-Cousar 2017:).

3.2.2.5.4 F/Gating 12+ years

In the F/Gating 12+ years population, four studies were included in the EAG's SLR and the Company's analysis: Barry 2021 (F/Gating subgroup: ELZ/TEZ/IVA vs PBO); Ramsey 2011 (*post-hoc* F/*G551D* subgroup IVA vs PBO); De Boeck 2014 (*post-hoc* F/*non-G551D* 12+ years subgroup IVA vs PBO) and; Moss 2015 (*post-hoc* F/*R117H* 12+ years subgroup IVA vs PBO). Compared to the NMAs for the F/F 12+ years population and the F/RF 12+ years population, the EAG considers the transitivity assumption to likely be violated in the F/Gating NMA. This is because the prevalence of specific gating or *R117H* mutations, and concomitant best supportive care medications, may be treatment effect modifiers which differed across studies. Specifically:

- The *R117H* mutation is associated a milder CF phenotype than gating mutations, which may limit the acute increase in ppFEV₁ possible for a participant with preserved lung function.¹⁶⁹ This can be seen in the higher average baseline ppFEV₁ of Moss 2015 (*post-hoc* F/*R117H* 12+ years subgroup) than the other IVA trials (Appendix Table 99). The distribution of non-F508del CF mutations in Barry 2021 (F/Gating subgroup), Ramsey 2011 (*post-hoc* F/*G551D*), De Boeck 2014 (*post-hoc* F/*non-G551D* 12+ years subgroup) and Moss 2015 (*post-hoc* F/*R117H* 12+ years subgroup) are presented in Table 40.
- Inhaled hypertonic saline was not an approved therapy during Ramsey 2011 and De Boeck 2014, and is known to reduce the rate of pulmonary exacerbations in CF.^{144, 145} The exclusion of inhaled hypertonic saline in Ramsey 2011 and De Boeck 2014 may be offset by a higher use of dornase alfa (73.1% in the placebo arm and 65.1% of the ivacaftor arm across Ramsey 2011, compared to 52% across both arms in Barry 2021), but it is likely that ECM was less optimised in these early ivacaftor trials, which could have overestimated the treatment effect of the ivacaftor, relative to ECM today.

Table 40. The distribution of non-*F508del* mutations in study subgroups included in the F/Gating NMA.

| Study | Arm | N | <i>G551D</i> , n | G551D % | <i>R117H</i> , n | R117H % | Other, n | Other % |
|--|-------------|-----|---------------------|------------|---------------------|------------|----------|---------|
| D 0004 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 50 | 35 | 70 | 8 | 16 | 7 | 14 |
| Dally 2021 | IVA | 45 | 26 | 58 | 8 | 18 | 11 | 24 |
| Ramsey | IVA | 64 | 64 | 100 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 2011 | Placebo | 58 | 58 | 100 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| De Boeck 2014 | IVA | 17 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 17 | 100 |
| | Placebo | 17 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 17 | 100 |
| Moss 2015 | IVA | 20 | 0 | 0 | 20 | 100 | 0 | 0 |
| | Placebo | 19 | 0 | 0 | 19 | 100 | 0 | 0 |
| Total IVA vs PBO | IVA | 101 | 64 | 63 | 20 | 20 | 17 | 17 |
| | Placebo | 94 | 58 | 62 | 19 | 20 | 17 | 18 |
| Abbreviations: ELX: elexacaftor: IVA: ivacaftor: NMA: network meta-analysis: TEZ: tezacaftor | | | | | | | | |

The EAG notes the meaningful clinical heterogeneity across studies that could enter the F/Gating NMA, and also notes that the Company provided analyses of the ivacaftor trial *post-hoc* F/Gating subgroups were deemed at risk of bias due to the analyses breaking randomisation, and having limited reporting of participant characteristics. The EAG did not consider it feasible to conduct analyses separately within different F/Gating subgroups, as these data were not available from Barry 2021. The EAG also notes that while the distribution of F/Gating mutations differs across Ramsey 2011, De Boeck 2014 and Moss 2015, the pooled distribution of mutations is similar to the distribution of mutations in Barry 2021. Nevertheless, the F/R117H genotype comprises only 19% of participants across the studies considered for inclusion in the NMA, whereas the F/R117H genotype comprised of genotyped individuals in England and Wales over 6 years in 2021. As such, the results of any indirect comparisons may overestimate the efficacy of ELX/TEZ/IVA relative to ECM for the F/Gating (including F/R117H) population in clinical practice. A network diagram for the F/Gating 12+ years population is presented in Figure 4.





Figure 4. Network diagram for the EAG 12+ years F/Gating (including F/R117H) network metaanalyses.

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor

The EAG presents the results of both fixed effect and random effects NMAs for the F/Gating population. The EAG considers the point estimates of the fixed effect and random effect estimates to be consistent with each other, and notes no meaningful difference in DIC; DIC was similar between the random effect NMA (DIC = 8.1) and the fixed effect NMAs (DIC = 9.0). The EAG considers the 95% CrI intervals of the ppFEV₁ model to be implausibly wide (e.g., the upper 95% CrI for ELX/TEZ/IVA vs placebo contrast 27.21), and hence the EAG's preference is for the fixed-effect NMA for the absolute change in ppFEV₁. The EAG notes that because of the network structure, the EAG's fixed effect NMA model will centre on the same estimates as an equivalent Bucher analysis that first pooled the IVA monotherapy trial data through meta-analysis, such as that conducted by the Company. For the weight-for-age z-score analysis, the EAG does not consider the 95% CrIs to be implausibly wide, and so prefers the results of the random effects NMA model, which had a lower DIC (8.5) than the fixed effect NMAs (13.5).The EAG's fixed effect NMA estimate of the absolute change in ppFEV₁ through 8 weeks between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo was

. The Company's Bucher estimate for this contrast was

. The EAG's estimate differs slightly from the Company estimate, due to the reported difference

BMJ TAG

in ppFEV1 through 8 weeks between ELX/TEZ/IVA in the Barry 2021 publication being 5.8, whereas the difference used by the Company following alignment of the MMRM structures with the IVA trials was . The results of both the EAG's fixed effect and random effects ppFEV₁ NMAs are presented in Table 41.

| ppFEV ₁ : F/Gating 12+ years | ELX/TEZ/IVA | IVA | Placebo |
|---|--|---|---------|
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | FE: -5.80 (-8.06 to -3.53) RE: -5.82 (-16.85 to 5.55) | |
| IVA | FE: 5.80 (3.53 to 8.06) RE: 5.82 (–5.55 to 16.85) | IVA | |
| Placebo | | | Placebo |
| Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group: ELX: elexacattor: IVA: ivacattor: NMA: network meta-analysis: ppEEV; | | | |

Table 41. Results of the EAG NMA for absolute change from baseline in $ppEV_1$ through Week 8 in the F/Gating 12+ years population.

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; NMA: network meta-analysis; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second: TEZ: tezacaftor.

For the change in weight–for–age z–score at Week 8, the EAG's random effects estimate of the difference between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo, **Second Second Seco**

| WEAT E/E 12+ years | | ۱\/ ۵ | Placabo | | |
|---|-------------------------|-------|---------|--|--|
| Week 8 in the F/Gatir | g 12+ years population. | | | | |
| Table 42. Results of the EAG NMA for absolute change from baseline in weight-for-age z-score at | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

| WFAZ F/F 12+ years | ELX/TEZ/IVA | IVA | Placebo |
|--------------------|--|--|---------|
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | FE: -0.01 (-0.08 to 0.06) RE: -0.01 (-0.26 to 0.24) | |
| IVA | FE: 0.01 (-0.06 to 0.08) RE: 0.01 (-0.24 to 0.26) | IVA | |
| Placebo | | | Placebo |



Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; FE: fixed effect; IVA: ivacaftor; NMA: network metaanalysis; RE: random effects; TEZ: tezacaftor; WFAZ: weight-for-age z-score

3.2.2.5.5 Confidence in Network Meta-Analysis (CINeMA)

Confidence in Network Meta-Analysis (CINeMA) is a framework used to evaluate confidence in the results from NMAs.¹⁷⁰ Following the Assessment Protocol, the EAG comments on each of the CINeMA domains across the NMAs performed by the EAG in Table 43.

 Table 43. An assessment of the EAG's NMAs following the Confidence in Network Meta-Analysis framework.

| CINeMA Domain | EAG Comment |
|---------------------------------------|--|
| Within-study bias | The EAG notes that most studies were rated as at low risk of at the study level, (Table 18) for ppFEV ₁ (Table 93) and for weight-for-age-z-score (Section 3.2.1.5). No studies were rated at high-risk of bias. The EAG considers there to be some concerns about within-study bias in the F/Gating NMAs, for which only <i>post-hoc</i> subgroup analyses inform the IVA vs placebo comparison, and therefore the indirect comparison between ELX/TEZ/IVA and placebo. |
| Reporting bias | The EAG considers the likelihood of reporting bias to be low for all NMAs, given the availability of ppFEV ₁ data from the published literature, and unpublished weight-for-age z-score data provided by the Company. While no statistical assessment of publication bias was performed, the EAG considers these analyses to be at low risk from publication bias because of the likelihood that all relevant trials will have been registered and identified in the SLR, and the Company's transparent reporting of the Vertex CFTR modulator trial programme. |
| Indirectness (to decision problem) | The EAG considered the trials to be largely generalisable to UK clinical practice (Section 3.2.2.3), but notes the genotype prevalence in the F/Gating RCTs are inconsistent with UK clinical practice (Section 3.2.2.5.4). |
| Imprecision | The EAG notes that minimum clinically important differences for ppFEV ₁ and weigh- for-age z-score have not been defined, and as such the precision of estimates from the NMAs cannot be compared to them. |
| Heterogeneity | Due to the small number of studies informing each NMA, heterogeneity was not explored within each NMA. Nevertheless, the EAG considered the patient |

BMJ TAG

| | characterises of trials within each NMA to largely similar between studies. The EAG noted likely meaningful heterogeneity in F/Gating NMAs because: |
|--|---|
| | The severity of F/Gating genotypes may differ, especially when including the <i>R117H</i> genotype that may lead to milder disease.^{146, 169} The frequency of the R117H genotype within studies informing the F/Gating NMAs varied from 0% to 100%. Inhaled hypertonic saline was not a permitted medication in two of the IVA placebo-controlled RCTs.^{144, 145} |
| Incoherence | It was not possible to assess incoherence in the EAG's NMAs due to contrasts only being informed by direct or indirect evidence. |
| Abbreviations: CINeMA Con analysis: IVA: ivacaftor: RCT | fidence in Network Meta-Analysis; EAG: External Assessment Group; NMA: Network meta- |

Overall, the EAG considers the NMAs to be at low risk of bias due to within-study biases, reporting bias and indirectness. However, the EAG considers the results of the NMAs to be limited by:

- The lack of defined minimum clinically important differences for ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-score, although the EAG notes that these outcomes directly inform the survival and costeffectiveness modelling, and;
- The small number of studies within each network, which precluded a robust assessment of heterogeneity.

3.2.2.5.6 Efficacy data for evidence gaps

There was no trial evidence for ELX/TEZ/IVA in the F/Gating or F/RF 6 to 11 years groups. For these groups, the Company use assumptions to generate efficacy data for the F/Gating and F/RF 6 to 11 years groups from observed trial data in the 12+ years groups, and the 6 to 11 years F/F and F/MF groups. For ppFEV₁, the Company noted that the, "magnitude of the of the IVA/TEZ/ELX treatment impact on ppFEV₁ in patients with F/MF and F/F genotypes aged 6-11 years was approximately and for the efficacy in patients aged \geq 12 years of the same genotype." For the F/Gating and F/RF subgroups, the Company multiplied the treatment effect observed in the 12+ years subgroup by and for the note the average of these values, producing:

- F/Gating acute increase in ppFEV₁:
- F/RF acute increase in ppFEV₁:



As outlined in Section 3.2.2.5.1, the EAG considers the Company's ITC to likely overestimate the ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment effect in the 6 to 11 years F/F population, and as such does not consider the acute increase in ppFEV₁ treatment effect to likely be **section** of the treatment effect in 12+ years. The EAG considered the following assumptions to calculate a treatment effect in the F/Gating 6 to 11 years group:

- Multiplying the treatment effect calculated via the EAG's in the 12+ years NMA, _____, by
 0.77, the relative reduction observed in the F/MF trial data between 6 to 11 years and 12+ years. This gives an estimate of the F/Gating treatment effect in 6 to 11 years of 11.69;
- Applying the treatment effect observed in Zemanick 2021 (single-arm ELX/TEZ/IVA, 6 to 11 years, F/F and F/MF genotypes), assuming no rate of decline for ECM: 10.2 (95% CI: 7.9 to 12.6);
- Applying the treatment effect observed in Mall 2022 (ELX/TEZ/IVA vs placebo, 6 to 11 years, F/MF genotype): 11.0 (95% CI: 6.9 to 15.1).

The EAG notes that each of these estimates are similar, and prefers to apply the treatment effect observed in Mall 2022, as it is a relative treatment effect directly observed in an RCT of people aged 6 to 11. The EAG's clinical experts considered it reasonable to assume the treatment effects of CFTR modulators would be similar between F/F, F/MF and F/Gating genotypes.

For the F/RF 6 to 11 years population, the EAG does not consider applying the treatment effect observed in other mutation groups to be appropriate, as the F/RF genotype leads to milder CF, and potentially ceiling effects in ppFEV₁. As such, the EAG's preferred assumption is to multiply the treatment effect observed in the F/RF 12+ population by **T**, the relative reduction observed in the F/MF trial data between 6 to 11 years and 12+ years. This gives an estimate of the F/Gating ppFEV₁ treatment effect in 6 to 11 years of 6.776.

For the acute change in weight-for-age z-score, the Company noted that the, "magnitude of the of the IVA/TEZ/ELX treatment impact on weight-for-age z-score in patients with F/MF and F/F genotypes aged 6-11 years was approximately \mathbf{M} and \mathbf{M} of the efficacy demonstrated in the populations with F/F and F/MF genotypes aged ≥ 12 , respectively." For the F/Gating and F/RF 6 to 11 years groups, the Company multiplied the treatment effect observed in the 12+ years subgroup by \mathbf{M} and \mathbf{M} , and then took the average of these values, producing:

• F/Gating acute increase in weight-for-age z-score:

• F/RF acute increase in weight-for-age z-score:

The EAG considers the approach for the F/RF population to produce a plausible estimate; however the EAG considers the assumed increase in weight-for-age z-score for the F/Gating population to likely be conservative. Based on discussion with its clinical experts, and from the underlying mechanism of ELX/TEZ/IVA, the EAG considers it likely that the magnitude of ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment effect on weight-for-age z-score will be similar in the F/Gating to F/MF and F/F genotypes. As such, the EAG's preferred assumptions for the acute increase in weight-for-age z-score for the F/Gating and F/RF aged 6 to 11 years groups are:

- F/Gating acute increase in weight-for-age z-score: **Example 1**, applying the efficacy data from the F/MF 6 to 11 years Phase III RCT;
- F/RF acute increase in weight-for-age z-score: , based on the Company approach of applying the observed reduction in weight-for-age z-score treatment effect between the 12+ years and 6 to 11 years groups in the F/MF and F/F genotypes.

3.2.2.6 Annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline

In addition to causing an acute increase in ppFEV₁, CFTR modulators may also affect the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline in CF. Long-term ppFEV₁ decline is a key predictor of survival for people with CF,^{171, 172} and therefore an important feature of models of CF survival. However, few long term or head-to-head data are available comparing the long-term impact of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA, ELX/TEZ/IVA and ECM on the annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM because:

- The open-label extension studies of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA are single-armed;
- The open-label extension studies of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA have a maximum follow-up duration of 144 Weeks available at the time of analysis;
- In real-world settings, uptake of CFTR modulators has been rapid for eligible patients once available. This means that synthetic control cohorts are limited to historical controls or a select group of contemporaneous controls who are ineligible for CFTR modulator therapy, or chose not to initiate CFTR modulator therapy;
- In real-world settings, only limited follow-up is available for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA because most people with CF receiving LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA switched to ELX/TEZ/IVA once it became available.



3.2.2.6.1 COVID-19 pandemic-related confounding

Where uncontrolled data are available concerning the long-term clinical outcomes of people with CF treated by CFTR modulator combination therapy, the COVID-19 pandemic introduced a host of confounding factors that make interpreting data collected from March 2020 onwards difficult. The COVID-19 pandemic likely affected health outcomes for people with CF. For example, lockdowns, social distancing and viral shielding were associated with reduced viral transmission and respiratory infections, and this may reduce the rate of lung function decline of people with CF.¹⁵⁷ In addition to direct impacts on respiratory infections, the COVID-19 pandemic was associated with changes to CF healthcare and resource use, for example a shift to virtual medical appointments and home-based spirometry.^{173,174}

Early data suggest that the rate of respiratory infections and lung-function decline in people with CF may have slowed in 2020 and 2021. In a USA single-centre study of children between 2 and 11 years who were ineligible for ELX/TEZ/IVA at the time, Patel *et al.* 2021 reported a markedly lower rate of pulmonary exacerbations in 16 March to 15 May in 2020 (18% of patients having exacerbations) compared to the same period in 2019 (44% of patients having exacerbations).¹⁷⁵ In the UK, similar data have been reported for people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD); compared to a matched-period prior to the pandemic, the COVID-19 pandemic was associated with fewer acute exacerbations of COPD, with a rate ratio of 0.57.¹⁷⁶

Direct evidence of lung function-preservation in people with CF during the COVID-19 pandemic was observed in an Australian registry-based study (n=3112).¹⁵⁷ Doumit *et al.* reported an annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline of -0.13 (95% CI: -0.36 to 0.11) in people with CF in the 24 months prior to a COVID-19 index date (16 March 2020). In the 12 months following index, the annual slope was +1.76 (95% CI: 1.46 to 2.05), i.e., an average increase in ppFEV₁ during COVID-19. The majority of the Doumit cohort were CFTR modulator-naïve, and restricting the cohort to only people who had no modulator use in the study period provided consistent results: an annual slope of ppFEV₁ of -0.14 (95% CI: -0.38 to 0.12) in people with CF in the 24 months prior to COVID-19 index date, and an annual slope of ppFEV₁ of +1.71 (95% CI: 1.30 to 2.15) in the 12 months following index date. Collectively, these data highlight how uncontrolled studies of the effects of CFTR modulator therapy that collected data during the COVID-19 pandemic are at high risk of bias, if COVID-19 related confounding is not adequately accounted for.

The EAG notes that COVID-19-related confounding is a particular concern for studies of the longterm effects of ELX/TEZ/IVA, for which all Phase 3 open-label extension studies collected data in 2020 and 2021, and for which real-world data collected in the UK (as part of the Data Collection Agreement) since August 2020 are also affected. Given the lack of long-term head-to-head data comparing CFTR modulators and ECM, the EAG now critiques the Company's sources of ppFEV₁ decline data and outlines the EAG's preferred assumptions for the rate of ppFEV₁ decline for people treated with CFTR modulators. The EAG considers these data to be a key uncertainty in the economic modelling of CFTR modulator combination therapy for CF.

3.2.2.6.2 ELX/TEZ/IVA

For people with CF receiving ELX/TEZ/IVA, the EAG identified three sources of data that could inform the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline in the economic models for ELX/TEZ/IVA:

- Griese 2022 and Study 445-110: the two Phase III open-label extension studies of ELX/TEZ/IVA with data available at the time of analysis;^{147, 177}
- The Vertex Final Analysis for ELX/TEZ/IVA of UK CF Registry Data, performed as part of the Data Collection Agreement;¹⁶⁴
- Newsome 2022, an independent estimation of the rate of ppFEV₁ decline for people with CF and gating mutations treated with IVA monotherapy using UK CF Registry Data.¹⁷⁸

Griese 2022 (VX17-445-105) is a 192 week Phase 3 open-label extension study of Heijerman 2019 and Middleton 2019, with interim Week 144 results available at the time of this appraisal. F/F or F/MF participants received ELX/TEZ/IVA for 144 weeks, with an annual rate of change in ppFEV₁ reported as +0.07 (95% CI: -0.12 to 0.26) across all participants. In a historical matched-controls from the US CF Registry, Lee 2023 estimated that people with CF treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA had a mean annual rate of change in ppFEV₁ of +0.39 (95% CI: -0.06 to 0.85), whereas the mean annual rate of change in ppFEV₁ of +0.39 (95% CI: -0.06 to 0.85), whereas the mean annual rate of lung-function decline for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA, but with data collection across the COVID-19 pandemic, was reported in in the Week 96 interim analysis of Study 445-110 (open label extension of Barry 2021, F/Gating and F/RF genotypes). In Study 445-110, an overall change-from baseline in ppFEV₁ at Week 96 of was reported at Week 8: +3.7 (95% CI: 2.8 to 4.6). The EAG does not consider the data from Griese 2022 and Study 445-110 to provide robust evidence of the long-term effects of ELX/TEZ/IVA on ppFEV₁ progression, because these analyses do not account for COVID-19-related confounding. These analyses are therefore at high risk of underestimating the rate of lung-function decline of people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA outside of periods of viral shielding, and the magnitude of this overestimation is uncertain. In response to clarification questions, the Company later cited Week 192 data from Griese 2022, stating that:

¹⁸⁰ The EAG received the Week 192 CSR and the associated Polineni 2023 46th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference presentation for Study 445-105 on 21 July 2023.^{180, 181} Study initiation was 09 October 2018 for the first eligible patient signing the informed consent form, and the last patient completed the study on 09 January 2023. Therefore, all patients who completed the Study would have had their Week 192 visit between 14 June 2022 and 09 January 2023 – providing around 12 to 18 months of data after most social distancing measures were removed in the UK (although note Study 445-105 was an international study n=304 enrolled patients form North America and n=202 patients from Europe and Australia). From these data, the EAG notes that:

- Details of the methods of Polineni 2023 192-week annualised rate of change analysis were not reported, including the length of the acute-period exclusion window, and there was no ECM control group;
- The annualised change from baseline data analysis still likely underestimates the rate of change analysis due to overlapping substantially with the COVID-19 pandemic;
- The point at which most COVID-19 restrictions were lifted in the UK does not necessarily
 mean that all COVID-19 related confounding was "removed" at this point, as patients may
 still have engaged in greater viral shielding after this date. Currently, the Company has not
 provided evidence in support of CF patients returning to pre-COVID levels of activity at the
 same point as COVID restrictions were lifted across countries, which would provide
 reassurance that some form of enhanced shielding was not continuing after this data;
- The absolute change from baseline in ppFEV₁ reported at Week 192 in Griese 2022 was (95% CI: 95% CI: 95

N= of participants prematurely discontinued Study 445-105, and the absolute change from parent study baseline in ppFEV₁ at OL Week 192 was only reported for of patients.

The EAG is concerned that the high rate of missing data at Week 192 may bias estimates of the annualised rate of change in ppFEV₁ from these data, and considers it plausible that missing data are not missing at random. To investigate this, the EAG requested that Vertex provide the by-visit estimates of absolute change from baseline in ppFEV₁, including sample sizes at each visit. These data were not provided, and the EAG considers the Week 144 interim analysis and Week 192 final analysis of Griese 2022 to be at high risk of bias. An alternative estimate of the annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA comes from the Vertex Final Analysis of the Data Collection Agreement of UK CF Registry Data.¹⁶⁴ This analysis calculated the rate of ppFEV₁ for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA from 21 August 2020 to 31 December 2022, compared to matched historical controls. A smaller group of patients with severe lung disease (ppFEV₁ < 40) were also included in the analysis, who had a longer follow-up duration following earlier compassionate access to ELX/TEZ/IVA. In this analysis, the estimated annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline of people treated with

ELZ/TEZ/IVA was service of ppFEV1 decline was service of ppFEV1. The EAG considers these data to demonstrate that ppFEV1 does decline in the long-term for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA. However, the EAG notes that the time window of the Final Analysis, August 2020 to 31 December 2022, still overlaps considerably with the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, the EAG considers this analysis is likely to underestimate the rate of ppFEV1 decline of people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA.

Currently, the EAG considers all available sources of rate-of-decline ppFEV₁ decline data directly measured from people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA to be at high-risk of bias, as the confounding effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have not been adequately corrected for. The EAG notes that such an analysis may have been possible in the Vertex Final Analysis if a sufficiently large contemporaneous control cohort had been generated; however, the Vertex analysis included only

patients with a severe MF/severe MF genotype, and a statistical analysis comparing the rate of decline with ELX/TEZ/IVA was not performed. The EAG considers it likely that a sufficient number of people in the UK CF Registry who were not receiving ELX/TEZ/IVA, LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA, or who were on a stable IVA monotherapy regimen, may have been available to measure the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on lung-function decline in people with CF, but notes that such an analysis was not undertaken. In a data request made by the EAG to the UK CF Registry (Request 469),¹⁰² the UK CF

Registry provided the number of people with at least one annual review between 2019 and 2021 who:

- Were aged 12+ years and had no recorded ELX/TEZ/IVA use between 2019 and 2021:
- Were aged 6+ years and had no recorded ELX/TEZ/IVA use between 2019 and 2021:
- Were aged 12+ years and had no recorded LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA or ELX/TEZ/IVA use between 2019 and 2021:
- Were aged 6+ years and had no recorded LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA or ELX/TEZ/IVA use between 2019 and 2021:
- Were aged 12+ years and had no recorded CFTR modulator use between 2019 and 2021:
- Were aged 6+ years and had no recorded CFTR modulator use between 2019 and 2021:

While the EAG recognises that such individuals may have distinct CF phenotypes from those who have at least one *F508del* mutation, and often may have less severe CF, the EAG considers that an analysis investigating the rate of change or changes in ppFEV₁ of patients not receiving CFTR modulators, or who were on a stable non-ELX/TEZ/IVA CFTR modulator therapy throughout the pandemic may have been able to resolve some uncertainty around the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on lung function for people with CF. In the absence of an unbiased estimate for the rate of decline of ppFEV₁ for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA, the EAG considers an estimate of the annual rate of decline of ppFEV₁ for people with gating mutations treated with IVA monotherapy to be a reasonable, albeit slightly conservative, estimate of the relative long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA compared to ECM. This is because:

- Since late 2012, IVA monotherapy has been available for people with certain gating mutations in the UK.¹⁶² As such, long-term follow up on the rate of decline of ppFEV₁ for these patients is available prior to the COVID-19 pandemic;¹⁷⁸
- The EAG's clinical experts suggested the response to IVA in people with a gating mutation would be lower, but close to, to the response to ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with at least one *F508del* mutation;


In clinical trials, the sweat chloride response to IVA in people with a gating mutation is a similar magnitude to the response to ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with at least one *F508del* mutation, suggesting a similar effect CFTR activity.^{61, 133, 144}

The EAG considers Newsome 2022 to provide an independent and unbiased estimate of the longterm treatment effect of IVA on ppFEV₁ decline. Newsome 2022 used UK CF Registry data from 2008 to 2016 to perform differences-in-differences analysis to estimate the causal treatment effect of IVA on the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline, using two negative control cohorts: a historical control cohort of people with a genotype eligible for IVA but in the pre-IVA period (2008 to 2012), and a contemporaneous control cohort of people ineligible for IVA but in the post-IVA period (2013 to 2016). The estimated negative-control corrected treatment effect for IVA treated people in the historical control cohort was a change in ppFEV₁ slope of +0.49 (95% CI: -0.15, 1.13), and the estimated negative-control corrected treatment effect for IVA treated people in the contemporaneous control cohort was a change in ppFEV₁ slope of +0.49 (95% CI: -0.14, 1.13).

The EAG summarises its critique of different estimate estimates for the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA in Table 44.

| Source | Difference in annual ppFEV ₁ slope compared to ECM | EAG comments |
|------------------------------------|--|--|
| Lee 2023 ¹⁷⁹ | +2.32 (95% Cl: NR) | Measured directly from ELX/TEZ/IVA treated individuals Not corrected for COVID-19-related confounding Comparison of clinical trial data to historical registry controls Very high risk of overestimating ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment effect |
| Study 445-105 Week 192 OLE data | No decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA | Measured directly from ELX/TEZ/IVA treated individuals Not corrected for COVID-19-related confounding Had some data collection prior to COVID-19 in which no large decline in ppFEV₁ was observed |

Table 44. EAG critique of estimates of the long-term rate of ppFEV1 decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA.



| | | High rate of study discontinuation and missing data High risk of overestimating ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment effect |
|---|--------------------------------|---|
| Vertex Final Analysis of UK CF Registry Data ¹⁶⁴ | | Measured directly from ELX/TEZ/IVA treated individuals Analysis of UK CF Registry data Not corrected for COVID-19-related confounding Comparison with historical matched-controls High risk of overestimating ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment effect |
| Newsome 2022 ¹⁷⁸ | +0.49 (95% CI: -0.15, 1.13) | Measured from IVA treated individuals with gating or other IVA-eligible mutations Analysis of UK CF Registry data Unaffected by COVID-19-related confounding Corrected for both historical and contemporaneous negative control outcomes Unbiased estimate of IVA monotherapy treatment effect Potentially conservative estimate of ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment effect EAG preference |

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor; UK: United Kingdom

3.2.2.6.3 LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA

For LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA, the Phase 3 single-arm open-label extension studies of pivotal clinical trials were completed prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. In the publications of these open-label extension studies, the Company performed *post hoc* comparisons with ECM using propensity score matched-control analyses with historical US CF Registry data. From these, Vertex estimated:

The annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline for LUM/IVA to be -1.33 (95% CI: -1.80 to -0.85), and in matched controls -2.29 (95% CI: -2.56 to -2.03). The mean difference between LUM/IVA and matched controls was per year (95% CI: -2.56 to -2.03), a 42% relative reduction;¹⁵²

The annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline for TEZ/IVA to be -0.80 (95% CI: -1.31 to -0.30), and in matched controls -2.08 (95% CI: -2.34 to -1.82). The mean difference between TEZ/IVA and matched controls was +1.27 per year (95% CI +0.71 to +1.84), a 61.5% relative reduction (95% CI: 35.8 to 86.1).¹⁵⁰

While unaffected by COVID-19 related confounding, the EAG considers each analysis to be at very high risk of underestimating the annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA compared to ECM, because:

- The Company excluded data from the first 21 days (LUM/IVA) or 22 days (TEZ/IVA) of active treatment, to exclude the acute treatment effect from the analysis. However, in the pivotal trials, the acute increase in ppFEV₁ continued to increase up to the Week 4 (28 day) measurement, and potentially up to the Week 8 (56 day) measurement. Hence, the analyses are at risk of underestimating the rate of ppFEV₁ decline on LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA by not fully excluding the acute treatment effects;
- Each analysis matched clinical trial data with historical registry-based data. Although patients were matched using propensity scores, residual confounding is likely. On average, patients in clinical trials are likely to have fewer comorbidities and a better standard of care due to following the trial protocol than patients contributing data to a registry, and as such an analysis comparing the clinical trial and registry data is likely to underestimate the relative rate of decline for the intervention in the clinical trials compared to ECM.

The EAG therefore considers the Company matched-control analyses to be at very high risk of underestimating the annual rate of ppFEV₁, and instead prefers the use of an assumption-based approach.

For LUM/IVA, the EAG does not consider there to be robust evidence of a reduction in rate of decline of ppFEV₁ for people treated with LUM/IVA compared to ECM, because:

- In the placebo-controlled TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT,⁴² the rate of decline of ppFEV₁ between Week 8 and the end of study at Week 24 was steeper for people on LUM/IVA than on placebo, and;
- Throughout the open label extension study, the calculated rate of annual decline was -1.33 (95% CI: -1.80 to -0.85), which is not substantially different from the assumed rate of



decline in ECM,¹⁷ and the EAG considered the -1.33 (95% CI: -1.80 to -0.85) estimate to likely underestimate the true annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline.

As such, the EAG prefers to implement no reduction in the rate of $ppFEV_1$ decline for patients treated with LUM/IVA. In contrast, the EAG considers there to be some evidence of a reduction in decline in $ppFEV_1$ for TEZ/IVA, but considers the Vertex estimate of a 61.5% relative reduction to be an overestimate. The EAG notes that:

- In the 24-Week treatment period of Taylor-Cousar 2017, ppFEV₁ remained stable from Week 4 to Week 24 for TEZ/IVA, whereas ppFEV₁ decreased in this period for people in the placebo arm;
- A decline in ppFEV₁ was observed for people treated with TEZ/IVA in the long-term extension study. While the EAG considers the Company estimate of this rate of decline, -0.80 (95% CI: -1.31 to -0.30), to be an underestimate, the EAG considers these data to be consistent with a reduction in the rate of decline compared to ECM.

In the absence of an unbiased direct estimate of a long-term treatment effect of TEZ/IVA on ppFEV₁, the EAG's preferred approach is to scale the EAG's effect estimate for ELX/TEZ/IVA by the ratio of the TEZ/IVA to ELX/TEZ/IVA acute treatment effect in the F/F population (4/14.2 = 0.282). The acute treatment effect of TEZ/IVA was 28.2% of the acute treatment effect estimated for EXL/TEZ/IVA, leading to the EAG's preferred assumption of the rate of ppFEV₁ decline for TEZ/IVA to be an annual change in the slope of ppFEV1 of +0.138 (calculated as 0.282*0.49), compared to ECM. The Company and EAG assumptions for the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA compared to ECM are presented in Table 45.

| Source | Difference in annual ppFEV ₁ slope compared to ECM | EAG comments | |
|-----------------------------|--|---|--|
| LUM/IVA | | | |
| Konstan 2017 ¹⁵² | +0.96 (95% CI: NR) | Comparison between clinical trial participants and historical matched-registry controls Does not fully exclude acute treatment effects | |

Table 45. EAG critique of estimates of the long-term rate of $ppFEV_1$ decline for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA.



| | | Very high risk of overestimating LUM/IVA treatment effect | | |
|---|-----------------------------------|---|--|--|
| EAG assumption | 0 | Consistent with observed decline in placebo controlled RCTs Consistent with observed decline in long-term extension studies | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | |
| Flume 2021 ¹⁵⁰ | +1.27 (95% CI: +0.71 to +1.84) | Comparison between clinical trial participants and historical matched-registry controls Does not fully exclude acute treatment effects Larger point estimate than Vertex Final Analysis of ELX/TEZ/IVA – clinically implausible. Very high risk of overestimating TEZ/IVA treatment effect | | |
| EAG calculation | +0.138 | • Calculated as 28.2% of the EAG's preferred assumption for the slope for ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor; UK: United Kingdom | | | | |

3.2.2.6.4 Company response to clarification questions regarding the annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline

The EAG asked the Company a range of clarification questions concerning the Company's long-term estimates of the long-term rate of decline of ppFEV₁ for people on CFTR modulator therapies, which the EAG considers high risk of bias at underestimating the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline for people treated with CFTR modulators. The Company stated that: "Overall Vertex disagrees with the EAG conclusion that our estimates underestimate the rate of decline for people on CFTR modulators relative to ECM and believe the values provided in our submission are accurate". The EAG critiques the Company replies to the clarification questions below:

LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA

The EAG had two major concerns regarding the historical matched control analyses conducted by the Company for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA, and does not consider the Company's response to clarification questions to adequately address either:

• Not accounting for the better prognosis of clinical trial participants vs matched registrybased historical control patients. The Company analyses compared patients enrolled in CFTR modulator clinical trials with propensityscore matched-historical control trials. These analyses are at high risk of bias, even after matching on available baseline characteristics because: i) the standard of care received through following a clinical trial protocol, including likely co-adherence to ECM medications, is likely to be higher in clinical trials than in real world data,¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴ leading to a slower rate of decline for clinical trial participants, and ii) over time, the care and clinical outcomes for people with CF has improved.¹⁸⁵ The Company analyses do not account for the increase in survival that would have been expected had real-world data been collected in a counterfactual contemporaneous control cohort.¹⁷⁸

In their response to clarification questions, the Company did not directly address this concern of the EAG's, but did note for the ELX/TEZ/IVA registry-based analysis that

 Not adequately excluding the acute effect of LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA treatment from the longterm rate of change analyses;

In the Company analyses, data were excluded from the first 21 days (LUM/IVA) or 22 days (TEZ/IVA) of active treatment, to exclude the acute treatment effect from the analysis. However, the EAG suggested that in the pivotal trials the acute increase in ppFEV₁ continued to increase up to the Week 4 (28 day) measurement, and potentially up to the Week 8 (56 day) measurement. The Company's response to this critique was inconsistent, suggesting that the acute phase lasts 30 days, 28 days or 2 weeks at various stages in the CQ response:

"Preclinical data and prior experience with CFTR modulators additionally support that acute improvement in ppFEV1 is observed between week 2 to Day 30."

"Vertex agrees... that data from the pivotal TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA trials, show a further increase in ppFEV1 up to Week 4 (Day 28), however is much less prominent."

"The TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA rate of change analysis are based on clinical trial data (with specific timings of data capture for all patients) which has shown that after 2 weeks of treatment all patients have reached the maximum improvement on ppFEV₁."



The Company further suggested that patients may experience a secondary acute improvement that occurs more gradually than the initial acute phase, reflecting improvements in structural changes other than mucus accumulation in the airways:

"The rapid change observed within the week 2 or 30-day period likely represents improvement in mucociliary clearance and removal of mucus plugs. Once the patient passes the acute phase, generally after one month, the change seems to stabilize over time. Any further improvement after the acute phase may indicate improvements in structural changes other than mucus accumulation in the airways."

The EAG considers that:

- Most of the acute increase in ppFEV₁ a patient experiences when treated by CFTR modulator therapy is seen within the first 15 days of treatment, however;
- There is consistent evidence that acute improvements in ppFEV₁ continue until the Week 4 (Day 28) measurement in clinical trials, and likely up to Week 8 (Day 56).

Table 46 displays the results of the MMRM analysis of change from baseline in ppFEV₁ by visit for the placebo controlled RCTS of CFTR modulators in people with CF aged 12+ years. In all five of the trials, the absolute and difference-from-placebo LS mean change from baseline was greater at Week 4 than Day 15, and in four of the five placebo-controlled trials, the absolute and difference-from-placebo LS mean et al., the absolute and et

| Study | Comparison | Day 15 | Week 4 | Week 8 | Week 16 | Week 24 |
|-----------|--|--------|--------|--------|---------|---------|
| TRAFFIC | LS mean difference (95% CI) vs PBO | | | | | |
| TRAFFIC | Absolute LS mean change from baseline LUM/IVA | | | | | |
| TRANSPORT | LS mean difference (95% CI) vs PBO | | | | | |

Table 46. MMRM analysis of absolute change from baseline in ppFEV₁ and difference from placebo for CFTR modulator clinical trials of people with CF aged 12+ years.



| | Absolute LS mean change from baseline LUM/IVA | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | LS mean difference (95% CI) vs PBO | | | | |
| | Absolute LS mean change from baseline TEZ/IVA | | | | |
| Rowe 2017 | LS mean difference (95% Cl) vs PBO | | | | |
| | Absolute LS mean change from baseline TEZ/IVA | | | | |
| Middleton 2019 | LS mean difference (95% CI) vs PBO | | | | |
| | Absolute LS mean change from baseline ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | |
| Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor: IVA: ivacaftor; LS: least squares: PBO: placebo; | | | | | |

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; CI: confidence interval; ELX: elexacaftor: IVA: ivacaftor; LS: least squares: PBO: placebo; ppFEV1: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; TEZ: tezacaftor

Based on these data, the EAG considers that only excluding data up to Day 21 (LUM/IVA) or Day 22 (TEZ/IVA) is unlikely to adequately remove the acute treatment effects of LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA from the Company matched-control analysis. The 30-day exclusion window used for the ELX/TEZ/IVA analysis is more appropriate, but the EAG notes that even this window may be too short to exclude all acute treatment effects. As such, the EAG does not consider the Company estimates of a 42% relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV₁ decline for LUM/IVA compared to ECM, or a 61.5% relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV₁ decline for TEZ/IVA compared to ECM, to be robust estimates.

ELX/TEZ/IVA

For ELX/TEZ/IVA, the Company provided a historical registry-based matched control analysis of UK CF Registry data collected as part of the Data Collection Agreement. As for the LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA analyses, the EAG considers that the Company analysis is at risk of not adequately, i) removing the acute treatment effect of CFTR modulator therapy, and ii) accounting for the negative control effect associated with using historical control patients. However, the EAG notes that the magnitude of these concerns are smaller than for the LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA analyses as a 30-day exclusion window was used for the acute treatment effect, and both the ELX/TEZ/IVA and control patient data was sourced from the UK CF Registry, rather than the CFTR modulator data coming from clinical trial data as for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA.

Both the EAG and Company highlighted, however, that the COVID-19 pandemic likely confounds the Company analysis, but the EAG and Company disagreed in the direction of bias resulting from this confounding:

- The EAG considered factors associated with the COVID-19 pandemic likely to reduce the rate
 of lung-function decline observed for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA by preserving lung function
 throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. This could occur directly through a reduction in the rate
 of pulmonary exacerbations, or more indirectly though other lifestyle changes related to the
 pandemic. The EAG considers this would lead to data during COVID-19 underestimating the
 rate of lung function decline for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA. In contrast, the Company
 provided an argument that the COVID-19 pandemic would lead to an overestimation of the
 rate of lung function decline for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA;
- The Company agreed that factors associated with the COVID-19 pandemic "potentially preserved" lung function in people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA, but disagreed with the EAG about how to interpret these data:



The EAG considers the Company's argument to be clinically implausible. The Company argument appears to be that lockdown measures introduced from March 2020 would lead to a short-term

BMJ TAG

increase in a person's ppFEV₁ prior to initiating ELX/TEZ/IVA from August 2020, and this benefit would be lost once lockdown restrictions were lifted – creating the artificial impression of a decline in ppFEV₁ for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA that would not have occurred outside of measurements affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. In contrast, the EAG considers it more clinically plausible that lung-preservation associated with COVID-19 related factors would occur continually throughout the pandemic – i.e., both before and after ELX/TEZ/IVA initiation – and that this preservation would not be lost once COVID-19 related restrictions were lifted. This is because patients would have avoided lung function damage during lockdowns, social distancing and viral shielding. Hence, the EAG reaffirms that the Company analysis of the long-term rate of change of ppFEV₁ for patients treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA relative to ECM – which estimated a relative reduction of 66.8%, is likely an overestimation of the relative reduction of the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline that patients treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA are likely to experience.

Nevertheless, the EAG considers there to be a large degree of uncertainty around the long-term rate of decline of ppFEV₁ for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA, and notes that the uncertainty introduced by the COVID-19 pandemic may be unresolvable in existing data. This was echoed by the UK CF Registry Research Committee and clinical members of the UK CF Registry Steering Committee in response to a CF Registry Data Request submitted by BMJ-TAG,¹⁰² and also by the Company in a response to the Clarification Question (Table 47).

| Body | Comment on analyses investigating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health outcomes for people with CF |
|---|--|
| Letter on behalf of the UK CF Registry Research Committee and clinical members of the UK CF Registry Steering Committee | "The committee advise that analysis to understand the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health outcomes for people with CF should be undertaken using appropriate methodology and over an appropriate time-frame. The two-year follow up period within the Technology Appraisal protocol is unlikely to be enough time to appropriately determine any long- term impact of the pandemic. The committee however recognise that it would not be feasible to conduct |

Table 47. Comment on analyses investigating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health outcomes for people with CF from the UK CF Registry Research Committee and clinical members of the UK CF Registry Steering Committee and Vertex.



| | such as analysis before the final review by the Technology Appraisal committee." |
|--|--|
| Vertex response to Clarification Questions | "Adjusting the analysis for the potential confounding effect of shielding/lock-down interventions during the COVID-19 pandemic needs to be further investigated when longer-term real-world data beyond 2022 on patients initiated on ELX/TEZ/IVA are available (outside of the pandemic)." |

Abbreviations: CF: cystic fibrosis; ELX: elexacaftor: IVA: ivacaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor.

3.2.2.6.5 Co-adherence to inhaled therapies

The long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline and other clinical outcomes for people treated with CFTR modulator therapies may be influenced by co-adherence to non-CFTR modulator preventative inhaled therapies, such as inhaled mucolytics and prophylactic antibiotics.³¹ In-line with this suggestion, dornase alfa, hypertonic saline and inhaled antibiotic use decreased in people taking IVA monotherapy in years following its introduction for people with CF and eligible gating mutations in the UK, relative to people who were ineligible for IVA.¹⁶² As inhaled mucolytics and prophylactic antibiotics can affect the probability of pulmonary exacerbations and a person's ppFEV₁, reduced adherence to such therapies following CFTR modulator initiation may attenuate the real-world effectiveness of CFTR modulators.

As the EAG uses real-world IVA monotherapy data to inform the rate of long-term ppFEV₁ decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA and TEZ/IVA, the effects of a reduction in co-adherence to preventative inhaled therapies similar to that observed for IVA monotherapy are implicitly modelled in the EAG base case. The EAG notes there currently is no robust data on co-adherence to ECM therapies for ELX/TEZ/IVA, but notes that the effect size of ECM medications on ppFEV₁ are small in comparison to effective CFTR modulator therapy, and dependent on patient baseline characteristics.^{186, 187} The EAG therefore considers the effects of co-adherence to ECM medications for patients taking CFTR modulator therapies, which is currently unresolvable with existing data. However, the EAG notes that measuring adherence to CFTR modulators and preventative inhaled therapies, as well as the consequences of discontinuing some ECM therapies when treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA, are active areas of current research.^{188, 189}



3.3 Discussion

3.3.1 Summary of key results

The EAG conducted an SLR and performed NMAs to assess the clinical effectiveness of ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA within their marketing authorisations for treating people with CF, with at least one *F508del* mutation. Each CFTR modulator combination therapy was compared with each other and ECM. The EAG prioritised 19 clinical trials from the SLR for clinical analyses, which included 16 RCTs. All included studies were sponsored by the Company. Twelve of the RCTs were assessed to be at low risk of bias and four were assessed as having some concerns. All three non-randomised studies were assessed as high risk of bias.

Overall, the EAG considers there to be strong evidence that treatment with either ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA or LUM/IVA leads to an acute increase in ppFEV₁ for people with CF aged 6+ years, relative to ECM. The magnitude of the acute increase was significantly greater for ELX/TEZ/IVA (change from baseline estimate compared to placebo in the 12+ years F/F genotype: 14.20, 95% CI: 12.07 to 16.31) compared to TEZ/IVA (change from baseline estimate compared to placebo in the 12+ years F/F genotype: 4.00, 95% CI: 3.15 to 4.85) and LUM/IVA (change from baseline estimate compared to placebo in the 12+ years F/F genotype: 2.83, 95% CI: 1.84 to 3.81). The magnitude of the acute increase in ppFEV₁ was similar for ELX/TEX/IVA in the F/F, F/MF and F/Gating genotypes, but smaller in the F/RF genotype, which was also the case for TEZ/IVA.

The EAG also considers there to be good evidence that treatment with either ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA or LUM/IVA leads to a reduction in pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics for people aged 12+ years, relative to ECM. The magnitude of this reduction was again greater for ELX/TEZ/IVA than LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA. However, the reporting of pulmonary exacerbations was inconsistent between studies, limiting the evidence base for this outcome. The extent to which CFTR modulator therapy reduces pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics in children under 12 years is more uncertain, due to:

- Inconsistent reporting of pulmonary exacerbations as efficacy or safety outcomes between studies;
- The lower rate of pulmonary exacerbations in children under 12 years than people over 12 years creating a floor effect within the study periods and;



• The smaller number of studies and smaller sample sizes within these studies, of combination CFTR modulator therapy for people under 12 years.

The EAG notes that the mechanism by which CFTR modulator therapy reduces pulmonary exacerbations in people aged 12+ years should generalise to the 6 to 11 years age group. However, in the single placebo-controlled study that reported the number pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics in participants aged 6 to 11 years, the rate was **age group for LUM/IVA**

(**Interview**) than for placebo **Interview**. For ELX/TEZ/IVA, the number of participants with non-serious (ELX/TEZ/IVA, n=1/60, 1.67%; placebo, n=14/61, 22.95%) and serious (ELX/TEZ/IVA, n=0/60, 0.00%; placebo, n=3/61, 4.92%) pulmonary exacerbations reported as adverse events was lower for ELX/TEZ/IVA than placebo. Neither the EAG nor the Company included a direct treatment effect on pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics in their economic models for participants under 12 years, although indirect effects via changes in ppFEV₁ were included. In light of the limited evidence available, the EAG considers this approach reasonable for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA, but conservative for ELX/TEZ/IVA.

Treatment with ELX/TEZ/IVA led to an increased weight-for-age z-score relative to ECM in people with CF aged 6+ years, with the estimated acute increase in weight-for-age z-score ranging from in the 6 to 11 years F/MF genotype group to F/RF population, the EAG's ITC estimated a smaller acute increase in weight-for-age z-score for ELX/TEZ.IVA compared to placebo: Closer to 0 in the in 12+ years F/F genotype group, but the 95% CIs still excluded 0 (pooled TRAFFIC/TRANSPORT data: Closer to placebo for TEZ/IVA in the 12+ years group, or LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA in the 6 to 11 years populations prioritised in the EAG's SLR.

For people with CF under 6 years, (2 to 5 years for ELX/TEZ/IVA and 1 to 5 years for LUM/IVA), the EAG considers the effects of CFTR modulator therapy on lung function and other efficacy outcomes to be more uncertain because:

- Key studies were performed without a power analysis,^{142, 190} or powered to detect a primary safety outcome, only;¹⁵⁹
- ppFEV₁ measurements were not conducted in these trials, as the measurements are not reliable at this age;⁶⁰



• Many people with CF aged less than 6 years may have near-ceiling lung function.

3.3.2 Generalisability

The EAG consider the clinical efficacy data from the CFTR modulator clinical trial programme likely to generalise to clinical practice in England and Wales, and notes that the acute effects of CFTR modulator therapy observed in clinical trials are consistent with those reported in the UK CF Registry. However, the 40% to 90% ppFEV₁ inclusion criteria for clinical trials of people aged 12+ years may limit the generalisability of the effects of CFTR modulator therapy to people with ppFEV₁ outside of 40% to 90%. The EAG considers that:

- For people with a ppFEV₁ greater than 90%, the effects of CFTR modulator therapy in preventing lung decline are likely more important than any acute increases in lung-function, that may be affected by ceiling effects;
- People with CF and ppFEV₁ less than 40% have advance lung disease and may be candidates for transplant. There is real-world evidence that such patients experience acute increases in ppFEV₁ in-line with the magnitude observed for people with ppFEV₁>40% for ELX/TEZ/IVA, although the response is more uncertain for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA;^{58, 163, 164}
- While people with CF and ppFEV₁ less than 40% comprise around 18% of the prevalent population of adults with CF in the UK,¹⁰³ should CFTR modulator therapies be approved for routine commissioning in England and Wales they would be initiated prior to an individual's ppFEV₁ declining to less than 40%.

The EAG's clinical experts noted that if ELX/TEZ/IVA was initiated very early, i.e., before substantial lung or pancreatic damage had occurred, it is plausible that ELX/TEZ/IVA may prevent most lung-function and other clinical decline for these individuals. While plausible, the EAG notes substantial uncertainty regarding the long-term clinical outcomes of people aged 2 initiating ELX/TEZ/IVA due to:

- The current absence of any long-term data for this population;
- The likelihood that some damage may have occurred by aged 2 for this population, especially to the pancreas.



3.3.3 Key issues and uncertainties

The EAG considers the long-term effects of CFTR modulators on the rate of ppFEV₁ decline and pulmonary exacerbations to be the major outstanding uncertainty regarding the clinical effectiveness of CFTR modulator therapy. No head-to-head comparative effectiveness data are available for these long-term outcomes for any CFTR combination modulator therapy. Where uncontrolled long-term data are available, follow-up is often limited to 2 to 3 years follow-up, meaning the effects of CFTR combination therapies over the lifetime are highly uncertain. The EAG considers this uncertainty to be heightened for ELX/TEZ/IVA, in which the only long-term data available are from uncontrolled clinical trials and real-world data where data collection windows overlapped substantially with the COVID-19 pandemic. During COVID-19, viral shielding and social distancing are expected to have meaningfully impacted lung-function in people with CF between 2020 and 2022, including a direct reduction in exacerbations due to lower rates of infection, and an associated reduction in lung-function decline due to fewer pulmonary exacerbations and fewer other respiratory infections.^{157, 175}

The EAG also notes the following key uncertainties in the clinical effectiveness and safety data from the CFTR modulator clinical trial programme and real-world evidence base:

- EQ-5D data were only collected in two CFTR modulator clinical trials, both of LUM/IVA, meaning the impact of CFTR modulator therapy on EQ-5D, the preferred NICE instrument, is uncertain;
- Data on pulmonary exacerbations were inconsistently reported across clinical trials, with only a minority of clinical trials reporting sufficient data to be included in the economic modelling. Due to this, the effective evidence base for pulmonary exacerbations is much smaller than the evidence base for other clinical variables entering the economic model;
- There are no validated minimally clinically important differences for key clinical outcomes, such as changes in ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-score, provides uncertainty around the clinical meaningfulness of the response to LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA, which often had lower bounds of confidence intervals close to, or overlapping, 0 when compared to ECM for the acute changes in ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-score;
- The adverse event profiles of CFTR combination modulator therapy during the acute phase of clinical trials appear mild; however there is a lack of consistently reported long-term



adverse event data on cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension, that may be related to CFTR modulator therapy.

4 Assessment of cost-effectiveness

4.1 Systematic review of existing cost-effectiveness evidence

4.1.1 Methods

A systematic literature review (SLR) was undertaken in February 2023 to identify published economic evaluations of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA), lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) and tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) for the treatment of cystic fibrosis. A separate search was conducted to identify studies reporting health-related quality of life (HRQoL) data in patients with cystic fibrosis.

Multiple electronic databases were searched including MEDLINE, EMBASE, the International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment (INAHTA) and the Cost-Effectiveness Analysis (CEA) Registry. Further to the database searches, health technology appraisal (HTA) websites including National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC), Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH), Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC) and Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER) were searched to identify relevant publications. In addition, reference lists of key identified studies were also reviewed for any potentially relevant studies.

The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD) databases were not searched as the CRD stopped adding records to the Health Technology Assessment (HTA) database in March of 2018 and the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE) and NHS Economic Evaluations Database (NHS EED) in March of 2015. The EAG considers it unlikely that relevant studies were missed from the CRD databases as the INAHTA has taken on the responsibility for the production of the HTA database.

The search strategy for economic evaluations combined terms capturing the interventions or comparators of interest, the target condition (cystic fibrosis) and the validated CADTH economic evaluations search filter.¹⁹¹ The search strategy for HRQoL studies was not restricted by treatment, and combined terms capturing the target population with HRQoL terms (adapted from Arber *et al.* 2017).¹⁹² No language (to assess volume of foreign language studies available), setting or country restrictions were applied to the search strategy initially. However, following title and abstract screening, as the number of full texts to examine exceeded 100 publications, the pragmatic decision was taken to limit to UK studies full text search. The EAG does not consider this likely to introduce



substantial bias as UK studies were required the economic model in order to align with the NICE Reference Case.

The titles and abstracts of papers identified through the searches were independently assessed for inclusion using pre-defined eligibility criteria. The inclusion and exclusion criteria for each review are outlined in Table 48 for economic evaluations and Table 49 for studies reporting HRQoL data. Additionally, for both searches the EAG reviewed the Company's submission (including results of their SLRs) for additional references.

| Criteria | Inclusion | Exclusion |
|---------------|--|---|
| Population | Patients with cystic fibrosis | None |
| Interventions | The interventions below will be considered: elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (Trikafta[®] or Kaftrio[®]) lumacaftor/ivacaftor (Orkambi[®]) tezacaftor/ivacaftor (Symkevi[®] or Symdeko[®]) | Ivacaftor monotherapy |
| Comparators | Specified interventions versus each other or ECM. | None. |
| Outcomes | Costs per unit of outcome (e.g. ICERs)QALYs;LYG. | None. |
| Study design | Economic evaluations: Cost-utility analyses Cost-effectiveness analyses Cost-minimisation analyses Cost-benefit analyses Cost-consequence analyses. | Budget impact analysis; Cost-analysis only Commentaries and letters; Reviews (systematic and non-systematic); Study protocols with no results |
| Report type | Full text articlesEnglish | Abstracts with insufficient methodological details |

Table 48. Inclusion criteria: economic evaluations

Abbreviations: ECM, established clinical management; ICER, incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; LYG, life years gained; QALY, quality adjusted life year;

Table 49. Inclusion criteria: HRQoL studies

| Criteria | Inclusion | Exclusion |
|---------------|--|----------------------|
| Population | Patients with CF | None. |
| Interventions | None. | None. |
| Comparators | None. | None. |
| Outcomes | Preference-based multi-attribute utility values (e.g. EQ-5D, HUI-3, SF-6D) | Outcomes not listed. |



| | Direct utility elicitation tools (TTO, standard gamble, rating scale) Generic health-related quality of life questionnaires (e.g. SF-36, SF-12). CFQ | |
|--------------|--|---|
| Study design | Studies reporting original HRQoL data or mapping studies UK cost effectiveness studies | Commentaries and letters; Reviews (systematic and non-systematic); Study protocols with no results. |
| Limits | Publications in English (numbers of relevant non-English studies will be reported). | Non-English studies (numbers of relevant non-English studies will be reported). |

Abbreviations: CF, cystic fibrosis; CFQ; cystic fibrosis questionnaire; EQ-5D, EuroQol 5 Dimensions; HRQoL, health-related quality of life; HUI, health utilities index; SF-6D, short-form 6-dimension; SF-12, 12-item short-form health survey; TTO, time trade-off

4.1.2 Results – economic evaluations

The electronic database searches identified 681 records. After the removal of duplicates this left 618 records to be assessed against the inclusion criteria by two independent reviewers. An additional 25 records were identified though searches of HTA websites. After title and abstract assessment, 599 records were excluded, leaving 44 records to be assessed at the full text stage. In total, 23 publications were included; however these were extracted as 18 unique studies due to the inclusion of a summary article of an included study,¹⁹³ an additional erratum,¹⁹⁴ and earlier versions of PBAC summary reports being combined. A PRISMA diagram of the included studies in shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. PRISMA diagram of economic evaluations searches

* Extracted as 18 studies due to studies being combined

Of the 18 unique studies, 15 were from HTA organisations. Only two of the 15 were independent evaluations not based on a Company submission, and both of these were conducted by the Institute for Clinical and Economic Review.^{195, 196} The remaining three studies were independent evaluations of LUM/IVA, all conducted from the USA payer perspective.¹⁹⁷⁻¹⁹⁹ Seventeen of the included 18 studies conducted cost-utility analyses, reporting results as incremental cost per QALY (ICER), with

the exception of Dilokthornsakul *et al.* $(2017)^{197}$ who reported incremental costs, QALYs and life years but did not report the corresponding ICER. Vadagam *et al.* 2018^{199} reported outcomes in terms of cost per absolute ppFEV₁.

Interventions and comparators

Of the 18 studies included, the majority assessed the cost-effectiveness of LUM/IVA (11/18)¹⁹⁷⁻²⁰⁷ while only two assessed TEZ/IVA^{208, 209} and three included ELX/TEZ/IVA.^{111, 210, 211} The remaining two studies^{195, 196} included all three interventions of interest to this research and compared ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA all against established clinical management for specified genotypes. The interventions were not compared to each other within these two studies but, due to the recommended start age varying between drugs, they were modelled sequentially in the relevant genotype populations, with patients switching to the 'best available' therapy available for that age. Established clinical management was used as a comparator in all studies but varied in its definition, with many studies not describing it at all. PBAC 2021²¹¹ also compared ELX/TEZ/IVA to TEZ/IVA in F/F and F/RF genotype populations, while CADTH 2022¹¹¹ compared ELX/TEZ/IVA to LUM/IVA in the F/F genotype population and IVA monotherapy in patients with the F/RF genotype.

Model structure

The most commonly used model structure was an individual patient simulation model, used in 15 of the 18 studies; these studies were all those based on HTA organisation submissions or reports. All of these studies used the same general structure; applying a Cox proportional hazards model by Liou *et al.* 2001¹⁷² to adjust the underlying CF population baseline mortality for each individual patient based on nine characteristics (age, sex, ppFEV₁, annual number of pulmonary exacerbations, prior respiratory infection status, CF-related diabetes, weight-for-age z score, and pancreatic sufficiency status) found to influence CF mortality. All patient simulation models used a lifetime time horizon and the majority used a cycle length of four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter. ICER 2018¹⁹⁵ used an annual cycle length, whereas ICER 2020¹⁹⁶ did not report the cycle length used. Two studies used a Markov state transition model with an annual cycle length,^{197, 198} each with five health states (mild lung disease [%FEV₁ predicted \geq 70%], moderate lung disease [40 \leq %FEV1 predicted <70%], severe lung disease [%FEV₁ predicted <40%], post lung transplantation and death). Sharma *et al.*¹⁹⁸ also included transition health states to represent pulmonary exacerbations and lung



transplant. Vadagam *et al.*¹⁹⁹ was described only described as a decision model with no further details.

Treatment effectiveness

Treatment effectiveness of CFTR modulators was measured through an improvement in ppFEV₁ scores in all studies, with an additional impact on pulmonary exacerbations and weight-for-age z score included in all individual simulation models. The treatment effectiveness was sourced from the main clinical trials for the relevant CFTR modulator in each study. As trials for ELX/TEZ/IVA have predominately been compared against other CFTR modulators rather than ECM for F/F, F/RF, and F/Gating genotypes, the three studies of cost effectiveness for ELX/TEZ/IVA (PBAC 2021; CADTH 2022) all reported conducting indirect treatment comparisons (ITCs) to inform treatment effectiveness against ECM.

Long term effectiveness varied between studies and was implemented through assumptions made regarding long-term decline in ppFEV₁ after the initial trial or extension study duration in relation to the rate of decline modelled for patients on ECM. In HTA submissions, this assumption was deemed largely uncertain and often overly optimistic. Alternatives assumptions were implemented in re-analyses produced by CADTH 2021²¹⁰ and 2022¹¹¹ for ELX/TEZ/IVA, CADTH 2016²⁰⁰ and 2018²⁰¹ for LUM/IVA and PBAC 2019a²⁰⁸ for TEZ/IVA, in which the rate of decline of ppFEV₁ was equal to that of ECM (see Table 51). In the NICE appraisal for LUM/IVA, the committee noted how it had not been sufficiently justified why USA/Canada data was more relevant to the clinical population in England, resulting in uncertainty. The committee also stated how exploratory analyses should have been undertaken using the ppFEV₁ decline for standard of care alone based on the 24-week trial data.

Adverse events

Adverse events were only discussed in six of the included studies. The two assessments conducted by the Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (2018¹⁹⁵ and 2020¹⁹⁶) stated that adverse events were not explicitly modelled in terms of additional costs or disutilties and they were found to be generally comparable across trial arms. Both CADTH reports for LUM/IVA (2016²⁰⁰ and 2018²⁰¹) state that adverse events from the TRAFFIC²¹² and TRANSPORT²¹³ trials were included in the model, applied as a cost of a general practitioner visit. This method was also used in NICE TA786.²⁰² The independent study by Vadagam *et al.*¹⁹⁹ included adverse events that occurred in at least 10% of patients in any treatment group in the TRAFFIC²¹² and TRANSPORT²¹³ trials.

Cost-effectiveness results

All included studies had large ICERs, none of which would be deemed cost-effective using the NICE £20,000–£30,000 threshold. Only four studies were relevant to the UK population; NICE TA786,²⁰² SMC 2016²⁰⁶ and SMC 2019a²⁰⁷ for LUM/IVA, and SMC 2019b²⁰⁹ for TEZ/IVA. None of the included ICERs in any of these four assessments were below £200,000.

A summary of the included studies is provided in Table 50 with further details in Appendix 9.6.1. All studies were assessed using the Drummond checklist, reported in Appendix 9.2.5. As the majority of the included studies were HTA reports, the quality of the evidence reported varied due to some data being redacted or summarised from a Company submission. We also reviewed any changes made by HTA organisations to the Company submissions base-case assumptions, reported in Table 51.



Table 50. Summary of included economic evaluations

| Author, year, | Perspective, | Model type | Patient population | Intervention/ Comparator | Treatment effectiveness |
|--|------------------|-------------------------------|---|--|--|
| country | discounting & | | | | |
| Multiple CETD medu | cost year | | | | |
| Multiple CFTR modu | lators | | | | |
| Institute for Clinical | Perspective: | Discrete time microsimulation | Patients with CF in | Interventions: | Treatment effect is modelled as an immediate |
| and Economic | Health care | model (developed in | both homogenous | Multiple analyses of CFTR modulators | increase in ppFEV ₁ , weight for age z-score, |
| Review (ICER), 2018. USA ¹⁹⁵ | perspective | TreeAge®) | and heterozygous (gating mutation or | for different genotype mutations: LUM/IVA. TEZ/IVA and IVA. All are | and a decrease in the annual number of acute PEs. sourced from the key trials relevant to |
| , | Discount rate: | 1 year time cycle | RF) | combined with ECM. CFTR modulators | the intervention |
| | 3% for costs and | | | were compared with ECM and not | |
| | QALYS | | | directly with each other | |
| | Cost year: 2017 | | | ECM consists of pulmonary and | |
| | | | | pancreatic therapies. Individuals with or | |
| | | | | developing CF related diabetes have | |
| | | | | oral hyperglycaemic agents, intermittent | |
| Institute for Clinical | Boropootivo | Microsimulation model | Torget population is | Insulin and chronic insulin | Treatment effect is modelled as an immediate |
| and Economic | Health care | (developed in TreeAge) with a | natients both | Multiple analyses of CETR modulators | increase in ppEFV ₁ weight for age z-score |
| Review (ICER) | perspective | lifetime horizon. | homozygous and | for different genotype mutations: | and a decrease in the annual number of acute |
| 2020, USA ¹⁹⁶ | | | heterozygous for | LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA. | PEs. Patients switching CFTR modulators are |
| | Discount rate: | | the F508del | All are combined with ECM. CFTR | assumed to experience the net increase in |
| | 3% for costs and | | mutation | modulators were compared with ECM | ppFEV ₁ between the two drugs, based on trial |
| | QALYs | | | and not directly with each other. | data, where available |
| | Cost year 2019 | | | when they were first eligible to receive | |
| | | | | that modulator as per the marketing | |
| | | | | authorisation and then switch to a 'more | |
| | | | | effective' modulator when they become | |
| | | | | age eligible | |
| | | | | ECM consists of pulmonary and | |
| | | | | pancreatic therapies | |

| Elexacaftor/Tezacafor/Ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA) | | | | | | | |
|---|--------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------|---|---|--|--|
| CADTH Common | Perspective: | Patient-level simulation model | Target population is | Intervention: | Treatment was assumed to impact disease | | |
| Drug Review, 2021, | Canadian public | with a lifetime horizon (approx. | patients with CF | ELX/TEZ/IVA plus ECM | progression through effects relating to | | |
| Canada ²¹⁰ | health care payer | 65 years) | aged ≥ 12 years | | ppFEV1, weight for age score, and PE rate. | | |
| | | | who have at least 1 | Comparator: | Data on effectiveness was taken from key | | |
| | Discount rate: | Model cycle = four weeks for | F508del mutation in | ECM alone - consisting of | trials and ITC (Bucher method) undertaken for | | |
| | 1.5% for costs and | the first two years and annual | the CFTR gene. 4 | recommended medications (such as | ECM | | |
| | QALYs | thereafter. | genotypes | mucolytics, inhaled and oral antibiotics, | | | |
| | | | considered in | inhaled hypertonic saline, nutritional | | | |
| | Cost year: N.R. | | separate analyses: | supplements, enteral tube feeding, | | | |
| | | | F/F, F/MF, F/RF | pancreatic enzymes, antifungal agents, | | | |
| | | | and F/G inclusive of | and corticosteroids) and physiotherapy | | | |
| | | | R117H | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |



| CADTH Common | Perspective: | Same as earlier submission | This is an extension | Intervention: | Treatment impacts disease progression |
|------------------------------------|--------------------|--|----------------------|---|--|
| Drug Review, 2022, | Canadian public | model structure (CADTH, | of the previously | ELX/TEZ/IVA plus ECM | through effects relating to ppFEV1, weight for |
| Canada ¹¹¹ | health care payer | 2021) Patient-level simulation | submitted and | | age score, and PE rate sourced through the |
| | | model with a lifetime horizon | reviewed | Comparator | relevant clinical trials. Indirect treatment |
| | Discount rate: | (approximately 92 years) | submission for | 1.ECM for all genotypes - consisting of | comparison was undertaken on patient level |
| | 1.5% for costs and | | those are 12+ | mucolytics, inhaled and oral antibiotics, | data as placebo-adjusted estimates were |
| | QALYs | | focusing on those | inhaled hypertonic saline, nutritional | required |
| | | | aged 6-11 years old | supplements, enteral tube feeding, | |
| | Cost year: N.R. | | | pancreatic enzymes, antifungal agents, | |
| | | | Target population is | and corticosteroids) and physiotherapy. | |
| | | | patients with CF | 2. LUM/IVA in patients with the F/F | |
| | | | aged ≥ 6 years who | genotype, in combination with ECM | |
| | | | have at least 1 | 3. IVA in patients with the F/RF | |
| | | | F508del mutation in | genotype, or the R117H mutation, in | |
| | | | the CFTR gene. 4 | combination with ECM | |
| | | | genotypes | | |
| | | | considered in | | |
| | | | separate analyses: | | |
| | | | F/F, F/MF, F/RF | | |
| | | | and F/G inclusive of | | |
| | | | R117H | | |
| | | | | | |
| Pharmaceutical | Perspective: N R | individual patient state- | CE natients aged 12 | Intervention: | Treatment effectiveness was measured in |
| Renefits Advisory | | transition microsimulation | vears and older who | FLX/TEZ/IVA plus ECM | terms of change in $ppEFV_1$ weight for age z |
| Committee (PBAC) | Discount rate: 5% | model - lifetime time horizon | have at least one | | score and PEs |
| 2021 Australia ²¹¹ | for costs and | | F508del mutation in | Comparator: | |
| ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, | QALYs | Model cycle = four weeks for | the cystic fibrosis | 1. TEZ/IVA in the E/E population: | Changes in ppEEV ₁ and weight for age score |
| | | the first two years | transmembrane | 2. TEZ/IVA in the F/RF population: | for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA versus TEZ/IVA |
| | Cost vear: N.R | ······································ | conductance | 3. ECM in the F/MF population and the | taken from an ITC conducted of Study 109 |
| | - , | | regulator (CFTR) | F/not yet characterised population | and EVOLVE (TEZ/IVA) in the F/F population |
| | | | gene (F/any) | | and an ITC of Study 104 and EXPAND |
| | | | | | (TEZ/IVA) for the F/RF population |
| | | | | | |
| Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor | (LUM/IVA) | | | | |
| | | | | | |



| National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) - TA786, 2016 ²⁰² | Perspective: UK NHS Discount rate: 3.5% for costs and QALYs Cost year: 2014 | Individual patient level micro- simulation model with a lifetime horizon Cycle length of 4 weeks for the first 2 years and 1 year thereafter | Cystic fibrosis patients homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation (age 12+) | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM comprising daily prophylactic medications and supplements such as pancreatic enzymes, nutritional and vitamin supplements, oral or nebulised antibiotics, nebulised mucolytic agents, and daily physiotherapy | Main measure of treatment effect was change in ppFEV ₁ . This was taken from the pooled placebo-adjusted mean change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ measured as the average of weeks 16 and 24 from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies (increases by 2.8 percentage points by week 16 compared to starting ppFEV ₁ and assumed to remain constant until week 24, irrespective of if they remained on treatment) |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|
| Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC), 2016, Scotland ²⁰⁶ | Perspective: Scottish National Health Service Discount rate: 3.5% for costs and QALYs Cost year: N.R. | Individual patient state- transition microsimulation model Model cycle = four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter | CF patients aged 12 years and older who are homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM | Treatment effectiveness was measured through changes in ppFEV ₁ , PEs and weight for age z score taken from the TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials |
| Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC), 2019a, Scotland ²⁰⁷ | Perspective: Scottish National Health Service health system Discount rate: N.R. Cost year: N.R. | individual patient state- transition microsimulation model Model cycle = four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter | CF patients aged 6 years and older and aged 2 to 5 years who are homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM | Treatment effectiveness was measured through changes in ppFEV ₁ , PEs and weight for age z score For patients aged 12 years + this data were from a pooled analysis of the TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies. For patients aged 6 to 11 years, taken from study 109 and study 011. For patients aged 2 to 5 years, there was no placebo-controlled evidence available. |

| CADTH Common Drug Review (CDR), 2016, Canada ²⁰⁰ | Perspective: Canadian public health care payer Discount rate: 1.5% for costs and QALYs Cost year: 2015 | Patient simulation model with a lifetime horizon (100 years) - cohort of 6000 patients with base-case analysis based on 1000 replications of the simulated population Model cycle = four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter | CF in patients aged 12 years + who are homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> -CFTR mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM consists of mucolytics, pancreatic enzymes, anti-inflammatory medications, and antibiotics for lung infections | Treatment effectiveness data based on TRANSPORT and TRAFFIC trials to inform changes in ppFEV ₁ , PEs and weight for age z score. |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|
| CADTH Common Drug Review (CDR), 2018, Canada ²⁰¹ | Perspective: Canadian public health care payer Discount rate: 1.5% for costs and QALYs Cost year: 2017 | Patient simulation model with a lifetime horizon (119 years) - cohort of 6000 patients with base-case analysis based on 1000 replications of the simulated population Model cycle = four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter. | Target population is patients 6 years of age and older who are homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation Includes analyses for patients 6-11 and age 12+ separately | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM consists of nutritional support, airway clearance, and treatment of clinical manifestations such as lung infections | Treatment impacts disease progression through effects relating to ppFEV ₁ ,weight for age score, and PE rates. For the first 24 weeks of the model, changes in ppFEV ₁ is taken from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies for patients aged over 12 and the 809-109 study for patients aged between six and 12 |
| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), 2018b, Australia ²⁰³ | Perspective: N.R. Discount rate: N.R Cost year: N.R | Individual patient state- transition microsimulation model - lifetime time horizon Model cycle = four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter | CF patients aged 12+ homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM. Comparator: ECM | Treatment effectiveness data taken from TRAFFIC & TRANSPORT trials to inform changes in ppFEV ₁ , PEs and weight for age z score |
| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), 2018a, Australia ²⁰⁴ | Perspective: N.R. Discount rate: N.R Cost year: N.R | Individual patient state- transition microsimulation model - lifetime time horizon Model cycle = four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter | CF patients aged 6- 11 homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM | Data from Study 109 informed changes in ppFEV ₁ for patients ages 6-11 while changes in weight for age z score were informed by TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials |



| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), 2019b, Australia ²⁰⁵ | Perspective: N.R. Discount rate: N.R Cost year: N.R | Individual patient state- transition microsimulation model - lifetime time horizon Model cycle = four weeks for the first two years and annual thereafter | CF patients aged 2– 5 years who are homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator ECM | Data from Study 109 informed changes in ppFEV ₁ for patients ages 6-11 while changes in weight for age z score were informed by TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials |
|---|---|---|---|--|--|
| Dilokthornsakul, P., <i>et al.</i> 2017, USA ¹⁹⁷ | Perspective: US payer Discount rate: 3% for costs and QALYs Cost year: 2016 | Markov state transition model with five health states and a lifetime horizon: mild lung disease, moderate lung disease, severe lung disease, lung transplantation and death. Patients entered the model in one of the three health states reflecting lung disease severity Model cycle = 1 year Time horizon = lifetime | CF patients (25+) with homozygous phe508del mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM comprising of pancreatic enzymes, periodic intravenous antibiotics and dornase alfa | Data from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials was used to inform treatment effect on ppFEV1 which determined the probability of moving from moderate to mild health states and severe to moderate. Transition probability table not provided in report |
| Sharma, D <i>et al.</i> , 2018, USA ¹⁹⁸ | Perspective: USA payer Discount rate: 3% for costs and QALYs Cost year: 2016 | Markov state transition model with five health states and two transition states Model cycle = 1 year Time horizon = 10 years | 12 year old CF patients with homozygous <i>F508del</i> mutation | Intervention: LUM/IVA plus ECM Comparator: ECM comprised of antibiotics, pancreatic enzymes, aminoglycosides (inhaled tobramycin as well as intravenously administered aminoglycosides) and DNase | Data from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials informed changes in ppFEV1 and pulmonary exacerbations between the two treatment arms |
| Vadagam P <i>et al.</i> , 2018, USA ¹⁹⁹ | Perspective: USA health care payer Discount rate: 3% for costs and QALYs | Described as a static decision model Time horizon = 1 year | CF patients 12 years + with homozygous <i>F508del</i> mutation | Intervention: Lumacaftor/ivacaftor plus standard of care Comparator: ECM comprised of bronchodilators, inhaled antibiotics, mucolytics (dornase | Efficacy measured a change in ppFEV1 sourced from the TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials |



| | Cost year: 2016 | | | alfa, hypertonic saline), inhaled corticosteroid | |
|--------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------|---|--|
| Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor (| TEZ/IVA) | | | | |
| Scottish Medicines | Perspective: | individual patient state- | CF patients 12 | Intervention: | Treatment effectiveness was measured |
| Consortium (SMC), | Scottish National | transition microsimulation | years and older who | TEZ/IVA plus ECM. | through changes in ppFEV ₁ , PEs and weight |
| 2019b, Scotland ²⁰⁹ | Health Service | model - lifetime time horizon | are homozygous for | | for age z score (heterozygous population |
| | health system | | the F508del | Comparator: | only) |
| | | Model cycle = four weeks for | mutation or who are | ECM | |
| | Discount rate: | the first two years and annual | heterozygous for | | Data from the EVOLVE trial was used for |
| | N.R. | thereafter. | the F508del | | homozygous patients and the EXPAND trial |
| | | | mutation with | | for heterozygous patients |
| | Cost year: N.R. | | residual function | | |
| Pharmaceutical | Perspective: N.R. | Individual patient state- | CF patients 12 | Intervention: | Treatment effects based on Study 108. |
| Benefits Advisory | | transition microsimulation | years and older | TEZ/IVA plus ECM | Changes in treatment effect over time based |
| Committee | Discount rate: | model - lifetime time horizon | heterozygous for | | on extension study PROGRESS (LUM/IVA for |
| (PBACa), 2019, | N.R. | | the F508del | Comparator: | patients homozygous for the F508del |
| Australia ²⁰⁸ | | Model cycle = four weeks for | mutation with | ECM | mutation) and large longitudinal registry |
| | Cost year: N.R. | the first two years and annual | residual function | | analyses |
| | | thereafter. | | | |
| | | | | | |

Abbreviations: AE, Adverse events; ECM, Established clinical management; CADTH, Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; CDR, Common Drug Review; CF, Cystic Fibrosis; CFFPR, Cystic Fibrosis; CFFPR, Cystic Fibrosis; Foundation Patient Registry; CFTR, Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; ESC, Economics subcommittee; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; ICER, Institute for Clinical and Economic Review; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; MF, minimal function; NICE, National Institute of Care and Excellence; N.R., Not reported; ppFEV1, percent predicted forced expiry volume in one second; PBAC, Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee; PE, Pulmonary exacerbations; RF, residual function; SMC, Scottish Medicines Consortium; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, two *F508del* mutations



| | PBAC 2019a (TEZ/IVA) ²⁰⁸ | CDR 2018 (LUM/IVA) ²⁰¹ | CDR 2016 (LUM/IVA) ²⁰⁰ | NICE TA786 2016 (LUM/IVA) ²⁰² | CDR, 2022 ¹¹¹ ; CDR 2021 ²¹⁰ |
|-----------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--|
| | | | | | |
| ppFEV₁ | 0% decline in ppFEV1 relative to | 0% decline in ppFEV1 relative to | 0% decline in ppFEV1 relative to | mean absolute change in | 0% decline in ppFEV1 relative to |
| | ECM following the trial period, | ECM following the trial period, | ECM following the trial period, | ppFEV ₁ from baseline was | ECM following the trial period, |
| | i.e. decline assumed equal to | i.e. decline assumed equal to | i.e. decline assumed equal to | based on the 24-week time point | i.e. decline assumed equal to |
| | that of ECM instead of 42% | that of ECM instead of 42% | that of ECM instead of 42% | data alone rather than the | that of ECM |
| | applied by the Company | applied by the Company | applied by the Company | average of the 16-week and 24- | |
| | | | | week data | |
| Pulmonary | Assume 0% reduction in PE | Included the effect of ppFEV1% | Included the effect of ppFEV1% | N.C. | Assume PE rate ratio with |
| exacerbations | instead of 45% applied by the | on exacerbations but with no | on exacerbations but with no | | modulators vs ECM after acute |
| | Company (rate ratio 0.55) | additional relative | additional relative | | period is 1 |
| | | ECM | ECM | | |
| Drice reduction | 0% price reduction in drug cost | ECIVI | COV reduction in drug cost | NC | 0% price reduction in drug cost |
| Price reduction | following loss of evolusivity | instead of Company's assumed | instead of Company's assumed | N.C. | 6 following loss of evolusivity |
| | following loss of exclusivity | instead of Company's assumed | instead of Company's assumed | | following loss of exclusivity |
| T | NO | 82% | | | 4000/ |
| Ireatment | N.C. | N.C. | 100% compliance assumed | 96.5% Instead of the Company's | 100% compliance assumed |
| compliance | | | Instead of Company's 88%, | 90% | |
| | | | which reduces costs accordingly | | |
| Costs | N.C. | N.C. | N.C. | N.C. | Include disease management |
| | | | | | costs in period of survival |
| | | | | | benefit for patients on |
| | | | | | ELX/TEZ/IVA |
| | N.C. | N.C. | N.C. | N.C. | Equal inpatient and |
| | | | | | pharmacotherapy costs for both |
| | | | | | treatment arms |
| Other | N.C. | N.C. | N.C. | Discontinuation of LUM/IVA | No utility increment for patients |
| | | | | after the trial period (24 weeks) | on ELX/TEZ/IVA instead of |
| | | | | included | increment of 0.0785 applied by |
| | | | | | Company |

Table 51. Changes made to Company submission in HTA organisation re-analyses

Abbreviations: ECM, Established clinical management; CDR, Common Drug Review; CF, Cystic Fibrosis; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/ivacaftor; ICER, Institute for Clinical and Economic Review; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; NICE, National Institute of Care and Excellence; N.C., No change; ppFEV1, percent predicted forced expiry volume in one second; PBAC, Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee; PE, Pulmonary exacerbations; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor



4.1.3 Results – HRQoL searches

The electronic database searches identified 1,386 potential publications. Upon removal of duplicates, 1,029 publications were screened against the eligibility criteria at title and abstract stage. After title and abstract assessment, 927 records were excluded, leaving a remaining 103 records to be assessed at full text stage. As previously noted, Following the title and abstract review it was decided that as the number of full texts to examine exceeded 100 publications, the pragmatic decision was taken to limit to UK studies full text search to identify the most relevant papers for this appraisal. Of the remaining 103 records, 15 publications were included. One of these studies is an earlier version of another and therefore details were extracted of 14 individual publications. The PRISMA flow diagram presented in Figure 6 details the inclusion and exclusions of studies at each stage of the review.





Of the 14 included publications, three were based on HTA submissions, 10 were full-text publications, and one was an abstract which detailed all the required information. The three HTA submissions were NICE technology appraisals for colistimethate sodium powder and tobramycin powder (TA276)⁶⁵, lumacaftor and ivacaftor combination therapy (TA398)²⁰² and an NIHR HTA report for ivacaftor monotherapy.⁴³ Both the HTA reports for colistimethate sodium powder and tobramycin powder and ivacaftor monotherapy included alternative utility values from previous publications and therefore details were also extracted in Table 52.

Of the 14 included publications, 12 reported EQ-5D data of which four additionally reported CRQ-R or SF-36 data as well. The remaining studies reported only CFQ-R or SF-36 data.



Of the 14 publications, 10 reported heath state utility values (HSUVs) according to ppFEV₁, with these percentages generally being grouped into mild (>70%), moderate (40%–70%) and severe (<40%), with some overlap in percentage groupings and severity between publications. The HSUVs assigned to each health state varied considerably between publications; for example, those reported by Acaster *et al.* 2015^{214} describe a steady decline from a mild health state with a utility of 0.74 to a severe health state of 0.54, while those using the ivacaftor monotherapy and LUM/IVA clinical trials recorded utility from mild to severe of approximately 0.94 to 0.89, respectfully. Three of the studies devised health states according to occurrence and severity of pulmonary exacerbations.^{44, 215, 216} On further investigation into the relationship between ppFEV₁ and utility by Tappenden *et al.*²¹⁷ in 2013, it was suggested that only one paper by Johnson *et al.*²¹⁸ had attempted to examine whether a statistical association exists between FEV₁ and EQ-5D utility. This study identified that such a relationship may exist; however, the size of the coefficient was very small and described as unlikely to be clinically meaningful.

A summary of the 14 included publications (reporting 12 unique studies) are provided in Table 52 and detailed data extractions can be found in Appendix 9.6.2.

| Study | Author, Year | HSUV's used from | Country | Measure | HSUVs according to |
|-------|---|--|--|------------------|--|
| 1 | Acaster 2015 ²¹⁴ | Own study | UK | EQ-5D, CFQ-R | ppFEV ₁ severity |
| 2 | Acaster 2019/22 ^{219, 220} | Own study | UK | CFQ-R | Physical functioning, role functioning, emotion, vitality, breathing difficulty, cough, abdominal pain, body image. |
| 3 | Angelis 2015 ⁵² | Own study | UK | EQ-5D-5L, VAS | N/A |
| 4 | Bell 2013 ²²¹ | Own study | France, UK, Germany, Australia and Ireland | EQ-5D-5L | CF responsible mutation |
| 5 | Bradley 2013 ²¹⁵ | Own study | UK | EQ-5D, CFQ-R | Pulmonary exacerbations |
| 6 | Cameron 2021 ²¹⁶ (abstract only) | Own study | UK | EQ-5D-5L, TTO | Pulmonary exacerbations |
| 7 | Solem 2016 ⁴⁴ | Own study – Uses Ivacaftor clinical trial data | UK | EQ-5D-3L, VAS | ppFEV ₁ , pulmonary exacerbations severity and time from events |

Table 52. Publications identified in the health-related quality of life literature review



| 8 | NICE TA786 2016 (HTA) ²⁰² | TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT clinical trials | N. America, Australia, European Union | EQ-5D-3L, CFQ-R | ppFEV ₁ |
|--------------------------------------|---|---|---|-----------------------------------|---|
| 0 | Tappenden | Bradley 2013 | UK | EQ-5D | ppFEV ₁ (mapped from results of Bradley study) |
| ⁹ 2013 (HTA) ² | 2013 (HTA) ²¹⁷ | Stahl 2005 | Sweden | EQ-5D, SF-36 | ppFEV ₁ |
| 10 | Tappenden 2014 ²²² | Bradley 2013 | UK | EQ-5D | ppFEV ₁ |
| 11 | Tappenden 2017 ²²³ | Bradley 2013 | UK | EQ-5D | ppFEV ₁ |
| 12 | Tappenden 2023 ²²⁴ | Wildman 2021 | UK | EQ-5D-5L mapped to EQ-5D-3L | ppFEV1 |
| 13 | Whiting 2014 (HTA) ⁴³ | Ivacaftor clinical trial | UK | EQ-5D | ppFEV ₁ |
| | | Gee 2002 | UK | SF-36 | Disease severity |
| 14 | Wildman 2021 ²²⁵ | Own study | UK | EQ-5D-5L | ppFEV ₁ |

Abbreviations: CFQ-R, Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire Revised; EQ-5D, EuroQol 5 Dimensions; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; HRQoL, health-related quality of life; HUI, health utilities index; SF-6D, short-form 6-dimension; SF-36, 36-item short-form health survey; TTO, time trade-off; UK; United Kingdom; VAS, visual analogue scale

4.1.4 Assessment of the Company's submission

In addition to the cost-effectiveness studies identified during the systematic review, the EAG also reviewed the economic models submitted as part of the Company submission. This is discussed in more detail below.

Interventions and comparators

The Company submitted three separate models for the treatments included in the MTA. No full incremental analysis was undertaken by the Company to compare treatments to each other. Treatments were instead each compared against ECM with the addition of ivacaftor monotherapy as a comparator for ELX/TEZ/IVA for patients with F/Gating mutation. This was not included as a comparator in the NICE final scope. The individual treatments used in ECM were not explicitly outlined and are applied in the model based on non-PE related disease management costs only.

Model structure



The three models used an individual patient simulation model, following the same structure as those previously mentioned in Section 4.1.2, based on a Cox proportional hazards (CPH) survival model published by Liou et al. 2001.¹⁷² A patient's initial risk of death, referred to as the reference survival curve, is based on an age specific mortality hazard estimated from UK CF Registry data from 1985-2008, with a Weibull model fit to pooled Kaplan-Meier survival data by the Company. The median survival predicted by the Weibull model was **and the set of the EAG** highlighted that standard care for CF patients, and in turn survival, has improved within the last decade, even prior to the introduction of CFTR modulators. UK CF Registry data shows that in 2013-17, prior to the use of any CFTR modulators, median survival was 47.0 years.²²⁶ The EAG therefore considers that the data used to represent background mortality for CF patients in the Company's models is out of date and does not accurately represent standard of care in the UK without CFTR modulators. The Liou et al. 2001¹⁷² survival model was developed based on an analysis of CF patients between the ages of 5.5 to 71 in the United States Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry (US CFFPR) between 1993–1998. The purpose of this study was to predict 5-year survival in CF patients based on patient characteristics, whereas the model has been used by the Company to measure the impact of changes in these characteristics over time on survival. The Company notes that although this model was based on historical data, a re-analysis was published by Liou and colleagues in 2020²²⁷ based on US CFFPR data from 1993–2016 that concluded that despite some changes in the coefficients of the model, the original coefficients were still found to be predictive of survival. The main difference found in the updated study is that the intercept of the logistic regression model is higher than in the original model, representing an improvement in overall survival of the population, which may result in the original model predicting survival probabilities that are too low when applied to more recent cohorts. The updated coefficients were not published for the Cox proportional hazards model, only the logistic regression, therefore these were not able to be updated in the Company's model.

Models for ELX/TEZ/IVA and TEZ/IVA include patients aged ≥ 6 years and LUM/IVA includes patients ≥ 2 years, based on the stated indications in the marketing authorisations for each treatment.²²⁸⁻²³⁰ However, in the 2–5 age group for LUM/IVA, only age and discontinuation rates are tracked during this time period as ppFEV₁ is not used as a clinical measure in younger children. Clinical experts to the EAG confirmed that this was the case in clinical practice as spirometry is not used in these age groups and therefore measurement of ppFEV₁ is unavailable.

Treatment effectiveness

BMJ TAG
Treatment effectiveness was taken from the main trials for each treatment for the corresponding genotypes, with ITCs undertaken for the ELX/TEZ/IVA model (F/F age 6–11 and 12+; F/Gating age 12+; F/RF age 12+) to obtain placebo adjusted estimates (described in further detail in Section 3.2.2.1). When estimates were not available from trials, assumptions were made regarding equivalent treatment effectiveness compared to older age groups or alternative genotypes. In cases where no ITCs were possible, EAG's clinical experts suggested it is reasonable to assume equivalence between CFTRm efficacy between genotypes.

Long term decline in ppFEV₁ for the ECM group is based on a retrospective cohort study of patients from the US CFFPR.³ This study compared annual rates of ppFEV₁ decline over 2-year periods between F/F and F/RF genotype patients. Different rates of decline in ppFEV₁ from this study for age groups 6–12, 13–17, 18–24 and 25+ are applied in the models. This assumed that for patients who remain alive past 25 years, there is an annual linear decline in ppFEV₁ of –1.86 for F/F, F/MF and F/Gating patients, and –1.06 for F/RF patients. Clinical experts to the EAG suggested that after age 30 the rate of decline tends to slow and therefore a linear decline in ppFEV₁ may be inappropriate.

The long-term effect of CFTR modulators is applied as a percent reduction of the rate of decline of ECM patients. For ELX/TEZ/IVA, this was 100% reduction in annual rate of decline (i.e., no change over time) based on a *post hoc* analysis of the long-term extension study.²³¹ The EAG notes that the data used to inform this figure from the long-term extension study is likely to be confounded with the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as clinical experts to the EAG suggested that shielding is likely to be responsible for improving/maintaining patient lung function during this time period, as was seen in clinical practice for patients on both ECM and CFTR modulators. Clinical experts also commented that no decline over time in ppFEV₁ is implausible as even healthy non-CF patients will experience a decline with age. However, it was suggested by one clinical expert that if ELX/TEZ/IVA is initiated in earlier age groups (age 2 or below), prior to established lung damage, then it may be plausible that ppFEV₁ decline could be comparable to healthy non-CF patients.

For LUM/IVA, the long term ppFEV₁ decline was assumed to be 42% of the rate of decline for ECM based on propensity score matching patients from the TRAFFIC²¹² and TRANSPORT²¹³ trials, and the PROGRESS extension study to the US CFFPR. For TEZ/IVA, it was assumed to be 61.5% of the rate of decline for ECM based on propensity score matching patients from the EVOLVE and EXTEND trials to the US CFFPR. All studies assumed equal rate of decline for those age 6–11 based on data from patients 12+.

PEs which required antibiotics or hospitalisations are included in the model based on a relationship between ppFEV₁ and PE derived from the US CFFPR. A treatment effect of CFTR modulators is only applied for patients age 12+ as the Company state that trials were either not powered to detect a change in PEs in younger age groups or did not collect it as an efficacy outcome. This is deemed a conservative assumption. The treatment effect on PEs for patients aged 12+ is applied through a rate ratio derived in key trials and calibrating for the PEs experienced on CFTRm treatment relative to ECM that accounts for the acute improvement in ppFEV₁ seen in the key trials. This is done in order to avoid double counting the impact on ppFEV₁ and PEs. This calibrated rate, however, was applied for the lifetime of model. The EAG notes that the treatment effect for ELX/TEZ/IVA may also suffer from confounding due to COVID-19 as noted for ppFEV₁. As PEs are measured as a function of age and ppFEV₁ in the Company's model, this means that no PEs are assumed to occur in patients aged <6 as ppFEV₁ is not tracked in patients aged <6.

Compliance and discontinuations

The Company's models assumed varying compliance rates across the treatments and genotype groups, ranging from for the trial duration period. In the post-trial period, a compliance rate of 80% is applied to all modulator treatments for all age groups based on a US admin claims study. This was implemented through a reduction in costs only and no change in treatment effectiveness is applied. The EAG notes that, although the compliance rate in clinical practice may be lower than that observed in the trials, if treatment efficacy is not being adjusted then the same source for compliance and treatment effectiveness should be applied in the model. Discontinuation rates were taken from the key trials and extension studies. Upon discontinuation patients receive the decline in ppFEV₁ for ECM, however they retain the acute increase in ppFEV₁. Beyond the time period of the extension study for each treatment no further discontinuations were assumed to apply. Clinical experts to the EAG suggested that they still see discontinuations in the longer term due to abnormal liver function tests, bowel function, and hair loss. It was also noted that some patients have discontinued for reasons linked to mental health although it is difficult to establish if this is treatment related.

HRQoL

The Company's models applied health state utilities stratified by $ppFEV_1$ grouping (<40, 40–70, >70). These utility values were based on



The EAG notes that this is a departure from the NICE Reference Case.²³² The Company stated that a disease specific preference measure was used as the EQ-5D failed to adequately capture meaningful differences in lung function, measured by ppFEV₁ in the ivacaftor monotherapy and LUM/IVA trials, which were the only modulator trials to collect EQ-5D data. In addition, the Company state that the high EQ-5D values observed at baseline in the ivacaftor monotherapy and LUM/IVA trial are above that of general population norms for the UK and suggest a ceiling effects in the EQ-5D, reflecting a patient's adaptation to a chronic condition. The EAG notes that a mapping algorithm is available from the CFQ-R to EQ-5D; however only six of the CFTR modulator trials measured scores on all three scales included in the measure, with the remaining studies only reporting the CFQ-R Respiratory domain.

Conclusions

The Company's model makes a number of deviations from the NICE Reference Case²³² including the use of a 1.5% discount rate for health outcomes and the use of non EQ-5D generated utility values. The EAG also notes a number of assumptions made that may be inappropriate or lack clinical validity. Due to these reasons, and a lack of full incremental analysis undertaken by the Company, the EAG undertook an independent analysis of the three included treatments.

4.2 Independent economic assessment

4.2.1 Methods

The systematic review of previously published cost-effectiveness analyses and the Company submission identified that there are no studies which compare all three interventions included within the scope of this appraisal (elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor, lumacaftor/ivacaftor and tezacaftor/ivacaftor) for the treatment of people with cystic fibrosis (CF) with at least one *F508del* mutation. As such, the EAG developed a *de novo* model that incorporated all three interventions included in the NICE final scope,¹⁰⁰ detailed below.

4.2.1.1 Population(s)

As described in Section 2.1, the population relevant to this MTA is people with CF with at least one *F508del* mutation. Analyses conducted are based on the genotype eligibility criteria specified in the current and expected marketing authorisation for each CFTR modulator combination therapy.²³³⁻²³⁵

Hence, the populations considered for this appraisal are:

- People with CF who are homozygous for the *F508del* mutation;²³³⁻²³⁵
 - This population is relevant for all three combination therapies and established clinical management (ECM).
- People with CF who are heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation and a residual function mutation or a gating mutation in the *CFTR* gene.
 - The subgroup of people with CF who are heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation and a residual function mutation is relevant for TEZ/IVA,²³⁴ ELX/TEZ/IVA²³⁵ and ECM, only.
 - The subgroup of people with CF who are heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation and a gating mutation is relevant for ELX/TEZ/IVA and ECM, only.²³⁵

The age patients are eligible to start treatment differs among the three modulator treatments and between genotypes, based on the current and expected marketing authorisation. Section 4.2.1.4 provides further detail on the interventions and the proposed analyses based on age for the cost-effectiveness analyses.

4.2.1.2 Model structure

The EAG developed a patient level microsimulation model which largely followed the structure of the models submitted in the Company submission and used in the previous NICE appraisal for LUM/IVA (TA786),²⁰² with amendments made where the original assumptions or parameters used were deemed inappropriate (to be discussed in upcoming sections). This is also the same model structure used by ICER in their independent assessments of CFTR modulators^{195, 196} and re-analyses of the Company submissions produced by CADTH^{111, 200, 201, 210} and PBAC,²⁰⁸ as described earlier in Section 4.1.2. The EAG explored the use of alternative model structures during the model conceptualisation stage such as a cohort Markov model. However, due to consideration of the following points, it was decided that an individual simulation model was most appropriate to accurately reflect the average costs and benefits of the included treatments within this appraisal:

 The model population, consisting of both adults and children, includes patients with heterogenous characteristics, such as age, body mass index (BMI) and pancreatic sufficiency, which are expected to have a non-linear relationship with model outcomes and therefore a cohort model using average patient characteristics may result in biased estimates of the average outcomes of the CF population to be modelled.

- ppFEV₁ used to measure lung function in CF patients (over the age of 6) is a continuous variable and the use of a cohort Markov state-transition model would require an arbitrary categorisation of the variable to produce defined health states. An individual simulation model allows the impact of all changes in disease progression measured through ppFEV₁ to be more accurately captured.
- Previous pulmonary exacerbations are expected to influence both the risk of future exacerbations and survival. A Markov state-transition model would likely require the use of tunnel states in order to incorporate patient history, which may become inefficient.
- A patient simulation model is able to incorporate the correlation between baseline characteristics over time, e.g. ppFEV₁ and exacerbations are not independent of each other, and the joint distribution changing over time. This would be challenging to implement in a Markov model resulting in a much more complex structure than modelling individual patients.

Due to the reasons described above, the EAG felt that to most accurately capture the heterogenous population being modelled and incorporate patient history, an individual simulation model was most appropriate.

A Cox proportional hazards model developed by Liou *et al.* 2001¹⁷² is used to predict patient survival based on nine individual characteristics (age, sex, weight-for-age z score, ppFEV₁, number of pulmonary exacerbations, *Staphylococcus aureus* infection, *Burkholderia cepacia* infection, pancreatic sufficiency status and CF-related diabetes status [CFRD]). A patient's mortality hazard is updated in each model cycle to reflect changes in the following risk factors included in the Cox proportional hazards function: age, weight-for-age z score, ppFEV₁, number of pulmonary exacerbations, and development of CF-related diabetes. The remaining four characteristics do not change through the model lifetime and are set at baseline.

As discussed in Section 4.1.4, the Liou *et al.*¹⁷² model was developed based on a USA cohort and the Company does not appear to have searched for any alternative models relative to the UK. In order to identify if a more relevant model to the UK was available, the EAG ran a targeted search for survival prediction models for the UK and identified Keogh *et al.* 2019.¹⁷¹ This paper used a dynamic prediction model for survival in CF patients based on UK CF Registry data from 2005–2015 of

patients aged 18 and above. After a review of the paper, the EAG deemed it inappropriate to use these data to predict patient survival in the population of interest for this appraisal, which includes children, as the Keogh *et al.* 2019¹⁷¹ prediction model has not been validated in younger age groups. Despite the Liou *et al.* 2001¹⁷² model being based on a USA dataset, clinical experts to the EAG suggested that they do not expect to see large differences between the patient populations. Therefore, despite the limitations of Liou *et al.* 2001,¹⁷² as mentioned in Section 4.1.4, the EAG deemed it the best available approach at the time of this appraisal to model CF survival based on individual patients characteristics.

The Cox proportional hazards model is applied to a reference survival curve in the first model cycle to represent mortality for CF patients in the UK, without the use of modulator treatments, reflective of ECM. As discussed in Section 4.1.4, the EAG deemed the reference survival curve used by the Company to be out of date and unreflective of the latest available data on CF survival pre-modulator treatments in the UK. The EAG therefore conducted a targeted search and identified a study conducted by Keogh *et al.* 2018,²³⁶ which used UK CF Registry data from 2011–2015 to provide estimates of survival for CF patients. This study includes survival predictions for patients who are both homozygous and heterozygous for the *F508del* mutation. The EAG notes how these survival estimates will not be impacted by the introduction of ivacaftor monotherapy within the UK as this was not available for the genotypes included in this appraisal at the time of the analyses. As such, the EAG considers this to be the most up to date and relevant representation of CF population average survival for patients in the UK on ECM without modulator treatment.

The steps below detail the flow of patients in the simulation model, conducted for each comparator. The model uses a monthly cycle length for the first two years and annual after this time point.

- Based on the relevant trial data, patient characteristics are defined for each individual.
- An age specific mortality hazard is assigned to the patient taken from the reference population survival curves from Keogh *et al.* 2018²³⁶ in the first model cycle, based on patient starting age.
- Patient characteristics for age, ppFEV₁, PEs, weight-for-age z score and CFRD status in each model cycle are updated. All other characteristics are assumed to remain the same. The treatment effect of CFTR modulators is captured in the model through changes in patients' weight-for-age z score, ppFEV₁ and rate of PEs.

- Changes in patient characteristics since the previous model cycle are incorporated into the Liou *et al.* 2001¹⁷² Cox proportional hazards model, which is used to update the hazard of death.
- Costs and utilities are assigned to each patient in each cycle.
- This process is repeated in each model cycle either until a patient discontinues CFTR modulator treatment (and therefore receives ECM only), has a lung transplant (and receives post lung transplant costs/utilities and risk of death for remaining cycles) or until a patient dies whereby the next patient is then simulated. Total costs and QALYs per patients are calculated.
- Each individual simulated patient is duplicated across every treatment arm of the model and steps 1-6 repeated.
- Average total costs and QALYs are calculated for each treatment arm.

As discussed, patient level models have the advantage of being able to easily incorporate patient heterogeneity over cohort-based models. However, they commonly have significantly longer run times, which is particularly evident in Microsoft Excel[®]. Therefore, in line with ISPOR good research practice for simulation models,²³⁷ to reduce variance and the number of model runs required, the EAG ensured each population modelled for each treatment was identical through the use of common random numbers. The EAG tested the stability of results by comparing the average cumulative ICERs for each treatment compared to ECM when the model was ran with different numbers of patients.

Stability for ELX/TEZ/IVA and TEZ/IVA was considered achieved with a smaller number of patients (~1000 and 1500, respectively) compared to LUM/IVA (2000). This was due to the EAG's efficacy estimates for LUM/IVA being similar to ECM in the long-term, and therefore the likelihood of mortality for individual patients was largely driven by random-number assignment rather than efficacy differences. In the EAG's base-case analysis, beyond the trial period duration, LUM/IVA has the same long term ppFEV₁ decline as patients on ECM, therefore resulting in LUM/IVA and ECM having similar model outputs over a lifetime (see 4.2.1.6.2). When the EAG tested this by applying a long-term treatment effect for LUM/IVA relative to ECM, the model stabilised with a smaller number of patients. As noted in NICE TSD 15,²³⁸ a greater number of patients may be required if similar treatments are compared. 2000 patients were ran in the model base-case.



Figure 7. Individual simulation model diagram

BMJ TAG



Abbreviations: BL, baseline; CFRD, cystic fibrosis related diabetes; ECM, established clinical management, LT, long-term; PE, pulmonary exacerbation; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; panc suff, pancreaitc sufficiency status; WFAZ, weight-for-age z score

PAGE 188

4.2.1.3 Time horizon, perspective and discounting

The time horizon of the model is lifetime (up to a maximum age of 100 years). The perspective of the analysis is the NHS and Personal Social Service (PSS) in England. Costs and QALYs have been discounted at 3.5%, as per the NICE reference case.²³⁹

4.2.1.4 Interventions and comparators

The interventions of interest as part of this MTA are LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA. All three interventions are combined with ECM. As noted in Section 4.2.1.1, the three interventions have marketing authorisation in different CF genotypes and age groups.

In order to compare the modulators against each other and undertake incremental analyses, they must be analysed within common populations. Therefore, the EAG analyses are separated based on genotype, detailed below and shown in Figure 8.

1. F/F population: ECM vs LUM/IVA vs ELX/TEZ/IVA vs TEZ/IVA. Patients will receive LUM/IVA from age 1, in line with the most recent marketing authorisation. In the ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment arm, patients aged 1-2 will receive ECM before switching to ELX/TEZ/IVA aged 2, based on expected marketing authorisation. In the TEZ/IVA treatment arm, patients aged 1–5 will receive ECM before switching to TEZ/IVA aged 6;

2. F/MF population: ECM vs ELX/TEZ/IVA for all patients aged 2+. Patients aged 1–2 are not included in this analysis;

3. F/Gating population: ECM vs ELX/TEZ/IVA for all patients aged 2+. Patients aged 1–2 are not included in this analysis;

4. F/RF population: ECM vs ELX/TEZ/IVA vs TEZ/IVA. In the TEZ/IVA treatment arm, patients aged 2–5 will receive ECM before switching to TEZ/IVA aged 6.



Figure 8. Main EAG analyses based on genotype

| | 1 year | 2 years | 6 years | 12 years+ |
|----------------------------------|---------|-------------|---------|-----------|
| F508del homozygous (F/F) | LUM/IV/ | A | | |
| 54.28% | ECM | ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| | ECM | | TEZ/IVA | |
| | ECM | | | |
| | | | | |
| F508del/Minimal function (F/MF) | | ECM | | |
| 28.96% | | ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| | | , | | |
| F508del/Gating (F/gating) | | ECM | | |
| 10.57% | | ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| | | , | | |
| F508del/Residual function (F/RF) | | ECM | | |
| 6.19% | | ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| | | ECM | TEZ/IVA | |

indicates that this age group is not modelled in these analysis

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; ECM, established clinical management

ECM consists of a range of different therapies used to treat CF symptoms and symptoms associated with CF treatments, coordinated by a multidisciplinary team. The treatments used as part of ECM for CF patients can differ depending on lung function and co-morbidities, as described in Section 1.2.1.

4.2.1.5 Patient characteristics

The individual simulation model requires patient profiles that include data on the characteristics included in the Cox proportional hazards model used to estimate mortality, as described in Section 4.2.1.2. Individual baseline characteristics are sourced from either patient level trial data, assumptions or population data from the UK CF Registry, described in detail below. In addition, data are required on how those characteristics change over time, in the absence of CFTR modulators. For patients on ECM, only their age, ppFEV₁, pulmonary exacerbations and CFRD status changes within the model lifetime. Further details on the data sources and assumptions used for these variables are described below, excluding age, as this is updated in line with each model cycle.

4.2.1.5.1 Baseline characteristics

Patients' pancreatic sufficiency status is only included from the trials for patients with a F/RF or F/Gating mutation, with patients who are F/F or F/MF assumed to be pancreatic insufficient. Data was not available on changes in pancreatic sufficiency status overtime and so was assumed not to change over the model duration and therefore does not contribute to the risk of mortality. The EAG considers that this is likely a conservative assumption. Respiratory infections are also assumed not to



change over the model duration due to incidence data not being available to inform these changes and therefore do not impact on the mortality hazard equation. Assuming respiratory infections do not change over the patient's lifetime could be considered as a conservative approach as CFTR modulators have been shown to reduce respiratory infections in CF patients.

Patient's CFRD status at baseline was assumed to equal to that of the age-specific prevalence rate reported in the CF Registry Report 2021.¹ Data is only reported for patients aged 10–15 and \geq 16, therefore the rates for age 10–15 were applied for patients aged 6–15. The 8.3% of patients in the model aged 6–15 at baseline are randomly assigned as having CFRD, while 35.2% of patients aged \geq 16 are assigned as having CFRD. As this parameter is randomly assigned to patients, it assumes that CFRD it not related to other patient characteristics that are included in the model. All patients aged <6 are assumed not to have CFRD. Clinical advisers to the EAG noted that it is possible for patients <6 to have CFRD and there is evidence of impaired blood sugar control in younger age groups. However, younger patients are not screened for CFRD and therefore prevalence rates are not available.

Patients aged ≥6

Patient's aged ≥6 baseline data on age, sex, weight-for-age z score and ppFEV₁ were sourced from the various genotype-specific CFTR modulator trials (see Table 53), using the same approach and patient data as that employed by the Company. Patient data were only used from trials where patients had not previously been treated with a CFTR modulator or had undergone a washout period prior to patient screening. As patients with F/Gating mutations in the ELX/TEZ/IVA trials had received either ivacaftor monotherapy or TEZ/IVA previously, and were therefore not CFTR modulator naïve, patient profiles were taken from the ivacaftor monotherapy trials.

When the age distribution of patients for each genotype from the trial data was not reflective of that in the UK population, based on data from the CF registry 2018,²⁴⁰ a weighted population was created by the Company and used by the EAG. Data used to inform this is shown in Appendix 9.8. This involved either oversampling or undersampling patients in particular age groups to ensure that the patient profiles included in the model from the trials was representative of the UK population.

Table 53 below details the patient numbers and details used in the model for patients aged ≥ 6 for each genotype.

| Genotype | CTFR modulator trial used | Trial name | Patient ages | Patient numbers from trial | Total patient numbers included in the model post re-weighting |
|----------|---------------------------------|--|--------------|----------------------------------|--|
| F/F | TEZ/IVA | 661-106 (EVOLVE) | ≥12 | 503 | - |
| | LUM/IVA | 809-103 and 809-104 (TRAFFIC/TRANSPORT | ≥12 | 1,097 | - |
| | LUM/IVA | 809-011B and 809-109 | 6–11 | 257 | - |
| | TEZ/IVA | 661-113 and 661-115 (EMBRACE) - subset of patients with F/F only | 6–11 | 113 | - |
| | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 445-106 - subset of patients with F/F only | 6–11 | 28 | - |
| | | | | 1,998 | 2,019 |
| F/MF | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 445-102 | ≥12 | 403 | - |
| | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 445-106 - subset of patients with F/MF only | 6–11 | 39 | - |
| | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 445-116 | 6–11 | 121 | - |
| | | | | 563 | 780 |
| F/RF | TEZ/IVA | 661-108 (EVOLVE) | ≥12 | 244 | - |
| | TEZ/IVA | 661-113 and 661-115 (EMBRACE) - subset of patients with RF/F only | 6–11 | 24 | - |
| | | | | 268 | 289 |
| F/Gating | lvacaftor monotherapy | 770-102 (STRIVE) – patients with <i>G551D</i> mutation | ≥12 | 161 | - |
| | lvacaftor monotherapy | 770-103 (ENVISION) - patients with <i>G551D</i> mutation | 6–11 | 52 | - |
| | lvacaftor monotherapy | 770-111 (KONNECTION) - patients with a non- <i>G551D</i> mutation | ≥6 | 39 | - |
| | lvacaftor monotherapy | 770-110 (KONDUCT) - patients with a <i>R117H</i> mutation | ≥6 | 69 | - |
| | | | | 321 | 417 |

Table 53. Details of patients used from key CFTR modulator trials in the economic model



Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function

Patients aged <6

The model uses correlated patient characteristics from the trials (sex, weight-for-age z score and $ppFEV_1$). However, $ppFEV_1$ is not a measure that is obtained in clinical practice in patients aged <6, as spirometry is not used in this age group. Therefore, no baseline values of ppFEV₁, a key parameter in the survival model, are available from the trial data for this age group. In order to maintain the correlation between a patient's characteristics and have a value of $ppFEV_1$ available for patients aged 1–5 once they turn age 6, patient profiles of those aged 6–9 from each genotype were sampled to create a cohort of patients aged <6. To calculate the number of patients required in each genotype, the proportion of CF patients aged 2-5 for genotypes RF, MF and Gating (9.28%) and 1-5 for F/F genotype (11.98%) was sourced from the CF Registry 2021 by digitising the population pyramid (Figure 1.3, CF Registry Report 2021).¹ The number of patients aged 2–5 required for each genotype was greater than the total number of patients aged 6–9 for each genotype. Hence, in order to generate patients for the 2–5 age group, all patients aged 6–9 were used and additional patients aged 6–9 for each genotype were randomly sampled without replacement until the required number achieved. This method ensured that patients were not resampled more than once unless absolutely necessary. Sampled patients were then randomly assigned an age. Although using patients aged 6 only to sample from may have been more representative of patients aged 1–5, this would have greatly limited the total number of patients available to sample and resulted in many patients being resampled numerous times, therefore limiting the variability between patients. It is important to capture this variability due to the heterogenous patient characteristics in the CF population.

| | F/F | F/MF | F/RF | F/Gating |
|---|-----|------|------|----------|
| Ages included | 1–5 | 2–5 | 2–5 | 2–5 |
| Total number of patients needed to be added | 267 | 80 | 30 | 43 |
| Abbreviations: F/F, F508de/ homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function | | | | |

| Tahle | 54 I | Number | of natients | $a\sigma ed < 6$ | added to | total na | tient cohort | è. |
|-------|-------|---------|-------------|------------------|----------|----------|--------------|----|
| Idule | J4. I | vuinper | UI Datients | | auueu lu | | | ь. |

4.2.1.5.2 ppFEV₁

Once the model has reached the time point equal to the length of trial period from which treatment effectiveness data is taken (see Section 4.2.1.6), patients' $ppFEV_1$ begins to decline. The EAG agrees with the Company that it is correct to model a long-term decline in ppFEV₁ related to a patient's age. The Company applied a linear annual rate of decline in ppFEV₁, separated by genotype (RF versus all remaining) and stratified by four age groups (6-12; 13-17; 18-24 and 25+) taken from Sawicki $2022.^3$ This assumes that the same annual rate of decline for patients aged ≥ 25 , equal to -1.06 for F/RF genotype and -1.86 for all remaining genotypes, is applied for the remainder of a patient's lifetime. In the Company's model, this results in patients on ECM reaching a ppFEV₁ of 15 around age 40–50, if remaining alive/not receiving a lung transplant. Clinical advisors to the EAG noted how the rate of decline in $ppFEV_1$ slows over time and the linear decline after age 30 may be slower than that suggested by the Company's approach. The EAG ran a targeted literature search for studies reporting decline in ppFEV₁ over time in CF patients. A study¹⁷ was identified reporting on the different methodologies used to model the decline in ppFEV₁ and how these can produce inconsistent results. The study applied both linear and non-linear models to CF patients aged >6 years from the USA CFFPR, between the years 2003–2016. The best fitting model was a non-linear, stochastic mixed effects model. The study provided curves of the rate of change in ppFEV₁ against age, for the overall CF population (Figure 10) and the homozygous genotype only (Figure 9), which were digitised by the EAG using Engauge Digistizer,²⁴¹ to produce an estimate of annual ppFEV₁ rate of change for ages 6–75 to apply in the EAG's model. The EAG applied the digitised values from the F508del homozygous population for the F/F, F/MF and F/Gating mutations in the model. As evidence has shown that the F/RF group have a slower rate of decline due to a milder form of disease, the digitised values from the overall CF population was applied rather than the homozygous for the F/RF population. A cap is also applied in the model for the F/RF group to ensure that if the value from the applied digitised curve is lower than the value from the Sawicki 2022³ linear model in the F/RF genotype at a particular age, then the rate of decline from the linear model for the F/RF genotype is applied instead.



Figure 9. ppFEV₁ rate of change for *F508del* homozygous population. Reproduced from Szczesniak *et al.* 2023, Figure 5.



Figure 9 above is reproduced from Szczesniak *et al.* 2023, Figure 5, which graphs the output of the non-linear stochastic mixed-effects model. Figure B, short dashed line curve which represents the homozygous *F508del* population was digitised by the EAG.

Figure 10. Population level ppFEV₁ rate of change for CF patients. Reproduced from Szczesniak *et al.* 2023, Figure 2



Figure 10 above is reproduced from Szczesniak *et al.* 2023, Figure 2, which graphs the output of the non-linear stochastic mixed-effects model. Figure D, stochastic model curve (circle symbol with solid line was digitised by the EAG.



4.2.1.5.3 Pulmonary exacerbations

The Cox proportional hazards model includes PEs that require hospitalisations or IV antibiotics. PEs are included in the model as a function of age and ppFEV₁. This is based on the formula derived by Whiting *et al.* ⁴³ in the ivacaftor monotherapy HTA which estimated the association between average annual PE rate and average ppFEV₁ for patients aged <18 and aged ≥18, shown below. This was based on data from the US CFFPR 2004 published in Goss *et al.*²⁴² The equation for <18s is applied to patients aged 6–18 only. PEs are assumed not to occur in patients aged <6. While clinical experts to the EAG considered that all patients are at risk of PEs, the EAG did not include PEs in patients aged <6. This is because the formula used to estimate PE is based on ppFEV1 and age, and ppFEV1 is not measured in clinical practice in younger patients (i.e. those <6). This is a similar assumption used in the Company's model.

Average annual PE rate in patients aged 6 to $<18 = 8.5938 \times exp(-0.035 \times ppFEV_1)$

Average annual PE rate in patients aged $\geq 18 = 3.7885 \times exp(-0.026 \times ppFEV_1)$

4.2.1.5.4 CFRD status

Patients aged ≥ 6 who do not have CFRD at baseline are at risk of developing it over the lifetime of the model. The probability of a patient developing CFRD is based on incidence rates by age and sex, derived from a longitudinal study of the UK CF Registry data from 1996–2005²⁴³, shown in Table 55. The EAG notes that this is historical data and the incidence of CFRD may have changed since this time period. Comparison of UK CF Registry data from 2009 reported that 3.3% of patients aged <16 and 26.8% of patients ≥ 16 were on treatment for CFRD compared to 8.3% and 35.5%, respectively, in 2021. This suggests that the incidence of CFRD may have increased from 2009 to 2021; however due to a lack of incidence data by age groups for the UK identified by the EAG, the older data was used. The EAG does not expect that this will have a large impact on the ICER.

Table 55. Annual incidence of CFRD by age group and sex

| Age group | Male | Female |
|-----------|-------|--------|
| 6–9 | 0.008 | 0.016 |
| 10–19 | 0.039 | 0.060 |



| 20–29 | 0.049 | 0.071 |
|--------|-------|-------|
| 30–39 | 0.065 | 0.072 |
| 40–100 | 0.051 | 0.029 |

4.2.1.6 Treatment effectiveness

In the economic model, CFTR modulators are assumed to have a treatment effect on a patient's lung function, measured via ppFEV₁, number of PEs and weight-for-age z score. This may be considered a conservative assumption as some evidence has shown that CFTR modulators can also reduce the number of respiratory infections and development of CFRD or pancreatic insufficiency, if initiated at an early age. The initial treatment effect is applied for the duration of the trial period from which the efficacy data was sourced, referred to as the acute period. When relevant head-to-head data from randomised-controlled trial data were available, the EAG used effectiveness data sourced from the relevant trial. When these were not available, the results from the EAGs network meta-analysis (NMAs), described in Section 3.2.2.4. were used, along with assumptions when required. Details on the treatment effects applied for the key clinical inputs are detailed below.

4.2.1.6.1 Acute change in ppFEV₁

4.2.1.6.1.1 Age 1–5

As previously noted, patients aged <6 do not have measures of ppFEV₁ available as this is not measured in clinical practice. Therefore, patients in the model aged 1–5 have had patient profiles assigned, sampled from patients aged 6–9, including a measure of ppFEV₁ at baseline. An acute increase in ppFEV₁ for patients aged 1–5 is applied as soon as patients initiate treatment. This increase is assumed to be equal to that of patients aged 6–11, sourced from the clinical trials or NMA data for the relevant genotype (see 4.2.1.6.1.2 for details). Although ppFEV₁ would not be measured in clinical practice for patients in this age group, applying this acute increase reflects the improvement in lung function that patients may experience from initiating treatment at younger ages and avoided decline. No decline in ppFEV₁ is applied for patients until age 6 and the impact of any changes in ppFEV₁ is not implemented in the Cox proportional hazards model for mortality until patients are aged 6.

4.2.1.6.1.2 Age 6–11

The EAG model inputs for the acute increase in ppFEV₁ due to CFTR modulator treatment are shown in Table 56. These are in line with the EAG preferred data sources on clinical effectiveness discussed in detail in Section 3.2.2. An overview of the data used for different genotypes are treatments is described below:

- For the F/F genotype, increases in ppFEV₁ were taken from a placebo-controlled RCT for LUM/IVA, and from single-armed trials for ELX/TEZ/IVA and TEZ/IVA, see Section 3.2.2 Table 21, Table 24, and Table 30 for further detail.
- For F/MF genotype, the EAG applied the values observed in the placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA, in line with the Company model.
- Direct trial evidence for ELX/TEZ/IVA was not available in the F/Gating population. The EAG assumed an equivalent treatment effect as observed in the F/MF population, which the EAG clinical experts considered reasonable.
- Due to a lack of direct trial evidence for ELX/TEZ/IVA in F/RF population, as described in Section 3.2.2.5.6, the EAG multiplied the treatment effect observed in the F/RF 12+ population by _____, the relative reduction observed in the F/MF trial data between 6 to 11 years and 12+ years. For F/RF patients receiving TEZ/IVA, data was used from the single arm estimate of the Phase 3 RCT of TEZ/IVA in children aged 6 to 11.

| CFTR modulator treatment | Acute increase in ppFEV1 (95% CI) | Acute period duration (weeks) | Data source |
|--------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------------|--|
| F/F genotype | | | |
| LUM/IVA | 2.4 (0.4 to 4.4) | 24 | Ratjen 2017 (VX14-809- 109) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of LUM/IVA |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 11.2 (7.2 to 15.2) | 24 | Taken from single-arm estimate of Zemanick 2022 |
| TEZ/IVA | 2.8 (1.0 to 4.6) | 24* | Taken from single-arm estimate of Davies 2021 |
| F/MF genotype | | | |

Table 56. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in $ppFEV_1$ for patients 6–11. Values also applied to patients aged <6

| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 11.0 (6.9 to 15.1) | 24 | Mall 2022 (VX19-445- 116) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
|-------------------|-----------------------------------|----|--|--|--|
| F/Gating genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 11.0 (6.9 to 15.1) | 24 | Assumed equal to value for F/MF genotype | | |
| F/RF genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 6.776 (4.99 to 8.57) [†] | 8 | EAG analysis | | |
| TEZ/IVA | 2.8 (1.0 to 4.6) | 8 | Single-arm estimate of Davies 2021 | | |

* This trial period was a duration of 8 weeks. To allow comparison across treatments the EAG assumed this treatment effect also applied for 24 weeks

† This CI was inputted by the EAG by applying the same width of that observed in the 12+ population

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; EAG, evidence assessment group, RCT; randomised controlled trial; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second

4.2.1.6.1.3 Age 12+

For patients aged 12+, direct trial estimates of the acute increase in ppFEV₁ were used when available. No randomised-controlled data were available for ELZ/TEZ/IVA for patients aged \geq 12 with either F/F, F/Gating or F/RF populations. Therefore, the EAG conducted their own NMAs to obtain estimates of the acute increase in ppFEV₁ in these populations, as described in Section 3.2.2.4. The values obtained from the EAG's NMAs differ very slightly from the Company's estimates, but not enough to be expected to have an impact on the economic model outputs.

| CFTR modulator treatment | Acute increase in ppFEV ₁ (95% CI) | Acute period duration (weeks) | Data source |
|--------------------------|---|----------------------------------|---|
| F/F genotype | | | |
| LUM/IVA | 2.83 (1.84 to 3.82) | 24 | Ratjen 2017 (VX14-809- 109) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of LUM/IVA. |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 14.20 (12.07 to 16.31) | 24 | EAG NMA |
| TEZ/IVA | 4.0 (3.1 to 4.8) | 24 | Taylor-Cousar 2017 (VX14-661-106) Phase 3 placebo-controlled RCT |
| F/MF genotype | | | |

Table 57. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in ppFEV1 for patients 12+



| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 14.3 (12.7 to 15.8) | 24 | Middleton 2019 (VX17- 445-102) placebo- controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA |
|------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------------|---|
| F/Gating genotype | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 15.18 (12.16 to 18.22) | 8 | EAG NMA |
| F/RF genotype | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 8.80 (7.01 to 10.61) | 8 | EAG NMA |
| TEZ/IVA | 6.8 (5.7 to 7.8) | 8 | Rowe 2017 (VX14-661- 108) Phase 3 placebo- controlled crossover RCT of TEZ/IVA |
| Abbreviations: EAG, evidence | assessment group; EL | X/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tez | acaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, |

Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; NMA, network meta-analysis; RCT, randomised controlled trial; CI, confidence interval

4.2.1.6.2 Long term change in ppFEV₁

As discussed in Section 3.2.2.6, the long-term effectiveness of CFTR modulator treatments on the change in ppFEV₁ is subject to a high degree of uncertainty. This is due to no available RCT evidence outside of the acute phase, a maximum follow-up duration of 144 weeks in non-RCT studies and confounding of long-term data for ELX/TEZ/IVA due to COVID-19 in the managed access agreement (MAA) final analysis data. Therefore, assumptions based on the best data available to the EAG were made to inform the long-term change in ppFEV₁ for the three CFTR modulator treatments.

In the EAG base case, a relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV₁ decline is applied for ELX/TEZ/IVA and TEZ/IVA. To calculate this relative reduction, the EAG used the Newsome 2022¹⁷⁸ estimate of rate of decline of IVA-treated patients in the UK CF Registry (see Section 3.2.2.6.2). However, Newsome 2022 only reported the absolute reduction in the rate of ppFEV1 decline between IVA treated patients and controls, and did not report the relative reduction in ppFEV₁ decline or the absolute slopes for either IVA-treated or control-patients. Hence, in order to estimate the relative reduction in ppFEV₁ decline that would have been observed in Newsome 2022¹⁷⁸ the EAG searched for alternative data on the absolute rate of ppFEV₁ decline of IVA eligible patients in the UK CF Registry during the Newsome 2022 study period. Through bibliography searching of a relevant systematic literature review,²⁴⁴ the EAG identified Newsome 2018.²⁴⁵



Newsome 2018²⁴⁵ reported the absolute rate of ppFEV₁ decline of patients who were later treated with IVA in the UK CF Registry, i.e., a cohort similar to the Newsome 2022 cohort as both studies used UK CF registry data of people treated with IVA between 2010 and 2015 (Newsome 2018), and 2008 and 2016 (Newsome 2022). In Newsome 2018, the average annual rate of ppFEV₁ decline of patients later treated with IVA in the UK CF Registry was –1.3% (95% CI: –1.9% to –0.6%), over the 3 years prior to treatment. Hence, the EAG estimated a relative reduction in ppFEV₁ decline for Newsome 2022 of 0.49/1.3 = 37.7% for people treated with IVA. The EAG applies this value for the relative rate of decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA in their base-case analysis. The EAG note that applying an estimate from data based on ivacaftor monotherapy may be conservative; however, as this treatment effect is applied for the lifetime of the model the EAG believe it is the most reasonable assumption based on the data available and does not include any potential bias due to COVID-19 as would be seen with the ELX/TEZ/IVA long-term data.

As noted in Section 3.2.2.6, the EAG does not consider the long-term data available for TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA to provide a reliable estimate of the treatment effect in the post-acute period. For LUM/IVA, the EAG notes that no robust evidence has been presented or identified to suggest that LUM/IVA causes a long-term slowing in the rate of ppFEV₁ decline compared to ECM. Therefore, the EAG applied a 0% relative reduction in decline compared to ECM, meaning that in the post-acute period, patients on LUM/IVA have the same annual rate of decline in ppFEV₁ as patients on ECM alone. Although the EAG did not identify any robust evidence for a slowing in the reduction in ppFEV₁ decline for TEZ/IVA, based on the data observed in the acute period, it is expected that it would have a greater impact than LUM/IVA but smaller than that of TEZ/IVA. Therefore, for TEZ/IVA the EAG applied the ratio of the acute effects observed in the aged 12+ F/F populations for TEZ/IVA (4.0) and ELX/TEZ/IVA (14.2) to the calculated relative reduction in the rate of decline applied to the ELX/TEZ/IVA arm to give a relative reduction in ppFEV₁ compared to ECM of 10.63% for TEZ/IVA (see Section 3.2.2.6.3).

The EAG preferred to implement a relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV₁ decline, rather than the absolute reduction reported in Newsome 2022,¹⁷⁸ as relative effect measures are less affected by baseline risk than absolute measures, and are therefore usually more transportable and consistent between studies.²⁴⁶⁻²⁴⁸ However, to test the sensitivity of the EAG base case to applying an absolute versus relative reduction in ppFEV₁, the EAG performed a scenario analysis directly applying the Newsome 2022 estimate of IVA for ELX/TEZ/IVA (+0.49 per year slower decline than ECM), and scaled this estimate for TEZ/IVA (+0.138 per year slower decline than ECM).



The Newsome 2022 estimate used an linear regression model adjusted for the following covariates: sex, age, ethnicity, smoking status, CFRD, ppFEV₁, IV antibiotic use, mucolytic treatment use and bacterial infection.¹⁷⁸ As such, the +0.49 estimate is a population average effect but also a conditional estimate based on each of the covariates in the model, i.e., it is an estimate of the absolute difference in the rate ppFEV₁ decline between IVA-treated patients and matched controls with the same baseline ppFEV₁, age, etc.

To visualise the impact of applying an absolute or relative reduction in ppFEV₁ associated with ELX/TEZ/IVA or TEZ/IVA therapy, Figure 11 displays the modelled long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline of a 6-year old person with CF and an F/F genotype who: i) received ECM only, iii) initiated treatment with a CFTR modulator with the EAG's absolute reduction in rate of ppFEV₁ applied, and ii) initiated treatment with a CFTR modulator with the EAG's relative reduction in rate of ppFEV₁ applied. The absolute and relative reduction curves produce similar results, but diverge at larger ages. This divergence is due to the modelled non-linear rate decline of ppFEV₁ on ECM being lower at higher ages, such that an absolute reduction of 0.49 for ELX/TEZ/IVA corresponds to a markedly reduced relative reduction at higher ages.





4.2.1.6.3 Change in PEs

As trials in younger age groups were either not powered to detect a difference in PEs or did not collect data on PEs, the EAG applied a treatment effect for the impact of CFTR modulators on the

rate of PEs (requiring antibiotics or hospitalisation) only for patients aged \geq 12. This is considered a conservative assumption and similar to that applied in the Company model.

The treatment effect for patients aged ≥12 is applied as a rate ratio in the model. In NICE TA786 for LUM/IVA, the EAG noted that as the annual rate of PEs is a function of a patients $ppFEV_1$ value, which has a separate treatment effect applied, the observed change in PEs in the model may be caused by the change in $ppFEV_1$ and there is a risk of double counting the treatment effect of CFTR modulators if applying separate treatment effects to both ppFEV₁ and PEs. To adjust for this risk of double counting in the Company's MTA submission, calibration techniques were used to derive a rate ratio for PEs when receiving CFTR modulators compared to ECM in order to account for the acute $ppFEV_1$ increase. The EAG applied the same calibration approach; however unlike the Company's analyses, discontinuations were possible during the EAG's calibration. In addition, the rate ratios observed in the trials were based over a 24 week period, therefore, the EAG set the model time horizon to 1 year when undertaking the calibration as this was closest timeframe to that of the trial. The data sources used to inform the initial rate ratio values are described in Table 58, alongside the adjusted value following calibration. The EAG does not believe that any robust evidence was provided to show that the effects of CFTR modulators on the rate of PEs, independent of the $ppFEV_1$ effect, exists beyond the acute period. For both LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA, the estimated PE event rates from the initial placebo-controlled trials appeared to increase when compared to the observational extension studies, whereas the event rates for ELX/TEZ/IVA long-term extension studies and final analysis of the MAA are likely to be biased due to the protective effect of COVID-19 shielding. Therefore, the EAG's base case analysis only applies the calibrated rate ratio for PEs in the acute period. No further separate treatment effect on PEs beyond that applied through the effect on ppFEV₁ is applied in the long-term.

| CFTR modulator treatment | PEs rate ratio (uncalibrated) | PEs rate ratio (calibrated) | Data source for uncalibrated rate ratio |
|--------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|---|
| F/F genotype | | | |
| LUM/IVA | 0.44 | | Wainwright 2015 (VX12- 809-103) and (VX12- 809-104) Phase 3 placebo-controlled RCTs of LUM/IVA in participants aged 12+ years |

Table 58. Change in the rate of pulmonary exacerbations for patient's aged 12+



| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 0.22 | | Assumed equivalent to patients with F/MF genotype |
|--|------|--|--|
| TEZ/IVA | 0.53 | | Taylor-Cousar 2017 (VX14-661-106) Phase 3 placebo-controlled RCT in people with CF aged 12+ with F/F genotype |
| F/MF genotype | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 0.22 | | Middleton 2019 (VX17- 445-102) was a placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA, F/MF patients |
| F/Gating genotype | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 0.22 | | Assumed equivalent to patients with F/MF genotype |
| F/RF genotype | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 0.22 | | Assumed equivalent to patients with F/MF genotype |
| TEZ/IVA | 0.54 | | Rowe 2017 (VX14-661- 108) Phase 3 placebo- controlled crossover RCT in people with CF aged 12+ with F/RF genotype |
| Abbreviations: CF; cystic fibrosis; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, | | | |

Abbreviations: CF; cystic fibrosis; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function, RCT, randomised controlled trial; PE, pulmonary exacerbation

4.2.1.6.4 Change in weight-for-age z score

A treatment effect on a patient's weight-for-age z score (mean increase) is applied during the acute period, in line with the trial durations, in which patients on CFTR modulators experience an increase in the weight-for-age z score from baseline. It is assumed that no decline in weight-for-age z score is experienced over a patient's lifetime. The EAG's clinical experts noted that there are many complexities associated with a patient's weight while on CFTR modulators. These treatments have been shown to help patients maintain weight but also potentially gain excessive weight long term due to following previous advice of a high calorie diet before CFTR modulator treatments were available. Therefore, the EAG considers it a reasonable assumption to have no decline in weight-forage z score over a patient's lifetime. Further details on the treatment effectiveness on weight-forage z score are provided below.

4.2.1.6.4.1 Age 1–5

As described in Section 3.2.2.1.3, trial data for LUM/IVA was available for F/F genotype patients aged 1–2 and aged 2–5. In patients aged 1–2 an increase in weight-for-age z score of 0.06 was observed. A higher increase was observed in patients aged 2–5, with an absolute increase of 0.13 or 0.20 when placebo adjusted. The ELX/TEZ/IVA trial observed an increase in weight-for-age z score for patients aged 2–5 with either F/F or F/MF genotype that was substantially lower than that observed for LUM/IVA, with an absolute increase of 0.02. As no change beyond the acute increase is assumed over the patient's lifetime in the model, only applying an acute increase of 0.02 for ELX/TEZ/IVA patients starting aged 2–5 was considered overly conservative by the EAG as this would not capture the long-term benefits expected from ELX/TEZ/IVA. Therefore, the EAG applied the values observed in patients aged 6–11 for patients aged 1–5 for both LUM/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA. These are described and listed in the following section.

4.2.1.6.4.2 Age 6–11

The EAG model inputs for the acute increase in weight-for-age z score due to CFTR modulator treatment are shown in Table 59. These are in line with the EAG's preferred data sources on clinical effectiveness discussed in detail in Section 3.2.2.1 and clinically plausible assumptions when required. An overview of the data used for different genotypes are treatments is described below.

- For the F/F genotype, estimates were sourced from direct trial evidence for LUM/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA. The trial estimates for TEZ/IVA showed a decrease in weight-for-age z score relative to ECM which the EAG considered implausible and therefore applied a value of 0.
- For F/MF genotype, the EAG applied the values observed in the placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT for ELX/TEZ/IVA.¹³⁴
- Direct trial evidence for ELX/TEZ/IVA was not available in the F/Gating population. The EAG assumed an equivalent treatment effect as observed in the F/MF population, which the EAG's clinical experts considered reasonable.

Due to a lack of direct trial evidence for ELX/TEZ/IVA F/RF population, as described in Section 3.2.2.5.6, the EAG took the midpoint of the treatment effect observed in the 12+ F/RF population when multiplied by and statement, the observed reduction in weight-for-age z-score treatment effect between the 12+ years and 6 to 11 years groups in the F/MF and F/F genotypes. For F/RF patients receiving TEZ/IVA, the same assumption made for F/F patients was applied, with zero increase in weight-for-age z score.

Table 59. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in weight for age z score for patients 6–11. Values also applied to patients aged <6

| CFTR modulator treatment | Acute increase in weight-for-age z score (95% CI) | Acute period duration (weeks) | Data source | | |
|--------------------------|---|----------------------------------|--|--|--|
| F/F genotype | | | | | |
| LUM/IVA | | 24 | Ratjen 2017 (VX14-809- 109) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of LUM/IVA | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 24 | Taken from single-arm estimate of Zemanick 2022 | | |
| TEZ/IVA | 0 | 24 | EAG assumption | | |
| F/MF genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 24 | Mall 2022 (VX19-445- 116) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| F/Gating genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 24 | Assumed equal to value for F/MF genotype | | |
| F/RF genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 8 | Assumptions | | |
| TEZ/IVA | 0 | 8 | EAG assumption | | |

* This trial period was a duration of 8 weeks. To allow comparison across treatments the EAG assumed this treatment effect also applied for 24 weeks

† This CI was inputted by the EAG by applying the same width of that observed in the 12+ population

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; EAG, evidence assessment group; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; RCT, randomised controlled trial

4.2.1.6.4.3 Age 12+

Direct trial evidence informed the treatment effectiveness estimates for the LUM/IVA F/F genotype and TEZ/IVA F/F and F/RF populations. Treatment effectiveness estimates for ELX/TEZ/IVA were sourced from the EAG's NMAs, described in further detail in Section 3.2.2.4. The weight-for-age z score model inputs for patients aged \geq 12 are shown below in Table 60.

Table 60. EAG preferred inputs for acute increase in weight for age z score for patients aged 12+

| CFTR modulator treatment | Acute weight-for-age z score (95% CI) | Acute period duration (weeks) | Data source | | |
|--|--|----------------------------------|---|--|--|
| F/F genotype | | | | | |
| LUM/IVA | | 24 | Ratjen 2017 (VX14-809- 109) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of LUM/IVA. | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 24 | EAG NMA | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | 24 | Taylor-Cousar 2017 (VX14-661-106) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of TEZ/IVA | | |
| F/MF genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 24 | Middleton 2019 (VX17- 445-102) placebo controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| F/Gating genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 8 | EAG NMA | | |
| F/RF genotype | | | | | |
| ELZ/TEZ/IVA | | 8 | EAG NMA | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | 8 | Rowe 2017 (VX14-661- 108) Phase 3 placebo- controlled crossover RCT of TEZ/IVA | | |
| Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; EAG, evidence assessment group; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; | | | | | |

LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; NMA, network meta-analysis, RCT, randomised controlled trial



4.2.1.7 Treatment discontinuation

4.2.1.7.1 Acute period discontinuations

Annual treatment discontinuation rates were calculated for the acute period, corresponding to the appropriate trial duration, based on the number of discontinuations recorded in the trial. Further detail on the rates and data sources used for each of the three CFTR modulator treatments is detailed below. The discontinuation rates used by the EAG for the acute period are the same as those applied by the Company, with the exception of patients aged 2–5 on ELX/TEZ/IVA as this age group was not included in the Company's model. Upon discontinuing CFTR modulator treatments, patients receive ECM only, with the associated costs and annual ppFEV₁ decline. Clinical experts to the EAG noted that upon stopping treatment with CFTR modulators, they observe patients rapidly decline and feel worse in a short time frame. Based on this, the EAG assumes that both the acute increase in ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z score is lost upon discontinuation.

4.2.1.7.1.1 ELX/TEZ/IVA

The rate of discontinuations for patients aged 2–5 was taken from Study 445-111,¹⁵⁹ the Phase 3 non-randomised trial of F/F and F/MF genotype patients aged 2–5. As data was only available for F/F and F/MF patients, the same rate was also applied for patients with F/Gating and F/RF genotypes. In patients aged 6–11, pooled data for both F/F and F/MF patients aged 6–11 in Zemanick 2021¹³⁵ (VX18-445-106) was used to calculate the discontinuation rate for F/F patients due to the small sample size. These data were assumed to also apply to patients with F/Gating and F/RF genotypes due to lack of data in these patient groups. For patients with F/MF genotype, discontinuation data was calculated directly from Mall 2022 (VX19-445-116),¹³⁴ the placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA in children with CF aged 6 to 11 with an F/MF CF genotype. For discontinuation rates for patients aged 12+, the genotype specific trials with the longest durations were used, as reported in Table 61.

| Genotype | Acute period (weeks) | Annual rate of discontinuations | Source |
|----------|-------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| Age 2–5 | | | |
| F/F | 24 | 0.025 | Study 445-111, Phase 3 non-randomised trial of F/F and F/MF genotype patients aged 2–5 |
| F/MF | 24 | 0.025 | Study 445-111, Phase 3 non-randomised trial of F/F and F/MF genotype patients aged 2–5 |
| F/Gating | 24 | 0.025 | Assumed equal to F/F and F/MF |

Table 61. ELX/TEZ/IVA acute period discontinuation rates



| F/RF | 24 | 0.025 | Assumed equal to F/F and F/MF | | |
|----------|---------|-------|--|--|--|
| Age 6–11 | | | | | |
| F/F | 24 | 0.067 | Zemanick 2021 (VX18-445-106) phase 3 non- randomised trial of ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| F/MF | 24 | 0.036 | Mall 2022 (VX19-445-116) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA | | |
| F/Gating | 24 | 0.067 | Assumed equal to F/F | | |
| F/RF | 24 | 0.067 | Assumed equal to F/F | | |
| Age 12+ | Age 12+ | | | | |
| F/F | 24 | 0.025 | Sutharsan 2022 (VX18-445-109) TEZ/IVA- controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+ | | |
| F/MF | 24 | 0.033 | Middleton 2019 (VX17-445-102) placebo- controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA aged 12+ with an F/MF CF genotype | | |
| F/Gating | 8 | 0.049 | Barry 2021, active controlled Phase 3 RCT. F/RF or F/Gating | | |
| F/RF | 8 | 0.049 | Barry 2021, active controlled Phase 3 RCT. F/RF or F/Gating | | |

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; RCT, randomised controlled trial

4.2.1.7.1.2 TEZ/IVA

Discontinuation rates for patients aged 6–11 on TEZ/IVA were taken from Davies 2021,¹³⁹ the Phase 3 RCT for patients aged 6–11, genotype F/F and F/RF. For patients aged 12+, discontinuation rates were calculated from the two main RCT trials for each genotype, shown in Table 62.

| Genotype | Acute period (weeks) | Annual rate of discontinuations | Source | | |
|---|-------------------------|------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Age 6–11 | | | | | |
| F/F | 8 | 0.121 | Davies 2021, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 6–11 | | |
| F/RF | 8 | 0.121 | Davies 2021, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 6–11 | | |
| Age 12+ | | | | | |
| F/F | 24 | 0.143 | Taylor-Cousar 2017, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 12+, F/F | | |
| F/RF | 24 | 0.081 | Rowe 2017, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 12+, F/RF | | |
| Abbreviations: F/F, F508del homozygous; RF, residual function; RCT, randomised controlled trial | | | | | |

| Table 62 | TEZ/IVA | acute | period | discontinuation rates | |
|----------|---------|-------|--------|-----------------------|--|
|----------|---------|-------|--------|-----------------------|--|



4.2.1.7.1.3 LUM/IVA

Acute period discontinuation rates for LUM/IVA (F/F genotype only) were taken from the main RCT evidence available for each age group. The EAG assumed that the rate of discontinuations seen in patients aged 2–5 was also applicable for patients aged 1–2. The rates applied in the model are shown in Table 63.

| Age | Acute period (weeks) | Annual rate of discontinuations | Source | |
|--|-------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|
| 1–5 | 24 | 0.149 | McNamara 2019 (VX15-809-115) Phase 3 non-randomised | |
| 6–11 | 24 | 0.13 | Ratjen 2017 (VX14-809-109) placebo- controlled Phase 3 RCT of LUM/IVA | |
| 12+ | 24 | 0.152 | Wainwright 2015 ⁴² | |
| Abbreviations: LUM/IVA, lumacaftor ivacaftor; RCT, randomised controlled trial | | | | |

Table 63. LUM/IVA acute period discontinuation rates

4.2.1.7.2 Long-term discontinuations

Data from modulator treatments extension studies were used to inform the discontinuation rates beyond the acute period. The longest extension study data available was over 144 weeks for ELX/TEZ/IVA F/F and F/MF genotypes, while all other studies had a maximum of 96 weeks data available. Extension study data were not available for ELX/TEZ/IVA for patients aged 6–11 with F/Gating and F/RF genotypes. Therefore, the long-term rate of discontinuations was assumed equal to that for the F/F and F/MF genotype population. No long-term data are available for ELX/TEZ/IVA for patients aged 2–5, therefore the EAG assumed long-term discontinuation rates for this age group are equal to that observed in patients aged 6–11.

Clinical experts to the EAG noted that discontinuations from CFTR modulators are still observed in clinical practice beyond the time frame of the extension studies; however, one clinical expert noted that they would not expect to see discontinuations from CFTR modulator treatment beyond 5 years. Therefore, the EAG applied the discontinuation rate calculated from the extension studies for 5 years in the post-acute phase, with no further discontinuations assumed to occur beyond this time. As modulator treatments became available commercially, while clinical trials were ongoing, some

patients discontinued from the trials for this reason. The EAG excluded all discontinuations due to commercial availability of the drugs in their calculations of the annual discontinuation rates. All other reasons for discontinuation were included in the calculated rates. The calculated annual rates for each treatment are shown in Table 64.

| Genotype/age group | Study period (weeks) | Annual rate of discontinuations | Source |
|-----------------------|----------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | |
| Age 2–11 | | | |
| F/F | 96 | 0.026 | Ratjen 2021 ¹⁴⁸ |
| F/MF | 96 | 0.026 | Ratjen 2021 ¹⁴⁸ |
| F/Gating | 96 | 0.026 | Assumed equal to F/F and F/MF population |
| F/RF | 96 | 0.026 | Assumed equal to F/F and F/MF population |
| Age 12+ | | | |
| F/F | 144 | | Griese 2022 ¹⁴⁷ |
| F/MF | 144 | | Griese 2022 ¹⁴⁷ |
| F/Gating | 96 | | Study 445-110 ¹⁴⁹ |
| F/RF | 96 | | Study 445-110 ¹⁴⁹ |
| TEZ/IVA | | | |
| Age 6–11 | | | |
| F/F | 96 | | Sawicki 2022 ¹⁵¹ |
| F/RF | 96 | | Sawicki 2022 ¹⁵¹ |
| Age 12+ | | | |
| F/F | 96 | | Flume 2021 ¹⁵⁰ |
| F/RF | 96 | | Flume 2021 ¹⁵⁰ |
| LUM//IVA | | | |
| 1–5 | 96 | 0.06 | McNamara 2019 |
| 6–11 | 96 | 0.035 | Chilvers 2021 ¹⁵³ |
| 12+ | 96 | 0.152 | Konstan 2017 ¹⁵² |
| Abbreviations: EL | X/TEZ/IVA Elexacaftor/teza | caftor/ivacaftor: I UM/IV/ | A Lumacaftor/ivacaftor: TEZ/IVA Tezacaftor/ivacaftor |

Table 64. Long term annual discontinuation rates

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function

4.2.1.8 Compliance

Compliance rates based on pill counts during the key clinical trials for each genotype and age group were applied for the acute period, corresponding to the appropriate trial duration. The sources and



assumptions made for acute period compliance rates are the same as those applied for discontinuation rates, as previously described in Section 4.2.1.7.1. Further detail on the rates and data sources used for each of the three CFTR modulator treatments is detailed in Table 65. As no data on both long-term compliance and treatment effectiveness was available for the three included CFTR modulators, the EAG assumed 100% compliance following the acute period. As the impact of compliance in the model is only through a reduction in costs, applying a lower compliance rate beyond the trial period would not account for any differences in efficacy that result from lower compliance. The EAG is aware that compliance in the real world may be lower than 100% but based on clinical expert opinion to the EAG it is expected to remain high due to the quick decline in health experienced by patients when they discontinue.

| Genotype | Acute period (weeks) | Compliance rate applied in acute period | Source |
|-------------|-------------------------|---|--|
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | |
| Age 2–5 | | | |
| F/F | 24 | | Study 445-111, Phase 3 non-randomised trial of F/F and F/MF genotype patients aged 2–5 |
| F/MF | 24 | | Study 445-111, Phase 3 non-randomised trial of F/F and F/MF genotype patients aged 2–5 |
| F/Gating | 24 | | Assumed equal to F/F and F/MF |
| F/RF | 24 | | Assumed equal to F/F and F/MF |
| Age 6–11 | | | |
| F/F | 24 | | Zemanick 2021 (VX18-445-106) phase 3 non- randomised trial of ELX/TEZ/IVA |
| F/MF | 24 | | Mall 2022 (VX19-445-116) placebo-controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA |
| F/Gating | 24 | | Assumed equal to F/F |
| F/RF | 24 | | Assumed equal to F/F |
| Age 12+ | | | |
| F/F | 24 | | Sutharsan 2022 (VX18-445-109) TEZ/IVA- controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA in people with CF aged 12+ |
| F/MF | 24 | | Middleton 2019 (VX17-445-102) placebo- controlled Phase 3 RCT of ELX/TEZ/IVA aged 12+ with an F/MF CF genotype |
| F/Gating | 8 | | Barry 2021, active controlled Phase 3 RCT. F/RF or F/Gating |
| F/RF | 8 | | Barry 2021, active controlled Phase 3 RCT. F/RF or F/Gating |
| TEZ/IVA | | | |

Table 65. Compliance rates applied during the acute period



| Age 6–11 | | | |
|--|----|--|--|
| F/F | 8 | | Davies 2021, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 6–11 |
| F/RF | 8 | | Davies 2021, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 6–11 |
| Age 12+ | | | |
| F/F | 24 | | Taylor-Cousar 2017, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 12+, F/F |
| F/RF | 24 | | Rowe 2017, phase 3 RCT for patients aged 12+, F/RF |
| LUM/IVA | | | |
| 1–5 | 24 | | McNamara 2019 (VX15-809-115) Phase 3 non-randomised |
| 6–11 | 24 | | Ratjen 2017 (VX14-809-109) placebo- controlled Phase 3 RCT of LUM/IVA |
| 12+ | 24 | | Wainwright 2015 ⁴² |
| Abbraviations: ELX/TEZ/IV/A Elavacattar/tazacattar/ivacattar: E/E E508da/ homozygaus: ME minimal function: PE residual | | | |

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; RCT, randomised controlled trial

4.2.1.9 Lung transplantation

In line with the Company's models and based on UK clinical guideline for transplantation, patients are eligible for lung transplant in the model once their ppFEV₁ falls below 30%. Clinical experts to the EAG noted how patients would usually be referred for a transplant once their ppFEV₁ started to drop below 40%. However, as the referral and waiting list process can take up to 1–2 years it is likely that patients ppFEV₁ will be around 30% or lower by the time of transplant. The Company apply a probability of lung transplant based on data from the CF Registry report 2021,¹ in which 5 patients out of the 78 evaluated received a lung transplant (6.4%). The EAG notes that this value is much lower than in 2019 and there is a potential for this value to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. In response to clarification questions, the Company also stated that the lower number of transplants in 2021 may be a result of CFTR modulators. As a value for lung transplant in the model is required that represents the impact without CFTR modulators, the EAG applied the values from the CF Registry 2019 report. The exact number of patients aged <16 receiving a bi-lateral lung transplant in 2019 was not available and was reported for age <5 only. Due to this, the probability of transplant in the EAG model included only those aged >16. This resulted in a probability of 20.3% (49/241). This is applied as a one-off probability in the model cycle in which a patients ppFEV₁ reaches below 30.

Following lung transplantation, the CPH model for mortality is no longer implemented and a separate post lung transplant mortality is applied. The Company used international data on survival post lung transplant for CF patients, collected between 1992-2017. Survival post lung transplant may



differ across countries and health care systems and therefore the EAG believed a UK specific source would be more appropriate. The NHS annual report on Cardiothoracic Organ Transplantation 2021/22²⁴⁹ provides post lung transplant 1- and 5-year survival rates for cystic fibrosis and bronchiectasis patients. The EAG converted these survival rates into annual 1 year and post 1 year mortality probabilities, equal to 13.1% and 9.1% respectively.

4.2.1.10 Adverse events

The EAG included the adverse events (AEs) that were either highlighted by the EAG's clinical experts as problematic for patients or were reported as AEs of special interest across the clinical trials, namely: rash events and liver adverse events. For liver adverse events, the EAG identified increased alanine aminotransferase and increased aspartate aminotransferase as those that were reported consistently between clinical trials noted in Section 3.2.2.4, and therefore were included in the economic model. The EAG's clinical experts also noted how CFTR modulators may be associated with an increased risk of cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension. The rates of cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension reported across the clinical trials was low and most events occurred in patients aged ≥ 12 . Therefore, although noted as clinically important, cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension are not included in the economic model. Clinical experts noted how liver-related AEs may incur costs through increased monitoring but may also lead to CFTR modulator discontinuation. The EAG applied a cost of a GP visit for all liver-related AEs and rash events.

Due to the three different treatments being included in the model, there was no common ECM arm from the clinical trials to assess AEs. As the model requires a common ECM arm to compare all three CFTR modulator treatments to, the difference between the placebo arm and treatment arm of the trials used for each included AE was calculated. AEs were then applied in the CFTR modulator treatment arms of the model as a difference from ECM that could either be positive or negative. In cases where the rate of AEs in the treatment arm was negative, i.e., the adverse event rate was higher in the placebo arm, the EAG capped the rate at zero. This decision was made as the EAG considered it implausible that CFTR modulators would reduce the rate of rash or liver events in people with CF and considered lower values in the CFTR modulator arms to be reflective of sampling variance in small samples rather than a treatment effect.

In line with the clinical efficacy data used, the EAG calculated AE rates from placebo controlled RCT data, when available. When comparative RCT data was not available, the EAG either applied the placebo arm from a different CFTR modulator treatment, conducted within the same age group, or

assumed equal rates of AEs within the same intervention and age group but across genotypes. For TEZ/IVA patients aged 6–11, although placebo-controlled comparative data were available in Davies 2021,¹³⁹ the control arm of the study consisted of 10 patients only. Therefore, the EAG compared the treatment arm of Davies 2021¹³⁹ to the placebo arm of Mall 2022,¹³⁴ the placebo-controlled trial of patients aged 6–11 for ELX/TEZ/IVA. Further details on the sources used for the calculated absolute annual rates of AEs are shown below in Table 66.
Table 66. Included annual rates of adverse events

| | Alanine aminotransferase increased | Aspartate aminotransferase increased | Rash events | Source |
|--------------------|--|--|-------------|---|
| | At | osolute annual rate | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | |
| 2-5 all genotypes | | | | Treatment arm AEs taken from Study VX20-445-111. Placebo arm AEs taken from Stahl 2021 (placebo-controlled trial in LUM/IVA age 2–5) |
| 6-11 all genotypes | | | | Mall 2022. Data from patients F/MF assumed to apply to all genotypes |
| 12+ all genotypes | | | | Middleton 2019. Data from patients F/MF assumed to apply to all genotypes |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | |
| 6-11 F/F, F/RF | | | | Treatment arm AEs taken from Davies 2021. Placebo arm AEs taken from Mall 2022 (placebo-controlled trail in ELX/TEZ/IVA age 6–11, F/MF genotype |
| 12 + F/F | | | | Taylor-Cousar 2017 |
| 12+ F/RF | | | | Rowe 2017 |
| LUM/IVA | | | | |
| 1 to 5 F/F | | | | Stahl 2021. Data from patients aged 2–5 also assumed to apply to patients aged 1 |
| 6 to 11 F/F | | | | Ratjen 2017. Placebo-controlled RCT patients aged 6–11 |
| 12+ F/F | | | | Wainwright 2015 |
| * | not reported in the elipical tri | al | | |

[†]Event was recorded as not reported in the clinical trial

Abbreviations: AE, adverse events; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; RCT, randomised controlled trial



4.2.1.11 Health-related quality of life

Utility values were required in the economic model based on ppFEV₁, disutility of PEs and following post lung transplant. The EAG applied a reduction in HRQoL with age, as per the general population, based on the Health Survey for England (HSE) EQ-5D-3L general population value set. This value set only provide general population utility values for individuals aged 16+. Therefore, the EAG applied a conservative assumption, assuming no decline in HRQoL due to age prior to age 16 in the model.

The Company's models also applied a treatment specific utility increment for patients



the small sample size it is unclear if all carers have the same experience and how long the carer impact should apply for. In the Company's model the inclusion had a negligible impact on the ICER ($\approx \pm 250$ in the F/F population) and therefore carer HRQoL was not included in the EAG analyses.

4.2.1.11.1 HRQoL stratified by $ppFEV_1$ value

The economic model was constructed to capture the main benefits of treatment for CF and, as such, utility values that reflect changing ppFEV₁ were required. The systematic literature review undertaken by the EAG, described in Section 4.1.3, identified 5 individual studies (reported in 10 separate studies) that reported HRQoL values stratified by ppFEV₁ grouping, all of which used EQ-5D. One of these studies was the NICE TA786 for LUM/IVA, which reported the trial collected EQ-5D-3L values. This was the only key trial of the three CFTR modulators included in the current MTA that collected EQ-5D data. In the current MTA submission and the previous NICE appraisal for LUM/IVA, the Company stated that the generic measure of HRQoL failed to capture meaningful differences in lung function. It was also stated that the high utility values observed in the trial reflects patients' adaptation to life with a chronic disease and limits the ability to detect treatment benefit. During TA786, the committee stated that there was no evidence to suggest that the EQ-5D was inappropriate and that it generally captured the effects of having CF. It was also noted how benefits in HRQoL can be captured by avoiding any decrements, such as reduced PEs. A utility decrement for PEs is applied in the Company's models.

The NICE Reference Case stipulates that the EQ-5D is the preferred measure for HRQoL and any departures from this must provide, "qualitative empirical evidence on the lack of content validity for the EQ-5D" and this should be derived from a synthesis of peer-reviewed literature. The EAG does not consider that the Company has provided a robust argument that EQ-5D is an inappropriate tool for use in CF.

In line with the NICE Reference Case, the EAG used the utility values sourced from the LUM/IVA clinical trials in the base-case. However, an adjustment was made to the trial values. The utility values from the LUM/IVA trial were available for patients split across four ppFEV₁ groups: \geq 90, 70 to <90, 40 to<70, <40. The EAG replaced the utility value for the \geq 90 category with the general population values for the mean age of the population being modelled as it was deemed that this group was most reflective of the general population's lung function. The CF Registry Report only provides the median age of the population, which in 2021 was 21. This is largely in line with the mean age of all patients included in the modelled cohort (21.9). The general population utility value for males and females (weighted according to the CF Registry sex split, 53.2% males) was sourced from HSE EQ-5D-3L general population value set, which was equal to 0.925. The relative reduction in utility value from \geq 90 to 70 to <90, was estimated from the LUM/IVA trial (0.933/0.951 = 0.981) and this was applied to the general population utility value assigned by the EAG to \geq 90 (0.925 x 0.981 = 0.908). A similar, step-wise process was used for the subsequent ppFEV₁ categories, shown in Table 67. In the EAG's model the utility value for the groups 70 to <90 was applied for all patients with a ppFEV₁ of \geq 70.

| ppFEV₁ grouping | LUM/IVA trial value | Relative difference compared to ≥90 group | Updated values used in EAG model |
|-----------------|---------------------|--|-------------------------------------|
| ≥90 | 0.951 | - | - |
| 70 to <90 | 0.933 | 0.981 | 0.908 |
| 40 to<70 | 0.906 | 0.953 | 0.882 |
| <40 | 0.878 | 0.923 | 0.854 |

Table 67. EAG applied EQ-5D value

Abbreviations: ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; EAG, evidence assessment group; LUM/IVA, lumacaftor ivacaftor

The EAG's preference is to use utility values measured directly from the clinical trials, as this is the same source of evidence on effectiveness data. In a scenario analysis the Company applied utility values from Acaster 2015,²¹⁴ which reported EQ-5D values classified by ppFEV₁ grouping. This study

was also identified in the EAG's systematic literature review. The EAG notes that the Acaster *et al.* study included adult patients who had a self-reported CF diagnosis and ppFEV₁ value and may potentially suffer from selection bias. The EAG used the values reported in this study in a scenario analysis to explore the impact on the ICER.

4.2.1.11.2 Disutility of pulmonary exacerbations

The EAG identified two UK based studies in the review of utility values (section 4.1.3) that also reported on the disutility of pulmonary exacerbations. Bradley 2013¹⁶ reported disutility values for major exacerbation (0.174) and minor exacerbation (0.015). This study was conducted in adult CF with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections who were taking nebulised or oral antibiotics and therefore may not be as applicable to the whole population in the MTA. Tappenden *et al.* 2023²²⁴ applied a disutility for days on IV antibiotics based on trial data of patients aged \geq 16 years who are taking inhaled mucolytics or antibiotics. The EQ-5D-3L disutility related to each IV day was 0.12. Additionally, the Company applied disutility associated with a PE based on a study assessing the impact of PEs on HRQoL using data from the ivacaftor monotherapy clinical trial. This collected EQ-5D-3L data from patients aged \geq 12 with a G551D mutation. Based on data reported in this study, a disutility of 0.07 was applied for 30 days for each PE.

In line with using the trial data from LUM/IVA for utility values stratified by ppFEV₁, the EAG used the disutility associated with PEs from the ivacaftor monotherapy clinical trial, as applied by the Company. This included patients from age 12, unlike the other sources available for UK data.

4.2.1.11.3 Post lung transplant

Numerous studies identified in the EAG's systematic literature review of previous economic evaluations applied a post lung transplant utility of 0.81, including the Company's MTA submission. The data used to calculate this figure is sourced from a study by Anyanwu 2001.²⁵⁰ This study collected data from patients post lung transplant from UK lung transplant centres during 1998. In the ivacaftor monotherapy HTA, Whiting *et al.*⁴³ used the data from bi-lateral lung transplant patients (79 patients) from the Anyanwu *et al.*²⁵⁰ study as this was said to most likely reflect CF transplant patients. They calculated the weighted average post-transplant utility based on the reported data at the different follow up time points to give an EQ-5D utility of 0.81

The value of 0.81 is lower than the EAG's utility value used for patients with a ppFEV₁ of < 40% (0.854), which does not seem clinically plausible. The value of 0.81 applied for post lung transplant is

similar to the value used by the Company (0.8) and by Tappenden *et al.* 2023^{224} (0.83) for ppFEV₁ \geq 70. A recently published systematic literature review²⁵¹ on HRQoL for CF patients following post lung transplant found that up to 5 years post lung transplant patients HRQoL is equal to that of general population and the HRQoL following transplant for CF patients is greater than or equal to that of other indications requiring lung transplant. Due to these reasons, the EAG apply the utility value post lung transplant equal to the value used for patients with ppFEV₁ \geq 70 (0.908).

4.2.1.12 Resource use and costs

The economic model includes costs related to drug acquisition, ECM costs, pulmonary exacerbations, monitoring costs related to CFTR-modulators and lung transplantation. Further detail is provided in the following section on each of these costs.

4.2.1.12.1 CFTR modulator acquisition costs

The drug acquisition costs included in the model are given in Table 68 and were obtained from the BNF.²⁵² Treatment regimens based on age group and weight for each of the CFTR-modulator combinations are described in Section 1.3.1. The annual cost of each CFTR-modulator combination therapy by age group is presented in Table 69.

The EAG notes that while the strength of dose for each CFTR-modulator combination therapy varies by age and weight, the pack price of the different strengths available is the same. Additionally, for each CFTR-modulator combination therapy, the number of units per day for the treatment regimen irrespective of strength of dose required is the same (see Table 69).

| | | Pack | List price | |
|-------------|-------------------------|------|------------|------------------|
| Treatment | Strength* | size | Pack price | Cost per unit |
| | 75 mg / 94 mg sachet | | | |
| | 100 mg / 125 mg sachet | 56 | £8,000.00 | £142.86 |
| LUM/IVA | 150 mg / 188 mg sachet | | | |
| | 100 mg / 125 mg tablets | 112 | £8,000.00 | £71.43 |
| | 200 mg / 125 mg | 112 | | |
| | 50 mg / 75 mg tablets | 28 | £6,293.91 | £224.76 |
| | 100 mg / 150 mg tablets | 20 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | ** | |

Table 68. CFTR-modulator acquisition costs (source: British National Formulary)²⁵²





Table 69. CFTR-modulator acquisition costs per year according to dose

| Treatment | Age group | Units per day | Annual cost |
|--------------|--------------|---|-------------|
| 1.1.11/11/20 | 1 to 5 years | Two sachets per day (one sachet every 12 hours) | £104,357.14 |
| | 6 years + | Four tablets per day (two tablets every 12 hours) | £104,357.14 |
| TEZ/IVA | 6 years + | One tablet of TEZ/IVA in the morning and one tablet of IVA in the evening. | £173,414.31 |
| | 2 to 5 years | | |
| | 6 years + | Two tablets of ELX/TEZ/IVA in the morning and one tablet of IVA in the evening. | £200,187.00 |

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; IVA, ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor

4.2.1.12.2 Established clinical management costs

Drug costs

Due to the nature of CF causing a wide range of symptoms and associated illnesses (e.g. respiratory infections, pancreatic insufficiency, CFRD), management is multidisciplinary and so there is no one standard treatment applied to all patients. However, as described in Section 1.2.1 (Table 3), a set of therapies are commonly used to treat the symptoms of CF, such as antibiotics, inhaled

bronchodilators/corticosteroids and mucoactive therapies. Clinical experts to the EAG highlighted that the use of these treatments may differ between patients based on their lung function, as measured by ppFEV₁. In a targeted search, the EAG identified a recent study by Granger 2022,¹⁶² which used UK CF Registry data to explore treatment usage in CF patients pre- and post-introduction of ivacaftor monotherapy. This study provides the proportion of patients taking the most common therapies used to treat CF symptoms as part of ECM, split by patients ppFEV₁ status (<60, 60-80, >80), shown in Table 70.

The EAG used the reported proportions of each treatment for patients who were ineligible for ivacaftor monotherapy in 2018 to represent the most recent ECM treatment usage. The treatments included were inhaled antibiotics, dornase alfa, hypertonic saline solution, azithromycin, flucloxacillin and supplementary feeding (both oral and gastrostomy). One of the EAG's clinical experts (senior dietician) advised that the costs and dosages associated with supplementary feeding is extremely variable between both patients and centres within the UK. Due to this, the EAG is unable to apply an average cost of supplementary feeding and therefore has excluded this from the overall ECM costs. Inhaled antibiotics was reported as a single broad category, however numerous types of inhaled antibiotics are available, each with an individual cost. Therefore, the EAG used data available in the CF Registry 2018 report²⁵³ on the proportion of each inhaled antibiotic used to calculate an overall weighted cost of inhaled antibiotics, see Appendix 9.9. The proportion of patients in each of the three ppFEV₁ groups could then be applied to each treatment to provide an ECM treatment cost, based on a patients ppFEV₁. The EAG notes that the three ppFEV₁ groups used for ECM drug costs differ to that used for other disease management costs and utility values. As the patient level simulation model includes ppFEV₁ as a continuous measure, it allows this additional granularity in costs to be incorporated. Further detail on the costs and resource use applied is provided in Table 70.

The dosage used for each drug was informed by Tappenden 2023,²²⁴, which was identified during the EAG's HRQoL systematic literature review (Section 4.1.3). The EAG assumed that the dosage for all treatments is the same for adults and children as this was found to be the case for the majority of the drugs included. For the treatments included, where the dosage details available differ between adults and children, this was a very low cost and therefore the EAG do not expect this to have a large impact on overall costs. The costs of treatment assumes full adherence and that treatment is prescribed as per the recommended guidelines. The latest drug costs were sourced from the BNF.²⁵²

BMJ TAG

Healthcare costs

In addition to drug costs, patients with CF will regularly come into contact with numerous healthcare professionals, as part of the multidisciplinary approach to disease management. Costs for healthcare were taken from Tappenden 2023²²⁴ who reported CF disease management costs split by ppFEV₁ grouping (ppFEV₁ > 70% = £3,368; ppFEV₁40–69% = £3,774; ppFEV₁ < 40% = £3,320). Tappenden 2023 used healthcare resource use data for CF patients collected using a standardised resource use questionnaire, as part of a trial to assess adherence to inhaled medications. This included resource use associated with hospitalisations not due to PEs requiring IV antibiotics, GP visits, hospital-based consultant visits, nurses, physiotherapists, psychologists, dieticians, occupational therapists, radiographers, social workers and visits to Accident and Emergency (A&E). Resource use was costed using NHS Reference Costs 2021/21.²³⁹



| Table 70. | Annual | ECM | costs | bv | pr | FEV 1 | group |
|------------|--------|------------|-------|-----|----|--------------|-------|
| 10010 / 01 | / | - 0.11 | 00000 | ~ , | | | Browp |

| | | Proportions taking treatment | | Total cost | | | | |
|---|---------------|------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|--------------|--------------------|-----------------|---|
| Treatment | Cost per year | ppFEV1 > 80% | ppFEV1 > 60–80% | ppFEV1 < 60% | ppFEV1 > 80% | ppFEV1 > 60–80% | ppFEV1 < 60% | Source/Assumptions |
| Inhaled Antibiotics | £13,908.40 | 0.49 | 0.59 | 0.7 | £6,815.12 | £8,205.96 | £9,735.88 | CF Registry 2018 report, see Appendix 9.9 for further detail |
| Dornase alfa | £6,044.04 | 0.73 | 0.8 | 0.8 | £4,412.15 | £4,835.23 | £4,835.23 | Tappenden 2023, Pulmozyme 2.5mg; daily dose: 2.5mg |
| Hypertonic saline solution | £86.88 | 0.37 | 0.4 | 0.42 | £32.14 | £34.75 | £36.49 | Tappenden 2023, 6% or 7% inhalation solution; daily dose: 8ml |
| Azithromycin | £99.53 | 0.4 | 0.59 | 0.71 | £39.81 | £58.72 | £70.67 | Tappenden 2023, Azithromycin 250mg tablets; daily dose: 250mg |
| Flucloxacillin | £76.96 | 0.31 | 0.27 | 0.22 | £23.86 | £20.78 | £16.93 | Tappenden 2023, Flucloxacillin 250mg or 500mg capsules; daily dose:1g |
| | | | | | £11,323 | £13,155 | £14,695 | |
| Abbreviations: CE_cystic fibrosis: ppEEV ₁ percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second: g_grams: mg_milligrams: ml_millilitre | | | | | | | | |

4.2.1.12.3 Costs of pulmonary exacerbations

In the economic model, as PEs occur as a function of age and ppFEV₁, patients with a lower ppFEV₁ are more likely to have a greater number of PEs each year and therefore incur greater costs. Clinical experts to the EAG noted that although the cost of PEs may differ between ppFEV₁ groups (>70, 40-70, <40), this is largely due to the greater number of PE events occurring and that a standard course of 14 days on IV antibiotics is common practice. One clinical expert did note that for some patients with poorer lung function, who are not responding to a standard course, IV antibiotics may be given for a three-week period instead. As the EAG did not have data available on the number of patients who may require a longer course of treatment, the cost of each pulmonary exacerbation event in the model consisted of 14 days inpatient stay in hospital, receiving IV antibiotics. The unit cost for inpatient stay and IV drugs used in hospital to treat PEs was taken from Tappenden 2023,²²⁴ shown in Table 71.

| Resource | Unit cost | Resource use (days) | Total cost | Source |
|-----------------------------|-----------|------------------------|------------|--|
| Inpatient stay (per day) | £410.75 | 14 | £5750.50 | Tappenden 2023. Cost per non-elective bed-day, weighted by FCEs and average length of stay, assumed interventions for bronchiectasis (codes DZ12C to DZ12F) |
| IV drugs in hospital | £27.82 | 14 | £389.48 | Tappenden 2023. Costs consists of Ceftazidime 3g ,Tobramycin 481-560mg, Sodium chloride 0.9% and Heparin 50units in 5ml. |
| Total cost per PE eve | ent | | £6139.98 | Calculated |

| Table 71. | Cost per | pulmonary | exacerbation event |
|-----------|----------|-----------|--------------------|
|-----------|----------|-----------|--------------------|

Abbreviations: IV, intravenous; PE, pulmonary exacerbations; g, grams; mg, milligrams; ml, millilitre; FCE, finished consultant episode

4.2.1.12.4 Monitoring costs

Monitoring costs for liver function tests (bilirubin, aspartate transaminase [AST] and alanine transaminase [ALT]) and ophthalmologist visits are applied to all patents on CFTR modulator treatments, in line with guidance in the Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC). Clinical experts to the EAG noted how children will have ophthalmology visits annually while on CFTR modulators, whereas adults will require them in the initial year only. Therefore, the EAG applies the cost of ophthalmology visits each year for patients aged ≤18. This differed to the Company's models in which costs are only applied in the initial year of treatment for all patients. For all patients in the model, in the year of initiating treatment, both an initial and follow-up ophthalmology visit are included. Clinical experts also stated that monitoring for liver function is applied every three months in the first year of initiating treatment, and annually thereafter. Costs were sourced from NHS Reference Costs 2021/22,²³⁹ as shown in Table 72.

| Treatment | Unit cost | Resource use | Total cost | Source |
|--|------------------|---------------|------------|---|
| Monitoring costs, initi | al year of treat | ment, age ≤18 | | |
| Liver function tests | £1.85 | 4 | £7.40 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Directly Accessed Pathology Services. Clinical biochemistry. DAPS04 |
| Initial ophthalmologist visit (age≤18) | £225.47 | 1 | £225.47 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Consultant led. Paediatric Ophthalmology. Non-Admitted Face-to- Face Attendance, First. WF01B |
| Follow-up ophthalmologist visit (age≤18) | £187.64 | 1 | £187.64 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Consultant led. Paediatric Ophthalmology. Non-Admitted Face-to- Face Attendance, Follow-up. WF01A |
| Total monitoring costs | - | - | £420.51 | Calculated |
| Monitoring costs, sub | sequent years | , age ≤18 | | |
| Liver function tests | £1.85 | 1 | £1.85 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Directly Accessed Pathology Services. Clinical biochemistry. DAPS04 |
| Follow-up ophthalmologist visit (age≤18) | £187.64 | 1 | £187.64 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Consultant led. Paediatric Ophthalmology. Non-Admitted Face-to- Face Attendance, Follow-up. WF01A |
| Total monitoring costs | - | - | £189.49 | Calculated |
| Monitoring costs, initi | al year of treat | ment, age >18 | | |
| Liver function tests | £1.85 | 4 | £7.40 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Directly Accessed Pathology Services. Clinical biochemistry. DAPS04 |
| Initial ophthalmologist visit (age>18) | £213.13 | 1 | £213.13 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Consultant led. Ophthalmology. Non- Admitted Face-to-Face Attendance, First. WF01B |
| Follow-up ophthalmologist visit (age>18) | £166.35 | 1 | £166.35 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Consultant led. Ophthalmology. Non- Admitted Face-to-Face Attendance, Follow-up. WF01A |

Table 72. Annual monitoring costs associated with CFTR modulators



| Total monitoring costs | - | - | £386.88 | Calculated | | |
|---|-------|---|---------|--|--|--|
| Monitoring costs, subsequent years, age >18 | | | | | | |
| Liver function tests | £1.85 | 1 | £1.85 | NHS Reference costs 2020/21. Directly Accessed Pathology Services. Clinical biochemistry. DAPS04 | | |
| Total monitoring costs | - | - | £1.85 | Calculated | | |
| Abbreviations: NHS National Health Service | | | | | | |

4.2.1.12.5 Cost of lung transplantation

The cost of lung transplant is taken from NHS Reference Costs 2020/21²³⁹ and was calculated as the weighted average of elective inpatient, non-elective inpatient long stay and non-elective inpatient short stay lung transplant costs. Once patients have had a lung transplant in the model, they no longer receive the treatment costs and disease management costs associated with CF. Instead, costs associated with post-lung transplant were taken from Anyanwu 2002,²⁵⁴, which reported post lung transplant follow up costs up to 15 years. The EAG used the reported costs associated with bi-lateral lung transplant. The reported costs had been discounted at 6%, therefore the EAG reversed the discounting and inflated costs to 2021 prices using the NHS cost inflation index (NHSCII),²⁵⁵, shown in shown in Table 73.

| Resource | Cost | Source |
|--|------------|---|
| Lung transplant | £91,778 | NHS Reference Costs 2020/21. Weighted average of lung transplant elective inpatient, non- elective inpatient long stay and non-elective inpatient short stay (DZ01Z) |
| Post lung transplant annual follow up cost (first year) | £27,612.78 | |
| Post lung transplant annual follow up cost (second year) | £11,503.97 | |
| Post lung transplant annual follow up cost (third year) | £11,218.50 | Anyanwu 2002, inflated to 2021 |
| Post lung transplant annual follow up cost (years 4-10) | £9,917.49 | |
| Post lung transplant annual follow up cost (years 11+) | £8,112.75 | |
| Abbreviations: NHS, National Health Sen | vice | |

Table 73. Lung transplant and follow up costs



4.2.1.13 List of assumptions

The EAGs economic model employs a number of assumptions, with the main ones detailed below in Table 74.

| EAG base case assumptions | Justification |
|--|---|
| An individual's baseline mortality is equal to the marginal population mortality. This assumes that any given patients' characteristics at baseline are the same as that of the general CF population | A baseline mortality hazard is required to apply the Cox proportional hazards model to which is not available for each patient. This simplifying assumption is applied in line with Company's validation exercise which found this approach provided a better survival prediction to observed data |
| Baseline characteristics are based on patients combined from the main CFTR modulator trials for each specific genotype | Data on individual patients were required for the individual simulation model to maintain the correlation between specific characteristics. These data were only available to the EAG from the trial data |
| Patients' pancreatic sufficient status and respiratory infections do not change over time and therefore do not contribute to the risk of mortality | Lack of data available to inform these parameters changing over time and the effect of CFTR modulator treatments. Deemed a conservative assumption |
| No pulmonary exacerbations in patients aged <6 | PEs are included as a function of ppFEV ₁ which is not tracked in patients aged. Clinical experts stated that PEs can still occur in <6 and so this is deemed a conservative assumption |
| No CFRD in patients aged <6 | Lack of data available as patients aged <6 are not screened for CFRD. |
| No decline in a patient's weight-for-age z score | Clinical experts noted that a patient's weight can fluctuate over a patient's lifetime but can be very variable and person-specific. This simplifying assumption is therefore deemed to be conservative. |
| No treatment effect on the rate of PEs for patients aged <12 | Lack of available data. Deemed a conservative assumption |
| The relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV ₁ decline compared to ECM is equal to 37.7% per year for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA following the acute period, applied for the lifetime. | Based on a study of ivacaftor monotherapy due to a lack of unconfounded long-term data for ELX/TEZ/IVA |
| The relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV ₁ decline compared to ECM is equal to 10.63% per year for patients on TEZ/IVA following the acute period, applied for the lifetime | Lack of robust long-term evidence beyond the trial period. Therefore applied the ratio of the acute effects observed in the aged 12+ F/F populations for TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA to the absolute reduction used for ELX/TEZ/IVA |
| Same rate of decline in ppFEV ₁ as ECM following the acute period for patients on LUM/IVA | Lack of robust long-term evidence showing a continued treatment effect |

Table 74. EAG base case assumptions



| No independent treatment effect of PEs beyond the acute period | Lack of available evidence on the long-term effect of CFTR modulators on PEs separate to the effect of ppFEV ₁ |
|---|--|
| No further discontinuations beyond 5 years on treatment with CFTR modulators | Based on clinical expert opinion |
| CFTR modulator compliance rates from the key trials of efficacy data are applied in the acute period. Assumed 100% after this point | Data on compliance should come from the same source as effectiveness. No long-term data on both compliance and effectiveness were available to inform longer term assumptions. |
| AEs included are those that were highlighted by the EAG's clinical experts or were reported as AEs of special interest across the clinical trials | Numerous AEs were inconsistently reported across the different trials. Data were not available on how long these AEs may have occurred for. As a standard set of AEs was required for the ECM arm to compare all modulator treatments to, only those reported consistently and highlighted by clinical experts were included |
| Patients are eligible for lung transplant once their $ppFEV_1$ reaches 30 | In line with UK clinical guidelines |
| Treatments included in ECM costs are inhaled antibiotics, dornase alfa, hypertonic saline solution, azithromycin, flucloxacillin only | Clinical experts highlighted how there is no standard treatment for patients with CF as care is multidisciplinary and individualised. Average resource use across ppFEV ₁ groups was only available for the included treatments. |
| All ECM and pulmonary exacerbation treatment costs are the same for adults and children | The majority of the included treatments for ECM use the same dosage for adults and children. For those where dosage may differ, the difference in cost of treatment was very small |
| Treatment costs for pulmonary exacerbations does not differ across $ppFEV_1$ value | Clinical experts highlighted that there is a usual standard course of treatment of 2 weeks IV antibiotics. Although some patients with worse lung function may sometimes require a longer course, data was not available to the EAG on the number of patients this applies to. |
| Utility values based on ppFEV ₁ taken from LUM/IVA trial of patients aged 12+ are assumed to apply to all treatment arms | The LUM/IVA trial was the only CFTR modulator trial included in the MTA to collect EQ-5D values |
| Disutility due to PEs applied for 30 days | In line with clinical trial data for ivacaftor monotherapy. No other EQ-5D data associated with PEs was collected from the included CFTR modulator trials |
| Utility value for post lung transplant equal to utility of patients with $ppFEV_1$ 70-90 | EAG identified systematic review of HRQoL in CF patients post lung transplant found after 5 years CF patients generally have HRQoL equal to general population. As a conservative assumption the EAG applies the same value as those with ppFEV ₁ 70-90 as clinical experts noted that patients do still have CF and any associated co-morbidities. |
| Abbreviations: CF, cystic fibrosis; CFRD, cystic fibrosis related diat | betes; CFTR, cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; |
| EAG, evidence assessment group; ECM, established clinical mana | gement; EQ-5D, euroqol-5-dimension; ELX/TEZ/IVA, |
| Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; PE | E, pulmonary exacerbations, TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; |

HRQoL, health related quality of life; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second



Table 75 also provides a comparison of the key differences between the EAG and Company model assumptions/data sources.

| Company base case | EAG base case |
|--|---|
| Baseline mortality based on Weibull model fit to UK CF Registry data 1985-2008 | Baseline mortality based on a published flexible parametric spline model fit to UK CF Registry data 2011-2015 |
| ECM decline in ppFEV ₁ with age based on linear decline model, stratified by age group | ECM decline in $ppFEV_1$ with age based on non-linear decline model |
| Relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV1 decline compared to ECM long-term: ELX/TEZ/IVA = 100% TEZ/IVA = 61.5% LUM/IVA = 42% | Relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV1 decline compared to ECM long-term: ELX/TEZ/IVA = 37.7% TEZ/IVA = 10.63% LUM/IVA = 0% |
| Pulmonary exacerbation treatment effect (rate ratio) applied for patients' lifetime | Pulmonary exacerbation treatment effect (rate ratio) applied for duration of trial period |
| No discontinuations beyond the trial period | No discontinuations past 5 years on treatment |
| Retain acute increase of ppFEV1 and WFAZ upon discontinuation | Lose acute increase of ppFEV1 and WFAZ upon discontinuation |
| Compliance rate of 80% applied to all modulator treatments beyond the trial period | Compliance rate 100% beyond the trial period |
| | Utility values based on EQ-5D collected in LUM/IVA clinical trial |
| | No additional treatment specific utility increments applied |
| Reduction in ECM costs for inpatients stay and pharmacotherapy for patients on CFTR modulator treatments | No reduction in any ECM costs for patients on CFTR modulator treatments |
| 1.5% discount rate for QALYs | 3.5% discount rate for QALYs |
| Abbroviational CE, quatia fibragia, CETD, quatia fibragia transm | ambrana conductores regulator: EAC, quidance concoment |

Table 75. Comparisons of EAG and Company model key base case assumptions

Abbreviations: CF, cystic fibrosis; CFTR, cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG, evidence assessment group; ECM, established clinical management; EQ-5D, euroqol-5-dimension; ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; PE, pulmonary exacerbations, TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; QALY, quality adjusted life years; WFAZ, weight for age z score

4.2.2 Results

4.2.2.1 Deterministic results

A summary of the deterministic cost-effectiveness results are presented in Table 76. As described in Section 4.2.1.4, the three CFTR modulator treatments included in this multiple technology appraisal (MTA) have marketing authorisation in different genotype populations and age groups. As the three modulators must be analysed within common populations to undertake incremental analyses, the EAG analyses are separated based on genotype. Pairwise (against ECM only) and fully incremental results are presented in Table 76 and Table 77. For the full incremental analysis, interventions are ordered with respect to their total cost. Interventions with higher incremental costs and lower incremental QALYs than their predecessor are considered to be dominated, by their predecessor, and are therefore removed from consideration in the final ICER calculations. When interventions have both a higher cost and QALYs then their predecessor, the ICER is calculated between those two treatments.



| Denulation | Absolute | | | Inc | remental | | ICER | |
|--------------------------------------|--|------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------|-----------|---------------|-------------------|-----------------|
| Population | Costs | QALY | LY | Costs | QALY | LY | ECM) | NHD" |
| F/F genotype | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,757,021 | -54.97 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £3,021,429 | -88.55 |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £1,078,934 | -137.11 |
| F/MF | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | | - | - | - |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £1,157,437 | -136 |
| F/Gating | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | | - | - | - |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £1,217,660 | -128 |
| F/RF | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,885,946 | -87.55 |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £1,436,940 | -114.55 |
| *Calculated with Abbreviations: E | a £30,000 willingn ELX/TEZ/IVA, Ele | ess to pay t xacaftor/tez | threshold acaftor/ivac | aftor; LUM/IVA | , Lumacaf | tor/ivacaftor | ; TEZ/IVA, Tezaca | ftor/ivacaftor; |

Table 76. Deterministic base case results compared against ECM only

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; QALY, quality adjusted life year; LY, life year; ICER, incremental cost effectiveness ratio; NHB, net health benefit, ECM, established clinical management

| 5 | Ab | solute | | Incre | ICER | | |
|---|---|--------------------------------|---------------------------|---|-----------------------------|------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Population | Costs | QALY | LY | Costs | QALY | LY | (incremental) |
| F/F genotype | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,757,021 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,290,917 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £510,269 |
| F/MF | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,157,437 |
| F/Gating | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | |
| F/RF | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | |
| Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/ QALY, quality adjusted lif management | IVA, Elexacaftor/tez fe year; LY, life yea | zacaftor/ivac r; ICER, inci | aftor; LUM remental co | /IVA, Lumacaftor/iva ost effectiveness rat | acaftor; TEZ io; ECM, es | Z/IVA, Teza stablished cl | caftor/ivacaftor; linical |

Table 77. Full incremental deterministic base case results

In addition to base case cost-effectiveness results, Table 78 reports clinical outcomes of interest for

the EAGs base case analysis.

| | ppFEV₁ change | WFAZ change | Annual rate of PE | Total lung transplants | Median survival (years) |
|--------------|------------------|-------------|----------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------|
| F/F genotype | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | | |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | |

Table 78. Key clinical outcomes from EAG base case



| F/MF genotype | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|--|-----------------------|----------------------|--|--|--|--|
| ECM | | | | | | | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | | | |
| F/Gating genotype | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | | | | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | | | |
| F/RF genotype | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | | | | | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | | | |
| Abbroviations: ELV | TEZ/IV/A Elevenette | to To conftor live conftor | | r/iveaaftar: TEZ/IV/A | Tozooftor/iv/oooftor | | | | |

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; established clinical management; PE, pulmonary exacerbations; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; WFAZ, weight for age z score

Figure 12 to Figure 15 shows the model predicted median survival curves for each genotype.

Figure 12. F/F population model predicted survival





Figure 13. F/MF population model predicted survival



Figure 14. F/Gating population model predicted survival





Figure 15. F/RF population model predicted survival



Severity modifier

As outlined in the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) methods guide,³¹ "the committee will consider the severity of the condition, defined as the future health lost by people living with the condition with standard care in the NHS". The thresholds of quality-adjusted life-year (QALY) weightings for severity are shown in Table 79.

| QALY weight | Proportional QALY shortfall | Absolute QALY shortfall | | | | |
|--|-----------------------------|-------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| 1 | Less than 0.85 | Less than 12 | | | | |
| x1.2 | 0.85 to 0.95 | 12 to 18 | | | | |
| x1.7 | At least 0.95 | At least 18 | | | | |
| Abbroviations: OALX quality adjusted life year | | | | | | |

Table 79. QALY weighting for severity modifier

obreviations: QALY, quality-adjusted life-year

The EAG calculated the absolute and proportional QALY shortfall using a published calculator by the University of York.²⁵⁶ The tool calculates the expected total QALYs for the general population matched to baseline age and sex distribution included in the economic model. The source of the general population EQ-5D-3L data used in the calculator is from the Heath Survey for England (HSE) 2014 and uses the model to estimate general population HRQoL norms by Hernandez Alava 2022,²⁵⁷ as recommended by the NICE decision support unit (DSU).



Table 80 shows the mean age and sex distribution of each genotype in the EAG model and lifetime QALYs for patients without CF. The corresponding QALY weight for each population is also shown.

| | F/F | F/MF | F/Gating | F/RF |
|------------------------|-------|-------|----------|-------|
| Mean age (years) | 20.15 | 20.91 | 20.71 | 28.61 |
| Female (%) | 51 | 51 | 52 | 55 |
| QALYs with CF | | | | |
| QALYs without CF | 22.67 | 22.52 | 22.51 | 21.10 |
| Absolute shortfall | 9.73 | 9.46 | 9.73 | 9.30 |
| Proportional shortfall | 0.43 | 0.42 | 0.43 | 0.44 |
| QALY weight | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 |

Abbreviations: F/F, *F508del* homozygous; MF, minimal function; RF, residual function; CF, cystic fibrosis; QALY, quality adjusted life year

As shown in Table 80, a severity modifier of 1 is applied to all genotypes. In order for a severity modifier of 1.2 to apply, the remaining lifetime QALYs for patients with CF would need to be 10.6 for F/F genotype, 10.5 for F/MF and F/Gating genotypes and 9 for F/RF genotype patients.

4.2.2.2 Probabilistic results

Probabilistic results of the base-case analysis will be provided in a separate addendum.

4.2.2.3 One-way sensitivity analysis

One-way deterministic sensitivity analysis (DSA) results will be provided in a separate addendum.

4.2.2.4 Scenario analysis

The EAG ran a number of scenarios to test alternative assumptions made in the model. These are described in Table 81.



Table 81. EAG scenario analyses

| | Scenario analysis | Base case | | | | |
|-----------------|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Clinic | al parameters | | | | | |
| 1 | Long-term decline in ppFEV1 modelled as an absolute reduction compared to ECM | Long-term decline in ppFEV1 modelled as a relative reduction in decline compared to ECM | | | | |
| 2 | Apply relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV ₁ decline for each CFTR modulator based on Company estimates. This would apply the value for ELX/TEZ/IVA based on the CF Registry Final Analysis (Company), and reported rates for TEZ/IVA (Company) from the Company models | Long-term decline in ppFEV ₁ for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA equal to relative reduction of 37.7%, scaled for TEZ/IVA (10.67% per year slower decline than ECM). No reduction in decline relative to ECM for patients on LUM/IVA (i.e., same long-term decline as ECM patients) | | | | |
| 3 | Apply relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV ₁ decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA based on the CF Registry Final Analysis (I AR data only]), EAG base case assumptions for TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA | Long-term decline in ppFEV ₁ for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA equal to relative reduction of 37.7%, scaled for TEZ/IVA (10.67% per year slower decline than ECM). No reduction in decline relative to ECM for patients on LUM/IVA (i.e., same long-term decline as ECM patients) | | | | |
| 4 | No separate treatment effect on pulmonary exacerbations applied. The effect on pulmonary exacerbations is therefore only due to the treatment effect on ppFEV ₁ (indirect treatment effect) | Both an indirect effect (through ppFEV1) and direct treatment effect on pulmonary exacerbations applied | | | | |
| 5 | Direct treatment effect on pulmonary exacerbations applied for the observed period equal to the long-term extension studies | Direct treatment effect on pulmonary exacerbations applied for the trial period only | | | | |
| 6 | No discontinuations beyond the observed extension study period (96 weeks or 144 weeks) as applied in the Company's model | No discontinuations beyond 5 years on treatment | | | | |
| HRQ | DL | | | | | |
| 7 | Health state utility values taken from Acaster 2015 (EQ-5D). Same as those applied in Company scenario analysis | Health state utility values (EQ-5D-3L) sourced from the LUM/IVA clinical trial | | | | |
| 8 | Pulmonary exacerbation disutility applied for 14 days | Pulmonary exacerbation disutility applied for 30 days | | | | |
| Abbre adjust | viations: F/F, <i>F508del</i> homozygous; MF, minimal functio ed life year | n; RF, residual function; CF, cystic fibrosis; QALY, quality | | | | |

The results of the scenario analyses are presented separately for each genotype and are presented as full incremental ICERs. As only ELX/TEZ/IVA has marketing authorisation for F/MF and F/Gating genotypes, the ICERs presented are equivalent to pairwise versus ECM. Across all genotypes, none of the implemented scenario analyses resulted in an ICER below the £20,000–£30,000 WTP threshold.

F/F genotype population



| | A | bsolute | | Incremental | | | |
|----------------|----------------|-------------|------------|-----------------|-------------|-------|------------|
| | Costs | QALYs | LYs | Costs | QALYs | LYs | |
| Base case | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,757,021 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,290,917 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £510,269 |
| Scenario 1: LT | ppFEV₁ declin | e absolute | reduction | | | | 1 |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,757,021 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,096,697 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £494,656 |
| Scenario 2: Co | mpany's estim | ates of LT | ppFEV₁ de | cline on modu | lator treat | ments | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £1,109,506 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,629,027 |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £569,306 |
| Scenario 3: LT | ppFEV₁ declin | e of ELX/T | EZ/IVA fro | m CF Trust FA | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,757,021 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,290,917 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £445,891 |
| Scenario 4: No | separate PE ti | reatment ef | fect | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,765,111 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,289,466 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £510,348 |
| Scenario 5: PE | treatment effe | ct applied | for extens | ion study perio | bd | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,708,555 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,290,343 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £509,822 |
| Scenario 6: No | discontinuatio | on beyond | the extens | ion study peri | od | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,776,404 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,273,837 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £511,668 |
| Scenario 7: EQ | -5D values fro | m Acaster | 2015 | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - |



| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £4,125,528 | | | |
|-----------------|---|--|--|---|---|---|------------|--|--|--|
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,409,324 | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £568,943 | | | |
| Scenario 8: Pul | Scenario 8: Pulmonary exacerbation disutility applied for 14 days | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,764,160 | | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,294,692 | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £511,058 | | | |

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; QALY, quality adjusted life year; LY, life year; ICER, incremental cost effectiveness ratio; ECM, established clinical management; EQ-5D, Euroqol 5-dimension; PE, pulmonary exacerbation; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; LT, long-term; FA, final analysis; CF, cystic fibrosis

F/MF population

| | Absolute | | | lı | | | | | | |
|--|------------------|---------------|-------------|----------------|--------------|-----|------------|--|--|--|
| | Costs | QALYs | LYs | Costs | QALYs | LYs | IGER | | | |
| Base case | | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,157,437 | | | |
| Scenario 1: LT ppFEV ₁ decline absolute reduction | | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,100,200 | | | |
| Scenario 2: Co | ompany's estin | nates of LT p | opFEV₁ decl | line on modula | tor treatmer | nts | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £994,703 | | | |
| Scenario 3: LT | ppFEV₁ decli | ne of ELX/TE | Z/IVA from | CF Trust FA | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £960,714 | | | |
| Scenario 4: No | o separate PE t | reatment eff | fect | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,157,815 | | | |
| Scenario 5: PE | E treatment effe | ect applied f | or extensio | n study period | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,156,590 | | | |
| Scenario 6: No discontinuation beyond the extension study period | | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,157,510 | | | |
| Scenario 7: EC | Q-5D values fro | om Acaster 2 | 2015 | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |



| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,273,093 | | | |
|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|------------|--|--|--|
| Scenario 8: Pulmonary exacerbation disutility applied for 14 days | | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,159,759 | | | |
| Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; QALY, quality adjusted life year; LY, life year; ICER, incremental cost effectiveness ratio; ECM, established clinical management; EQ-5D, Euroqol 5-dimension; PE, pulmonary exacerbation; ppFEV ₁ , percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; LT, long-term; FA, final analysis; CF, cystic fibrosis | | | | | | | | | | |

F/Gating population

| | | Absolute | | lı | | | | | | |
|--|---------------------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|-----|------------|--|--|--|
| | Costs | QALYs | LYs | Costs | QALYs | LYs | IVER | | | |
| Base case | | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,217,660 | | | |
| Scenario 1: LT ppFEV ₁ decline absolute reduction | | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,145,961 | | | |
| Scenario 2: Co | ompany's estin | nates of LT p | pFEV₁ dec | line on modula | tor treatmer | its | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,031,049 | | | |
| Scenario 3: LT | ppFEV ₁ declin | ne of ELX/TE | Z/IVA from | CF Trust FA | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £989,864 | | | |
| Scenario 4: No | separate PE t | reatment eff | ect | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,217,822 | | | |
| Scenario 5: PE | treatment effe | ect applied f | or extensio | n study period | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,216,632 | | | |
| Scenario 6: No | discontinuati | on beyond t | he extensio | n study period | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,217,744 | | | |
| Scenario 7: EC | -5D values fro | om Acaster 2 | 015 | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,351,241 | | | |
| Scenario 8: Pu | Imonary exact | erbation dis | utility applie | ed for 14 days | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,220,315 | | | |



Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; QALY, quality adjusted life year; LY, life year; ICER, incremental cost effectiveness ratio; ECM, established clinical management; EQ-5D, Euroqol 5-dimension; PE, pulmonary exacerbation; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; LT, long-term; FA, final analysis; CF, cystic fibrosis

| | A | osolute | | li | | | | | |
|--|----------------------------|---------------|------------|----------------|--------------|-----|------------|--|--|
| | Costs | QALYs | LYs | Costs | QALYs | LYs | IGER | | |
| Base case | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,885,946 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £818,427 | | |
| Scenario 1: LT ppFEV ₁ decline absolute reduction | | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,760,086 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £683,888 | | |
| Scenario 2: Co | ompany's estima | tes of LT ppl | FEV₁ decli | ine on modula | tor treatmen | ts | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,153,559 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,092,091 | | |
| Scenario 3: LT | ppFEV ₁ decline | of ELX/TEZ/ | IVA from | CF Trust FA | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,885,946 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £570,561 | | |
| Scenario 4: No | o separate PE tre | atment effec | t | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,886,328 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £818,596 | | |
| Scenario 5: PE | E treatment effect | t applied for | extension | study period | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,883,408 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £817,100 | | |
| Scenario 6: No | o discontinuation | beyond the | extension | n study period | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,880,990 | | |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £817,512 | | |
| Scenario 7: EC | Q-5D values from | Acaster 201 | 5 | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | | |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,139,002 | | |

F/RF population





Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; QALY, quality adjusted life year; LY, life year; ICER, incremental cost effectiveness ratio; ECM, established clinical management; EQ-5D, Euroqol 5-dimension; PE, pulmonary exacerbation; ppFEV₁, percent predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second; LT, long-term; FA, final analysis; CF, cystic fibrosis

Additional exploratory analysis

As noted in Section 1.3.2, clinical experts suggested that ELX/TEZ/IVA may prevent any further lung decline from occurring if initiated in the youngest population treatable (<2). The EAG wanted to run an incident population of patient 2 years old through the model to explore the effect of assuming not lung decline for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA when all patients start treatment at age 2 (potentially prior to any irreversible lung or pancreatic damage). However, due to limitations of the model (see Section 4.2.3.3) this was not possible. The EAG instead implemented an additional exploratory scenario in the prevalent population. In this scenario, patients treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA received the acute increase in ppFEV₁ and no further decline. In addition, the direct treatment effect of ELX/TEZ/IVA on PEs is assumed to apply for a patient's lifetime. As this exploratory scenario essentially assumes that patients lung function decline is restored to normal, a 1.5% discount rate for both costs and benefits is applied. Although the EAG believes the 1.5% discount rate may be applicable in this exploratory scenario, this is only the case if the assumption that avoiding further lung decline throughout a patient's life would equate to living in full or near full health. The EAG notes that this is a liberal assumption and the ICERs presented below would be higher if this did not apply.

Both the pairwise (against ECM only) and fully incremental results are provided below. The EAG notes that due to the use of the 1.5% discount rate applied in this scenario, a severity modifier of 1.2 is applicable. The EAG notes that despite applying liberal assumptions on the effectiveness of ELX/TEZ/IVA in the long-term for all patients in the prevalent population and a severity weighting of 1.2 applied, the ICERs are still not considered cost-effective due to the high acquisition costs of treatment.



| | | | | 1 | | | | |
|------------------|-----------------|---------------|--------------|----------------|------------|---------------|----------------------|-----------------------|
| Population | At | osolute | | Inc | cremental | | ICER (no severity | ICER (severity |
| | Costs | QALY | LY | Costs | QALY | LY | weighting) | weighting applied) |
| F/F genotype | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,138,713 | £2,615,594 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £2,384,569 | £1,987,141 |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £875,875 | £729,896 |
| F/MF | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £927,245 | £772,705 |
| F/Gating | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £988,961 | £824,134 |
| F/RF | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,658,937 | £1,382,448 |
| IVA/TEZ/ELX | | | | | | | £1,194,932 | £995,776 |
| Abbreviations: E | LX/TEZ/IVA, Ele | exacaftor/tez | zacaftor/iva | caftor; LUM/IV | A, Lumacat | ftor/ivacafto | or; TEZ/IVA, Tezad | caftor/ivacaftor; |

Table 82. Additional exploratory scenario analyses, pairwise results

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/ivacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; QALY, quality adjusted life year; LY, life year; ICER, incremental cost effectiveness ratio; NHB, net health benefit, ECM, established clinical management

Table 83. Additional exploratory scenario analyses, fully incremental analysis results

| Population | Absolute | | | Inc | remental | | ICER (no severity | ICER (severity |
|--------------|----------|------|----|-------|----------|----|-----------------------|----------------------|
| | Costs | QALY | LY | Costs | QALY | LY | weighting applied) | weighting applied |
| F/F genotype | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |
| LUM/IVA | | | | | | | £3,138,713 | £2,615,594 |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,740,393 | £1,450,328 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £455,228 | £379,357 |
| F/MF | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |



| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £927,245 | £722,705 |
|--------------------|--------------|--------------|-----------|----------------|-------------|------------|-------------------------|--------------------|
| F/Gating | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £988,961 | £824,134 |
| F/RF | | | | | | | | |
| ECM | | | | - | - | - | - | - |
| TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £1,658,937 | £1,382,448 |
| ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | £669,678 | £558,065 |
| Abbreviations: ELX | X/TEZ/IVA. E | lexacaftor/t | ezacaftor | /ivacaftor: LL | JM/IVA. Lur | nacaftor/i | vacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Teza | acaftor/ivacaftor: |

Abbreviations: ELX/TEZ/IVA, Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor; LUM/IVA, Lumacaftor/ivacaftor; TEZ/IVA, Tezacaftor/ivacaftor; QALY, quality adjusted life year; LY, life year; ICER, incremental cost effectiveness ratio; ECM, established clinical management

4.2.2.5 Model validation

A health economist was responsible for the specification and development of the MTA model. A second health economist was responsible for validating model assumptions and performing a detailed quality assurance of the MTA model. A health economist, not involved in the MTA project, performed an independent review of the MTA model, including face validity checks and black and white box testing of the model.

The EAG's clinical experts were involved with validating key assumptions in the model to ensure clinical validity of model inputs and outputs as well as peer review of the report.

4.2.3 Discussion

4.2.3.1 Summary of key results

The purpose of this MTA was to assess the cost-effectiveness of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor, lumacaftor/ivacaftor and tezacaftor/ivacaftor for the treatment of people with cystic fibrosis (CF) with at least one *F508del* mutation. All results shown in this report are based on list prices for all drugs.

All three CFTR modulator treatments have marketing authorisation for F/F patients, however the age at which these treatments are available to patients differs. LUM/IVA has marketing authorisation for patients aged \geq 1, TEZ/IVA aged \geq 6 and ELX/TEZ/IVA has aged \geq 2 (expected marketing authorisation will be granted by time of publication for 2–5 year olds). Therefore, in the economic model, any patients who start the model in each arm before the marketing authorisation age for that specific treatment receives ECM only. None of the ICERs in the base case results were below the NICE recommend willingness to pay (WTP) threshold of £20-000–£30,000. The base case full incremental analysis results suggest that ELX/TEZ/IVA is the most cost-effective of the three modulator treatments in the F/F population, with an ICER of £510,269. LUM/IVA was the least cost-effective with an ICER of £3,757,021. This was a result of small incremental QALY gains, as the EAG base case assumes the same long-term decline in ppFEV₁ as ECM on LUM/IVA, and large incremental costs due to the high acquisition costs of CFTR modulator treatments.

In the F/MF and F/Gating population, only ELX/TEZ/IVA is available. Base case deterministic results were similar across the two populations when compared to ECM, with ICERs of £1,157,437 and £1,217,660, respectively.

In the F/RF population, both TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA have marketing authorisation. The full incremental results suggest that ELX/TEZ/IVA is the most cost-effective of the two treatments, producing both higher costs and higher QALYs than TEZ/IVA, with a resulting ICER of £818,427 compared to the TEZ/IVA ICER of £1,885,946.

ELX/TEZ/IVA had the greatest impact on the annual rate of pulmonary exacerbations (PE), ppFEV₁ decline, improvement in median survival and rate of lung transplants in every genotype. This translated into greater improvements in both life years (LYs) and quality adjusted life years (QALYs) than LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA.

The EAG ran a range of scenarios to test the impact on the ICER of alternative assumptions and data inputs for key parameters. Across all genotypes, none of the implemented scenarios resulted in an ICER below the NICE willingness to pay (WTP) threshold of £20,000–£30,000.

Scenario 1 examined the consequences of applying an absolute rather than relative reduction in the rate of ppFEV¹ decline for ELX/TEZ/IVA. This reduced the ICERs by a small amount, however the EAG does not consider applying an absolute reduction of 0.49 (ELX/TEZ/IVA) to older patients to be clinically plausible. This is because the assumed rate of decline for older patients using the non-linear model of Szczesniak is already close to 0.49, (0.70 or smaller for F/F, F/MF and F/Gating individuals from aged 40, and 0.61 or smaller for F/RF from aged 40). As such, applying the absolute reductions in ppFEV₁ for these age groups is likely to overestimate the reduction in ppFEV₁ decline that these



individuals would experience, i.e., the EAG considers the estimated relative reduction to be more transportable to these individuals.

Across all populations, the assumptions on the long-term effectiveness of CFTR modulator treatments on ppFEV₁ decline had the greatest impact. The EAG considers the two scenarios changing the long-term effectiveness assumptions (scenario 2 and 3), to be optimistic and likely to overestimate the effect of CFTR modulators, as previously discussed. Scenario 2 applied the relative reduction in the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline based on the Company's analyses. This applied a rate of for LUM/IVA, for for TEZ/IVA, both taken from the Company models, and for ELX/TEZ/IVA, calculated by the EAG from the Final Analysis of the Data Collection Agreement of UK CF Registry Data. Based on the full incremental analysis, this resulted in reduced ICERs in all genotypes for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA. However, in the F/F and F/RF genotype populations, the ICER for ELX/TEZ/IVA increased. Although the LYs and QALYs increased compared to base case for TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA in both of these genotypes, the effect was more prominent in the TEZ/IVA

Scenario 3 changed the assumptions made on the long-term effectiveness of ELX/TEZ/IVA only, applying the relative rate of decline of , calculated from Final Analysis of the Data Collection Agreement of UK CF Registry Data,¹⁶⁴ while keeping the rates for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA the same as the EAG base case. The calculated rate of decline is based on the mixed effects model which estimates the annual rate of change in ppFEV₁ using data captured during annual reviews only. This was a planned sensitivity analysis undertaken as part of the Final Analysis. This analysis excludes encounter data as this was not available in the historical comparison cohort. The EAG preferred this sensitivity analysis as it was considered plausible that data collected at encounters may include more measurements during periods of clinical instability than data collected at annual reviews. However, the EAG considers that the most appropriate analysis, that was not provided by the Company, would have included all available data and appropriately modelled the impact of review type on ppFEV₁, rather than analysing subsets of the data.

Both scenarios 4 and 5 changed the assumptions on the direct treatment effect of CFTR modulators on PEs. Scenario 4 assumed no separate direct treatment effect on PEs, therefore the effect on PEs is only due to the treatment effect on ppFEV₁. This had a minimal impact on the ICERs across all genotypes, with the largest impact observed in LUM/IVA F/F genotype (+~£7000). Scenario 5 extended the time period that the direct treatment effect on PEs was applied for from the acute trial

BMJ TAG

period to that of the long-term extension studies. This also had a minimal impact on the ICERs, except for LUM/IVA (F/F genotype) which resulted in a reduction in the ICER of £48,466. As the incremental QALYs are so small for ECM compared to LUM/IVA, this small increase in incremental QALYs, alongside a reduction in costs, has a large impact on the resulting ICER. However, relative to the base-case ICER for LUM/IVA, this change only equates to a 1.29% decrease.

Clinical experts stated that CFTR modulators are generally well tolerated yet they do see patients discontinue treatment for various reason beyond the first few years on treatment. Therefore, the EAG's base case assumed no further discontinuations after 5 years on treatment. Scenario 6 explored the impact of changing this time period to the observed extension study period only (96 weeks or 144 weeks), as applied in the Company's models. This did not have a substantial impact on any of the ICERs across all genotypes.

Scenario 7 applied alternative EQ-5D values from Acaster 2015.²¹⁴ These values were lower than those applied in the EAG base case. This resulted in lower incremental QALYs across all comparisons, and therefore higher ICERs. The utility values applied in this scenario are based on 401 UK participants with a self-reported clinical diagnosis of CF, 18 years or above. Therefore, there is potential selection bias in the recruitment of this study. The EAG notes that the alternative utility values resulted in a change in the magnitude of the ICERs for all genotypes and CFTR modulator treatments, but not in the direction of the results.

Reducing the duration of the disutility value applied for PEs to 14 days from 30 days (scenario 8) did not have a substantial impact on any of the ICERs.

The EAG also implemented an additional exploratory scenario to investigate the impact of ELX/TEZ/IVA preventing any long-term lung decline post treatment initiation. This exploratory scenario also assumes that the direct treatment effect of ELX/TEZ/IVA on the rate of pulmonary exacerbations last for a lifetime. Although this scenario resulted in lower ICERs for ELX/TEZ/IVA compared to the base case, they were still not below the £30,000 threshold, despite a severity modifier of 1.2 being applied, a 1.5% discount rate and highly optimistic assumptions regarding the long-term effectiveness of ELX/TEZ/IVA.

4.2.3.2 Generalisability of results

The perspective of the analysis reflects NHS England and therefore results are generalisable to CF patients in England. When available, the EAG used the most up to date evidence reflective of the

population in England. Clinical experts consulted by the EAG confirmed that the populations included in clinical trials used to inform the baseline characteristics of the modelled population and effectiveness evidence can be generalised to the UK population. In addition, as the EAG analyses utilises CF Trust data, results are inherently generalisable to patients in the UK. However, the population included in the clinical trials excluded patients with a baseline ppFEV₁ of lower than 40. Therefore, the modelled population excludes those with patients with the worst lung function and results may not be generalisable to these patients.

The EAG analyses are based on the prevalent population including all ages of patients, with a mean age of 21. Clinical experts to the EAG noted that if ELX/TEZ/IVA is initiated in very young patients, such as age 1 to 2, this may avoid long-term lung damage and could potential provide "near normal" lifetime lung function. Therefore, an incident CF population that begins treatment prior to any irreversible lung or pancreatic damage may experience greater benefits in treatment with ELX/TEZ/IVA. However, this was not able to be modelled in the EAG's model.

4.2.3.3 Strengths and limitations of analysis

A key strength of the EAG's analysis is that all three interventions in the final NICE scope are included within the same economic model and compared against each other in an incremental analysis. The EAG analysis follows the NICE final scope and incorporates the current and expected marketing authorisations for the three included modulator treatments.

The EAG's base case cost-effectiveness results differ largely from the Company's models. However, due to the EAG separating their analyses based on genotype and including younger age groups to reflect recent marketing authorisation, the results are not directly comparable. Due to the EAG being required to compare patients across all three treatments when they are eligible to start different modulator therapies at different ages, the EAG model includes some patients on ECM prior to being able to start TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA, in line with their marketing authorisation. As the Company submitted separate models for each modulator therapy, compared only with ECM, this was not a feature in the Company's models.

Nonetheless, there are other fundamental differences between the EAG's approach and the Company's models which are driving the differences in cost-effectiveness. The EAG used a more recent baseline mortality hazard based on UK CF Registry data from 2011–2015,²³⁶ which included survival estimates for male and female patients with either *F508del* homozygous or heterozygous.

Therefore, the EAG was able to use separate baseline mortality hazards based on a patient's sex and genotype. In addition, the EAG applied a non-linear decline in ppFEV₁ over time for patients on ECM, which resulted in a slower rate of decline for patients aged 25+ than that applied in the Company's models using a linear decline. This was in line with the EAG's clinical experts who suggested you would expect to see a slower rate of decline for patients after age 30 than that suggested from the Company's approach.

The EAG's model predicts a median age of death for patients on ECM ranging from 45–50, depending on genotype. The EAG's clinical experts stated they expect median survival for patients on ECM to be mid 40s and therefore the EAG's model predicted value is in line with this. This is also very similar to the estimated survival age beyond which 50% live as reported by Keogh 2018²³⁶ based on UK CF Registry data for patients conditional on being alive until age 20 (46.8 for males *F508del* heterozygous). As the average age of patients in the model is 21, this comparison also provides further validation of the EAG's model to predict ECM survival. The median survival for ECM patients from the Company's model for ELX/TEZ/IVA was 38 years old, which the EAG deemed too low based on recent advances in treatment and care for CF patients prior to the use of CFTR modulators and on comparison to recent estimated median survival in the UK CF Registry. The Company's baseline mortality hazard is based on UK CF Registry data from 1985-2008 and clinical experts to the EAG noted how care, and in turn survival, has improved since this time. Therefore, the EAGs approach better reflects survival under current care. Combined with the use of a non-linear decline in ppFEV₁ over time, this explains the difference between the EAG and Company's median predicted survival.

Despite the strengths of the EAG's approach, there were a number of limitations that required assumptions to be made within the analyses. A key uncertainty in the model due to a lack of long-term data is on treatment effectiveness for each CFTR modulator over a patient's lifetime, as discussed in Section 3.3.3. Therefore, assumptions using the best available evidence were made by the EAG. As shown in the EAG's scenario analyses, the ICERs were most sensitive to these assumptions.

The model structure uses an individual microsimulation model, in which a Cox proportional hazards (CPH) model developed by Liou *et al.* 2001¹⁷² is used to predict patient survival based on nine baseline characteristics and demographic variables. The CPH model was based on a historical USA dataset and has not been validated on the UK population. However, clinical experts advising the EAG stated that they would not expect there to be significant differences between the two populations.

The CPH model was not developed or validated to assess the impact on mortality due to changes in an individual's characteristics over time, such as an acute increase in ppFEV₁. Therefore, it is unknown what the impact of using the model in this way would be on changes to other covariates in the model. In addition, the patient population used to develop the CPH model had a mean age of 18 and it is likely that a small number of patients aged >50 were included in the sample. As ppFEV₁ is not a clinical outcome measured in patients aged <6, these patients were also not included in the dataset used to develop the CPH. If the prediction of mortality is substantially different for younger or older ages, then the current model used may inaccurately predict survival for these patients. When the EAG attempted to model an incident population (all start aged 2) to explore the effect of ELX/TEZ/IVA providing a lifetime benefit and preventing any future decline in lung health if started at a young age, the model overestimated survival for patients on ECM and therefore plausible estimates of cost-effectiveness in the scenario were not possible to obtain. Despite these limitations of the model structure, the EAG notes that the models median predicted survival for ECM in the EAG's base case is in line with clinical experts opinion and recent data from the CF Registry.

Data on changes in infection rates over time were not able to be included in the model due to a lack of available data on prevalence rates, and therefore how these may change over time with age or following treatment with CFTR modulators. Clinical experts noted that respiratory infections are associated with decline in lung function and that there is some evidence of CFTR modulators reducing *Pseudomonas* prevalence. It is unknown what the impact of changes in infections over time might be on the cost-effectiveness results, but this may have underestimated the benefits of CFTR modulator treatments.

When data were not available, assumptions were made regarding the best available evidence to apply. For patients aged <6 in the model, when evidence was not available from clinical trials or lacked face validity, the EAG assumed equal efficacy as patients aged 6–11. This is likely to be a conservative assumption as younger patients may receive greater benefit long term as less lung damage has occurred and treatment may also prevent infections in very young patients developing. In addition, patient level data were not available for patients aged <6. Therefore, a subset of patients with the same characteristics as individuals aged 6–8 was created in order to be able to model these patients. Although this involved resampling patients already in the patient population, using individuals aged 6-8 ensured that patients as similar in age as possible to the cohort being created were used, without overly reducing the number of patients available to sample from, and the resulting heterogeneity in characteristics.
The NICE reference case states that health related quality of life (HRQoL) should be measured using the EQ-5D, with data taken directly from the trials being the preferred source of data. Unfortunately, EQ-5D data was only collected in one of the CFTR modulator trials (LUM/IVA).⁴² Therefore, the EAG applied the values obtained from patients within the LUM/IVA study to all treatment arms in the model. This was based on *F508del* homozygous patients aged \geq 12 and therefore these values were assumed to also be representative of *F508del* heterozygous patients aged <12.

The model structure uses an individual patient simulation model developed in Microsoft Excel[®]. When testing different common random number sets, which were used to reduce variance and model run times, there was still some variation in the ICER for LUM/IVA; however the EAG did not deem this to change the overall conclusions. In addition, due to the significant run time of the model and requirements of deterministic and probabilistic sensitivity analyses to be completed, running a greater number of patients was not possible. This is a common limitation with patient level simulation models²³⁸ and future research could look to adapt this model into a faster processing computer package.

A consideration for clinical practice that could not be explored within the MTA was treatment sequencing. In the EAG model, patients are treated with ECM until eligible to start each CFTR modulator, based on age. In clinical practice, patients may start on a CFTR modulator at the youngest age possible, such as LUM/IVA and then switch to a different CFTR modulator once they reach the age at which a more effective treatment holds marketing authorisation (i.e. TEZ/IVA or ELX/TEZ/IVA). In addition, patients who discontinue a CFTR modulator in the model move to ECM only. If more than one CFTR modulator was available in routine clinical practice, patients may be started on another upon discontinuation.



5 Assessment of factors relevant to the NHS and other parties

The Evidence Assessment Group (EAG) considers that all factors relevant to the National Health Service (NHS) and other parties are captured within the clinical and cost-effectiveness analyses.

However, the EAG analyses are based on the prevalent population including all ages of patients, with a mean age of 21. Clinical experts to the EAG noted that if ELX/TEZ/IVA is initiated in very young patients, such as age 1 to 2, this may avoid long-term lung damage and could potential provide "near normal" lifetime lung function. Therefore, the incident CF population may experience greater benefits in treatment with ELX/TEZ/IVA.



6 Discussion

6.1 Statement of principle findings

This multiple technology appraisal (MTA) evaluated the clinical and cost effectiveness of lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA), tezacaftor-ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) and elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA) for treating cystic fibrosis compared to each other and established clinical management (ECM) in England and Wales. The populations considered within the scope of this appraisal followed the current or expected marketing authorisation of each intervention:

- LUM/IVA: people with CF aged 1+ years who were homozygous for the F508del mutation (F/F genotype);
- TEZ/IVA: people with CF aged 6+ years who were homozygous for the *F508del* mutation (F/F genotype) or had one F508del copy heterozygous with an eligible residual function mutation (F/RF genotype);
- ELX/TEZ/IVA: people with CF aged 2+ years who were homozygous for the F508del mutation (F/F genotype) or had one F508del copy heterozygous with an eligible residual function mutation (F/RF genotype), minimal function mutation (F/MF genotype) or gating mutation (F/Gating genotype).

The EAG's clinical experts stated that a person with CF should be treated with a CFTR modulator as soon as they become eligible. To assess the clinical effectiveness of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA, the EAG focused on three clinical outcomes used to predict survival for people with CF: acute and long-term changes in ppFEV₁; the rate of pulmonary exacerbations; and weight-for-age *z*-score. Treatment with ELX/TEZ/IVA was associated with large and statistically significant increases in ppFEV₁ and increase in weight-for-age *z*-score across CF genotypes and ages where ppFEV₁ is recorded. In the EAG's microsimulation, this translated into a predicted survival benefit for the prevalent population of CF individuals recruited in clinical trials of **100**, **100**, **100**, **100**, **100**, **100**, years in comparison to ECM in the F/F, F/Gating, F/MF and F/RF genotypes, respectively. Effect sizes were attenuated in the F/RF population, which is likely due to the F/RF genotype being associated with a milder CF phenotype at baseline. While not measured consistently across clinical trials and genotypes, ELX/TEZ/IVA reduced the rate of pulmonary exacerbations requiring IV antibiotics relative to LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ECM.

Compared to ELX/TEZ/IVA, LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA had smaller but still statistically significant increases in ppFEV₁ and reductions in pulmonary exacerbations compared to ECM, when reported. While LUM/IVA was associated with a statistically significant, but small, acute increase in weight-forage z-score compared to ECM, TEZ/IVA was not associated with a statistically significant increase in weight-for-age z-score compared to ECM during the acute phase of the clinical trials.

Despite no validated minimum clinically important differences for ppFEV₁, weight-for-age z-score or pulmonary exacerbations, the EAG's clinical experts considered the effect sizes associated with ELX/TEZ/IVA to be clinically meaningful, and like to be associated with increased survival and a reduced rate of pulmonary exacerbations in people with CF. As ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z-scores predict survival, the EAG considers the smaller response to LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA to also likely be clinically meaningful, but notes the magnitude of the effects are considerably smaller than for ELX/TEZ/IVA. This is visible in the results of the EAG's patient simulation model, in which the incremental life years gained was gained was gains in comparison to ECM in the F/F genotype for LUM/IVA, and gain gains in comparison to ECM in the F/F genotypes for TEZ/IVA, respectively.

The EAG considers the key clinical trials of CFTR modulators to have good generalisability to clinical practice in England and Wales, and notes that acute effects similar to those observed in clinical trials have also been observed in the UK CF Register following the managed access agreements. The EAG considers there to be some uncertainty about the generalisability of the trial results to people with $ppFEV_1 < 40\%$ and $ppFEV_1 \ge 90\%$, who were excluded from clinical trials of people aged 12+ years. However, the EAG notes that:

- For people with ppFEV₁ ≥90%: the effects of CFTR modulators are likely more visible in the prevention of long-term lung decline rather than acute effects on ppFEV₁ and pulmonary exacerbations;
- For people with CF and ppFEV₁ <40%: these individuals have advance lung disease and may be candidates for transplant. There is real-world evidence that such patients experience acute increases in ppFEV₁ in-line with the magnitude observed for people with ppFEV₁>40% for ELX/TEZ/IVA, although the response is more uncertain for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA. However, if CFTR modulator therapies are approved for routine commissioning in England



and Wales they would be initiated prior to an individual's ppFEV₁ declining to less than 40% in the incident population.

The major outstanding uncertainty following the clinical evaluation in this MTA concerns the longterm effectiveness of CFTR modulator therapies. Where uncontrolled long-term data are available, follow-up is often limited to 2 to 4 years, meaning that the effects of CFTR combination therapies over a lifetime are highly uncertain. The EAG considers this uncertainty to be heightened for ELX/TEZ/IVA, in which the majority of long-term data are from uncontrolled clinical trials and realworld data, where data collection windows overlapped substantially with the COVID-19 pandemic. In the absence of robust data from ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA or LUM/IVA to inform the long-term effectiveness of CFTR modulator combination therapies, the EAG considered data from a long-term study of IVA monotherapy in people with CF and gating mutations to be the most robust source of data that could approximate the long-term rate of ppFEV₁ decline for people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA compared to ECM, namely a relative reduction of 33%. The EAG scaled this decline down for TEZ/IVA based on the relative magnitude of the acute effect of TEZ/IVA compared to ELX/TEZ/IVA, as the placebo-controlled phase and open label extension studies of TEZ/IVA were consistent with some slowing of the rate of decline of ppFEV₁ compared to ECM. For LUM/IVA, the EAG did not apply a slowing of the rate of decline of ppFEV₁ compared to ECM.

The National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) typically considers interventions a costeffective use of the National Health Service (NHS) resources if the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) sits below a £20,000–£30,000 threshold. None of the EAG's base case ICERs (both pairwise versus ECM alone or full incremental results) would be considered to be cost-effective.

The differences in the clinical effectiveness between the three modulator treatments was observed in the cost-effectiveness results, with ELX/TEZ/IVA having the lowest ICERs when compared to LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA in the populations in which more than one CFTR modulator is available. The difference between LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA in the F/F population were less substantial, in line with the outcomes observed in the clinical data. ELX/TEZ/IVA also had the most substantial difference in clinical outcomes predicted by the economic model, namely the annual rate of pulmonary exacerbations, proportion of patients requiring lung transplant and change in both ppFEV₁ and WFAZ score. For the F/F population, all three modulator treatments have marketing authorisation. The ICERs from the full incremental analysis within the population were £3,757,021; £2,290,917 and £510,269 for LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA respectively.

In the F/MF and F/Gating population, only ELX/TEZ/IVA is available. Base case deterministic results were similar across the two populations when compared to ECM, with ICERs of £1,157,437 and £1,217,660, respectively.

In the F/RF population, both TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA have marketing authorisation. The full incremental results suggest that ELX/TEZ/IVA is the most cost-effective of the two treatments, producing both higher costs and higher QALYs than TEZ/IVA, with a resulting ICER of £818,427 compared to the TEZ/IVA ICER of £1,885,946.

The EAG ran a range of scenarios to explore the impact of different assumptions. The EAG notes that in all analyses, incremental QALYs were relatively small for TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA, with high incremental costs, resulting in sensitive ICERs. This was seen with changes in magnitude of the ICERs but not direction of results, with all scenario analyses resulting in the same conclusions as the base case analysis.

The key drivers of cost-effectiveness for all genotype populations were the long-term assumptions of the treatment effect of CFTR modulators on ppFEV₁ decline. As discussed above, this is also the main outstanding uncertainty following the clinical evaluation in this MTA. When applying the long-term rate of decline in ppFEV₁ (relative to ECM) for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA from the Company's analyses and the calculated rate of decline from the Final Analysis of the Data Collection Agreement of UK CF Registry Data, the full incremental analysis ICERs showed the greatest impact for LUM/IVA in the F/F population. The increase in incremental QALYs was greater for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA than ELX/TEZ/IVA in the F/F population, resulting in a higher ICER when compared to TEZ/IVA in the full incremental analysis when compared to the base case results. In the F/MF and F/Gating populations, in which only ELX/TEZ/IVA has marketing authorisation, the ICERs were reduced. Despite the scenarios on the long-term effectiveness having the most significant impact on the ICERs, none of these fell below the cost-effective range of £20,000–£30,000 per QALY gained. In addition, the EAG notes that the rates applied in these scenarios are considered by the EAG to be overly optimistic of the long-term effectiveness. However, due to the high uncertainty of the long-term effectiveness of



the CFTR modulators, the EAG deems these scenarios to potentially provide a lowest estimate of the likely ICERs achieved.

The EAG notes that the use of alternative assumptions around the direct treatment effect of CFTR modulators on pulmonary exacerbations (PEs) and discontinuations to have a minimal impact on the ICERs.

The use of alternative utility values was explored, using EQ-5D values which were lower than those applied in the EAG base case. This resulted in lower incremental QALYs across all comparisons, and therefore higher ICERs.

6.2 Strengths and limitations of the assessment

A strength of the EAG's clinical analyses is the combination of the EAG's systematic literature review and unpublished data provided by the Company through Study CSRs and *ad hoc* analyses to have relatively complete outcome data for the key acute clinical parameters of interest, with consistent outcome definitions between studies. Due to the availability of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA through managed access agreements in the UK, and other countries, in years prior to this MTA, the EAG was able to:

- Use real-world data on the use of CFTR modulators to inform the clinical and costeffectiveness modelling, and;
- Receive input from clinical experts with years of experience of treating patients with CFTR modulators.

The EAG notes the contribution of the UK CF Registry in providing a rich source of data on over 99% of people with CF in the UK – in particular, the enriched data collection that was part of the Data Collection Agreement. However, despite the availability of real-world evidence in the UK and elsewhere, analyses of these data were limited due to the uncertain impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on clinical outcomes and lung function of people with CF. The EAG notes additional uncertainty due to the serial nature of uptake of CFTR modulators: the EAG's clinical experts considered that most eligible patients would have moved from treatment with ECM only to LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA once available, and then subsequently to ELX/TEZ/IVA. As the real-world uptake of CFTR modulator therapies was rapid and widespread once available, contemporaneous control cohorts were unavailable.



The key strength of the EAG's economic assessment is that all three CFTR modulator interventions in the NICE final scope are included within the same economic model and compared against each other in a fully incremental analysis. The EAG analysis follows the NICE final scope and incorporates the current and expected marketing authorisations for the three included modulator treatments. Due to this, the EAG's cost effectiveness results are not directly comparable to the Company's due to including additional age groups. A further strength of the EAG's analysis compared to the Company's is that it follows the NICE reference case.

The EAG's economic model uses a baseline mortality hazard which is specific to the *F508del* population, based on a published flexible parametric cubic spline model fit to UK CF Registry data 2011-2015. The use of a flexible parametric model can provide a better fit to the data that may not be achievable with standard parametric survival models.

In addition, the EAG applied a non-linear decline in ppFEV₁ over time for patients on ECM, which resulted in a slower rate of decline for patients aged 25+ than that applied in the Company's models using a linear decline. This was in line with the EAG's clinical experts who suggested you would expect to see a slower rate of decline for patients after age 30 than that suggested from the Company's approach.

The EAG's model predicts a median age of death for patients on ECM ranging from 45–50, depending on genotype, which is in line with the EAG's clinical experts opinion on expecting median survival for patients on ECM to be mid-40s. For the F/F population, the Company's model for ELX/TEZ/IVA predicted a median survival of **Section**, which the EAG's clinical experts suggested was too low.

A key limitation of the EAG's economic analysis, which also applies to the Company's economic models, is the use of a Cox proportional hazards model (CPH) developed using historical data applied to a population in the United States (US). This model was not developed or validated to assess the impact on mortality due to changes in an individual's characteristics over time but instead to predict mortality based on a set of patient characteristics measured at one point in time. In addition, further patient characteristics that are not included in the CPH may be important predictors of survival. Despite these limitations of the model structure, the EAG notes that the models median predicted survival for ECM is in line with clinical experts opinion and recent data from the CF Registry. Further limitations of the EAG's economic analysis include a lack of EQ-5D data from clinical trials for each CFTR modulator treatment, meaning EQ-5D data from the LUM/IVA trial was applied to all populations. Patient level data were not available for patients aged <6 included in the model, therefore patients aged 6–8 were resampled and assumed to represent patients <6. In clinical practice, these patients may be healthier as less lung damage may have occurred. Therefore, the benefit of CFTR modulator treatment may be greater than that modelled in these patients.

6.3 Uncertainties

As noted in Section 6.1, the major outstanding uncertainty following the clinical evaluation in this MTA concerns the long-term effectiveness of CFTR modulator therapies. Where uncontrolled long-term data are available, follow-up is often limited to 2 to 4 years, meaning that the effects of CFTR combination therapies over the lifetime are highly uncertain, and heightened for ELX/TEZ/IVA, in which the majority of long-term data are from uncontrolled clinical trials and real-world data that overlapped with the COVID-19 pandemic. The EAG notes the following additional uncertainties in the clinical evidence-base of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA on the:

- Lifetime AE profile of CFTR modulators, including regarding liver disease, cataracts, lens opacities, hypertension and adverse effects on a person's mental health;
- Long-term probability of developing different lung infections;
- Co-adherence to ECM medications for people treated with CFTR modulators, and the effects of discontinuing CFTR modulators;
- Clinical meaningfulness of acute changes in ppFEV₁ and weight-for-age z score, especially for LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA where the effect sizes are small;
- Impact of CFTR modulator therapy on a person's HRQoL, as EQ-5D was not measured in most clinical trials;
- Long-term effectiveness of CFTR modulators, in particular ELX/TEZ/IVA, in young children and people with little existing lung damage, a subgroup of patients for which the long-term clinical outcomes of treatment with ELX/TEZ/IVA might be the most positive.

The above clinical evidence-based uncertainties all apply to the cost-effectiveness analysis. An additional key uncertainty related to the economic model is the application of the Liou 2001¹⁷² Cox proportional hazards (CPH) model to predict mortality. As the data used to develop this model did not include patients aged <6 or >62, it is uncertain how the model performs in predicting survival for these ages. In addition, as previously noted, the CPH model was not developed to predict changes in

BMJ TAG

a patient's characteristics over time but instead to predict a person's mortality hazard based on their current characteristics. Whilst it may not be incorrect to use the CPH model in this way, further validation should be undertaken on this.

7 Conclusions

7.1 Implications for service provision

As a result of this multiple technology appraisal (MTA) multiple treatments for cystic fibrosis (CF) may be made available to patients in routine commissioning. However, there is currently a lack of both clinical and cost-effectiveness data on sequences of CFTR modulator treatments. In clinical practice, patients may start on a CFTR modulator at the youngest age possible, such as lumacaftor/ivacaftor [LUM/IVA] and then switch to a different CFTR modulator once they reach the age at which a more effective treatment holds marketing authorisation (i.e. tezacaftor/ ivacaftor [TEZ/IVA] or elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor [ELX/TEZ/IVA]). In addition, if more than one CFTR modulator was available in routine clinical practice, patients may be started on another upon discontinuation.

The economic evaluation undertaken as part of the MTA showed that the fully incremental analyses resulted in ICERs ranging between £500,000 to £3.7 million. The high drug acquisition costs of CFTR modulators may be a barrier to the availability of these treatments in routine commissioning.

7.2 Suggested research priorities

As discussed in Section 6.3, a number of uncertainties remain regarding the clinical evidence base of LUM/IVA, TEZ/IVA and ELX/TEZ/IVA, which therefore impact on the cost effectiveness analysis. The following priorities for future clinical research are suggested:

Further data collection and statistical modelling of concerning the long-term effects of CFTR modulators on the rate of ppFEV₁ decline, frequency of pulmonary exacerbations and changes infection in infection status of people with CF. This should include an assessment of the impact of any changes in co-adherence to non-CFTR modulator therapies for CF. The EAG notes that for ELX/TEZ/IVA, the Data Collection Agreement would likely have provided sufficient evidence to resolve some of this uncertainty had the COVID-19 pandemic not occurred. The EAG also considers that further analysis of the existing data using an expanded contemporaneous control cohort may resolve some of the outstanding uncertainty

regarding the impact of the COVID-19 on changes in $ppFEV_1$ for people not treated with CFTR modulators;

- Further data collection on the long-term adverse event profile of CFTR modulators, including mental health outcomes and the development of cataracts, lens opacities and hypertension;
- Long-term follow-up of young children treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA, or people treated with ELX/TEZ/IVA prior to the development of significant lung and/or pancreatic damage. Such individuals may have the most positive long-term clinical outcomes following ELX/TEZ/IVA treatment, but long-term data are not yet available for these individuals, especially those initiating at 2 years. In addition, the impact of co-adherence to ECM medications and the effects of discontinuing CFTR modulators should be explored further in future research.

Regarding survival and economic modelling of therapies to treat CF, further validation should be performed of the Cox proportional hazards model used to model the impact of changes in patient characteristics over time on survival in the UK population. In particular, future research should focus on the prediction of survival for younger patients, in light of changes to the landscape of CF care with CFTR modulator treatments.



8 References

1. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. UK Cystic Fribrosis Registry: 2021 Annual Data Report. 2022.

2. Schluter DK, Southern KW, Dryden C, Diggle P, Taylor-Robinson D. Impact of newborn screening on outcomes and social inequalities in cystic fibrosis: a UK CF registry-based study. *Thorax* 2020; **75**: 123-31.

3. Sawicki GS, Konstan MW, McKone EF, Moss RB, Lubarsky B, Suthoff E, et al. Rate of Lung Function Decline in People with Cystic Fibrosis Having a Residual Function Gene Mutation. *Pulmonary Therapy* 2022: 1-11.

4. Ratjen F, Bell SC, Rowe SM, Goss CH, Quittner AL, Bush A. Cystic fibrosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2015; **1**: 15010.

5. Ward CL, Omura S, Kopito RR. Degradation of CFTR by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *Cell* 1995; **83**: 121-7.

6. Desai M, Hine C, Whitehouse JL, Brownlee K, Charman SC, Nagakumar P. Who are the 10%? -Non eligibility of cystic fibrosis (CF) patients for highly effective modulator therapies. *Respiratory medicine* 2022; **199**: 106878.

7. Medicine AfCBaL. Guidelines for the Performance of the Sweat Test for the Investigation of Cystic Fibrosis in the UK 2nd Version. 2014.

8. National Institue for Health and Care Excellence. Cystic fibrosis: diagnosis and management (NG78), 2017. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng78. Date accessed: December 2022.

9. Hoo ZH, Wildman MJ, Curley R, Walters SJ, Campbell MJ. Rescue therapy within the UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry: An exploration of predictors of intravenous antibiotic use amongst adults with CF. *Respirology* 2018; **23**: 190-7.

10. Caley L, Smith L, White H, Peckham DG. Average rate of lung function decline in adults with cystic fibrosis in the United Kingdom: Data from the UK CF registry. *J Cyst Fibros* 2021; **20**: 86-90.

11. Singh VK, Schwarzenberg SJ. Pancreatic insufficiency in Cystic Fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2017; **16 Suppl 2**: S70-S8.

12. Norris AW, Ode KL, Merjaneh L, Sanda S, Yi Y, Sun X, et al. Survival in a bad neighborhood: pancreatic islets in cystic fibrosis. *J Endocrinol* 2019.

13. Wilschanski M, Novak I. The cystic fibrosis of exocrine pancreas. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 2013; **3**: a009746.

14. Smith S, Rowbotham N, Davies G, Gathercole K, Collins SJ, Elliott Z, et al. How can we relieve gastrointestinal symptoms in people with cystic fibrosis? An international qualitative survey. *BMJ Open Respir Res* 2020; **7**.

15. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. UK Cystic Fribrosis Registry: 2019 Annual Data Report. 2020.

16. Bradley JM, Blume SW, Balp MM, Honeybourne D, Elborn JS. Quality of life and healthcare utilisation in cystic fibrosis: a multicentre study. *Eur Respir J* 2013; **41**: 571-7.

17. Szczesniak R, Andrinopoulou ER, Su W, Afonso PM, Burgel PR, Cromwell E, et al. Lung Function Decline in Cystic Fibrosis: Impact of Data Availability and Modeling Strategies on Clinical Interpretations. *Ann Am Thorac Soc* 2023.

18. Taylor-Robinson D, Archangelidi O, Carr SB, Cosgriff R, Gunn E, Keogh RH, et al. Data Resource Profile: The UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry. *Int J Epidemiol* 2018; **47**: 9-10e.

19. National institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Data Collection Agreement. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/our-programmes/nice-guidance/nice-technology-appraisal-guidance/data-collection-agreement 06 April 2022]. Date accessed: 15 May 2023.



20. Vertex. Vertex Announces Agreement with NHS England for Access to All Licensed Cystic Fibrosis Medicines. 2019. Available from: https://investors.vrtx.com/news-releases/news-releasedetails/vertex-announces-agreement-nhs-england-access-all-licensed. Date accessed: June 2023.

21. Vertex. Data on File. REF-9272. 2021.

22. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Cystic fibrosis complications and symptoms. Available from: https://www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/what-is-cystic-fibrosis/how-does-cystic-fibrosis-affect-the-body/cystic-fibrosis-complications. Date accessed: 17 May 2023.

23. Stalvey MS, Clines GA. Cystic fibrosis-related bone disease: insights into a growing problem. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* 2013; **20**: 547-52.

24. Kobelska-Dubiel N, Klincewicz B, Cichy W. Liver disease in cystic fibrosis. *Prz Gastroenterol* 2014; **9**: 136-41.

25. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Fertility and cystic fibrosis. Available from:

https://www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/what-is-cystic-fibrosis/how-does-cystic-fibrosis-affect-the-body/symptoms-of-cystic-fibrosis/fertility. Date accessed: December 2022.

26. Kazmerski TM, West NE, Jain R, Uluer A, Georgiopoulos AM, Aitken ML, et al. Family-building and parenting considerations for people with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2022; **57 Suppl 1**: S75-S88.

27. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Cystic Fibrosis Insight Survey – Report on the 2017 and 2018 Surveys.2019.

28. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. ID3834 Professional organisation submission. ACPCF. Catherine Brown. 2023.

29. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. ID3834. Professional organisation submission. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Ellie Davies. 2023.

30. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. ID3834. Professional organisation submission. CF Voices. Christina Walker. 2023.

31. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. ID3834. Professional organistaion submission. CFDigicare. Dr Martin Wildman. 2023.

32. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. ID3834 Professional organisation submission. British Paediatric Respiratory Society. Dr Manjith Narayanan. 2023.

33. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. ID3834. Professional organisation submission. UK Psychosocial Professionals in Cystic Fibrosis. Dr Thomas Clarke. 2023.

34. Angelis A, Kanavos P, Lopez-Bastida J, Linertova R, Nicod E, Serrano-Aguilar P, et al. Social and economic costs and health-related quality of life in non-institutionalised patients with cystic fibrosis in the United Kingdom. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2015; **15**: 428.

35. Daly C, Ruane P, O'Reilly K, Longworth L, Vega-Hernandez G. Caregiver burden in cystic fibrosis: a systematic literature review. *Ther Adv Respir Dis* 2022; **16**: 17534666221086416.

36. Mowforth OD, Davies BM, Kotter MR. Quality of Life Among Informal Caregivers of Patients With Degenerative Cervical Myelopathy: Cross-Sectional Questionnaire Study. *Interact J Med Res* 2019; **8**: e12381.

37. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. The cost of cystic fibrosis 2022. 2022.

38. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Standards for the Clinical Care of Children and Adults with cystic fibrosis in the UK. 2011.

39. Habib AR, Manji J, Wilcox PG, Javer AR, Buxton JA, Quon BS. A systematic review of factors associated with health-related quality of life in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis. *Ann Am Thorac Soc* 2015; **12**: 420-8.

40. Ancel J, Launois C, Perotin JM, Ravoninjatovo B, Mulette P, Hagenburg J, et al. Health-Related Quality of Life in Adults with Cystic Fibrosis: Familial, Occupational, Social, and Mental Health Predictors. *Healthcare (Basel)* 2022; **10**.



41. Britto MT, Kotagal UR, Hornung RW, Atherton HD, Tsevat J, Wilmott RW. Impact of recent pulmonary exacerbations on quality of life in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Chest* 2002; **121**: 64-72.

42. Wainwright CE, Elborn JS, Ramsey BW, Marigowda G, Huang X, Cipolli M, et al. Lumacaftor-Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for Phe508del CFTR. *The New England journal of medicine* 2015; **373**: 220-31.

43. Whiting P, Al M, Burgers L, Westwood M, Ryder S, Hoogendoorn M, et al. Ivacaftor for the treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation: A systematic review and cost-effectiveness analysis. *Health Technology Assessment* 2014; **18**: 1-106.

44. Solem CT, Vera-Llonch M, Liu S, Botteman M, Castiglione B. Impact of pulmonary exacerbations and lung function on generic health-related quality of life in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 2016; **14**: 63.

45. Kind P HG, Macran S. . UK Population norms for EQ-5D. Discussion Paper 172. *Centre for Health Economics, University of York* 1999.

46. Henry B, Aussage P, Grosskopf C, Goehrs JM. Development of the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire (CFQ) for assessing quality of life in pediatric and adult patients. *Qual Life Res* 2003; **12**: 63-76.

47. Quittner AL, Buu A, Messer MA, Modi AC, Watrous M. Development and validation of The Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire in the United States: a health-related quality-of-life measure for cystic fibrosis. *Chest* 2005; **128**: 2347-54.

48. Flume PA, Suthoff ED, Kosinski M, Marigowda G, Quittner AL. Measuring recovery in healthrelated quality of life during and after pulmonary exacerbations in patients with cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2019; **18**: 737-42.

49. Perrem L, Stanojevic S, Shaw M, Davis S, Retsch-Bogart G, Ratjen F. Changes in the parent cystic fibrosis questionnaire-revised (CFQ-R) with respiratory symptoms in preschool children with cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2020; **19**: 492-8.

50. Jaudszus A, Zeman E, Jans T, Pfeifer E, Tabori H, Arnold C, et al. Validity and Reliability of a Novel Multimodal Questionnaire for the Assessment of Abdominal Symptoms in People with Cystic Fibrosis (CFAbd-Score). *Patient* 2019; **12**: 419-28.

51. Evans J, Davies S, Cross K. The Financial Costs of Cystic Fibrosis. University of Bristol, 2023.

52. Angelis A, Kanavos P, Lopez-Bastida J, Linertova R, Nicod E, Serrano-Aguilar P. Social and economic costs and health-related quality of life in non-institutionalised patients with cystic fibrosis in the United Kingdom. *BMC health services research* 2015; **15**: 428.

53. Knudson RJ, Lebowitz MD, Holberg CJ, Burrows B. Changes in the normal maximal expiratory flow-volume curve with growth and aging. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1983; **127**: 725-34.

54. Hankinson JL, Odencrantz JR, Fedan KB. Spirometric reference values from a sample of the general U.S. population. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; **159**: 179-87.

55. Wang X, Dockery DW, Wypij D, Fay ME, Ferris BG, Jr. Pulmonary function between 6 and 18 years of age. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1993; **15**: 75-88.

56. Stanojevic S, Wade A, Stocks J, Hankinson J, Coates AL, Pan H, et al. Reference ranges for spirometry across all ages: a new approach. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2008; **177**: 253-60.

57. Quanjer PH, Stanojevic S, Cole TJ, Baur X, Hall GL, Culver BH, et al. Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95-yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. *Eur Respir J* 2012; **40**: 1324-43.

58. Ejiofor LCK, Mathiesen IHM, Jensen-Fangel S, Olesen HV, Skov M, Philipsen LKD, et al. Patients with cystic fibrosis and advanced lung disease benefit from lumacaftor/ivacaftor treatment. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2020; **55**: 3364-70.

59. Foong RE, Harper AJ, Skoric B, King L, Turkovic L, Davis M, et al. The clinical utility of lung clearance index in early cystic fibrosis lung disease is not impacted by the number of multiple-breath washout trials. *ERJ Open Res* 2018; **4**.

60. Aurora P, Stanojevic S, Wade A, Oliver C, Kozlowska W, Lum S, et al. Lung clearance index at 4 years predicts subsequent lung function in children with cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011; **183**: 752-8.

61. Middleton PG, Mall MA, Dřevínek P, Lands LC, McKone EF, Polineni D, et al. Elexacaftor– Tezacaftor–Ivacaftor for Cystic Fibrosis with a Single Phe508del Allele. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2019; **381**: 1809-19.

62. Keogh RH, Cosgriff R, Andrinopoulou ER, Brownlee KG, Carr SB, Diaz-Ordaz K, et al. Projecting the impact of triple CFTR modulator therapy on intravenous antibiotic requirements in cystic fibrosis using patient registry data combined with treatment effects from randomised trials. *Thorax* 2022; **77**: 873-81.

63. Scoffone VC, Chiarelli LR, Trespidi G, Mentasti M, Riccardi G, Buroni S. Burkholderia cenocepacia Infections in Cystic Fibrosis Patients: Drug Resistance and Therapeutic Approaches. *Front Microbiol* 2017; **8**: 1592.

64. National Institue for Health and Care Excellence. TA266 Mannitol dry powder for inhalation for treating cystic fibrosis, 2012. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta266. Date accessed: December 2022.

65. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. TA276 Colistimethate sodium and tobramycin dry powders for inhalation for treating pseudomonas lung infection in cystic fibrosis, 2013. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta276. Date accessed: December 2022.

66. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. UK Cystic Fibrosis Service Resourcing 2019 to 2021. 2022.

67. NHS England Specialist Respiratory Transform Clinical Reference Group. National Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Children).

68. NHS England Specialist Respiratory Transform Clinical Reference Group. National
Programmes of Care and Clinical Reference Groups Service Specification: A01 Cystic Fibrosis (Adult).
69. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Pharmacy standards in cystic fibrosis care in the UK (2022). 2022.

70. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Standards of Care and Good Clinical Practice for the Physiotherapy Management of Cystic Fibrosis. 2020.

71. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Nutritional Management of Cystic Fibrosis. 2016.

72. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Mycobacterium abscessus: Recommendations for infection prevention and control. 2017.

73. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Pharmacy Standards of Care. 2011.

74. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Laboratory Standards for Processing Microbiological Samples from People with Cystic Fibrosis. 2022.

75. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Antibiotic Treatment for cystic fibrosis. 2009.

76. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). 2008.

77. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in people with cystic fibrosis.

Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control. 2004.

78. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. The Burkholderia cepacia complex. Suggestions for Prevention and Infection Control. 2004.

79. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. Management of Cystic Fibrosis Diabetes. 2022.

80. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. National Consensus Standards for the Nursing Management of cystic fibrosis. 2001.

81. Castellani C, Duff AJA, Bell SC, Heijerman HGM, Munck A, Ratjen F, et al. ECFS best practice guidelines: the 2018 revision. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018; **17**: 153-78.

82. Sermet-Gaudelus I, Bianchi ML, Garabedian M, Aris RM, Morton A, Hardin DS, et al.

European cystic fibrosis bone mineralisation guidelines. J Cyst Fibros 2011; **10 Suppl 2**: S16-23.

83. Castellani C, Conway S, Smyth AR, Stern M, Elborn JS. Standards of Care for Cystic Fibrosis ten years later. *J Cyst Fibros* 2014; **13 Suppl 1**: S1-2.

84. Conway S, Balfour-Lynn IM, De Rijcke K, Drevinek P, Foweraker J, Havermans T, et al. European Cystic Fibrosis Society Standards of Care: Framework for the Cystic Fibrosis Centre. *J Cyst Fibros* 2014; **13 Suppl 1**: S3-22.

85. Stern M, Bertrand DP, Bignamini E, Corey M, Dembski B, Goss CH, et al. European Cystic Fibrosis Society Standards of Care: Quality Management in cystic fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2014; **13 Suppl 1**: S43-59.

86. Turck D, Braegger CP, Colombo C, Declercq D, Morton A, Pancheva R, et al. ESPEN-ESPGHAN-ECFS guidelines on nutrition care for infants, children, and adults with cystic fibrosis. *Clin Nutr* 2016; **35**: 557-77.

87. Electronic Medicines Compendium. Kalydeco 25 mg granules in sachet. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/10982/smpc.

88. Electronic Medicines Compendium. Kalydeco 150 mg Film-coated Tablets. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/3040/smpc.

89. Ren HY, Grove DE, De La Rosa O, Houck SA, Sopha P, Van Goor F, et al. VX-809 corrects folding defects in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein through action on membrane-spanning domain 1. *Mol Biol Cell* 2013; **24**: 3016-24.

90. Okiyoneda T, Veit G, Dekkers JF, Bagdany M, Soya N, Xu H, et al. Mechanism-based corrector combination restores DeltaF508-CFTR folding and function. *Nat Chem Biol* 2013; **9**: 444-54.

91. Veit G, Roldan A, Hancock MA, Da Fonte DF, Xu H, Hussein M, et al. Allosteric folding correction of F508del and rare CFTR mutants by elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor (Trikafta) combination. *JCI Insight* 2020; **5**.

92. Veit G, Vaccarin C, Lukacs GL. Elexacaftor co-potentiates the activity of F508del and gating mutants of CFTR. *J Cyst Fibros* 2021; **20**: 895-8.

93. Fiedorczuk K, Chen J. Mechanism of CFTR correction by type I folding correctors. *Cell* 2022; **185**: 158-68 e11.

94. Electronic Medicines Compendium. Orkambi 100 mg/125 mg film coated tablets. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/8952/smpc. Date accessed: January 2023.

95. Electronic Medicines Compendium. Orkambi 100 mg/125 mg granules in sachet. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/9845/smpc. Date accessed: January 2023.

96. National Institue for Health and Care Excellence. Lumacaftor–ivacaftor for treating cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del mutation, 2016. Available from:

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta398. Date accessed: December 2022.

97. Electronic Medicines Compendium. Symkevi 100 mg/150 mg tablets PLGB 22352/0003. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/9634/smpc. Date accessed: January 2023.

98. Electronic Medicines Compendium. Kaftrio 75 mg 50 mg 100 mg film-coated tablets. Available from: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/11724/smpc. Date accessed: January 2023.

99. ClinicalTrials.gov. Evaluation of Long-term Safety and Efficacy of ELX/TEZ/IVA in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Participants 2 Years and Older. Available from:

https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05153317.

100. National Institue for Health and Care Excellence. Ivacaftor–tezacaftor–elexacaftor, tezacaftor–ivacaftor and lumacaftor–ivacaftor for treating cystic fibrosis [ID3834]: Final Scope, 2023. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/indevelopment/gid-ta11187/documents. Date accessed: February 2023.

101. NHS England. Updated Commissioning Statement: Ivacaftor, tezacaftor/ivacaftor, lumacaftor/ivacaftor and elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor for licensed and off-label use in patients with cystic fibrosis who have named mutations. 2022.

102. UK CF Registry. Data Request Report – 469. 2023.

103. Hoo ZH, Campbell MJ, Curley R, Walters SJ, Wildman MJ. Do cystic fibrosis centres with the lowest FEV(1) still use the least amount of intravenous antibiotics? A registry-based comparison of intravenous antibiotic use among adult CF centres in the UK. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018; **17**: 360-7.

104. Quittner AL, Modi AC, Wainwright C, Otto K, Kirihara J, Montgomery AB. Determination of the minimal clinically important difference scores for the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised respiratory symptom scale in two populations of patients with cystic fibrosis and chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa airway infection. *Chest* 2009; **135**: 1610-8.

105. Taylor-Robinson D, Whitehead M, Diderichsen F, Olesen HV, Pressler T, Smyth RL, et al. Understanding the natural progression in %FEV1 decline in patients with cystic fibrosis: a longitudinal study. *Thorax* 2012; **67**: 860-6.

106. Agency EM. Report of the workshop on endpoints for cystic fibrosis clinical trials. 2012.
107. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA
2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 2021; **372**: n71.
108. Southern KW, Murphy J, Sinha IP, Nevitt SJ. Corrector therapies (with or without potentiators) for people with cystic fibrosis with class II CFTR gene variants (most commonly

F508del). Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020; 12: CD010966.
109. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria2022.

110. Sterne JAC, Savovic J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ* 2019; **366**: I4898.

111. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. CADTH Reimbursement Review Elexacaftor-Tezacaftor-Ivacaftor and Ivacaftor (Trikafta). *Canadian Journal of Health Technologies* 2022; **2**.

112. Dias S, Welton NJ, Sutton AJ, Ades AE. NICE DSU Technical Support Document 2: A Generalised Linear Modelling Framework for Pairwise and Network Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. Sheffield (UK): Decision Support Unit, ScHARR, University of Sheffield, 2016.

113. van Valkenhoef G KJ. gemtc: Network meta-analysis using Bayesian methods.: R Package version 1.0-1. 2021.; 2021.

114. Guide CUs. 18 stansummary: MCMC Output Analysis. Available from: https://mcstan.org/docs/cmdstan-guide/index.html. Date accessed: May 2023.

115. Chopra R, Paul L, Manickam R, Aronow WS, Maguire GP. Efficacy and adverse effects of drugs used to treat adult cystic fibrosis. *Expert Opinion on Drug Safety* 2015; **14**: 401-11.

116. Naureckas ET, Morgan RL, Oermann CM, Resnick HE, Brady C, Campbell A, et al. CFTR modulator guidelines. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2017; **52**: 121-2.

117. Habib A, Kajbafzadeh M, Yang CL, Skolnik K, Quon B. Clinical efficacy and safety of CFTRdirected therapies in cystic fibrosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2018; **197**.

118. Southern KW, Patel S, Sinha IP, Nevitt SJ. Correctors (specific therapies for class II CFTR mutations) for cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018; **2018**: CD010966.

119. Ren CL, Morgan RL, Oermann C, Resnick HE, Brady C, Campbell A, et al. Cystic fibrosis foundation pulmonary guidelines: Use of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator modulator therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2018; **15**: 271-80.

120. Takyar J, Thapa K, Jain A, Sharma A. PRO8 EFFICACY OF CFTR MODULATORS AGAINST PULMONARY EXACERBATION IN CYSTIC FIBROSIS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND NETWORK META-ANALYSIS. *Value in Health* 2019; **22**: S842.

121. Tronzon CJ, Fenn N. Non-respiratory effects of CFTR modulators in pediatric patients with cystic fibrosis: A systematic review. *Journal of Pediatric Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2021; **26**: 529-30.

122. Bailey J, Rozga M, McDonald CM, Bowser EK, Farnham K, Mangus M, et al. Effect of CFTR Modulators on Anthropometric Parameters in Individuals with Cystic Fibrosis: An Evidence Analysis Center Systematic Review. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics* 2021; **121**: 1364-78.

123. Southern KW, Murphy J, Sinha IP, Nevitt SJ. A systematic cochrane review of corrector therapies (with or without potentiators) for people with cystic fibrosis with class II gene variants (most commonly F508DEL). *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 2021; **38**: 33-6.

124. Koutsovasili A, Gogas K, Souliotis K, Kani C, Markantonis S. POSA273 Systematic Review,
Meta-Analysis of Per OS Administered Drugs in Cystic Fibrosis. *Value in Health* 2022; **25**: S173.
125. Yousif Hamdan AH, Zakaria F, Lourdes Pormento MK, Lawal OS, Opiegbe A, Zahid S, et al.
Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator Protein Modulators in Children and
Adolescents with different CF Genotypes - Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Current reviews in*

clinical and experimental pharmacology 2023.
126. Dawood SN, Rabih AM, Niaj A, Raman A, Uprety M, Calero MJ, et al. Newly Discovered
Cutting-Edge Triple Combination Cystic Fibrosis Therapy: A Systematic Review. *Cureus* 2022; 14: e29359.

127. Patel S, Sinha IP, Dwan K, Echevarria C, Schechter M, Southern KW. Potentiators (specific therapies for class III and IV mutations) for cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2015; **2015**: CD009841.

128. Southern KW, Patel S, Sinha IP, Nevitt SJ. A systematic Cochrane Review of correctors (specific therapies for class II CFTR mutations) for cystic fibrosis. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 2019; **30**: 25-6.

129. Gramegna A, Contarini M, Aliberti S, Casciaro R, Blasi F, Castellani C. From ivacaftor to triple combination: A systematic review of efficacy and safety of cftr modulators in people with cystic fibrosis. *International journal of molecular sciences* 2020; **21**: 1-23.

130. BMJ-TAG. Final Protocol. Elexacaftor–tezacaftor–ivacaftor, lumacaftor–ivacaftor and tezacaftor–ivacaftor for treating cystic fibrosis [ID3834]. 2023. Date accessed: Februrary 2023.

131. Sutharsan S, McKone EF, Downey DG, Duckers J, MacGregor G, Tullis E, et al. Efficacy and safety of elexacaftor plus tezacaftor plus ivacaftor versus tezacaftor plus ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: a 24-week, multicentre, randomised, double-blind, active-controlled, phase 3b trial. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2022; **10**: 267-77.

132. Barry PJ, Mall MA, Álvarez A, Colombo C, de Winter-de Groot KM, Fajac I, et al. Triple Therapy for Cystic Fibrosis Phe508del-Gating and -Residual Function Genotypes. *The New England journal of medicine* 2021; **385**: 815-25.

133. Heijerman HGM, McKone EF, Downey DG, Van Braeckel E, Rowe SM, Tullis E, et al. Efficacy and safety of the elexacaftor plus tezacaftor plus ivacaftor combination regimen in people with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del mutation: a double-blind, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2019; **394**: 1940-8.

134. Mall MA, Brugha R, Gartner S, Legg J, Moeller A, Mondejar-Lopez P, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Children 6 Through 11 Years of Age with Cystic Fibrosis Heterozygous for F508del and a Minimal Function Mutation A Phase 3b, Randomized, Placebo-controlled Study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2022; **206**: 1361-9.

135. Zemanick ET, Taylor-Cousar JL, Davies J, Gibson RL, Mall MA, McKone EF, et al. A Phase 3 Open-Label Study of ELX/TEZ/IVA in Children 6 Through 11 Years of Age With CF and at Least One F508del Allele. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 2021.

136. ClinicalTrials.gov. Evaluation of ELX/TEZ/IVA in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Subjects 2 Through 5 Years. 2020.

137. Taylor-Cousar JL, Munck A, McKone EF, van der Ent CK, Moeller A, Simard C, et al. Tezacaftor-Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for Phe508del. *New England journal of medicine* 2017; **377**: 2013-23.



138. Rowe SM, Daines C, Ringshausen FC, Kerem E, Wilson J, Tullis E, et al. Tezacaftor-Ivacaftor in Residual-Function Heterozygotes with Cystic Fibrosis. *New England journal of medicine* 2017; **377**: 2024-35.

139. Davies JC, Sermet-Gaudelus I, Naehrlich L, Harris RS, Campbell D, Ahluwalia N, et al. A phase 3, double-blind, parallel-group study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of tezacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in participants 6 through 11 years of age with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del or heterozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation and a residual function mutation. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2021; **20**: 68-77.

140. Wilson J, You X, Ellis M, Urquhart DS, Jha L, Duncan M, et al. VO2max as an exercise tolerance endpoint in people with cystic fibrosis: lessons from a lumacaftor/ivacaftor trial. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2021; **20**: 499-505.

141. Ratjen F, Hug C, Marigowda G, Tian S, Huang X, Stanojevic S, et al. Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor and ivacaftor in patients aged 6-11 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet respiratory medicine* 2017; **5**: 557-67.

142. Stahl M, Roehmel J, Eichinger M, Doellinger F, Naehrlich L, Kopp MV, et al. An exploratory study to determine the impact of lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) on disease progression in children 2 through 5 years of age with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR (F/F). *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2021; **20 Suppl 1**: S22.

143. Rayment JH, Asfour F, Rosenfeld M, Higgins M, Liu L, Mascia M, et al. A Phase 3, Open-Label Study of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Children 1 to Less Than 2 Years of Age with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for F508del-CFTR. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2022; **206**: 1239-47.

144. Ramsey BW, Davies J, McElvaney NG, Tullis E, Bell SC, Dřevínek P, et al. A CFTR potentiator in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2011; **365**: 1663-72.

145. De Boeck K, Munck A, Walker S, Faro A, Hiatt P, Gilmartin G, et al. Efficacy and safety of ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis and a non-G551D gating mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2014; **13**: 674-80.

146. Moss RB, Flume PA, Elborn JS, Cooke J, Rowe SM, McColley SA, et al. Efficacy and safety of ivacaftor treatment: randomized trial in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have an R117H-CFTR mutation. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2015; **3**: 524-33.

147. Griese M, Tullis E, Chilvers M, Fabrizzi B, Jain R, Legg J, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis and at least one F508del allele: 144-week interim results from an open-label extension study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2022; **21**: S99-S100.

148. Ratjen F, Escobar H, Gaffin J, McColley S, Roesch E, Ruiz F, et al.

Elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor in children aged 6 and older with cystic fibrosis and at least 1 F508del allele: Interim results from a Phase 3 open-label extension study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021; **20**: S265.

149. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT04058366: Study Evaluating the Long-term Safety and Efficacy of VX-445 Combination Therapy. 2023. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04058366 accessed 08 July 2022]. Date accessed: 08 July 2022.

150. Flume PA, Biner RF, Downey DG, Brown C, Jain M, Fischer R, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of tezacaftor-ivacaftor in individuals with cystic fibrosis aged 12 years or older who are homozygous or heterozygous for Phe508del CFTR (EXTEND): an open-label extension study. *The Lancet Respiratory medicine* 2021.

151. Sawicki GS, Chilvers M, McNamara J, Naehrlich L, Saunders C, Sermet-Gaudelus I, et al. A Phase 3, open-label, 96-week trial to study the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of

tezacaftor/ivacaftor in children >= 6 years of age homozygous for F508del or heterozygous for F508del and a residual function CFTR variant. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2022; **21**: 675-83.

152. Konstan MW, McKone EF, Moss RB, Marigowda G, Tian S, Waltz D, et al. Assessment of safety and efficacy of long-term treatment with combination lumacaftor and ivacaftor therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation (PROGRESS): a phase 3, extension study. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2017; **5**: 107-18.

153. Chilvers MA, Davies JC, Milla C, Tian S, Han Z, Cornell AG, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of lumacaftor-ivacaftor therapy in children aged 6-11 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation: a phase 3, open-label, extension study. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2021; **9**: 721-32.

154. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety of TEZ/IVA in Subjects Aged 6 Through 11 Years With Cystic Fibrosis. 2018. Available from:

https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT03559062.

155. Vertex. Clinical Study Report: Protocol VX14-809-109: A Phase 3, Double-blind, Placebocontrolled, Parallel-group Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 6 Through 11 Years With Cystic Fibrosis, homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. Version 1.0. 18 January 2017. 2017.

156. Phillips R, Hazell L, Sauzet O, Cornelius V. Analysis and reporting of adverse events in randomised controlled trials: a review. *BMJ Open* 2019; **9**: e024537.

157. Doumit M, Chuang S, Middleton P, Selvadurai H, Sivam S, Ruseckaite R, et al. Clinical outcomes of adults and children with cystic fibrosis during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Cyst Fibros* 2023; **22**: 581-6.

158. Alqahtani JS, Oyelade T, Aldhahir AM, Mendes RG, Alghamdi SM, Miravitlles M, et al. Reduction in hospitalised COPD exacerbations during COVID-19: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS One* 2021; **16**: e0255659.

159. Vertex. Clinical Study Report. Protocol VX20-445-111. A Phase 3 Study Evaluating the Safety, Tolerability, and Pharmacokinetics of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor Triple Combination Therapy in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects 2 Through 5 Years of Age. 2022.

160. McNamara J, McColley SA, Owen CA, Liu F, Tian S, Waltz D, et al. A 2-part, phase 3 singlearm study to evaluate the safety and pharmacokinetics (PK) of lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) combination therapy in patients (pts) aged 2 to 5 years with cystic fibrosis (CF) homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2018; **17**: S2-S3.

161. NICE. Lumacaftor–ivacaftor for treating cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del mutation [TA398]. 2016. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta398.

162. Granger E, Davies G, Keogh RH. Treatment patterns in people with cystic fibrosis: have they changed since the introduction of ivacaftor? *J Cyst Fibros* 2022; **21**: 316-22.

163. Taylor-Cousar JL, Jain M, Barto TL, Haddad T, Atkinson J, Tian S, et al. Lumacaftor/ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis and advanced lung disease homozygous for F508del-CFTR. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018; **17**: 228-35.

164. Vertex. An Observational Study of Users of Kaftrio, Orkambi and Symkevi in the UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry to Satisfy Data Collection Agreement in the UK (LONGITUDE). Final Analysis (FA) for Kaftrio. 2023.

165. O'Sullivan BP, Baker D, Leung KG, Reed G, Baker SS, Borowitz D. Evolution of pancreatic function during the first year in infants with cystic fibrosis. *The Journal of pediatrics* 2013; **162**: 808-12 e1.

166. Gibson-Corley KN, Meyerholz DK, Engelhardt JF. Pancreatic pathophysiology in cystic fibrosis. *J Pathol* 2016; **238**: 311-20.



167. Bijvelds MJC, Roos FJM, Meijsen KF, Roest HP, Verstegen MMA, Janssens HM, et al. Rescue of chloride and bicarbonate transport by elexacaftor-ivacaftor-tezacaftor in organoid-derived CF intestinal and cholangiocyte monolayers. *J Cyst Fibros* 2022; **21**: 537-43.

168. National Institue for Health and Care Excellence. ID3834. Professional organisation submission. UK Psychosocial Professionals in Cystic Fibrosis. Dr Thomas Clarke. 2023.

169. Wagener JS, Millar SJ, Mayer-Hamblett N, Sawicki GS, McKone EF, Goss CH, et al. Lung function decline is delayed but not decreased in patients with cystic fibrosis and the R117H gene mutation. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018; **17**: 503-10.

170. Nikolakopoulou A, Higgins JPT, Papakonstantinou T, Chaimani A, Del Giovane C, Egger M, et al. CINeMA: An approach for assessing confidence in the results of a network meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* 2020; **17**: e1003082.

171. Keogh RH, Seaman SR, Barrett JK, Taylor-Robinson D, Szczesniak R. Dynamic Prediction of Survival in Cystic Fibrosis: A Landmarking Analysis Using UK Patient Registry Data. *Epidemiology* 2019; **30**: 29-37.

172. Liou TG, Adler FR, Fitzsimmons SC, Cahill BC, Hibbs JR, Marshall BC. Predictive 5-year survivorship model of cystic fibrosis. *Am J Epidemiol* 2001; **153**: 345-52.

173. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. UK Cystic Fribrosis Registry: 2020 Annual Data Report. 2021.

174. Curley R, Campbell MJ, Walters SJ, Hoo ZH, Wildman MJ. Regarding the articles on home spirometry. *J Cyst Fibros* 2022; **21**: e212-e4.

175. Patel S, Thompson MD, Slaven JE, Sanders DB, Ren CL. Reduction of pulmonary exacerbations in young children with cystic fibrosis during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2021; **56**: 1271-3.

176. Lawless M, Burgess M, Bourke S. Impact of COVID-19 on Hospital Admissions for COPD Exacerbation: Lessons for Future Care. *Medicina (Kaunas)* 2022; **58**.

177. Vertex. AURORA F/RF F/G OLE (Study 110): Clinical Study Report - Part A: A Phase 3, Openlabel Study Evaluating the Long-term Safety and Efficacy of VX-445 Combination Therapy in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis Who Are Heterozygous for the F508del Mutation and a Gating or Residual Function Mutation (F/G and F/RF Genotypes). Version 1.0, Protocol Number: VX18-445-110. 31 August 2022. 2022.

178. Newsome SJ, Daniel RM, Carr SB, Bilton D, Keogh RH. Using Negative Control Outcomes and Difference-in-Differences Analysis to Estimate Treatment Effects in an Entirely Treated Cohort: The Effect of Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis. *Am J Epidemiol* 2022; **191**: 505-15.

179. Lee T, Sawicki GS, Altenburg J, Millar SJ, Geiger JM, Jennings MT, et al. Effect of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor on Annual Rate of Lung Function Decline in People with Cystic Fibrosis. *J Cyst Fibros* 2023; **22**: 402-6.

180. Polineni D., Daines C.L., Tullis E., Costa S., Linnemann R. W., Mall M. A., et al. Long term Safety and Efficacy of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA) in People With Cystic Fibrosis (CF) and At Least One F508del Allele: An Open Label, 192 Week Extension Study. *46th European Cystic Fibrosis Conference* 2023.

181. Vertex. Clinical Study Report. A Phase 3, Open-label Study Evaluating the Long-term Safety and Efficacy of VX-445 Combination Therapy in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis Who Are Homozygous or Heterozygous for the F508del Mutation. 2023.

182. Collignon O, Schritz A, Spezia R, Senn SJ. Implementing Historical Controls in Oncology Trials. *The oncologist* 2021; **26**: e859-e62.

183. Sacks H, Chalmers TC, Smith H, Jr. Randomized versus historical controls for clinical trials. *Am J Med* 1982; **72**: 233-40.

184. Klonoff DC. The Expanding Role of Real-World Evidence Trials in Health Care Decision Making. *J Diabetes Sci Technol* 2020; **14**: 174-9.

185. McBennett KA, Davis PB, Konstan MW. Increasing life expectancy in cystic fibrosis: Advances and challenges. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2022; **57 Suppl 1**: S5-S12.

186. Mayer-Hamblett N, Ratjen F, Russell R, Donaldson SH, Riekert KA, Sawicki GS, et al. Discontinuation versus continuation of hypertonic saline or dornase alfa in modulator treated people with cystic fibrosis (SIMPLIFY): results from two parallel, multicentre, open-label, randomised, controlled, non-inferiority trials. *Lancet Respir Med* 2023; **11**: 329-40.

187. Newsome SJ, Daniel RM, Carr SB, Bilton D, Keogh RH. Investigating the effects of long-term dornase alfa use on lung function using registry data. *J Cyst Fibros* 2019; **18**: 110-7.

188. Southern K. ISRCTN14081521: A randomised open-label trial to assess change in respiratory function for people with cystic fibrosis (pwCF) established on triple combination therapy (Kaftrio[™]) after rationalisation of nebulised mucoactive therapies (the CF STORM trial). *ISRCTN Regsitry* 2021.

189. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT05519020: Inhaled Therapy Adherence and Outcomes to Kaftrio in Cystic Fibrosis. 2022. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05519020. Date accessed: July 2023.

190. Vertex. Clinical Study Report. Protocol VX16-809-122. A Phase 3, 2-part, Open-label Study to Evaluate the Safety and Pharmacokinetics of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects 1 to Less Than 2 Years of Age With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for F508del. 2022.

191. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. Economic Evaluations & Models - MEDLINE. In: CADTH Search Filters Database. Available from: https://searchfilters.cadth.ca/link/16. Date accessed: February 2023.

192. Arber M, Garcia S, Veale T, Edwards M, Shaw A, Glanville JM. Performance of Ovid Medline Search Filters to Identify Health State Utility Studies. *Int J Technol Assess Health Care* 2017; **33**: 472-80.

193. Tice JA, Kuntz KM, Wherry K, Seidner M, Rind DM, Pearson SD. The effectiveness and value of novel treatments for cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Managed Care and Specialty Pharmacy* 2021; **27**: 276-80.

194. Vadagam P, Kamal KM, Covvey JR, Giannetti V, Mukherjee K. Erratum: Cost-effectiveness and budget impact of lumacaftor/ ivacaftor in the treatment of cystic fibrosis (Journal of Managed Care & Specialty Pharmacy (2018) 24:10 (987-97) DOI: 10.18553/jmcp.2018.24.10.987). *Journal of Managed Care and Specialty Pharmacy* 2019; **25**: 285-6.

195. Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER). Modulator Treatments for Cystic Fibrosis: Effectiveness and Value. 2018.

196. Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER). Modulator treatments for Cystic Fibrosis: Effectiveness and Value. Institute for Clinical and Economic Review 101 Merrimac St., 10th FL., Boston MA, USA 02114, Tel: (617) 724-4445, Fax: (617) 726-9414 info@icer-review.org United States United States: Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER), 2020.

197. Dilokthornsakul P, Patidar M, Campbell JD. Forecasting the Long-Term Clinical and Economic Outcomes of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Patients with Homozygous phe508del Mutation. *Value in Health* 2017; **20**: 1329-35.

198. Sharma D, Xing S, Hung YT, Caskey RN, Dowell ML, Touchette DR. Cost-effectiveness analysis of lumacaftor and ivacaftor combination for the treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis in the United States. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases* 2018; **13**: 172.

199. Vadagam P, Kamal KM, Covvey JR, Giannetti V, Mukherjee K. Cost-Effectiveness and Budget Impact of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in the Treatment of Cystic Fibrosis. *Journal of managed care & specialty pharmacy* 2018; **24**: 987-97.

200. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. Pharmacoeconomic Review Report: Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor (Orkambi): (Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Canada) Incorporated): Indication-For the treatment of cystic fibrosis in patients age 12 years and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene. 2016. 201. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. Pharmacoeconomic Review Report: Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor (Orkambi): (Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Canada) Incorporated): Indication: For the treatment of cystic fibrosis in patients 6 years of age and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene. 2018.

202. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Lumacaftor and ivacaftor combination therapy for treating cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del mutation [TA786], 2016.
203. Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC). Public Summary Document – July 2018 PBAC Meeting. LUMACAFTOR WITH IVACAFTOR for treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) aged ≥12 years who are homozygous for the F508del mutation in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene. 2018.

204. Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC). Public Summary Document - July 2018 PBAC meeting. (lumacaftor/ivacaftor) for the treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) aged 6– 11 years who are homozygous for the F508del mutation in the CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene. 2018.

205. Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC). Public Summary Document - July 2019 PBAC Meeting. lumacaftor/ivacaftor granules for treatment of cystic fibrosis (CF) patients aged 2 years and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation in the CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene. 2019.

206. Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC). lumacaftor 200mg, ivacaftor 125mg film-coated tablet (Orkambi[®]), 2016.

207. Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC). lumacaftor and ivacaftor 200mg/125mg, 100mg/125mg film-coated tablets and 100mg/125mg,150mg/188mg granules in sachets (Orkambi[®]). 2019.

208. Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC). Public Summary Document - March 2019 PBAC Meeting. tezacaftor/ivacaftor for treatment of cystic fibrosis (CF) patients aged 12 years and older who have at least one residual function (RF) mutation in the CFTR gene. 2019.

209. Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC). tezacaftor and ivacaftor 100mg/150mg film-coated tablets (Symkevi[®]), 2019.

210. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health. CADTH Reimbursement Review Elexacaftor-Tezacaftor-Ivacaftor and Ivacaftor (Trikafta). 2021.

211. Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC). Public Summary Document – December 2021 PBAC Meeting. Elexacaftor 100 mg/tezacaftor 50 mg/ivacaftor 75 mg film-coated tablets co-packaged with ivacaftor 150 mg film-coated tablets. 2021.

212. Vertex. TRAFFIC Clinical Study Report: Protocol VX12-809-103. A Phase 3, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. V.1. 08 September 2014. 2014.

213. Vertex. TRANSPORT: Clinical Study Report. Protocol VX12-809-104. A Phase 3, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. 2014.

214. Acaster S, Pinder B, Mukuria C, Copans A. Mapping the EQ-5D index from the cystic fibrosis questionnaire-revised using multiple modelling approaches. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 2015; **13**: 33.

215. Bradley JM, Blume SW, Balp M-M, Honeybourne D, Elborn JS. Quality of life and healthcare utilisation in cystic fibrosis: a multicentre study. *The European respiratory journal* 2013; **41**: 571-7.
216. Cameron R, Matthews J, Office D, Rowley M, Abbott J, Simmonds N, et al. Patient valuation of health-related quality of life associated with treatment burden and pulmonary exacerbation in cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021; **20**: S158.

217. Tappenden P, Harnan S, Uttley L, Mildred M, Carroll C, Cantrell A. Colistimethate sodium powder and tobramycin powder for inhalation for the treatment of chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa lung infection in cystic fibrosis: Systematic review and economic model. *Health Technology Assessment* 2013; **17**: a-204.

218. Johnson JA, Connolly M, Zuberbuhler P, Brown NE. Health-Related Quality of Life for Adults with Cystic Fibrosis: A Regression Approach to Assessing the Impact of Recombinant Human DNase. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy* 2000; **20**: 1167-74.

219. Acaster S, Mukuria C, Rowen D, Brazier J, Wainwright C, Quon B, et al. Development of the cystic fibrosis questionnaire-revised preference based scoring algorithm. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2019; **54**: 443.

220. Acaster S, Mukuria C, Rowen D, Brazier JE, Wainwright CE, Quon BS, et al. Development of the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised-8 Dimensions: Estimating Utilities From the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised. *Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research* 2022.

221. Bell SC, Mainz JG, MacGregor G, Madge S, MacEy J, Fridman M, et al. Patient-reported outcomes in patients with cystic fibrosis with a G551D mutation on ivacaftor treatment: Results from a cross-sectional study. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2019; **19**: 146.

222. Tappenden P, Harnan S, Uttley L, Mildred M, Walshaw M, Taylor C, et al. The cost effectiveness of dry powder antibiotics for the treatment of pseudomonas aeruginosa in patients with cystic fibrosis. *PharmacoEconomics* 2014; **32**: 159-72.

223. Tappenden P, Sadler S, Wildman M. An Early Health Economic Analysis of the Potential Cost Effectiveness of an Adherence Intervention to Improve Outcomes for Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. *PharmacoEconomics* 2017; **35**: 647-59.

224. Tappenden P, Navega Biz A, Hernandez Alava M, Sasso A, Sutton L, Ennis K, et al. A modelbased economic analysis of the CFHealthHub intervention to support adherence to inhaled medications for people with cystic fibrosis in the UK. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 2023; **39**: e6.

225. Wildman MJ, O'Cathain A, Hind D, Maguire C, Arden MA, Hutchings M, et al. An intervention to support adherence to inhaled medication in adults with cystic fibrosis: the ACtiF research programme including RCT. 2021.

226. UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry. 2021 Annual Data Report. 2022.

227. Liou TG, Kartsonaki C, Keogh RH, Adler FR. Evaluation of a five-year predicted survival model for cystic fibrosis in later time periods. *Scientific reports* 2020; **10**: 1-11.

228. European Medicines Agency. Symkevi Publication Details. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/symkevi accessed 08 May 2022]. Date accessed: 08 May 2022.

229. European Medicines Agency. Kaftrio Publication Details. Available from:

https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/kaftrio.

230. European Medicines Agency. Orkambi Publication Details. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/orkambi accessed 08 May 2022]. Date accessed: 08 May 2022.

231. Daines CL, Tullis E, Costa S, Linnemann RW, Mall MA, McKone EF, et al. Long-Term Safety and Efficacy of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in People With Cystic Fibrosis and at Least One F508del Allele: 96-Week Interim Results From an Open-Label Extension Study. Poster presented at the 35th Annual North American Cystic Fibrosis Conference (virtual)2021.

232. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). NICE health technology evaluations: the manual. Process and methods [PMG36]. 2022. Available from:

https://www.nice.org.uk/process/pmg36/resources/nice-health-technology-evaluations-the-manual-pdf-72286779244741. Date accessed: Sept 2022.



233. European Medicines Agency. Orkambi. Available from:

https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/orkambi#assessment-history-section. Date accessed: December 2022.

234. European Medicines Agency. Symkevi. Available from:

https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/symkevi#assessment-history-section. Date accessed: December 2022.

235. European Medicines Agency. Kaftrio. Available from:

https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/kaftrio#assessment-history-section. Date accessed: December 2022.

236. Keogh RH, Szczesniak R, Taylor-Robinson D, Bilton D. Up-to-date and projected estimates of survival for people with cystic fibrosis using baseline characteristics: A longitudinal study using UK patient registry data. *J Cyst Fibros* 2018; **17**: 218-27.

237. Karnon J, Stahl J, Brennan A, Caro JJ, Mar J, Möller J. Modeling using discrete event simulation: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force--4. *Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research* 2012; **15**: 821-7.

238. Davis S, Stevenson M, Tappenden P, Wailoo AJ. NICE DSU Technical Support. Document 15: Cost-effectiveness modelling using patient-level simulation. 2012.

239. NHS. National Cost Collection for the NHS. 2023. Available from:

https://www.england.nhs.uk/costing-in-the-nhs/national-cost-collection/. Date accessed: January 2023.

240. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. 2018 Genotype Data by Nation and Age: Number of individuals eligible by genotype for CFTR modulating therapy in each nation of the UK, defined by centre attended. 2020.

241. Mitchell M, Muftakhidinov B, Winchen T. Engauge Digitizer Software. 2023. Available from: http://markummitchell.github.io/engauge-digitizer, . Date accessed: June 15 2023.

242. Goss CH, Burns JL. Exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. 1: Epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Thorax* 2007; **62**: 360-7.

243. Adler AI, Shine BSF, Chamnan P, Haworth CS, Bilton D. Genetic determinants and epidemiology of cystic fibrosis-related diabetes: results from a British cohort of children and adults. Diabetes care 2008; 31: 1789-94.

244. Duckers J, Lesher B, Thorat T, Lucas E, McGarry LJ, Chandarana K, et al. Real-World Outcomes of Ivacaftor Treatment in People with Cystic Fibrosis: A Systematic Review. Journal of clinical medicine 2021; 10.

245. Newsome SK, R. Daniel, R. CF-EpiNet. IPD2.03 The effects of 3-year ivacaftor use on lung function and intravenous days seen in UK CF Registry Data. Journal of Cystic Fibrosis 2018; 17.

246. Deeks JJ. Issues in the selection of a summary statistic for meta-analysis of clinical trials with binary outcomes. Stat Med 2002; 21: 1575-600.

247. Engels EA, Schmid CH, Terrin N, Olkin I, Lau J. Heterogeneity and statistical significance in meta-analysis: an empirical study of 125 meta-analyses. Stat Med 2000; 19: 1707-28.

248. Vandenbroucke JP, von Elm E, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, Mulrow CD, Pocock SJ, et al. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE): explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Med* 2007; **4**: e297.

249. NHS England. ANNUAL REPORT ON CARDIOTHORACIC ORGAN TRANSPLANTATION REPORT FOR 2021/2022 2022.

250. Anyanwu AC, McGuire A, Rogers CA, Murday AJ. Assessment of quality of life in lung transplantation using a simple generic tool. *Thorax* 2001; **56**: 218-22.

251. Raguragavan A, Jayabalan D, Saxena A. Health-related quality of life following lung transplantation for cystic fibrosis: A systematic review. *Clinics (Sao Paulo, Brazil)* 2023; **78**: 100182.

252. BNF. British National Formulary. 2021. Available from: https://bnf.nice.org.uk/.

253. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. UK Cystic Fribrosis Registry: 2018 Annual Data Report 2019.

254. Anyanwu AC, McGuire A, Rogers CA, Murday AJ. An economic evaluation of lung transplantation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2002; 123: 411-8; discussion 8-20.

255. PSSRU. Personal Social Services Research Unit. Unit Costs of Health and Social Care 2021. 2021.

256. Schneider P, McNamara S, Love-Koh J, Doran T, Gutacker N. Quality-adjusted life expectancy norms for the English population. 2021.

257. Hernández Alava M, Pudney S, Wailoo A. Estimating EQ-5D by Age and Sex for the UK. NICE DSU Report. 2022.

258. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD). CRD's guidance for undertaking reviews in healthcare. *Available at https://wwwyorkacuk/media/crd/Systematic_Reviewspdf (Accessed 21 March 2016)* 2011.

259. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD). Systematic reviews: CRD's guidance for undertaking reviews in health care, 2009. Available from:

https://www.york.ac.uk/media/crd/Systematic_Reviews.pdf. Date accessed: May 23. 260. McNally P, Fleming A, Elnazir B, Williamson M, Cox D, Linnane B, et al. Impact of

elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor treatment on clinical outcomes in people with CF in a real-world setting-The RECOVER trial. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021; **20**: S266.

261. McNally P, Fleming A, Elnazir B, Williamson M, Cox D, Linnane B, et al. Impact of one year of treatment with elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor on clinical outcomes in people with cystic fibrosis in a real-world setting - the RECOVER study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2022; **21**: S11.

262. Sagel SD, Khan U, Heltshe SL, Clancy JP, Borowitz D, Gelfond D, et al. Clinical Effectiveness of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for F508del-CFTR A Clinical Trial. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2021; **18**: 75-83.

263. Sagel SD, Khan U, Heltshe SL, Clancy JP, Borowitz D, Gelfond D, et al. Clinical Effectiveness of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Patients Homozygous for F508del-CFTR. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2020.

264. Williams E, Edgeworth D, Fantidis M, Finlayson F, Button BM, Clark D, et al. Patient reported adherence to ivacaftor. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2015; **14**: S46.

265. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT03956589: Functional Respiratory Imaging and Orkambi in CF. 2020. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03956589. Date accessed: July 2023.

266. Deutsches Register Klinischer Studien. DRKS00023862: Einfluss von CFTR-Modulation mit Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor auf die körperliche Leistungsfähigkeit, das intestinale und respiratorische Mikrobiom sowie mikrobielle und inflammatorische Metaboliten bei Patienten mit zystischer Fibrose. 2023. Available from: https://drks.de/search/de/trial/DRKS00023862. Date accessed: July 2023.

267. Deutsches Register Klinischer Studien. DRKS00022267: OrkambiKIDS: Einfluss von CFTR-Modulation mit Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor auf das intestinal und respiratorische Mikrobiom und mikrobielle Metabolite bei Kindern im Alter von 2- 12 Jahren. 2022. Available from: https://drks.de/search/de/trial/DRKS00022267. Date accessed: July 2023.

268. Accurso FJ, Rowe SM, Clancy JP, Boyle MP, Dunitz JM, Durie PR, et al. Effect of VX-770 in persons with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2010; **363**: 1991-2003.

269. Accurso F, Rowe SM, Durie PR, Konstan MW, Dunitz J, Hornick D. Improvement in sweat chloride concentration by the CFTR potentiator VX-770 in subjects with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation [abstract. *Pediatric pulmonology* 2009; **44 Suppl 32**: 296, Abstract no: 40.



270. Accurso FJ, Rowe SM, Durie PR, Konstan MW, Dunitz J, Hornick DB. Final results of a 14-and 28-day study of VX-770 in subjects with CF. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2009; **8 Suppl 2**: S25, Abstract no: 97.

271. Konstan MW, Accurso FJ, Boyle MP, Clancy JP, Ordonez CL, Zha J, et al. Relationship between pulmonary outcomes, biomarkers of CF disease, and serum drug levels in subjects with the G551D-CFTR mutation treated with VX-770, an investigational oral potentiator of CFTR. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 2010; **181**.

272. Rowe SM, Accurso FJ, Clancy JP, Boyle MP, Dunitz JM, Durie PR, et al. Improvement in ion transport biomarkers and spirometry with the investigational CFTR potentiator VX-770 in subjects with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 2010; **11**: S99.

273. Rowe SM, Liu B, Hill A, Hathorne H, Cohen M, Beamer JR, et al. Optimizing Nasal Potential Difference Analysis for CFTR Modulator Development: Assessment of Ivacaftor in CF Subjects with the G551D-CFTR Mutation. *PLoS ONE* 2013; **8**: e66955.

274. Accurso FJ, Van Goor F, Zha J, Stone AJ, Dong Q, Ordonez CL, et al. Sweat chloride as a biomarker of CFTR activity: Proof of concept and ivacaftor clinical trial data. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2014; **13**: 139-47.

275. Shah S. VX-770, a CFTR potentiator, may have a potential clinical benefit in a subgroup of people with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2011; **66**: 984.

276. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT00457821: Safety Study of Ivacaftor in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis.
2012. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/study/NCT00457821. Date accessed: July 2023.
277. EU Clinical Trials Register. A Phase 2a, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study of VX-770 to Evaluate Safety, Pharmacokinetics, and Biomarkers of CFTR Activity in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Subjects with Genotype G551D. 2007. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/search?query=2007-002657-23. Date accessed: July 2023.

278. Boyle MP, Bell SC, Konstan MW, McColley SA, Rowe SM, Rietschel E, et al. A CFTR corrector (lumacaftor) and a CFTR potentiator (ivacaftor) for treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis who have a phe508del CFTR mutation: A phase 2 randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2014; **2**: 527-38.

279. Boyle M, Bell SC, Konstan M, McColley S, Flume P, Kang L. Lumacaftor, an investigational CFTR corrector, in combination with ivacaftor, a CFTR potentiator, in CF patients with the F508del-CFTR mutation: phase 2 interim analysis. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2013; **12 Suppl 1**: S14, Abstract no: WS7.4.

280. Boyle MP, Bell S, Konstan M, McColley SA, Kang L, Patel N. The investigational cftr corrector, VX-809 (lumacaftor) co-administered with the oral potentiator ivacaftor improved CFTR and lung function in F508DEL homozygous patients: Phase II study results. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012; **47**: 315.

281. Boyle MP, Bell S, Konstan MW, McColley SA, Wisseh S, Spencer-Green G. VX-809, an investigational CFTR corrector, in combination with VX-770, an investigational CFTR potentiator, in subjects with CF and homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011; **46**: 287.

282. Rowe SM, McColley SA, Rietschel E, Li X, Bell SC, Konstan M, et al. Effect of 8 weeks of lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in patients with CF and heterozygous for the F508delCFTR mutation. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2014; **49**: 306.

283. Rowe SM, McColley SA, Rietschel E, Li X, Bell SC, Konstan MW, et al. Lumacaftor/ivacaftor treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis heterozygous for F508del-CFTR. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2017; **14**: 213-9.

284. Nct. Study of VX-809 Alone and in Combination With VX-770 in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Patients Homozygous or Heterozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation.

https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT01225211 2010.



285. EU Clinical Trials Register. 2010-020413-90: A Phase 2, Multicenter, Double-Blinded, Placebo-Controlled, Multiple-Dose Study to Evaluate Safety, Tolerability, Efficacy, Pharmacokinetics, and Pharmacodynamics of Lumacaftor Monotherapy, and Lumacaftor and Ivacaftor Combination Therapy in Subjects with Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous or Heterozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. 2010. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2010-020413-90/results. Date accessed: July 2023.

286. Davies JC, Wainwright CE, Canny GJ, Chilvers MA, Howenstine MS, Munck A, et al. Efficacy and safety of ivacaftor in patients aged 6 to 11 years with cystic fibrosis with a G551D mutation. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 2013; **187**: 1219-25.

287. Aherns R, Rodriguez S, Yen K, Davies JC. VX-770 in subjects 6 to 11 years with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation. *Pediatric pulmonology* 2011; **46**: 283.

288. Davies JC, Li H, Yen K, Ahrens R. Ivacaftor in subjects 6 to 11 years of age with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2012; **11**: S13.

289. Davies JC, Wainwright CE, Canny GJ, Chilvers MA, Howenstine MS, Munck A, et al. Efficacy and safety of ivacaftor in patients aged 6 to 11 years with cystic fibrosis with a G551D mutation. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2013; **187**: 1219-25.

290. Stalvey MS, Niknian M, Higgins M, Tarn V, Heltshe SL, Rowe SM. Ivacaftor improves linear growth in children with cystic fibrosis (CF) and a G551D-CTFR mutation: Data from the ENVISION study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2016; **15**: S101.

291. Stalvey MS, Niknian M, Higgins M, Tarn VE, Heltshe SL, Rowe SM. Ivacaftor improves linear growth in G551D cystic fibrosis children: Results of a multicenter, placebo-controlled study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015; **50**: 402.

292. Stalvey MS, Pace J, Niknian M, Higgins MN, Tarn V, Davis J, et al. Growth in prepubertal children with cystic fibrosis treated with ivacaftor. *Pediatrics* 2017; **139**: e20162522.

293. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT00909727. Study of Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects Aged 6 to 11 Years With the G551D Mutation. 2012. Available from:

https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00909727.

294. EU Clinical Trials Register. 2008-007479-26. A Phase 3, 2-Part, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group Study to Evaluate the Pharmacokinetics, Efficacy and Safety of VX-770 in Subjects Aged 6 to 11 Years with Cystic Fibrosis and the G551D Mutation. 2011. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2008-007479-26/results.

295. Milla CE, Ratjen F, Marigowda G, Liu F, Waltz D, Rosenfeld M. Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in patients aged 6-11 years with cystic fibrosis and homozygous for F508del-CFTR. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017; **195**: 912-20.

296. Rosenfeld M, Marigowda G, Liu F, Waltz D. Effect of lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor on fev1 and safety measures in patients aged 6-11 years with cf who are homozygous for f508del-cftr. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2014; **49**: 287.

297. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT01897233. Study of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects 6 Through 11 Years of Age With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. 2013. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01897233.

298. EU Clinical Trials Register. 2017-001078-41. A Phase 3, Open-label Study to Evaluate the Pharmacokinetics, Safety, and Tolerability of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects 6 Through 11 Years of Age With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. 2015. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2017-001078-41/results. 299. Donaldson SH, Pilewski JM, Griese M, Cooke J, Viswanathan L, Tullis E, et al.

Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects with Cystic Fibrosis and F508del/F508del-CFTR or F508del/G551D-CFTR. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 2018; **197**: 214-24. Online data supplement.



300. Donaldson S, Pilewski J, Griese M, Dong Q, Lee PS. VX-661, an investigational CFTR corrector, in combination with ivacaftor, a CFTR potentiator, in patients with CF and homozygous for the F508Del-CFTR mutation: interim analysis. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2013; **12 Suppl 1**: S14, Abstract no: WS7.3.

301. Donaldson SH, Pilewski JM, Cooke J, Himes-Lekstrom J. Addition of VX-661, an investigational CFTR corrector, to ivacaftor, a CFTR potentiator, in patients with CF and heterozygous for F508del/G551D-CFTR. *Pediatric pulmonology* 2014; **49**: 308-9.

302. EU Clinical Trials Register. A Phase 2, Multicenter, Double Blinded, Placebo Controlled Study to Evaluate Safety, Efficacy, Pharmacokinetics, and Pharmacodynamics of VX-661 Monotherapy and VX-661/Ivacaftor Cotherapy in Subjects with Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous or Heterozygous for the F508del CFTR Mutation. *https://trialsearchwhoint/Trial2aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2011-003821-93-DE* 2011.

303. ClinicalTrials.gov. Study of VX-661 Alone and in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects Homozygous or Heterozygous to the F508del-Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator(CFTR) Mutation. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT01531673* 2012.

Pilewski JM, Cooke J, Lekstrom-Himes J, Donaldson S. VX-661 in combination with ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis and the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2015; 14: S1.
Pilewski JM, Donaldson SH, Cooke J, Lekstrom-Himes J. Phase 2 studies reveal additive effects of VX-661, an investigational CFTR corrector, and ivacaftor, a CFTR potentiator, in patients with CF who carry the F508Del-CFTR mutation. *Pediatric pulmonology* 2014; 49 Suppl 38: 157-9.
Tierney AC, Edgeworth D, Williams E, Finlayson F, Keating D, Clark D, et al. Ivacaftor and its effects on body composition in adults with G551D related cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2015; 14: S50.

307. McNamara JJ, McColley SA, Marigowda G, Liu F, Tian S, Owen CA, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of lumacaftor and ivacaftor combination therapy in children aged 2-5 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: an open-label phase 3 study. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2019; **7**: 325-35.

308. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT02797132. Safety and Pharmacokinetic Study of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 2 Through 5 Years With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for F508del. 2016. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02797132.

309. EU Clinical Trials Register. 2016-001004-33. A Phase 3, 2-Part, Open-label Study to Evaluate the Safety and Pharmacokinetics of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor Combination Therapy in Subjects Aged 2 Through 5 Years With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del CFTR Mutation. 2016. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2016-001004-33/results.

310. Hoppe JE, Chilvers M, Ratjen F, McNamara JJ, Owen CA, Tian S, et al. Long-term safety of lumacaftor-ivacaftor in children aged 2-5 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation: a multicentre, phase 3, open-label, extension study. *The Lancet Respiratory medicine* 2021.

311. Hoppe J, Chilvers M, Ratjen F, McNamara JJ, Owen CA, Tian S, et al. Long-term safety of lumacaftor/ivacaftor therapy in persons with cystic fibrosis aged 2-5 years homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation (F/F). *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020; **19**: S31.

312. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT03125395. A Rollover Safety Study of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 2 Years and Older With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. 2017. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03125395.

313. EU Clinical Trials Register. 2019-003112-31. A Phase 3, Rollover Study to Evaluate the Safety of Long-term Treatment With Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor Combination Therapy in Subjects Aged 2 Years and Older With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. 2019. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/search?query=2019-003112-31.



314. Schwarz C, Sutharsan S, Epaud R, Klingsberg RC, Fischer R, Rowe SM, et al.

Tezacaftor/ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis who stopped lumacaftor/ivacaftor due to respiratory adverse events. *Journal of cystic fibrosis* 2021; **20**: 228-33.

315. Euctr DE. Study to Evaluate Safety, Efficacy, and Tolerability of TEZ/IVA in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Who Have Previously Discontinued Orkambi.

https://trialsearchwhoint/Trial2aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2017-000540-18-DE 2017.

316. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study to Evaluate Safety, Efficacy, and Tolerability of TEZ/IVA in Orkambi[®] (Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor) -Experienced Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis (CF). *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT03150719* 2017.

317. Schwarz C, Sutharsan S, Epaud R, Klingsberg R, Fischer R, Rowe SM, et al. Safety, Efficacy, and Tolerability of Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Patients Who Previously Discontinued Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor Due To Respiratory Adverse Events: a Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Phase 3b Study. *Pneumologie (Stuttgart, Germany)* 2019; **73**.

318. Keating D, Taylor-Cousar J, Marigowda G, Burr L, Daines C, Mall M, et al. Phase 2 safety and efficacy: Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) modulator regimen VX-445/tezacaftor(TEZ)/ ivacaftor(IVA). *Respirology* 2019; **24**: 67.

319. EU Clinical Trials Register. A Study of VX-445 in Healthy Subjects and Subjects with Cystic Fibrosis. *https://trialsearchwhoint/Trial2aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2017-000797-11-NL* 2017.

320. Keating D, Marigowda G, Burr L, Daines C, Mall MA, McKone EF, et al. VX-445-Tezacaftor-Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis and One or Two Phe508del Alleles. *New England journal of medicine* 2018; **379**: 1612-20.

321. Nct. A Study of VX-445 in Healthy Subjects and Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT03227471* 2017.

322. McNally P, McKone E, Cox D, Linnane B, Williamson M, Elnazir B, et al. RECOVER - the Real World Clinical Outcomes with Novel Modulator therapy combinations in people with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021; **20**: S51.

323. Walker S, Flume P, McNamara J, Solomon M, Chilvers M, Chmiel J, et al. A phase 3 study of tezacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in children aged 6 through 11years with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2019; **18**: 708-13.

324. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT02953314. A Study to Evaluate the Pharmacokinetics, Safety, and Tolerability of VX-661/lvacaftor in Pediatric Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis (CF). 2016. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02953314.

325. EU Clinical Trials Register. A Phase 3, Open-label Study to Evaluate the Pharmacokinetics, Safety, and Tolerability of VX-661 in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects 6 Through 11 Years of Age With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous or Heterozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. 2017. Available from: https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctr-search/trial/2017-001164-38/3rd.

326. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study to Evaluate the Effect of VX-661 in Combination With Ivacaftor on Chest Imaging Endpoints in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del CFTR Mutation. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT02730208* 2016.

327. EU Clinical Trials Register. A phase 2, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study to evaluate the effect of VX-661 in combination with ivacaftor on chest imaging endpoints in subjects aged 12 years and older with cystic fibrosis, homozygous for the f508del-cftr mutation. *https://wwwclinicaltrialsregistereu/ctr-search/trial/2019-002189-11/results* 2019.

328. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Phase 2 Study to Evaluate Effects of VX-661/Ivacaftor on Lung and Extrapulmonary Systems in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT02508207* 2015.

329. ClinicalTrials.gov. Study to Evaluate Safety and Efficacy of VX-661 in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation With an Open-Label Expansion. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT02070744* 2014.

330. Davies J, Sheridan H, Bell N, Cunningham S, Davis SD, Elborn JS, et al. Assessment of clinical response to ivacaftor with lung clearance index in cystic fibrosis patients with a G551D-CFTR mutation and preserved spirometry: A randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2013; **1**: 630-8.

331. Anonymous. Corrections: Assessment of clinical response to ivacaftor with lung clearance index in cystic fibrosis patients with a G551D-CFTR mutation and preserved spirometry: a randomised controlled trial (The Lancet Respiratory Medicine (2013) 1(8) (630-638)

(S2213260013701826) (10.1016/S2213-2600(13)70182-6)). *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2017; **5**: e26.

332. Button BM, Edgeworth D, Finlayson F, Fantidis M, Wilson L, Talbot A, et al. Effect of ivacaftor on wellness, quality of life and cognitive function in adults with cystic fibrosis and G551D mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2015; **14**: S18.

333. Button BM, Edgeworth D, Wilson LM, Sayer J, Tierney A, Finlayson F, et al. Ivacaftor improves wellness, quality of life and cognitive function in G551D cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015; **50**: 437.

334. ClinicalTrials.gov. NCT01262352. Study of the Effect of Ivacaftor on Lung Clearance Index in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis and the G551D Mutation. 2010. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01262352.

335. Davies JC, Sheridan H, Lee P, Song T, Stone A, Ratjen F. Lung clearance index to evaluate the effect of ivacaftor on lung function in subjects with cf who have the G551D-CFTR mutation and mild lung disease. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012; **47**: 311.

336. Davies JC, Sheridan H, Lee PS, Song T, Stone A, Ratjen F. Effect of ivacaftor on lung function in subjects with CF who have the G551D-CFTR mutation and mild lung disease: A comparison of lung clearance index (LCI) vs. spirometry. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2012; **11**: S15.

337. EU Clinical Trials Register. 2010-020546-96. A Phase 2, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Crossover Study to Evaluate the Effect of VX-770 on Lung Clearance Index in Subjects with Cystic Fibrosis, the G551D Mutation, and FEV1 >90%. 2010.

338. Ratjen F, Sheridan H, Lee P, Song T, Stone A, Davies JC. Lung clearance index as an outcome measure in cystic fibrosis clinical trials. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011; **46**: 282-3.

339. Ratjen F, Sheridan H, Lee PS, Song T, Stone A, Davies J. Effect of ivacaftor on lung clearance index and FEV1 in subjects with CF who have the G551DCFTR mutation and mild lung disease. *European Respiratory Journal* 2012; **40**.

340. Ratjen FA, Sheridan H, Lee PS, Song T, Stone A, Davies J. Lung clearance index as an endpoint in a multicenter randomized control trial of ivacaftor in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have mild lung disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2012; **185**.

341. Davies JC, Sheridan H, Lee P, Song T, Stone A, Ratjen F. Lung clearance index to evaluate the effect of ivacaftor on lung function in subjects with CF who have the G551D-CFTR mutation and mild lung disease. *Pediatric pulmonology* 2012; **47**: 311, Abstract no: 249.

342. Edgeworth D, Keating D, Ellis M, Button B, Williams E, Clark D, et al. Improvement in exercise duration, lung function and well-being in G551D-cystic fibrosis patients: A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, cross-over study with ivacaftor treatment. *Clinical Science* 2017; **131**: 2037-45.

343. Edgeworth D, Keating D, Williams E, Clark D, Button B, Tierney A, et al. Exercise improvements in ivacaftor treated G551D cystic fibrosis patients are not solely related to FEV1 and sweat changes. *European Respiratory Journal* 2015; **46**.

344. Edgeworth D, Keating D, Williams E, Clark D, Button BM, Tierney AC, et al. Ivacaftor improves exercise capacity in patients with G551D CF gene mutations. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2015; **14**: S27.

345. Keating D, Edgeworth D, Heretier S, Denise C, Tierney A, Kotsimbos T, et al. Sweat chloride response does not reliably correlate with clinical parameters: A placebo controlled crossover trial of ivacaftor in G551D CF patients. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2017; **16**: S75.

346. King SJ, Tierney AC, Edgeworth D, Keating D, Williams E, Kotsimbos T, et al. Body composition and weight changes after ivacaftor treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis carrying the G551 D cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator mutation: A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, crossover study with open-label extension. *Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif)* 2021; **85**: 111124.

347. Peleg AY, Choo JM, Langan KM, Edgeworth D, Keating D, Wilson J, et al. Antibiotic exposure and interpersonal variance mask the effect of ivacaftor on respiratory microbiota composition. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2018; **17**: 50-6.

348. Wilson J, Allen-Graham J, Talbot A, Finlayson F, Clark D, Keating D, et al. Treatment with ivacaftor in CF patients with the G551D mutation is associated with improvement in cognition. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2018; **17**: S57.

349. Wilson J, Keating D, Clark D, Edgeworth D, Allen-Graham J, Finlayson F, et al. The effect of ivacaftor CFTR gene-potentiating therapy on cytokine levels in CF patients with the G551D mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2017; **16**: S83.

350. Wilson JW, Keating D, Clark D, Edgeworth D, Allen-Graham J, Finlayson F, et al. Ivacaftor CFTR gene-potentiating therapy reduces inflammatory cytokine levels in CF patients with G551D mutation. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2017; **52**: 236-7.

351. Keating D, Wilson L, Williams E, Kotsimbos T, Wilson J. Ivacaftor withdrawal syndrome during a randomised placebo-controlled cross-over study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2019; **18**: S130. 352. ClinicalTrials.gov. CPET in CF Patients With One G551D Mutation Taking VX770. 2013.

Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01937325.

353. Ng C, Dellschaft N, Hoad C, Marciani L, Mainz J, Hill T, et al. Effects of tezacaftor/ivacaftor on gut function and transit in cystic fibrosis: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021; **20**: S102.

ClinicalTrials.gov. Gut Imaging for Function & Transit in Cystic Fibrosis Study 2 (GIFT-CF2).Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04006873.

355. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety of Ivacaftor in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis Aged 3 Through 5 Years Who Have a Specified CFTR Gating Mutation. 2016. Available from: https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02742519.

356. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study Evaluating the Safety of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Participants With Cystic Fibrosis (CF). 2021. Available from:

https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/NCT05111145.

357. ClinicalTrials.gov. Evaluation of Long-term Safety and Efficacy of ELX/TEZ/IVA in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Participants 2 Years and Older. 2021. Available from:

https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/NCT05153317.

358. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study to Evaluate ELX/TEZ/IVA on Cough and Physical Activity in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis (CF). 2021. Available from:

https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/NCT04969224.

359. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study to Assess the Effect of ELX/TEZ/IVA on Glucose Tolerance in Participants With Cystic Fibrosis (CF). 2020. Available from:

https://classic.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT04599465.

360. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study Evaluating the Long-term Safety and Efficacy of

Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Subjects 6 Years and Older and F/MF Genotypes. 2020.

361. ClinicalTrials.gov. Long-term Safety of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis Who Are Homozygous for F508del and 12 to <24 Months of Age at Treatment Initiation. 2020.



362. Clancy JP, Rowe SM, Accurso FJ, Aitken ML, Amin RS, Ashlock MA, et al. Results of a phase IIa study of VX-809, an investigational CFTR corrector compound, in subjects with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Thorax* 2012; **67**: 12-8.

363. Clancy JP, Rowe SM, Accurso FJ, Ballmann M, Boyle MP, DeBoeck C, et al. A phase II, randomized, placebo-controlled, clinical trial of four doses of VX-809 in CF patients homozygous for the F508del CFTR mutation. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010; **45**: 298.

364. Clancy JP, Rowe SM, Durie PR, Konstan MW, Dunitz J, Hornick DB, et al. Comparison of NPD parameters in a phase iia study to optimize detection of CFTR modulator bioactivity in clinical trials. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010; **45**: 301.

365. Clancy JP, Spencer-Green G. Clinical evaluation of VX-809, a novel investigational oral F508del-CFTR corrector, in subjects with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2010; **9**: S20.

366. Clancy JP, Rowe SM, Liu B, Hathorne H, Dong Q, Wisseh S, et al. Variability of nasal potential difference measurements in clinical testing of CFTR modulators. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011; **46**: 283.

367. Lu H, Cui Y, Wang D, Vernillet L. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analysis of VX-809 in cystic fibrosis subjects homozygous for the F508DEL mutation. *Clinical pharmacology and therapeutics* 2011; **89**: S25-S6.

368. ClinicalTrials.gov. Study of VX-809 in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects With the ΔF508-CFTR Gene Mutation. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT00865904* 2009.

369. EU Clinical Trials Register. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multiple dose study of VX-809 to evaluate safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of VX-809 in cystic fibrosis subjects homozygous for the deltaF508-CFTR gene mutation - Study VX08-809-101. https://trialsearchwhoint/Trial2aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2008-006446-25-NL 2009.

370. Davies JC, Moskowitz S, Brown CD, Horsley AR, Mall MA, McKone EF, et al. Phase 2 safety and efficacy of the triple combination CFTR modulator regimen VX-659/TEZ/IVA in CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2018; **53**: 228-9.

371. Flume PA, Liou TG, Borowitz DS, Li H, Yen K, Ordonez CL, et al. Ivacaftor in subjects with cystic fibrosis who are homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Chest* 2012; **142**: 718-24.

372. Flume PA, Borowitz D, Liou T, Li H, Yen K, Ordonez C, et al. VX-770 in subjects with CF and homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011; **46**: 284-5.

Flume PA, Borowitz DS, Liou TG, Li H, Yen K, Ordonez CL, et al. VX-770 in subjects with cystic fibrosis who are homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2011; 10: S16.
Kerem E, Cohen-Cymberknoh M, Tsabari R, Wilschanski M, Reiter J, Shoseyov D, et al. Ivacaftor in People with Cystic Fibrosis and a 3849110kb C->T or D1152H Residual Function

Mutation. Annals of the American Thoracic Society 2021; 18: 433-41.
375. Kerem E, Cohen-Cymberknoh M, Tsabari R, Wilschanski M, Reiter J, Shoseyov D, et al.
Ivacaftor in People With Cystic Fibrosis and a 3849+10kb C ->T or D1152H Residual Function
Mutation. Annals of the American Thoracic Society 2020.

376. McKone EF, DiMango EA, Sutharsan S, Barto TL, Campbell D, Ahluwalia N, et al. A phase 3, randomized, double-blind, parallel-group study to evaluate tezacaftor/ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis heterozygous for F508del-CFTR and a gating mutation. *Journal of cystic fibrosis : official journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society* 2021; **20**: 234-42.

377. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Phase 3 Study of VX-661 in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older With Cystic Fibrosis, Who Have One F508del-CFTR Mutation and a Second Mutation That Has Been Demonstrated to be Clinically Responsive to Ivacaftor. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT02412111* 2015.



378. EU Clinical Trials Register. A study in people with Cystic Fibrosis (a rare hereditary lung disease) to assess the efficacy and safety of a combination of two experimental drugs. https://trialsearchwhoint/Trial2aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2014-004838-25-IT 2015.

379. Munck A, Kerem E, Ellemunter H, Campbell D, Wang LT, Ahluwalia N, et al. Tezacaftor/ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis heterozygous for minimal function CFTR mutations. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020; **19**: 962-8.

380. ClinicalTrials.gov. A Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of VX-661 in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older With Cystic Fibrosis, Heterozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation. *https://clinicaltrialsgov/show/NCT02516410* 2015.

381. A phase 3, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of VX-661 in combination with ivacaftor in subjects aged 12 years and older with cystic fibrosis, heterozygous for the f508del-cftr mutation and with a second CFTR mutation that is not likely to respond to VX-661 and/or ivacaftor therapy (f508del/nr).

https://www.clinicaltrialsregistereu/ctr-search/trial/2014-004787-37/results 2017.

382. EU Clinical Trials Register. A study in people with Cystic Fibrosis (a rare hereditary lung disease) to assess the efficacy and safety of a combination of two experimental drugs. https://trialsearchwhoint/Trial2aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2014-004787-37-DE 2015.

383. Berkers G, van der Meer R, Heijerman H, Beekman JM, Boj SF, Vries RGJ, et al. Lumacaftor/ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis with an A455E-CFTR mutation. *Journal of cystic fibrosis : official journal of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society* 2021; **20**: 761-7.

384. EU Clinical Trials Register. Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor Combination Therapy in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis Who Have an A455E-CFTR Mutation.

https://trialsearchwhoint/Trial2aspx?TrialID=EUCTR2016-001585-29-NL 2016.

385. McKone EF, Borowitz D, Drevinek P, Griese M, Konstan MW, Wainwright C, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis who have the Gly551Asp-CFTR mutation: A phase 3, open-label extension study (PERSIST). *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2014; **2**: 902-10.

386. McKone EF, Borowitz D, Drevinek P, Griese M, Konstan MW, Wainwright CE, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of investigational CFTR potentiator, VX-770, in subjects with CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011; **46**: 284.

387. McKone E, Li H, Yen K, Davies JC. Long-term safety and efficacy of ivacaftor in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have the G551D-CFTR Mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2012; **11**: S13.

388. McKone E, Li H, Gilmartin G, Davies JC. Long-term safety and efficacy of ivacaftor in persons with cystic fibrosis who have the G551D-CFTR mutation. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012; **47**: 296-7.

389. McKone E, Borowitz D, Drevinek P, Griese M, Konstan MW, Wainwright C, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis who have the G551D-CFTR mutation: Response through 144 weeks of treatment (96 weeks of persist). *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013; **48**: 287.

390. Altes TA, Johnson M, Fidler M, Botfield M, Tustison NJ, Leiva-Salinas C, et al. Use of hyperpolarized helium-3 MRI to assess response to ivacaftor treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2017; **16**: 267-74.

391. Altes T, Johnson M, Mugler IJ, Miller GW, Flors L, Mata J, et al. The effect of ivacaftor, an investigational CFTR potentiator, on hyperpolarized noble gas magnetic resonance imaging in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have the G551D-CFTR mutation. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2012; **185**.

392. Altes T, Johnson MA, Miller GW, Mugler JP, Flors L, Mata J, et al. Hyperpolarized Gas MRI of ivacaftor therapy in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have the G551D-CFTR mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2012; **11**: S67.



393. Altes T, Johnson MA, Miller GW, Mugler JP, Flors L, Mata J, et al. Hyperpolarized gas MRI of ivacaftor therapy in persons with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012; **47**: 291.

394. Altes T, Johnson M, Higgins M, Fidler M, Botfield M, Mugler IJP, et al. The effect of ivacaftor treatment on lung ventilation defects as measured by hyperpolarized helium-3 MRI, on patients with cystic fibrosis and a G551D-CFTR mutation. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2014; **13**: S6.

395. Sawicki GS, McKone EF, Millar SJ, Pasta DJ, Konstan MW, Lubarsky B, et al. Patients with cystic fibrosis and a G551D or homozygous F508del mutation: Similar lung function decline. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2017; **195**: 1673-6.

396. Gilmartin GS, Cotton C, Singh M, Bialek PE, Lee P, Wilson S, et al. Baseline cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein expression predicts subject response to lumacaftor-ivacaftor treatment. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2018; **197**.

397. Nick JA, St. Clair C, Jones MC, Lan L, Higgins M. Ivacaftor in cystic fibrosis with residual function: Lung function results from an N-of-1 study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020; **19**: 91-8.
398. Nick JA, Rodman D, St Clair C, Jones MC, Li H, Higgins M. Utilization of an "n-of-1" study

design to test the effect of ivacaftor in CF patients with residual CFTR function and FEV1 >=40% of predicted. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2014; **49**: 188-9.

399. Nick JA, Rodman D, St Clair C, Jones MC, Li H, Higgins M, et al. Effect of ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis, residual cftr function, and fev1 >=40% of predicted, n-of-1 study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2014; **49**: 285.

400. McGarry ME, Finkbeiner WE, Illek B, Fischer H, Zlock LT, Olshansky S, et al. Ivacaftor response is not predicted by signs of residual CFTR function. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015; **50**: 292.
401. Suthoff ED, Bonafede M, Limone B, O'Callaghan L, Sawicki GS, Wagener JS. Healthcare resource utilization associated with ivacaftor use in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of medical economics* 2016; **19**: 845-51.



9 Appendices

9.1 Literature search strategies

9.1.1 EAG database searches

Table 84. EAG search strategy for MEDLINE via Ovid.

| # | Searches | Results 16/02/2023 |
|---|--|--------------------|
| 1 | exp Cystic Fibrosis/ | 39400 |
| 2 | cystic fibrosis.tw. | 49120 |
| 3 | (fibrocystic adj10 disease adj10 pancreas).tw. | 215 |
| 4 | mucoviscidos\$.tw. | 1471 |
| 5 | (cystic\$ adj10 fibros\$).tw. | 49965 |
| 6 | exp Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator/ | 10555 |
| 7 | (f508del or deltaF508 or CFTR).mp. | 13058 |
| 8 | or/1-7 | 58105 |
| 9 | (ivacaftor or Kalydeco or VX*770 or "VX 770" or "873054 44 5" or IVA).ti,ab. | 13226 |
| 10 | (lumacaftor or VX*809 or "VX 809" or VRT826809 or "VRT 826809" or "936727 05 8" or "EGP8L81APK" or LUM).ti,ab. | 5236 |
| 11 | (elexacaftor or VX*445 or "VX 445" or "2216712 66 0" or RRN67GMB0V or "WHO 11180" or WHO11180 or ELX).ti,ab. | 4596 |
| 12 | (tezacaftor or VX*661 or "VX 661" or "1152311 62 0" or 8RW88Y506K or TEZ).ti,ab. | 4747 |
| 13 | (Orkambi or "1815566 23 4" or S900006790 or SCHEMBL19410545).ti,ab. | 57 |
| 14 | (Symkevi or Symdeko or "1969264 35 4" or "D11042").ti,ab. | 5 |
| 15 | (Trikafta or Kaftrio or "2398469 65 1").ti,ab. | 54 |
| 16 | or/9-15 | 14066 |
| 17 | 8 and 16 | 1184 |
| 18 | exp animals/ not humans.sh. | 5093682 |
| 19 | 17 not 18 | 1155 |
| Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process. In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations. Daily | | |

and Versions 1946 to February 15, 2023


| Table 85 | FAG | search | strategy | for | Embase | via | Ovid |
|------------|-----|--------|----------|-----|----------|-----|-------|
| 10010-005. | LAO | Scarch | Junutesy | 101 | LIIIDUSC | via | Oviu. |

| # | Searches | Results 16/02/2023 |
|-------------------------|--|--------------------|
| 1 | exp Cystic Fibrosis/ | 80914 |
| 2 | cystic fibrosis.tw. | 75534 |
| 3 | (fibrocystic adj10 disease adj10 pancreas).tw. | 17 |
| 4 | mucoviscidos\$.tw. | 1029 |
| 5 | (cystic\$ adj10 fibros\$).tw. | 76676 |
| 6 | exp Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator/ | 9595 |
| 7 | (f508del or deltaF508 or CFTR).mp. | 22111 |
| 8 | or/1-7 | 99216 |
| 9 | exp ivacaftor/ | 3005 |
| 10 | (ivacaftor or Kalydeco or VX*770 or "VX 770" or "873054 44 5" or IVA).ti,ab. | 22396 |
| 11 | exp lumacaftor/ | 1275 |
| 12 | (lumacaftor or VX*809 or "VX 809" or VRT826809 or "VRT 826809" or "936727 05 8" or "EGP8L81APK" or LUM).ti,ab. | 8607 |
| 13 | exp elexacaftor/ | 260 |
| 14 | (elexacaftor or VX*445 or "VX 445" or "2216712 66 0" or RRN67GMB0V or "WHO 11180" or WHO11180 or ELX).ti,ab. | 7388 |
| 15 | exp tezacaftor/ | 495 |
| 16 | (tezacaftor or VX*661 or "VX 661" or "1152311 62 0" or 8RW88Y506K or TEZ).ti,ab. | 7538 |
| 17 | (Orkambi or "1815566 23 4" or S900006790 or SCHEMBL19410545).ti,ab. | 231 |
| 18 | (Symkevi or Symdeko or "1969264 35 4" or "D11042").ti,ab. | 65 |
| 19 | (Trikafta or Kaftrio or "2398469 65 1").ti,ab. | 164 |
| 20 | or/9-19 | 24893 |
| 21 | 8 and 20 | 4288 |
| 22 | 21 not ((exp animal/ or nonhuman/) not exp human/) | 4086 |
| Database(s): Embase 107 | A to Ephruphy 15, 2023 | |

9.1.2 Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register

The Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register is maintained by the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group, and is compiled from database searches of MEDLINE (weekly searches from 1966 to present), Embase (searched 1974 to August 1995) and CENTRAL (searched on each new issue of



the Cochrane library), and also includes records hand-searched from the Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, Pediatric Pulmonology and conference abstracts. Full details of the current search strategies used to compile the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register are given in Table 85 and Table 86. Records identified from the searches used to generate the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register are manually screened by an information specialist, and only references that are RCTs or possible RCTs are included in the register. The EAG considers the Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register to provide an up-to-date, comprehensive and systematic search of randomised control trials relating to cystic fibrosis, which includes all interventions and comparators relevant to the current MTA.

Table 86. Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group CENTRAL search strategy used to compile the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register

| ID | Search Term |
|----|--|
| 1 | (cystic next fibros*) |
| 2 | CYSTIC FIBROSIS |
| 3 | CYSTIC FIBROSIS TRANSMEMBRANE CONDUCTANCE REGULATOR |
| 4 | Cftr |
| 5 | (fibrocystic and pancrea*) |
| 6 | mucoviscido* |
| 7 | (#1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6) |
| 8 | (#7 and (not sr-cf)) |

Searches are performed on each new issue of the Cochrane Library, which is published monthly. Search terms shown in capitals are MeSH terms.

Table 87. Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group MEDLINE search strategy used to compile the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register

| ID | Search Term |
|----|---------------------------------|
| 1 | randomized controlled trial.pt. |
| 2 | controlled clinical trial.pt. |
| 3 | randomized.ab. |
| 4 | placebo.ab. |
| 5 | drug therapy.fs. |

| 6 | randomly.ab. |
|----|--|
| 7 | trial.ab. |
| 8 | groups.ab. |
| 9 | 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 |
| 10 | exp animals/ not humans.sh |
| 11 | 9 not 10 |
| 12 | exp Cystic Fibrosis/ |
| 13 | cystic fibrosis.tw. |
| 14 | fibrocystic adj10 disease adj10 pancreas.tw. |
| 15 | mucoviscidos\$.tw. |
| 16 | (cystic\$ adj10 fibros\$).tw. |
| 17 | or/12-16 |
| 18 | 11 and 17 |

The current search strategy for Ovid MEDLINE is provided. Other strategies have been used previously and searched on SilverPlatter CD-ROM, from 1966 to 2002 and monthly on Ovid from 2003 to the present.

Table 88. EAG search strategy of CENTRAL to identify records for inclusion in the systematic literature review, using the Cystic Fibrosis Trial Register (SR-CF filter)

| ID | Search | Hits (16/02/2023) |
|----|--|-------------------|
| 1 | SR-CF | 8506 |
| 2 | (ivacaftor* OR Kalydeco OR VX*770 OR "VX 770" OR "873054 44 5" OR IVA) | 1820 |
| 3 | (lumacaftor OR VX*809 OR "VX 809" OR VRT826809 OR "VRT 826809" OR "936727 05 8" OR "EGP8L81APK" OR LUM) | 604 |
| 4 | (elexacaftor OR VX*445 OR "VX 445" OR "2216712 66 0" OR RRN67GMB0V OR "WHO 11180" OR WHO11180 OR ELX) | 96 |
| 5 | (tezacaftor OR VX*661 OR "VX 661" OR "1152311 62 0" OR 8RW88Y506K OR TEZ) | 439 |
| 6 | (Orkambi OR "1815566 23 4" OR S900006790 OR SCHEMBL19410545) | 27 |



| 7 | (Symkevi OR Symdeko OR "1969264 35 4" OR "D11042") | 8 |
|----|---|------|
| 8 | (Trikafta OR Kaftrio OR "2398469 65 1") | 8 |
| 9 | #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 | 2577 |
| 10 | #1 AND #9 | 333 |

9.1.3 Economic evaluation and HRQoL SLR search strategies

| # | Searches | Result <u>s</u> |
|----|---|-----------------|
| 1 | Economics/ | 27490 |
| 2 | exp "Costs and Cost Analysis"/ | 262655 |
| 3 | Economics, Nursing/ | 4013 |
| 4 | Economics, Medical/ | 9241 |
| 5 | Economics, Pharmaceutical/ | 3094 |
| 6 | exp Economics, Hospital/ | 25676 |
| 7 | Economics, Dental/ | 1920 |
| 8 | exp "Fees and Charges"/ | 31300 |
| 9 | exp Budgets/ | 14076 |
| 10 | budget*.ti,ab,kf. | 35119 |
| 11 | (economic* or cost or costs or costly or costing or price or prices or pricing or pharmacoeconomic* or pharmaco-economic* or expenditure or expenditures or expense or expenses or financial or finance or finances or financed).ti,kf. | 274125 |
| 12 | (economic* or cost or costs or costly or costing or price or prices or pricing or pharmacoeconomic* or pharmaco-economic* or expenditure or expenditures or expense or expenses or financial or finance or finances or financed).ab. /freq=2 | 368356 |
| 13 | (cost* adj2 (effective* or utilit* or benefit* or minimi* or analy* or outcome or outcomes)).ab,kf. | 202778 |
| 14 | (value adj2 (money or monetary)).ti,ab,kf. | 2956 |



| 15 | exp models, economic/ | 16182 |
|----|--|--------|
| 16 | economic model*.ab,kf. | 4081 |
| 17 | markov chains/ | 15902 |
| 18 | markov.ti,ab,kf. | 28195 |
| 19 | monte carlo method/ | 31936 |
| 20 | monte carlo.ti,ab,kf. | 58695 |
| 21 | exp Decision Theory/ | 13002 |
| 22 | (decision* adj2 (tree* or analy* or model*)).ti,ab,kf. | 35610 |
| 23 | or/1-22 | 874458 |
| 24 | exp Cystic Fibrosis/ | 39400 |
| 25 | cystic fibrosis.tw. | 49120 |
| 26 | (fibrocystic adj10 disease adj10 pancreas).tw. | 215 |
| 27 | mucoviscidos\$.tw. | 1471 |
| 28 | (cystic\$ adj10 fibros\$).tw. | 49965 |
| 29 | exp Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator/ | 10555 |
| 30 | (f508del or deltaF508 or CFTR).mp. | 13058 |
| 31 | or/24-30 | 58105 |
| 32 | (ivacaftor* or Kalydeco or VX*770 or "VX 770" or "873054 44 5" or IVA).mp. | 13722 |
| 33 | (lumacaftor or VX*809 or "VX 809" or VRT826809 or "VRT 826809" or "936727 05 8" or "EGP8L81APK" or LUM).mp. | 5749 |
| 34 | (elexacaftor or VX*445 or "VX 445" or "2216712 66 0" or RRN67GMB0V or "WHO 11180" or WHO11180 or ELX).mp. | 4750 |
| 35 | (tezacaftor or VX*661 or "VX 661" or "1152311 62 0" or 8RW88Y506K or TEZ).mp. | 4945 |
| 36 | (Orkambi or "1815566 23 4" or S900006790 or SCHEMBL19410545).mp. | 70 |



| 37 | (Symkevi or Symdeko or "1969264 35 4" or "D11042").mp. | 8 |
|----------------------|---|--------------|
| 38 | (Trikafta or Kaftrio or "2398469 65 1").mp. | 75 |
| 39 | or/32-38 | 14877 |
| 40 | 23 and 31 and 39 | 54 |
| Database(s): Ovid ME | DLINE(R) and Enub Ahead of Print. In-Process. In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed City | ations Daily |

Database(s): Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Daily and Versions 1946 to February 15, 2023

Economic evaluations search strategy for EMBASE via Ovid

| # | Searches | Results |
|----|---|---------|
| 1 | Economics/ | 243981 |
| 2 | Cost/ | 61673 |
| 3 | exp Health Economics/ | 998288 |
| 4 | Budget/ | 33171 |
| 5 | budget*.ti,ab,kf. | 46602 |
| 6 | (economic* or cost or costs or costly or costing or price or prices or pricing or pharmacoeconomic* or pharmaco-economic* or expenditure or expenditures or expense or expenses or financial or finance or finances or financed).ti,kf. | 339209 |
| 7 | (economic* or cost or costs or costly or costing or price or prices or pricing or pharmacoeconomic* or pharmaco-economic* or expenditure or expenditures or expense or expenses or financial or finance or finances or financed).ab. /freq=2 | 514938 |
| 8 | (cost* adj2 (effective* or utilit* or benefit* or minimi* or analy* or outcome or outcomes)).ab,kf. | 283536 |
| 9 | (value adj2 (money or monetary)).ti,ab,kf. | 3990 |
| 10 | Statistical Model/ | 171317 |
| 11 | economic model*.ab,kf. | 6111 |
| 12 | Probability/ | 143435 |
| 13 | markov.ti,ab,kf. | 37060 |
| 14 | monte carlo method/ | 48812 |
| 15 | monte carlo.ti,ab,kf. | 61584 |
| 16 | Decision Theory/ | 1812 |
| 17 | Decision Tree/ | 20062 |
| 18 | (decision* adj2 (tree* or analy* or model*)).ti,ab,kf. | 48933 |
| 19 | or/1-18 | 1950324 |
| 20 | exp Cystic Fibrosis/ | 80914 |

| 21 | cystic fibrosis.tw. | 75534 |
|-------------------------------|--|-------|
| 22 | (fibrocystic adj10 disease adj10 pancreas).tw. | 17 |
| 23 | mucoviscidos\$.tw. | 1029 |
| 24 | (cystic\$ adj10 fibros\$).tw. | 76676 |
| 25 | exp Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator/ | 9595 |
| 26 | (f508del or deltaF508 or CFTR).mp. | 22111 |
| 27 | or/20-26 | 99216 |
| 28 | exp ivacaftor/ | 3005 |
| 29 | (ivacaftor or Kalydeco or VX*770 or "VX 770" or "873054 44 5" or IVA).mp. | 26419 |
| 30 | exp lumacaftor/ | 1275 |
| 31 | (lumacaftor or VX*809 or "VX 809" or VRT826809 or "VRT 826809" or "936727 05 8" or "EGP8L81APK" or LUM).mp. | 11904 |
| 32 | exp elexacaftor/ | 260 |
| 33 | (elexacaftor or VX*445 or "VX 445" or "2216712 66 0" or RRN67GMB0V or "WHO 11180" or WHO11180 or ELX).mp. | 10369 |
| 34 | exp tezacaftor/ | 495 |
| 35 | (tezacaftor or VX*661 or "VX 661" or "1152311 62 0" or 8RW88Y506K or TEZ).mp. | 10550 |
| 36 | (Orkambi or "1815566 23 4" or S900006790 or SCHEMBL19410545).mp. | 388 |
| 37 | (Symkevi or Symdeko or "1969264 35 4" or "D11042").mp. | 132 |
| 38 | (Trikafta or Kaftrio or "2398469 65 1").mp. | 242 |
| 39 | or/28-38 | 28117 |
| 40 | 19 and 27 and 39 | 463 |
| Database(s): Embase 1971 to ' | 2022 Entrugry 15 | |

Table 90. EAG HRQoL search strategy for Medline via Ovid

| # | Searches | Results |
|----|--|---------|
| 1 | exp Cystic Fibrosis/ | 39464 |
| 2 | cystic fibrosis.tw. | 49219 |
| 3 | (fibrocystic adj10 disease adj10 pancreas).tw. | 215 |
| 4 | mucoviscidos\$.tw. | 1471 |
| 5 | (cystic\$ adj10 fibros\$).tw. | 50067 |
| 6 | exp Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator/ | 10582 |
| 7 | (f508del or deltaF508 or CFTR).mp. | 13096 |
| 8 | or/1-7 | 58214 |
| 9 | Quality-Adjusted Life Years/ | 15456 |
| 10 | Value of Life/ | 5802 |
| 11 | (qaly\$ or qald\$ or qale\$ or qtime\$).ti,ab,kf. | 14154 |



| 12 | (quality adjusted or adjusted life year\$).ti,ab,kf. | 22571 |
|----------------------------|--|--------------|
| 13 | disability adjusted life.ti,ab,kf. | 5052 |
| 14 | daly\$1.ti,ab,kf. | 4443 |
| 15 | ((index adj3 wellbeing) or (quality adj3 wellbeing) or qwb).ti,ab,kf. | 1141 |
| 16 | (multiattribute\$ or multi attribute\$).ti,ab,kf. | 1274 |
| | (utility adj3 (score\$1 or scoring or valu\$ or measur\$ or evaluat\$ or scale\$1 or | |
| | instrument\$1 or weight or weights or weighting or information or data or unit or units or | |
| 17 | health\$ or life or estimat\$ or elicit\$ or disease\$ or mean or cost\$ or expenditure\$1 or | 42606 |
| | gain or gains or loss or losses or lost or analysis or index\$ or indices or overall or | |
| | reported or calculat\$ or range\$ or increment\$ or state or states or status)).ti,ab,kf. | |
| 18 | utility.ab. /freq=2 | 22810 |
| 19 | utilities.ti,ab,kf. | 9139 |
| 20 | disutili\$.ti,ab,kf. | 606 |
| 21 | (HSUV or HSUVs).ti,ab,kf. | 106 |
| 22 | health\$1 year\$1 equivalent\$1.ti,ab,kf. | 40 |
| 23 | (hye or hyes).ti,ab,kf. | |
| 24 | (hui or hui1 or hui2 or hui3).ti,ab,kf. | |
| 25 | (illness state\$1 or health state\$1).ti,ab,kf. | 8156 |
| | (euro qual or euro qual5d or euro qol5d or eq-5d or eq5-d or eq5d or euroqual or | |
| 26 | euroqol or euroqual5d or euroqol5d).ti,ab,kf. | 15912 |
| 27 | (eq-sdq or eqsdq).ti,ab,kf. | 1 |
| 28 | (short form\$ or shortform\$).ti,ab,kf. | 42853 |
| 29 | (sf36\$ or sf 36\$ or sf thirtysix or sf thirty six).ti,ab,kf. | 26091 |
| 30 | (sf6 or sf 6 or sf6d or sf 6d or sf six or sfsix or sf8 or sf 8 or sf eight or sfeight).ti,ab,kf. | 3909 |
| 31 | (sf12 or sf 12 or sf twelve or sftwelve).ti,ab,kf. | 6110 |
| 32 | (sf16 or sf 16 or sf sixteen or sfsixteen).ti,ab,kf. | 33 |
| 33 | (sf20 or sf 20 or sf twenty or sftwenty).ti,ab,kf. | 356 |
| 34 | (15D or 15-D or 15 dimension).ti,ab,kf. | 6025 |
| 35 | (standard gamble\$ or sg).ti,ab,kf. | 13810 |
| 36 | (time trade off\$1 or time tradeoff\$1 or tto or timetradeoff\$1).ti,ab,kf. | 2317 |
| 37 | or/9-36 | 184339 |
| 38 | 8 and 37 | 313 |
| Database(s) and Version | : Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process, In-Data-Review & Other Non-Indexed Cita s 1946 to March 03, 2023 | tions, Daily |

EAG HRQoL search strategy for EMBASE via Ovid



| # | Searches | Results |
|----|---|---------|
| 1 | quality adjusted life year/ | 34672 |
| 2 | socioeconomics/ | 158360 |
| 3 | (qaly\$ or qald\$ or qale\$ or qtime\$).ti,ab,kf. | 26833 |
| 4 | (quality adjusted or adjusted life year\$).ti,ab,kf. | 33831 |
| 5 | disability adjusted life.ti,ab,kf. | 6248 |
| 6 | daly\$1.ti,ab,kf. | 5949 |
| 7 | ((index adj3 wellbeing) or (quality adj3 wellbeing) or qwb).ti,ab,kf. | 1765 |
| 8 | (multiattribute\$ or multi attribute\$).ti,ab,kf. | 1540 |
| | (utility adj3 (score\$1 or scoring or valu\$ or measur\$ or evaluat\$ or scale\$1 or instrument\$1 | |
| | or weight or weights or weighting or information or data or unit or units or health\$ or life or | |
| 9 | estimat\$ or elicit\$ or disease\$ or mean or cost\$ or expenditure\$1 or gain or gains or loss | 66783 |
| | or losses or lost or analysis or index\$ or indices or overall or reported or calculat\$ or | |
| | range\$ or increment\$ or state or states or status)).ti,ab,kf. | |
| 10 | utility.ab. /freq=2 | 36168 |
| 11 | utilities.ti,ab,kf. | 14985 |
| 12 | disutili\$.ti,ab,kf. | 1230 |
| 13 | (HSUV or HSUVs).ti,ab,kf. | 192 |
| 14 | health\$1 year\$1 equivalent\$1.ti,ab,kf. | 44 |
| 15 | (hye or hyes).ti,ab,kf. | 169 |
| 16 | (hui or hui1 or hui2 or hui3).ti,ab,kf. | 3036 |
| 17 | (illness state\$1 or health state\$1).ti,ab,kf. | 14463 |
| 18 | (euro qual or euro qual5d or euro qol5d or eq-5d or eq5-d or eq5d or euroqual or euroqol or euroqul5d or euroqol5d).ti,ab,kf. | 29452 |
| 19 | (eq-sdq or eqsdq).ti,ab,kf. | 1 |
| 20 | (short form\$ or shortform\$).ti,ab,kf. | 59365 |
| 21 | (sf36\$ or sf 36\$ or sf thirtysix or sf thirty six).ti,ab,kf. | 45361 |
| 22 | (sf6 or sf 6 or sf6d or sf 6d or sf six or sfsix or sf8 or sf 8 or sf eight or sfeight).ti,ab,kf. | 5403 |
| 23 | (sf12 or sf 12 or sf twelve or sftwelve).ti,ab,kf. | 10513 |
| 24 | (sf16 or sf 16 or sf sixteen or sfsixteen).ti,ab,kf. | 62 |
| 25 | (sf20 or sf 20 or sf twenty or sftwenty).ti,ab,kf. | 376 |
| 26 | (15D or 15-D or 15 dimension).ti,ab,kf. | 7623 |
| 27 | (standard gamble\$ or sg).ti,ab,kf. | 20815 |
| 28 | (time trade off\$1 or time tradeoff\$1 or tto or timetradeoff\$1).ti,ab,kf. | 3483 |
| 29 | or/1-28 | 434414 |
| 30 | exp Cystic Fibrosis/ | 81861 |



| 31 | cystic fibrosis.tw. | 76309 |
|--|--|--------|
| 32 | (fibrocystic adj10 disease adj10 pancreas).tw. | 17 |
| 33 | mucoviscidos\$.tw. | 1031 |
| 34 | (cystic\$ adj10 fibros\$).tw. | 77461 |
| 35 | exp Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator/ | 9863 |
| 36 | (f508del or deltaF508 or CFTR).tw. | 21328 |
| 37 | or/30-36 | 100166 |
| 38 | 29 and 37 | 1021 |
| Database(s): Ovid Embase 1974 to 2023 March 03 | | |

9.1.4 Critique of Company's SLR

The Company conducted a SLR to identify evidence on the safety and efficacy of CFTR modulators and treatments that comprise ECM for people with CF. Two SLRs were performed, one to identify relevant clinical trials (performed 10 May 2022) and one to identify relevant observational studies (performed 12 May 2022). Compared to the EAG's SLR, the Company's SLRs were broader in scope as it also retrieved studies on non-CFTR modulator therapies for the treatment of CF. A comparison of the EAG's and Company's SLR for clinical trials is presented in Table 90.

| Systematic review step | Section of CS in which methods are reported | EAG assessment of robustness of methods |
|------------------------|---|--|
| Data sources | B.2.1 and Appendix D.1 | The EAG considers the sources searched to be appropriate, but is concerned that the date of the search may have missed recent evidence. This concern was alleviated by the provision of recent clinical study reports and unpublished data from the Company, along with a list-of ongoing studies. |
| | | Databases searched: MEDLINE®, Embase®, CENTRAL, CDSR and MEDLINE® In-Process. |
| | | Additional sources: Hand-searching of conference proceedings (published in 2015 to 2022) and searching of key websites. Latest search update: 12 May 2022. |
| Search strategies | Appendix D.1.3 | The EAG is satisfied that the searches have identified all evidence relevant to the decision problem. Search strategies for the literature review combined comprehensive terms for the population and interventions, using free-text and medical subject headings. |
| Inclusion criteria | Appendix D.1.4 | The EAG considers it likely that no relevant evidence was excluded. |

| Table 91. Summary of EAG's critique of the methods implemented by the Company | / to i | identify |
|---|--------|----------|
| evidence relevant to the decision problem | | |



| Screening and data extraction | Appendix D.1 | The EAG considers the methods for screening and data extraction to be robust. | | |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------|---|--|--|
| | | Records for the clinical SLR were screened by two independent reviewers with any discrepancies resolved by a third reviewer. Results of the literature screening processes were summarised in PRISMA diagrams. | | |
| | | Data extraction was carried out by two independent reviewers, and any discrepancies were resolved by a third reviewer. | | |
| Tool for quality | D.3.1 | The EAG considers the Company's choice of quality | | |
| assessment of | | assessment tool to be reasonable, although notes that | | |
| included study or | | quality was only assessed at the level of the study. | | |
| studies | | The Company used minimum criteria for assessment of risk of bias in RCTs from the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination guidance for undertaking reviews in health care. ²⁵⁹ The EAG notes that it is plausible that the risk-of-bias may have differed for different outcomes within the clinical trials, and as such an outcome specific risk-of-bias assessment for criteria that might differ between outcome (e.g., missing data) would have been preferable. Nevertheless, the EAG notes the Company provided transparent justification for each risk of bias decision, and that the Company's assessment of risk of bias was in-line with the EAG's. | | |
| Abbreviations: CENTRA | L: Cochrane Central Reg | gister of Controlled Trials; CDSR: Cochrane Database of Systematic | | |

Abbreviations: CENTRAL: Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials; CDSR: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews; CS: Company submission; EAG: External Assessment Group; HTA: health technology assessment; NICE: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SLR: systematic literature review.

| able 92. A comparison between th | e Company's and | EAG's SLRs for clinical trials |
|----------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------|
|----------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------|

| Feature of SLR | EAG approach | Company approach | |
|----------------------------|---|--|--|
| Date of database search | 16 February 2023 | 10 May 2022 | |
| Databases searched | Embase, MEDLINE In-Process, CENTRAL, CDSR and DARE, HTA database | Embase, MEDLINE In- Process, CENTRAL, CDSR and DARE, HTA database | |
| Other sources | Conference abstracts 2010-2022 European Cystic Fibrosis Conference Annual North American Cystic Fibrosis Conference Trial registries | Conference abstracts 2015- 2022 International Congress on Pediatric Pulmonology Thoracic Society International Society for | |



| | US National Institutes of Health Database (Clinical Trials.gov) World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (WHO ICTRP) European Medicines Agency (EMA) (www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/ctrsearch/search) HTA bodies NICE; Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC); Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC); Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH). | Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research Trial registries • Clinicaltrials.gov Websites • Cystic Fibrosis Foundation • Cystic Fibrosis Europe • National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence • American Lung Association • Cystic Fibrosis Network • European Lung Foundation |
|-------------------------------|--|---|
| Review approach | Separate title/abstract appraisal and full text appraisal by two reviewers. Data extraction performed by a single reviewer and validated by another. | Separate title/abstract appraisal and full text appraisal by two reviewers. Data extraction performed by a single reviewer and validated by another. |
| Interventions and comparators | CFTR modulators only | CFTR modulators and established clinical medicine therapies |
| Age inclusion criteria | CF patients aged ≥1 year for studies of LUM/IVA CF patients aged ≥2 years for studies of ELX/TEZ/IVA CF patients aged ≥6 years for studies of TEZ/IVA or IVA monotherapy | CF patients aged ≥2 years with two CFTR <i>F508del</i> mutations CF patients aged ≥6 years with at least one <i>F508del</i> mutation ((F/F, F/MF, F/RF & F/Gating) |



| Limitations | No date limit, non-English studies included but not extracted | Date limited to 2007 and English language studies | | |
|---|---|---|--|--|
| Quality assessment | Completed at the study level and at the outcome level. | Completed at the study level only. | | |
| Abbreviations: CADTH: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health: CENTRAL: Cochrane Central Register of | | | | |

Abbreviations: CADTH: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health; CENTRAL: Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials; CDSR: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator; CS: Company submission; DARE: Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects; EAG: External Assessment Group; ELX: elexacaftor; HTA: health technology assessment; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; NICE: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SMC: Scottish Medicines Consortium; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor; WHO ICTRP: World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform

The Company's SLR for clinical trials retrieved 4,083 deduplicated records for title and abstract appraisal, of which 555 were included for full text appraisal. In total, 272 records were included following full text appraisal, and an additional 87 records were added from the grey literature searches, providing a total of 359 records from 184 unique studies included in the SLR, of which 39 were studies of CFTR modulator combination therapies and 7 were studies of ivacaftor monotherapy. In addition, the Company's SLR for observational retrieved 6,146 deduplicated records for title and abstract appraisal, of which 745 were included for full text appraisal. In total, 292 records were included following full text appraisal, and an additional 92 records were added from the grey literature searches, providing a total of 384 potentially relevant records.

In Tables 10, 11 and 12 of the Company submission, the Company further outlined the trials comprising the clinical trial programmes for ELX/TEZ/IVA, TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA. Both the EAG's SLR and the Company SLR included all studies that comprise the CFTR modulator clinical trial programme, and the EAG considers the Company SLRs to have appropriately identified all clinical trials relevant to the NICE Final Scope. The EAG notes that the Company was able to provide all clinical study reports and unpublished posters from the CFTR modulator clinical trial programme that were requested by the EAG.

Finally, the EAG notes that a small number of trials included but not prioritised in the EAG's clinical literature review were not Vertex sponsored trials, either being non-randomised Phase 4 trials,²⁶⁰⁻²⁶³ a randomised phase 2 RCT of IVA without reporting *F508del* subgroup data with unclear sponsor details,²⁶⁴ or trials of ambiguous status for which no results were available.²⁶⁵⁻²⁶⁷ Hence, the EAG is satisfied that the Company SLRs appropriately identified all evidence of clear relevance to the decision problem, and considers the results of the EAG and Company SLRs to be consistent.

9.2 Quality assessment

9.2.1 Study-level quality assessment

| Table 93. | Risk of bias assessment | conducted at the study | v level by | v the EAG for I | CTs included in the EAG SLR. |
|-----------|-------------------------|------------------------|------------|-----------------|------------------------------|
| 10010 001 | | conducted at the stad | | | |

| Study | Random sequence generation | Allocation concealment | Blinding | Blinding of outcome assessment | Incomplete outcome data | Selective reporting | Overall |
|-------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------|--|--|---|---|---------|
| Sutharsan 2022 | | | Low Double-blind | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Low Few missing outcome data | Low Analysis followed statistical analysis protocol | Low |
| Barry 2021 | Low | Low | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled with triple masking (Participant, Care Provider, Investigator). All subjects, site personnel and members of the study team were blinded to the treatment codes) | Low Active controlled trial, reducing the risk of guessing treatment assignment | Low The number of people who did not complete treatment/the study was low in both groups (4/126 in the combined active control group and 1/132 in the intervention group). The efficacy and safety sets included all randomised participants. | Low Outcomes analysed in- line with openly available statistical analysis plan | Low |

BMJ TAG

| Middleton 2019 | | Low | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple masking (Participant, Care Provider, Investigator, Outcomes Assessor). | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Low Modified ITT used for FEV ₁ analysis which included 200/201 in the intervention group and 203/204 in the placebo group. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.go v. | Low |
|-------------------|---|--|---|--|--|--|-----|
| Heijerman 2019 | Low | Low | | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Low mITT analysis of patients who received the study drug. MMRM with appropriate covariate structure used. Unclear how missing data were handled in the models if a patient had no Day 15 or Week 4 measure. | Low All extracted outcomes were prespecified in the statistical analysis protocol | Low |
| Mall 2022 | Low An IWRS was used to assign subjects to treatment. Some | Low An IWRS was used to assign subjects to treatment. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding | Low One child in the intervention group stopped treatment | Low Outcome analysed in accordance | Low |



| | imbalances in patient baseline characteristics noted, e.g. height- and weight-for-age z- scores, ppFEV1 and LCI2.5, but likely to reflect random variation due to sample size rather than a problem with randomisation. | | masking (Participant, Care Provider, Investigator, Outcomes Assessor). | upon outcome assessment is plausible | due to an adverse event - no other mention of dropout or missing data. The full analysis set included all randomized participants. | with the study protocol | |
|------------------------|--|---|---|--|--|--|-----|
| Taylor- Cousar 2017 | Low Randomisation was stratified according to age (<18 years vs ≥18 years), sex, and the percentage of the predicted forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1) (<70% vs ≥70%) at screening. Method of sequence generation and allocation: An interactive web response system | Low Method of sequence generation and allocation: An interactive web response system | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with triple blinding (Participant, Care Provider, Investigator). | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Low Small amount of missing data. Three randomized patients in each group were not included in the set. Clinicaltrials.gov details that 245/251 and 256/259 in the intervention and placebo groups, respectively, were included in the analysis (differing slightly from the numbers reported in the paper). | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.go v. Multiple timepoints measured but 24 weeks clearly specified as the primary endpoint. | Low |
| Rowe 2017 | Low An IWRS was used to assign subjects to | Low An IWRS was used to assign subjects to | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled with triple | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, | Low One patient assigned to placebo and 1 | Low SAP available via | Low |



| | treatment sequence and to ensure enrollment of at least 25% of subject with Class II to IV residual function mutations. The IWRS used a list of randomization codes generated by a designated vendor | treatment sequence and to ensure enrollment of at least 25% of subject with Class II to IV residual function mutations. The IWRS used a list of randomization codes generated by a designated vendor | masking (Participant, Care Provider, Investigator). | effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | patient assigned to ivacaftor alone in period 1 were later deemed to be ineligible and did not receive the intervention. Of the remaining 246 patients, 234 (95%) completed both intervention periods, resulting in 481 periods that could be evaluated | clinicaltrials.go v fully defined outcome, measurement schedule and analysis. Crossover analysis fully described to control for period effects and within- subject covariance. | |
|-------------|---|---|--|--|---|---|---------------|
| Davies 2021 | Low IWRS interactive web response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low IWRS interactive web response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low Double-blind trial with quadruple masking (Participant, Care Provider, Investigator, Outcomes Assessor). | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Medium 54/55 TEZ/IVA, 3/3 IVA and 8/11 Placebo (for LCl, 9/11 for ppFEV1) were included in the analyses, representing a higher percentage of missing data in the placebo group (as per clinicaltrials.gov data tables). Reasons for missing data not provided to assess whether missingness | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.go v. | Some concerns |



| | | | | | depended on the outcome's true value. | | |
|---------------|---|---|---|--|--|---|-----|
| TRAFFIC | Low IWRS interactive web response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low IWRS interactive web response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low Double-blinded | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Low For ppFEV1, 14 (4.5%) people with missing data for this outcome. No reported missing data for adverse events or PEx. | Low Outcomes of relevance to the MTA were key primary (FEV1), secondary (PEx) or safety outcomes | Low |
| TRANSPOR T | Low IWRS interactive web response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low IWRS interactive web response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low Double-blinded | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Low For ppFEV1, 11 (3%) people with missing data for this outcome, and 1 person (<1%) missing data for PEx. No reported missing data for adverse events. | Low Outcomes of relevance to the MTA were key primary (FEV1), secondary (PEx) or safety outcomes | Low |
| Wilson 2021 | Low IWRS used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low IWRS used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low Subjects and all site personnel, including the investigator, the site monitor, and the study team, were blinded | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Medium For ppFEV1, 8 (11%) of participants did not provide data. | Low Statistical analyses followed SAP | Low |
| Ratjen 2017 | Low | Low | Low | Medium | Low | Low | Low |



| | Random assignment was determined using an IWRS | Random assignment was determined using an IWRS | | Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible. | Low rates of missing data for key outcomes (n=6 missing for ppFEV1 endpoint, n=1 individual lost to follow-up) | Outcome of relevance to the MTA was pre-specified as a secondary outcome (FEV1). Primary outcome was LCI2.5. | |
|--|--|--|-----------------------------|--|---|--|---------------|
| Stahl 2021 | Low An interactive web or voice response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. Limited baseline characteristics reported, although reasonably well balanced in terms of LCl _{2.5} | Low An interactive web or voice response system was used to assign randomisation and concealment. | Low Double blinded | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Low Few missing outcome data | Low Analysed as stated in the statistical analysis plan | Low |
| Ramsey 2011 (F/Gating subgroup) | Medium | Low | Low Double blinded study | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Medium It was unclear if there was missing data as it was unclear how many people comprised the subgroup of interest. | Medium This was a post-hoc analysis. It is unclear how the analysis was developed and if multiple | Some concerns |

BMJ TAG

PAGE 307

| | | | | | analyses were performed. The alignment between this analysis and the pre- specified analyses from Barry 2021 reduces the risk of bias. | |
|---|-----|-----------------------------|--|---|---|---------------|
| De Boeck 2014 (F/Gating 12+ subgroup) | Low | Low Double blinded study | Medium Due to the effects of the intervention, effective unblinding upon outcome assessment is plausible | Medium It was unclear if there was missing data as it was unclear how many people comprised the subgroup of interest. | Medium This was a post-hoc analysis. It is unclear how the analysis was developed and if multiple analyses were performed. The alignment between this analysis and the pre- specified analyses from Barry 2021 reduces the risk of bias. | Some concerns |

BMJ TAG

system: LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; PBO: placebo; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RCT: randomised controlled trial; RD: respiratory domain; SLR: systematic literature review.



9.2.2 Outcome-level risk of bias assessment for ppFEV₁ and LCl_{2.5}

| Study ID | Compar ison | Outcom e | Randomization process | Deviations from intended interventions | Missing outcome data | Measurement of the outcome | Selection of the reported result | Overall risk of bias |
|----------------|--|--|---|---|--|---|--|---|
| Barry 2021 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus IVA | Absolute change in ppFEV ₁ 8 weeks | | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled with triple masking. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low The proportion of people who did not complete treatment or the study was low in both arms. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured were not provided. | Low SAP available via clinicaltrials.gov fully defined outcome, measurement schedule and analysis. | Low |
| Davies 2021 | TEZ/IVA versus placebo or IVA | Absolute change in LCI 2.5 / ppFEV1 at 8 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. Some imbalances in baseline characteristics between treatment groups were noted but randomisation was 4:1 meaning there were small | Low Double-blind trial with quadruple masking. Participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from drug side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Some concerns A higher proportion of missing data in the placebo group Reasons for missing data were not provided to assess whether missingness depended on the outcome's true value. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ and LCI _{2.5} were measured were not provided. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. Multiple timepoints measured but 24 weeks clearly specified as the primary endpoint. | Some concerns due to missing data in the placebo group. |

Table 94. EAG risk of bias assessment for ppFEV₁ (adult and adolescent) or LCI_{2.5} outcomes (children) reported in RCTs prioritised in the EAG SLR.



| | | | numbers in the comparator groups. | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Heijerm an 2019 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus TEZ/IVA | Absolute change in ppFEV ₁ at 24 weeks | | Low Double-blind trial with quadruple masking. Participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from drug side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm | Low Outcome well defined as absolute change from baseline at week 24. Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured are not provided, but robust measurements expected given the size and oversight of the trial. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |
| KONDU CT (Moss (2015) | IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV1 at 24 weeks | Some concerns IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. There were differences in baseline characteristics between the treatment arms. The intervention group had a much higher CFQ-R RD and ppFEV1 at baseline. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Some concerns Missing data unclear in the subgroup of interest. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured were not provided. | Low No access to the pre-specified planned analysis. | Some concerns due to randomisation and missing data. |

| KONNE CTION (De Boeck 2014) | IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV ₁ at 8 weeks | High No details provided of the method used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. Randomisation was not stratified by the subgroup used in this analysis. Limited baseline characteristics provided indicated similar treatment arms. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Some concerns Missing data unclear in the subgroup of interest. The primary analysis was based on a mixed-effects model for repeated measures. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured were not provided. | Low No access to the pre-specified planned analysis. | High risk of bias due to randomisation and missing data. |
|---|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|---|--|--|
| Mall 2022 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in LCI Absolute change in 2.5 / ppFEV1 at 24 weeks | | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple masking. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed treatment assignment from side-effects. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm | Low Measurement of LCI 2.5 and ppFEV1 not described, but robust methods are reported for blinding including outcome assessors. | Low LCI _{2.5} was the primary outcome, but ppFEV ₁ is not reported on clinicaltrials.gov as an outcome and was not mentioned in the SAP. | Low |

BMJ TAG

| Middleto n 2019 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV1 at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple masking. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Outcome well defined. Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured are not provided, but robust measurements expected given the size and oversight of the trial. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|---|---|--|---|--|-----|
| NCT036 25466 (Stahl 2021) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Absolute change in LCI 2.5 at 48 weeks | Some concerns IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. Some concerns as to whether the treatment arms were adequately similar for potentially confounding factors | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low No missing data. | Low Specifics of how LCI _{2.5} was measured were not provided. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |
| Ratjen 2017 | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Absolute change in LCI 2.5 / ppFEV1 | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to | Low Double-blind trial. ITT analysis. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ and LCI _{2.5} was measured were not provided. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |



| | | at 24 weeks | ensure allocation concealment. | | | | | |
|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|--|--|
| Rowe 2017 | TEZ-IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV ₁ at 8 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled with triple masking. Crossover analysis fully described to control for period effects and within- subject covariance. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Standards for calculating predicted FEV ₁ stated in SAP. | Low SAP available via clinicaltrials.gov fully defined outcome, measurement schedule and analysis. | Low |
| STRIVE (Ramse y 2011) | IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV ₁ at 8 weeks | Some concerns IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. Randomisation study was not stratified by the subgroup used in this analysis. No differences in baseline characteristics were noted in the limited data provided. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Some concerns Missing data unclear in the subgroup of interest. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured were not provided. | Low No access to the pre-specified planned analysis. | Some concerns due to randomisation and missing data. |
| Suthars an 2022 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV ₁ | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least | Low No missing data. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV1 was | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with | Low |



| | | at 24 weeks | ensure allocation concealment. | one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses." | | measured were not provided. | the study protocol and analysis plan. | |
|---|-------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|-----|
| Taylor- Cousar 2017 | TEZ-IVA versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV1 at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with triple blinding. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed assignment. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured are not provided, but robust measurements expected given the size and oversight of the trial. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. Multiple timepoints measured but 24 weeks clearly specified as the primary endpoint. | Low |
| TRAFFI C (Wainwri ght 2015) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV1 at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV1 was measured were not provided. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |
| TRANS PORT (Wainwri ght 2015) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV1 at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV1 was measured were not provided. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |



| Wilson 2021 | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Absolute change in ppFEV ₁ at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Some concerns 11% of participants did not provide data for this outcome. However, similar numbers were missing from each treatment group. | Low Specifics of how ppFEV ₁ was measured were not provided. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Some concerns due to missing data |
|---|-------------------------------|--|--|--|--|---|---|-----------------------------------|
| Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; IWRS: interactive web response system: LCI _{2.5} : lung clearance index 2.5; PBO: placebo; ppFEV ₁ : percent predicted forced expiratory volume in | | | | | | | | |

one second; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SAP: statistical analysis protocol; SLR: systematic literature review.

9.2.3 Outcome-level risk of bias assessment for pulmonary exacerbations

| Study ID | Compar ison | Outcom e | Randomisation process | Deviations from intended interventions | Missing outcome data | Measurement of the outcome | Selection of the reported result | Overall Risk of Bias |
|---------------|----------------------------------|---|--|--|---|---|--|---|
| Barry 2021 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus IVA | Pulmona ry exacerb ations (as AE) at 12 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled with triple masking. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low The proportion of people who did not complete treatment or the study was low in both arms. | Some concerns Pulmonary exacerbations only reported as an adverse event with no definition presented. | Low SAP available via clinicaltrials.gov fully defined outcome, measurement schedule and analysis. | Some concerns because no definition of PE used in the trial was provided. |

Table 95. EAG risk of bias assessment for pulmonary exacerbations reported in RCTs prioritised in the EAG SLR.



| Davies 2021 | TEZ/IVA versus placebo or IVA | Pulmona ry exacerb ations (as AE) at 12 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. Some imbalances in baseline characteristics between treatment groups were noted but randomisation was 4:1 meaning there were small numbers in the comparator groups. | Low Double-blind trial with quadruple masking. Participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from drug side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low The proportion of people who did not complete treatment or the study was low in all arms. | Some concerns Pulmonary exacerbations only reported as an adverse event with no definition presented. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Some concerns because no definition of PE used in the trial was provided. |
|--------------------|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|---|
| Heijerm an 2019 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus TEZ/IVA | Pulmona ry exacerb ations (as AE) at 8 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial with quadruple masking. Participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from drug side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm | Some concerns Pulmonary exacerbations only reported as an adverse event with no definition presented. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Some concerns because no definition of PE used in the trial was provided. |
| Mall 2022 | ELX/TE Z/IVA | Pulmona ry | Low | Low | Low | Some concerns | Low | Some concerns because no |

| | versus placebo | exacerb ations (as AE) at 28 weeks | Some imbalances noted, e.g. height- and weight-for-age z-scores, ppFEV1 and LCI 2.5, but likely to reflect random variation due to sample size. | Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple masking. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed treatment assignment from side-effects. | Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm " | Pulmonary exacerbations only reported as an adverse event with no definition presented. | Safety outcomes presented in accordance with statistical analysis plan provided on clinicaltrials.gov. | definition of PE used in the trial was provided. |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|--|---|--|--|--|---|
| Middleto n 2019 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus placebo | PE leading to hospitali sations at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple masking. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Clear definition provided. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |
| NCT036 25466 (Stahl 2021) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Pulmona ry exacerb ations | Some concerns IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least | Low No missing data. | Some concerns Pulmonary exacerbations only reported as an | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with | Some concerns due to randomisation and because no definition of PE |



| | | (as AE) at 48 weeks | ensure allocation concealment. Some concerns as to whether the treatment arms were adequately similar for potentially confounding factors | one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | | adverse event with no definition presented. | the study protocol and analysis plan. | used in the trial was provided. |
|----------------|-------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Ratjen 2017 | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Pulmona ry exacerb ations (as AE) at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. ITT analysis. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Pulmonary exacerbations clearly defined. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |
| Rowe 2017 | TEZ-IVA versus placebo | Pulmona ry exacerb ations (as AE) at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled with triple masking. Crossover analysis fully described to control for period effects and within- subject covariance. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Some concerns No definition given for pulmonary exacerbations, or information about how the assessments were made. Numbers differ from pulmonary exacerbations reported as adverse events and serious adverse events. | Some concerns Pulmonary exacerbation frequencies and estimated annual rates are not described as an endpoint in the protocol/ statistical analysis plan, and sections of the endpoint sections are redacted. Described as an exploratory endpoint in the paper. | Some concerns because no definition of PE used in the trial was provided and the selection of the reported result. |

| Suthars an 2022 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus placebo | Pulmona ry exacerb ations (as AE) at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low No missing data. | Some concerns Pulmonary exacerbations only reported as an adverse event with no definition presented. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Some concerns because no definition of PE used in the trial was provided. |
|---|--------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|--|---|
| Taylor- Cousar 2017 | TEZ-IVA versus placebo | Pulmona ry exacerb ations at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with triple blinding. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed assignment. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Outcome clearly defined. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |
| TRAFFI C (Wainwri ght 2015) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | PE leading to hospitali sations at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Outcome clearly defined. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |

| TRANS PORT (Wainwri ght 2015) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | PE leading to hospitali sations at 24 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Outcome clearly defined. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |
|--|-------------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|---|---|
| Wilson 2021 | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Pulmona ry exacerb ations (as AE) at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low No missing data. | Some concerns Pulmonary exacerbations only reported as an adverse event with no definition presented. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Some concerns because no definition of PE used in the trial was provided. |
| Abbreviations: AE: adverse event; EAG: external assessment group; IWRS: interactive web response system: LCl _{2.5} : lung clearance index 2.5; PBO: placebo; ppFEV ₁ : percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second: BCT: randomised controlled trial: SAP: statistical analysis protocol: SLB: systematic literature review | | | | | | | | |

9.2.4 Outcome-level risk of bias assessment for serious adverse events

Table 96. EAG risk of bias assessment for serious adverse events reported in RCTs prioritised in the EAG SLR.

| Study ID | Compar ison | Outcom e | Randomization process | Deviations from intended interventions | Missing outcome data | Measurement of the outcome | Selection of the reported result | Overall Risk of Bias |
|---------------|-----------------|---------------------------|---|--|--|---|--|-------------------------|
| Barry 2021 | ELX/TE Z/IVA | Any serious adverse | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled | Low The proportion of people who did not | Low Standard MedDRA coding used for all | Low SAP available via clinicaltrials.gov fully | Low |



| | versus IVA | event at 12 weeks | treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | with triple masking. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | complete treatment or the study was low in both arms. | safety data (MedDRA 23.0) and safety overseen by independent monitoring committee | defined outcome, measurement schedule and analysis. | |
|--------------------|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|-----|
| Davies 2021 | TEZ/IVA versus placebo or IVA | Any serious adverse event at 12 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. Some imbalances in baseline characteristics between treatment groups were noted but randomisation was 4:1 meaning there were small numbers in the comparator groups. | Low Double-blind trial with quadruple masking. Participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from drug side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Standard MedDRA coding used for adverse events and safety was monitored by an independent data monitoring committee. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |
| Heijerm an 2019 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus TEZ/IVA | Any serious adverse event at 8 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial with quadruple masking. Participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from drug side-effects. All subjects who | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm | Low Standard MedDRA coding used for adverse events and safety was monitored by an independent data monitoring committee. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |

| | | | | received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------------------------------|--|---|---|--|--|--|-----|
| Mall 2022 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 28 weeks | Low Some imbalances noted, e.g. height- and weight-for-age z-scores, ppFEV1 and LCI 2.5, but likely to reflect random variation due to sample size. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple masking. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed treatment assignment from side-effects. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm | Low Standard MedDRA coding used for adverse events and safety was monitored by an independent data monitoring committee. | Low Presented in accordance with statistical analysis plan provided on clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |
| Middleto n 2019 | ELX/TE Z/IVA versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled with quadruple masking. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed assignment from side-effects. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Standard MedDRA coding used for adverse events and safety was monitored by an independent data monitoring committee. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |



| | | | | drug were included in the analyses. | | | | |
|------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|---|--|--|---|--|-----|
| NCT036 25466 (Stahl 2021) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 48 weeks | Some concerns IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. Some concerns as to whether the treatment arms were adequately similar for potentially confounding factors | Low Double-blind trial. The Safety Set included all patients who receive at least 1 dose of study drug. | Low No missing data. | Low Adverse events were coded with the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA). | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |
| Ratjen 2017 | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. ITT analysis. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Serious adverse events definition available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |
| Rowe 2017 | TEZ-IVA versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo controlled with triple masking. Crossover analysis fully described to control for period effects and within- subject covariance. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low All safety data collected and reported using standard MedDRA terminology and overseen by a safety monitoring committee. | Low SAP available via clinicaltrials.gov fully defined outcome, measurement schedule and analysis. | Low |
| Suthars an 2022 | ELX/TE Z/IVA | Any serious | Low | Low | Low No missing data. | Low | Low | Low |


| | versus placebo | adverse event at 28 weeks | IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses." | | Adverse events were coded with the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA). | Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | |
|---------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|-----|
| Taylor- Cousar 2017 | TEZ-IVA versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with triple blinding. Possible that participants and investigators could have guessed assignment. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Standard MedDRA coding used for adverse events and safety was monitored by an independent data monitoring committee. | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan available via clinicaltrials.gov. | Low |
| TRAFFI C) | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low No missing data. | Low Adverse events were coded with the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA). | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |
| TRANS PORT | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study | Low No missing data. | Low Adverse events were coded with the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with | Low |



| | | 28 weeks | ensure allocation concealment. | drug were included in the analyses. | | Activities (MedDRA). | the study protocol and analysis plan. | |
|----------------|-------------------------------|--|--|--|--|---|---|-----|
| Wilson 2021 | LUM/IV A versus placebo | Any serious adverse event at 28 weeks | Low IWRS was used to assign patients to treatment and to ensure allocation concealment. | Low Double-blind trial. All subjects who received at least one dose of a study drug were included in the analyses. | Low Low proportion of missing data in each treatment arm. | Low Adverse events were coded with the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA). | Low Outcome analysed in accordance with the study protocol and analysis plan. | Low |

Abbreviations: AE: adverse event; EAG: external assessment group; IWRS: interactive web response system: LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; PBO: placebo; PEx: pulmonary exacerbation; ppFEV₁: percent predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RCT: randomised controlled trial; SAP: statistical analysis protocol; SLR: systematic literature review.

9.2.5 Economic evaluations studies quality assessment- Drummond checklist

| | Multip modu | le CFTR Ilators | Elexaca acafto | ftor/Teza or (ELX/TE | cafor/Iv Z/IVA) | | | | Lur | nacaftor/ | lvacaftor | (LUM/IVA |) | | | | Tezacaf aftor (T | tor/Ivac EZ/IVA) |
|---|----------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|--------------|-----------------------------|----------------|------------------|--------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| Study | ICER 2018 | ICER 2020 | PBAC 2021 | CADTH 2021 | CADTH 2022 | NICE 2016 | Dilokthor nsakul 2017 | Sharma 2018 | Vadaga m 2018 | SMC, 2016 | SMC, 2019a | PBAC 2018a | PBAC 2019b | PBAC 2018b | CADTH 2016 | CADTH 2018 | SMC, 2019b | PBAC 2019a |
| Study design | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1. The research question is stated. | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes |
| 2. The economi c importan ce of the research | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes |

| question | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| is stated. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 3. The viewpoin t(s) of the analysis are clearly stated and justified. | yes |
| 4. The rationale for choosing alternativ e program mes or intervent ions compare d is stated. | yes |
| 5. The alternativ es being compare d are clearly describe d. | yes |
| 6. The form of economi c | yes | no | yes |

| evaluatio n used is stated. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----|-----|-----------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----|-----|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| 7. The choice of form of economi c evaluatio n is justified in relation to the question s addresse d. | no | no | not applic able | yes | yes | yes | no | yes | no | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | yes | yes | not applic able | not applic able |
| Data collectio n | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8. The source(s) of effective ness estimate s used are stated. | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes |
| 9. Details of the design and results of effective ness | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | yes | yes |

| study are given (if based on a single study). | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----|-----|--------|--------------|--------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----|-----|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----------------------|
| 10. Details of the methods of synthesis or meta- analysis of estimate s are given | no | no | partly | redact ed | redact ed | not applic able | not applicabl e | not applic able | not applic able | yes | yes | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | no | no | yes | not applic able |
| 11. The primary outcome measure(s) for the economi c evaluatio n are clearly stated. | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes |
| 12. Methods to value benefits are stated. | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | no | yes | yes | no | yes | yes |
| 13. Details of the | no | no | no | no | no | yes | no | no | not applic able | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no |

| subjects from whom valuation s were obtained were given. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----|-----|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| 14. Productiv ity changes (if included) are reported separatel y. | yes | yes | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applicabl e | not applic able |
| 15. The relevanc e of productiv ity changes to the study question is discussed | yes | yes | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applicabl e | not applic able |
| 16. Quantitie s of resource use are reported separatel | yes | yes | no | no | no | yes | yes | no | yes | no |

PAGE 330

BMJ TAG

| y from their unit costs. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------|--------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| 17. Methods for the estimatio n of quantitie s and unit costs are describe d. | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | partly | no | no | no | no | no | no | yes | no |
| 18. Currency and price data are recorded | yes | yes | no | no | no | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| 19. Details of currency of price adjustme nts for inflation or currency conversio n are given. | no | no | no | no | no | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| 20. Details of any model | yes | partly | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes |

| used are | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| 21. The choice of model used and the key paramet ers on which it is based are iustified | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | no | yes | partly | yes | yes | no | no | no | yes | yes | yes | no |
| Analysis and interpret ation of results | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 22. Time horizon of costs and benefits is stated. | yes |
| 23. The discount rate(s) is stated. | yes | not applic able | no | no | no | no | no | yes | yes | no | no |
| 24. The choice of discount rate(s) is justified. | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | not applic able | no | no | no | no | no | yes | yes | no | no |
| 25. An explanati on is given if | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applicabl e | not applic able |

| costs and benefits are not discount ed. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----|-----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|----|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|----|----|
| 26. Details of statistical tests and confiden ce intervals are given for stochasti c data. | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| 27. The approach to sensitivit y analysis is given. | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | no | no | no | no | yes | yes | no | no |
| 28. The choice of variables for sensitivit y analysis is justified. | yes | yes | no | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no |
| 29. The ranges over which the variables are | no | no | no | no | no | yes | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no | no |

| varied are justified. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| 30. Relevant alternativ es are compare d. | yes |
| 31. Incremen tal analysis is reported. | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applic able | not applicabl e | not applic able |
| 32. Major outcome s are presente d in a disaggreg ated as well as aggregat ed form. | yes | yes | partly | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | yes | no | yes | partly | partly | partly | yes | yes | yes | partly |
| 33. The answer to the study question is given. | yes |
| 34. Conclusio ns follow from the | yes |

| data | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| reported. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 35. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Conclusio | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ns are | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| accompa | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| nied by | yes |
| the | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| appropri | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ate | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| caveats. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |



9.3 Clinical data extraction tables

9.3.1 Baseline characteristics

9.3.1.1 Studies recruiting children up to age 12

Table 97. Baseline characteristics of CFTR modulator trials of children with CF aged 1 to 12 prioritised in the EAG's SLR

| Study | Rayment 2022: Part B | t Stahl 2021 | | EudraCT Number 202000225138 Part B | Ratjen 2017 | | Davies 2021 | | | Zemanick 2021 | Mall | 2022 |
|--------------------|----------------------------|----------------|----------------|---|--------------------------|--------------------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------------------|--|--|
| Intervention | LUM/IVA | LUM/IVA | Placebo | ELX/TEZ/IVA | LUM/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | IVA | Placebo | ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Placebo |
| Ν | 46 | 35 | 16 | 75 | 103 | 101 | 55 | 3 | 11 | 66 | 60 | 61 |
| Genotype | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F; F/MF | F/F | F/F | F/F; F/RF | F/RF | F/F | F/F; F/MF | F/MF | F/MF |
| Age, years (SD) | 1.51 (0.29) | 4.20 (1.00) | 4.20 (1.00) | 4.10 (1.10) | 8.70 (1.60) | 8.90 (1.60) | 8.50 (1.70) | 9.00 (1.70) | 9.00 (1.70) | 9.30 (1.90) | 9.10 (1.80) | 9.20 (1.70) |
| Sex, % | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Male | 47.8 | 68.6 | 56.3 | 45.3 | 39 | 43 | 46.3 | 33.3 | 40 | 40.9 | 41.7 | 42.6 |
| Female | 52.2 | 31.4 | 43.8 | 54.7 | 61 | 57 | 53.7 | 66.7 | 60 | 59.1 | 58.3 | 57.4 |
| Region, % | | | | ' | | | | | | | | |
| North America | NR | NR | NR | NR | 57 | 59 | NR | NR | NR | 71.2 | NR | NR |
| Europe | NR | NR | NR | NR | 27 | 29 | NR | NR | NR | NR | 71.7 | 80.3 |
| Other | NR | NR | NR | US 49; Australia 11; Canada 11; | Australia 16 (16%) | Australia 12 (12%) | NR | NR | NR | Europe and Australia | Australia, Canada and Israel 17 (28.3%) | Australia, Canada and Israel 12 (19.7%) |

| | | | | UK 5; Germany 7 | | | | | | 19 (28.8%) | | |
|-----------------------------------|------------------|-----|-----|--------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|----------------|----------------|------------------|----------------|---------------|
| Race, % | 1 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | |
| White | 78.3 | 100 | 100 | NR | NR | NR | 94.4 | 100 | 100 | 87.9 | 75 | 68.9 |
| Black or African American | 2.2 | 0 | 0 | NR | NR | NR | 1.9 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1.7 | 0 |
| Asian | 2.2 | 0 | 0 | NR | NR | NR | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1.5 | 1.7 | 0 |
| Weight, kg (SD) | 11.20 (1.30) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 28.90 (6.70) | NR | NR | 30.00 (7.70) | 29.10 (7.60) | 29.80 (8.60) |
| Weight-for- age z-score | 0.46 (0.79) | | | NR | -0.20 (0.80) | -0.20 (0.80) | -0.28 (0.72) | NR | NR | -0.22 (0.76) | -0.27 (0.99) | -0.29 (0.96) |
| BMI (SD) | 17.17 (1.22) | NR | NR | NR | 16.40 (1.70) | 16.60 (2.00) | 16.13 (1.66) | NR | NR | 16.39 (1.69) | 16.33 (1.84) | 16.11 (2.32) |
| BMI-for-age z-score | 0.86 (0.77) | | | NR | NA (0.80) | NA (0.90) | -0.25 (0.85) | NR | NR | -0.16 (0.74) | -0.17 (0.85) | -0.39 (0.92) |
| ppFEV ₁ (SD) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 88.80 (13.70) | 90.70 (10.80) | 86.50 (12.90) | NR | NR | 88.80 (17.70) | 91.40 (13.80) | 87.20 (15.80) |
| LCI _{2.5} (SD) | NR | | | NR | 10.30 (2.40) | 10.30 (2.20) | 9.56 (2.06) | 8.60 (1.40) | 9.67 (1.65) | 9.77 (2.68) | 10.26 (2.22) | 9.75 (1.95) |
| Sweat chloride, mmol/L (SD) | 104.20 (7.70) | | | NR | 102.60 (10.30) | 103.40 (9.80) | 99.20 (19.50) | NR | NR | 102.20 (9.10) | 102.80 (10.00) | 102.60 (8.60) |
| EQ-5D-3L utility score (SD) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFQ-R RD Score (SD) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 84.60 (11.40) | NR | NR | 80.30 (15.20) | 85.70 (11.70) | 82.70 (14.10) |

| Pancreatic sufficient, % | 0 | NR | NR | NR | 99 | 99 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
|---|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|------|----|----|
| CF related diabetes, % | NR | NR | NR |
| Pseudomon as aeruginosa- positive, % | NR | NR | NR | NR | 43 | 43 | NR | NR | NR | 39.4 | NR | NR |

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) unless stated.

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacaftor; NR: not reported; ppFEV₁: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RD: respiratory domain; SD: standard deviation; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor.

9.3.1.1 Studies recruiting people with CF aged 12+ years, LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA trials

Table 98. Baseline characteristics of LUM/IVA and TEZ/IVA trials of people with CF aged 12+ prioritised in the EAG's SLR.

| Study | TRAFFIC | | TRANSPORT | | Wilson 2021 | | Taylor-Cousar 2017 | | Rowe 2017 | |
|-----------------|---------|---------|-----------|---------|------------------|------------------|--------------------|-----------------|------------------|------------------|
| Intervention | LUM/IVA | Placebo | LUM/IVA | Placebo | LUM/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | Placebo |
| Ν | 182 | 184 | 187 | 187 | 34 | 36 | 248 | 256 | 83 | 80 |
| Genotype | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/RF | F/RF |
| Age, years (SD) | 25.50 | 25.00 | 25.00 | 25.70 | 24.90 (10.17) | 26.10 (10.58) | 26.90 (11.20) | 25.70 (9.50) | 35.60 (13.50) | 32.60 (13.90) |
| Sex, % | | | | | | | | | | |
| Male | 54 | 54 | 47.6 | 48.1 | 61.8 | 50 | 51.2 | 51.2 | 42 | 42 |
| Female | 46.2 | 45.7 | 52.4 | 51.9 | 38.2 | 50 | 48.8 | 48.8 | 58 | 58 |
| Region, % | | | | | | | | | | |



| North America | | | | | NR | NR | 23.8 | 26.6 | 54 | 49 |
|---------------------------------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Europe | | | | | NR | NR | 76.2 | 73.4 | 46 | 51 |
| Other | | | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NA | NA |
| Race, % | | | | | | | | | | |
| White | | | | | 100 | 100 | 98.8 | 99.2 | NR | NR |
| Black or African American | | | | | NR | NR | 0.4 | 0 | NR | NR |
| Asian | | | | | NR | NR | 0 | 0.8 | NR | NR |
| Weight, kg (SD) | | | | | NR | NR (NR) | NR (NR) | NR (NR) | | |
| BMI (SD) | | | | | 21.10 (2.95) | 21.30 (3.05) | 20.96 (2.95) | 21.12 (2.88) | 23.60 (4.60) | 24.60 (5.00) |
| ppFEV1 (SD) | 60.50 (NR) | 60.50 (NR) | 60.60 (NR) | 60.40 (NR) | 65.60 (15.00) | 67.50 (19.33) | 59.60 (14.70) | 60.40 (15.70) | 61.80 (14.90) | 62.10 (14.00) |
| Sweat chloride, mmol/L (SD) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR (NR) | NR (NR) | 101.30 (10.90) | 100.50 (10.20) | 64.10 (28.90) | 70.70 (24.00) |
| EQ-5D-3L utility score (SD) | | | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFQR-RD score (SD) | | | | | 69.90 (16.78) | 66.00 (19.39) | 70.10 (16.80) | 69.90 (16.60) | 66.50 (17.90) | 67.80 (17.50) |
| Pancreatic sufficient, % | | | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | 13 | 14 |
| CF related diabetes, % | 28.6 | 29.3 | 33.2 | 27.3 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Pseudomonas aeruginosa-positive, % | | | | | NR | NR | 74.6 | 71.1 | 63 | 60 |

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) unless stated.

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacaftor; NR: not reported; ppFEV₁: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; SD: standard deviation; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor.

9.3.1.2 Studies recruiting people with CF aged 12+ years, ELX/TEZ/IVA trials

| Study | Heijerm | an 2019 | Suthars | an 2022 | Middlet | on 2019 | Barry | 2021 | Barry | 2021 |
|---------------------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|--|--|---------------|---------------|------------------|------------------|
| Intervention | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | IVA monotherapy | ELX/TEZ/IVA |
| Ν | 52 | 55 | 88 | 87 | 202 | 203 | 81 | 82 | 45 | 50 |
| Genotype | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/MF | F/MF | F/RF | F/RF | F/GM | F/GM |
| Age, years (SD) | 27.90 (10.80) | 28.80 (11.50) | 27.80 (11.00) | 27.90 (11.80) | 25.60 (9.70) | 26.80 (11.30) | 41.50 (14.40) | 40.20 (14.70) | 30.80 (11.20) | 33.50 (13.80) |
| Sex, % | | | | | | | | | | |
| Male | 46 | 44 | 49 | 51 | 52 | 51.7 | 45.7 | 45.1 | 62.2 | 56 |
| Female | 54 | 56 | 51 | 49 | 48 | 48.3 | 54.3 | 54.9 | 37.8 | 44 |
| Region, % | 1 | | | 1 | · | | | · | | |
| North America | 63 | 62 | NR | NR | 59 | 59.1 | 34.6 | 36.6 | 44.4 | 38 |
| Europe | 37 | 38 | NR | NR | NR | NR | 65.4 | 63.4 | 55.6 | 62 |
| Other | NR | NR | NR | NR | Europe/Australia combined 82 (41%) | Europe/Australia combined 83 (40.9%) | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Race, % | | | | | | | | | | |
| White | 100 | 98.2 | 100 | 98 | 92.5 | 89.7 | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Black or African American | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1.5 | 0.5 | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Asian | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |

Table 99. Baseline characteristics of ELX/TEZ/IVA trials of people with CF aged 12+ prioritised in the EAG's SLR.



| Weight, kg (SD) | | | NA (NA) | NA (NA) | NA (NA) | NA (NA) | NA (NA) | NA (NA) | NA (NA) | NA (NA) |
|--|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|---------------|--|---------------|------------------|------------------|
| BMI (SD) | 21.88 (4.12) | 21.75 (3.19) | NA (NA) | NA (NA) | 21.49 (3.07) | 21.31 (3.14) | 24.68 (5.22) | 24.29 (5.23) | 22.91 (3.39) | 23.71 (3.76) |
| ppFEV1 (SD) | 60.20 (14.40) | 61.60 (15.40) | 64.20 (15.10) | 63.00 (16.70) | 61.60 (15.00) | 61.30 (15.50) | 68.10 (16.40) | 67.80 (16.30) | 68.10 (16.60) | 66.00 (14.80) |
| Sweat chloride, mmol/L (SD) | 90.00 (12.30) | 91.40 (11.00) | 89.80 (11.70) | 89.00 (12.20) | 102.30 (11.90) | 102.90 (9.80) | 61.40 (27.30) | 64.70 (27.90) | 47.60 (19.10) | 50.90 (23.30) |
| EQ-5D-3L utility score (SD) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFQ-R Respiratory Domain Score (SD) | 72.60 (17.90) | 70.60 (16.20) | 73.10 (17.60) | 71.20 (19.60) | 68.30 (16.90) | 70.00 (17.80) | 78.10 (14.70) | 76.70 (16.90) | 75.80 (17.60) | 76.30 (16.40) |
| Pancreatic sufficient, % | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CF related diabetes, % | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Pseudomonas aeruginosa- positive, % | 60 | 71 | NR | NR | 75 | 70 | 58.7: Reported as combined active control only | 59.8 | NR | NR |

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) unless stated.

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; LUM: lumacaftor; NR: not reported; ppFEV₁: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RD: respiratory domain; SD: standard deviation; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor.



9.3.1.3 Studies recruiting people with CF aged 12+ years, IVA trials, F/Gating 12+ subgroup data

| Study | Ramsay | y 2011 | De Boec | k 2014 | Moss | 2015 |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|----------|-----------------|----------|-----------------|----------|
| Intervention | IVA monotherapy | Placebo | IVA monotherapy | Placebo | IVA monotherapy | Placebo |
| Ν | 64 | 58 | 17 | 17 | 20 | 19 |
| Genotype | F/Gating | F/Gating | F/Gating | F/Gating | F/Gating | F/Gating |
| Age, years (SD) | | | | | | |
| Sex, % | | | | | | |
| Male | | | | | | |
| Female | | | | | | |
| North America | | | | | | |
| Europe | | | | | | |
| Other | | | | | | |
| Race, % | | · | | • | · | • |
| White | | | | | | |
| Black or African American | | | | | | |
| Asian | | | | | | |
| Weight, kg (SD) | | | | | | |
| BMI (SD) | | | | | | |
| ppFEV ₁ (SD) | | | | | | |
| Sweat chloride, mmol/L (SD) | | | | | | |
| CFQR-R Score (SD) | | | | | | |
| Pancreatic sufficient, % | | | | | | |
| CF related diabetes, % | | | | | | |

Table 100. Baseline characteristics of IVA trials of people with CF aged 12+ prioritised in the EAG's SLR.



| positive, % | Pseudomonas aeruginosa- | | | |
|-------------|-------------------------|--|--|--|
| | positive, % | | | |

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; NR: not reported; ppFEV₁: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RD: respiratory domain; SD: standard deviation; SLR: systematic literature review.

9.3.2 Participant disposition

Table 101. Participant disposition in studies prioritised in the EAG SLR

| Study | Intervention | N | N mITT | N SAS | Completed treatment | Discontinued due to AEs | Lost to follow-up | Withdrew consent | Pregnancy | Other |
|---|--------------|-----|--------|-------|------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|-----------|-------|
| Heijerman 2019 | TEZ/IVA | 52 | 52 | 52 | 52 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Heijerman 2019 | ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 55 | 55 | 55 | 55 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| EudraCT Number 202000225138 Part B | ELZ/TEZ/IVA | 75 | NR | 75 | 74 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Middleton 2019 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 201 | 200 | 202 | 197 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 |
| Middleton 2019 | Placebo | 204 | 203 | 201 | 203 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | TEZ-IVA | 251 | 248 | 251 | 235 | 7 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 4 |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | Placebo | 259 | 256 | 258 | 240 | 8 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 5 |



| Davies 2021 | TEZ/IVA | 55 | 54 | 54 | 53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 2 |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----|-----|-----|----|----|----|----|----|----|
| Davies 2021 | IVA monotherapy | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Davies 2021 | Placebo | 11 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| Zemanick 2021 Part B | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 69 | 66 | 66 | 64 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| Mall 2022 | ELX-TEZ- IVA | 60 | 60 | 60 | 59 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Mall 2022 | Placebo | 61 | 61 | 61 | 61 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Rowe 2017 | TEZ/IVA | 84 | 83 | 83 | 80 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 |
| Rowe 2017 | Placebo | 82 | 80 | 81 | 75 | 2 | 1 | 2 | 0 | 2 |
| Barry 2021 F/Gating | IVA monotherapy | 45 | 45 | 45 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Barry 2021 F/Gating | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 50 | 50 | 50 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Barry 2021 F/RF | TEZ/IVA | 81 | 81 | 81 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Barry 2021 F/RF | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 82 | 82 | 82 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Ratjen 2017 | LUM/IVA | 104 | 103 | 103 | 97 | 3 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 1 |
| Ratjen 2017 | Placebo | 102 | 101 | 101 | 96 | 2 | 0 | 2 | 0 | 1 |
| Wilson 2021 | LUM/IVA | 34 | NR | 34 | 31 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 |
| Wilson 2021 | Placebo | 36 | NR | 36 | 36 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Stahl 2021 | LUM/IVA | 35 | 35 | 35 | 33 | 1 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 |
| Stahl 2021 | Placebo | 16 | 16 | 16 | 16 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |



| Sutharsan 2022 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 88 | 87 | 87 | 86 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
|-------------------|-------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|----|---|---|---|---|
| Sutharsan 2022 | TEZ/IVA | 88 | 88 | 88 | 86 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| TRAFFIC | LUM/IVA | 187 | 182 | 182 | 172 | 6 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 3 |
| TRAFFIC | Placebo | 187 | 184 | 184 | 180 | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| TRANSPORT | LUM/IVA | 187 | 187 | 187 | 172 | 11 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 3 |
| TRANSPORT | Placebo | 187 | 187 | 187 | 182 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 3 |

Abbreviations: EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; mITT: modified intention-to-treat; NR: not reported; SAS: safety analysis set; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor.

9.3.3 Prior and concomitant medication

Table 102. Prior and concomitant medications reported in studies prioritised in the EAG SLR

| Study | Intervention | Any CTFRm % | IVA % | LUM IVA % | TEZ IVA % | ELX TEZ IVA % | Azithromycin % | Bronchodilators % | Dornase alfa % | Inhaled hypertonic saline % | Inhaled corticosteroids % | Mannitol % | Inhaled antibiotic % |
|--------------------------------|--------------|----------------|----------|--------------|--------------|------------------|-------------------|----------------------|-------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------|-------------------------|
| Heijerman 2019 | TEZ/IVA | 65 | | | | | 48 | 90 | 92 | 79 | 54 | | 54 |
| Heijerman 2019 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 58 | | | | | 60 | 98 | 93 | 69 | 65 | | 64 |
| EudraCT Number 202000225138 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Middleton 2019 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 55 | 93.5 | 81 | 73.5 | 60 | NR | 59 |
| Middleton 2019 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 56.2 | 94.1 | 80.8 | 62.6 | 58.6 | NR | 65 |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | TEZ-IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 54.4 | 89.1 | 66.5 | 50.8 | 56 | NR | 54.8 |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 55.1 | 91.4 | 72.3 | 52 | 63.3 | NR | 62.5 |
| Davies 2021 | TEZ/IVA | 0.037 | 0 | 0.037 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |



| Davies 2021 | IVA | 0 | 0 | 0 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
|---------------------|-------------|------|----|-----|----|----|------|------|------|------|------|----|------|
| Davies 2021 | Placebo | 0.1 | 0 | 0.1 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Zemanick 2021 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 21.2 | NR | NR | NR | NR | 28.8 | 92.4 | 81.8 | 78.8 | NR | NR | 12.1 |
| Mall 2022 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 18.3 | 63.3 | 70 | 76.7 | 25 | NR | 25 |
| Mall 2022 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 14.8 | 75.4 | 67.2 | 75.4 | 29.5 | NR | 13.1 |
| Rowe 2017 | TEZ/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 39 | 89 | 57 | 52 | 60 | NR | 31 |
| Rowe 2017 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 48 | 89 | 68 | 49 | 56 | NR | 29 |
| Barry 2021 F/Gating | IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Barry 2021 F/Gating | ELX/TEZ/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Barry 2021 F/RF | TEZ/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Barry 2021 F/RF | ELX/TEZ/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Ratjen 2017 | LUM/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 83 | 85 | 65 | 37 | NR | 19 |
| Ratjen 2017 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 81 | 87 | 53 | 47 | NR | 30 |
| Wilson 2021 | LUM/IVA | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Wilson 2021 | Placebo | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Stahl 2021 | LUM/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Stahl 2021 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Ramsey 2011 | IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0 | NR | NR | NR |
| Ramsey 2011 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0 | NR | NR | NR |
| De Boeck 2014 | IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0 | NR | NR | NR |
| De Boeck 2014 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0 | NR | NR | NR |
| Moss 2015 | IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Moss 2015 | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Sutharsan 2022 | ELX/TEZ/IVA | 45 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Sutharsan 2022 | TEZ/IVA | 44 | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| TRAFFIC | LUM/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 52.2 | 95.1 | 67.6 | 61.5 | 59.9 | NR | 62.1 |



| TRAFFIC | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 59.2 | 93.5 | 73.4 | 54.3 | 61.4 | NR | 66.3 |
|-----------|---------|----|----|----|----|----|------|------|------|------|------|----|------|
| TRANSPORT | LUM/IVA | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 64.2 | 91.4 | 80.2 | 61.5 | 55.1 | NR | 59.9 |
| TRANSPORT | Placebo | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 66.3 | 90.9 | 78.1 | 64.2 | 57.2 | NR | 72.7 |

Abbreviations: CFTRm: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator modulator; EAG: external assessment group; ELX: elexacaftor; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; NR: not reported; SLR: systematic literature review; TEZ: tezacaftor.

9.3.4 Clinical outcomes

Table 103. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies recruiting people under 12 years prioritised in the EAG SLR.

| Study | Rayment 2022: Part B | Stahl | 2021 | EudraCT Number 2020002251 38 Part B | Ratjen | 2017 | Da | vies 202 | 21 | Zema 20 | anick 21 | Mall | 2022 |
|---|---------------------------|---------------|---------|--|---------------|-------------|-----------------------------|------------|------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------|
| Ages | 1 to 2 | 2 to 5 | | 2 to 5 | 6 to 11 | | 6 to 11 | | | 6 to 11 | | 6 to 11 | |
| Genotype | F/F | F/F | | F/F, F/MF | F/F | | F/F, F/RF | F/RF | F/F | F/F | F/MF | F/MF | |
| Intervention | LUM/IVA | LUM/IVA | Placebo | ELZ/TEZ/IVA | LUM/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | IVA | PBO | ELX/T | EZ/IVA | ELX/TE Z/IVA | PBO |
| Ν | 46 | 35 | 16 | 75 | 103 | 101 | 54 | 3 | 10 | 29 | 37 | 60 | 61 |
| Timepoint, weeks | 24 | 48 | 48 | 28 | 24 | 24 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 24 |
| N deaths | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| CFB in sweat chloride at timepoint, mmol/L (95% CI) | –29.1 (–34.8 to –23.4) | –25.4 (NR) | 1 (NR) | | –21.6 (NR) | 3.2 (NR) | -12.3 (-15.3 to -9.3) | –1 (NR) | –1 (NR) | -70.4 (-75.6 to -65.3) | -55.1 (-59 to -51.2) | -52.1 (-55 to -49.2) | -0.9 (-3.8 to 2) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | -51.2 (- -47 | -55.3 to ′.1) |



| CFB in ppFEV₁ at timepoint (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 1.1 (-0.4 to 2.6) | -1.3 (- 2.8 to 0.2) | 2.8 (1 to 4.6) | –0.4 (NR) | –3.7 (NR) | 11.2 (7.2 to 15.2) | 9.1 (6.3 to 11.9) | 9.5 (6.6 to 12.4) | -1.5 (-4.4 to 1.4) |
|---|-------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|-----|------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------|------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 2.4 (0.4 | to 4.4) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 11 (6.9 | to 15.1) |
| CFB in LCI _{2.5} at timepoint (95% CI) | NR | -0.37 (- 0.85 to 0.1) | 0.32 (- 0.2 to 0.84) | | -1.01 (- 1.3 to - 0.8) | 0.08 (- 0.2 to 0.3) | -0.51 (-0.74 to - 0.29) | –0.61 (NR) | 0.1 (NR) | -1.64 (-2.34 to - 0.94) | -1.72 (-2.11 to -1.33) | -2.29 (-2.6 to -1.97) | -0.02 (-0.34 to 0.29) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | -1.09 (-1 0.7 | 1.43 to – 5) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | -2.26 (- -1.8 | -2.71 to 81) |
| Pulmonary exacerbations reported | As AE only | As AE only | As AE only | Yes | Yes | Yes | As AE only | As AE only | As AE only | NR | NR | As AE only | As AE only |
| N exacerbations | 9 | 26 | 19 | | | | 3 | 0 | 2 | NR | NR | 1 | 16 |
| Annualised event rate | 0.6 | 0.75 | 1.17 | | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference, rate ratio (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFB in BMI at timepoint (95% CI) | -0.2 (-0.47 to 0.08) | NR | NR | NR | 0.38 (0.3 to 0.5) | 0.27 (0.1 to 0.4) | –0.04 (NR) | 0.11 (NR) | 0.02 (NR) | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0.1 (–0.1 | l to 0.3) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFB in BMI-for-age z- score at timepoint (95% CI) | 0.04 (–0.14 to 0.22) | 0.2 (-0.02 to 0.41) | -0.24 (-0.55 to 0.07) | NR | 0.08 (0 to 0.2) | 0.05 (0 to 0.1) | –0.08 (NR) | 0.08 (NR) | –0.05 (NR) | NR | NR | NR | NR |

| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0 (–0.1 | to 0.1) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
|--|-------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|----|---------------------|---------------|-------------------------|--------------|---------------|------------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------|----------------------------|
| CFB in weight at timepoint, kg (95% CI) | 1.3 (1.1 to 1.5) | NR | NR | NR | 2 (NR) | 1.7 (NR) | 0.3 (NR) | 0.5 (NR) | 0.6 (NR) | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFB in weight-for-age z score at timepoint (95% CI) | 0.06 (–0.05 to 0.17) | 0.13 (–0.01 to 0.27) | -0.07 (-0.24 to 0.11) | | 0.06 (NR) | 0.02 (NR) | –0.04 (NR) | 0.03 (NR) | –0.02 (NR) | 0.28 (0.18 to 0.39) | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | | • | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFB in CFQ-R Respiratory Domain score at timepoint (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 5.5 (3.4 to 7.6) | 3 (1 to 5) | 2.3 (-0.1 to 4.6) | 2.8 (NR) | 9.2 (NR) | 7 (3.9 to 10.1) | 6.9 (3.2 to 10.6) | 5.9 (2.8 to 9.1) | 0.5 (-2.7 to 3.6) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 2.5 (–0.1 | to 5.1) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 5.5 (1 | to 10) |

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; NR: not reported; ppFEV₁: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RD: respiratory domain; SD: standard deviation; SLR: systematic literature review.

Table 104. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies of LUM/IVA or TEZ/IVA recruiting people 12+ years prioritised in the EAG SLR.

| Study | Study TRAFFIC | | TRANSPORT | | Wilso | on 2021 | Taylor-(| Cousar 2017 | Rowe | 2017 |
|--------------|---------------|---------|-----------|---------|---------|---------|----------|-------------|---------|---------|
| Intervention | LUM/IVA | Placebo | LUM/IVA | Placebo | LUM/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | Placebo | TEZ/IVA | Placebo |
| Genotype | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/RF | F/RF |



| Ν | 182 | 184 | 187 | 187 | 34 | 36 | 248 | 256 | 161 | 161 |
|---|------------|---------------|------------|---------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|
| Timepoint, weeks | 24 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 8 | 8 |
| N deaths | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| CFB in sweat chloride at timepoint, mmol/L (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | -9.9 (-10.9 to -8.9) | 0.2 (-0.8 to 1.2) | -9.9 (-11.8 to - 8) | -0.4 (-2.3 to 1.5) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | -10.1 (- | 11.4 to –8.8) | -9.5 (-11 | .7 to –7.3) |
| CFB in ppFEV₁ at timepoint (95% CI) | 2.16 (NR) | –0.44 (NR) | 2.85 (NR) | –0.15 (NR) | -0.6 (-4 to 2.9) | -4 (-7.3 to -0.7) | 3.4 (2.7 to 4) | -0.6 (-1.3 to 0) | 6.5 (5.6 to 7.3) | -0.3 (-1.2 to 0.6) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | 2.6 (1.18 | 6 to 4.01) | 3 (1.56 | to 4.44) | 3.4 (–1 | .2 to 8.1) | 4 (3. | 1 to 4.8) | 6.8 (5.7 | ′ to 7.8) |
| Pulmonary exacerbations reported | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes | As AE only (28 weeks) | As AE only (28 weeks) | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes |
| N exacerbations | 73 | 112 | 79 | 139 | 8 | 6 | 78 | 122 | 11 | 20 |
| Annualised event rate | 0.71 | 1.07 | 0.67 | 1.18 | NR | NR | 0.64 | 0.99 | 0.34 | 0.63 |
| Difference from reference, rate ratio (95% CI) | 0.66 (0.4 | 7 to 0.93) | 0.57 (0.42 | 2 to 0.76) | ٢ | NR | 0.65 (0 | .48 to 0.88) | 0.54 (0.2 | 6 to 1.13) |
| CFB in BMI at timepoint (95% CI) | 0.32 (NR) | 0.19 (NR) | 0.43 (NR) | 0.07 (NR) | 0.5 (0.1 to 0.8) | 0.3 (0 to 0.6) | 0.18 (0.08 to 0.28) | 0.12 (0.03 to 0.22) | 0.34 (NR) | 0.18 (NR) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | 0.13 (–0.0 | 7 to 0.32) | 0.36 (0.17 | 7 to 0.54) | 0.2 (–0 | .3 to 0.6) | 0.06 (–0 | 0.08 to 0.19) | N | R |
| CFB in BMI-for-age z- score at timepoint (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | | |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFB in weight at timepoint, kg (95% CI) | 1.23 (NR) | 0.93 (NR) | 1.38 (NR) | 0.44 (NR) | NR | NR | 0.7 (0.4 to 1) | 0.6 (3 to 0.8) | | |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | 0.3 (-0.20 | 6 to 0.86) | 0.95 (0.43 | 3 to 1.46) | Ν | NR | | NR | N | R |

| CFB in weight-for-age z score at timepoint (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | NR | NR |
|--|------------|------------|------------|-------------|----------------------|-------------------------|----------------|--------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | | |
| CFB in CFQ-R Respiratory Domain score at timepoint (95% CI) | 2.6 (NR) | 1.1 (NR) | 5.66 (NR) | 2.81 (NR) | 0.1 (–5.9 to 6.1) | -6.1 (-11.7 to -0.5) | 5 (3.5 to 6.5) | -0.1 (-1.6 to 1.4) | 10.1 (8.2 to 12.1) | -1 (–2.9 to 1) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | 1.5 (–1.69 | 9 to 4.69) | 2.85 (–0.2 | ?7 to 5.98) | 6.2 (–1. | 8 to 14.1) | 5.1 (| 3.2 to 7) | 11.1 (8.7 | ′ to 13.6) |

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; LCI_{2.5}: lung clearance index 2.5; NR: not reported; ppFEV₁: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RD: respiratory domain; SD: standard deviation; SLR: systematic literature review.

| Study | Heijerm | an 2019 | Suthars | an 2022 | Middlet | on 2019 | Barry | 2021 | Barry | 2021 |
|---|----------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------|
| Intervention | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Placebo | ELX/TEZ/IVA | IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA |
| Genotype | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/MF | F/MF | F/Gating | F/Gating | F/RF | F/RF |
| Ν | 52 | 55 | 87 | 88 | 200 | 203 | 50 | 45 | 82 | 81 |
| Timepoint, weeks | 4 | 4 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 24 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 8 |
| N deaths | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| CFB in sweat chloride at timepoint, mmol/L (95% Cl) | 1.7 (–1.9 to 5.3) | -43.4 (-46.9 to - 40) | -46.2 (-48.7 to - 43.7) | -3.4 (-5.8 to -1) | -42.2 (-44 to -40.4) | -0.4 (-2.2 to 1.4) | –21.8 (–25.7 to –17.8) | -1.8 (-5.7 to 2.2) | -23.1 (- 25.6 to -20.6) | 1.7 (–0.9 to 4.3) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | -45.1 (-50 | .1 to –40.1) | -42.8 (-46. | 2 to –39.3) | -41.8 (-44 | .4 to –39.3) | -20 (-25.4 | 4 to –14.6) | -24.8 (-28. | 4 to –21.2) |
| CFB in ppFEV ₁ at timepoint (95% CI) | 0.4 (–1.4 to 2.3) | 10.4 (8.6 to 12.2) | 11.2 (9.8 to 12.6) | 1 (–0.4 to 2.4) | 13.9 (12.8 to 15) | -0.4 (-1.5 to 0.7) | 5.8 (4.2 to 7.4) | 0.1 (–1.6 to 1.7) | 2.5 (1.4 to 3.5) | 0.5 (-0.5 to 1.5) |

Table 105. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies of ELX/TEZ/IVA studies recruiting people 12+ years prioritised in the EAG SLR.



| Difference from reference (95% CI) | 10 (7.4 | to 12.6) | 10.2 (8.2 | to 12.1) | 14.3 (12. | 7 to 15.8) | 5.8 (3. | 5 to 8) | 2 (0.5 t | o 3.4) |
|--|-----------------------|----------------------|------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| Pulmonary exacerbations reported | As adverse event | As adverse event | As adverse event | As adverse event | As efficacy outcome | As efficacy outcome | As adverse event | As adverse event | As adverse event | As adverse event |
| N exacerbations | 6 | 1 | 10 | 36 | 41 | 113 | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Annualised event rate | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0.37 | 0.98 | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference, rate ratio (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0. | 37 | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFB in BMI at timepoint (95% CI) | | | NR | NR | 1.13 (0.99 to 1.26) | 0.09 (–0.05 to 0.22) | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | | | N | R | 1.04 (0.8 | 5 to 1.23) | | | | |
| CFB in BMI-for-age z- score at timepoint (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0.34 (0.25 to 0.44) | 0.04 (-0.05 to 0.14) | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0.3 (0.17 | 7 to 0.43) | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| CFB in weight at timepoint, kg (95% CI) | | | NR | NR | 3.4 (3 to 3.8) | 0.5 (0.2 to 0.9) | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | | | N | R | 2.9 (2.3 | 3 to 3.4) | N | R | NF | 2 |
| CFB in weight-for-age z score at timepoint (95% CI) | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | Ν | R | | | | | | | | |
| CFB in CFQ-R Respiratory Domain score at timepoint (95% CI) | -1.4 (-5.4 to 2.6) | 16 (12.1 to 19.9) | 17.1 (14.1 to 20.1) | 1.2 (–1.7 to 4.2) | 17.5 (15.6 to 19.5) | -2.7 (-4.6 to -0.8) | 10.2 (6.6 to 13.8) | 1.3 (–2.5 to 5.2) | 10.4 (7.2 to 13.7) | 1.9 (–1.4 to 5.1) |
| Difference from reference (95% CI) | 17.4 (11 | .8 to 23) | 15.9 (11.7 | 7 to 20.1) | 20.2 (17 | 7.5 to 23) | 8.9 (3.8 | 8 to 14) | 8.5 (4 to | o 13.1) |

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; IVA: ivacaftor; kg: kilograms; LCI2.5: lung clearance index 2.5; NR: not reported; ppFEV1: percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RD: respiratory domain; SD: standard deviation; SLR: systematic literature review.

Table 106. Clinical efficacy outcomes of studies of IVA monotherapy studies, post hoc analyses provided by the Company for people 12+ years with F/Gating mutations.

| Study | Rams | ey 2011 | De Boeck 2 | .014 | Moss 20: | 15 |
|----------------------------------|-----------------|---------|-----------------|---------|-----------------|---------|
| Age | 12+ | | 12+ | | 12+ | |
| Genotype | F/Gating | | F/Gating | | F/Gating | |
| Intervention | IVA monotherapy | Placebo | IVA monotherapy | Placebo | IVA monotherapy | Placebo |
| Ν | 64 | 58 | 17 | 17 | 20 | 19 |
| Timepoint, weeks | 8 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 8 |
| N deaths | | | | | | |
| CFB sweat chloride | | | | | | |
| Difference from reference | | | | | | |
| CFB ppFEV1 | | | | | | |
| Difference from reference | | | | | | |
| Pulmonary exacerbations reported | | | | | | |
| N exacerbations | | | | | | |
| Annualised event rate | | | | | | |
| Difference from reference | | | | | | |
| CFB BMI | | | | | | |
| Difference from reference | | | | | | |
| CFB BMI-z-score | | | | | | |



| Difference from reference | | | | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| CFB Weight | | | | | | | | |
| Difference from reference | | | | | | | | |
| CFB Weight-z-score | | | | | | | | |
| Difference from reference | | | | | | | | |
| CFB CFQ-R Respiratory Domain | | | | | | | | |
| Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised; CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; EAG: external assessment group; IVA: ivacaftor: kg: kilograms; I Cl2 5: lung clearance index 2 5: NR: not reported; ppEEV1; percent-predicted forced expiratory volume in one second; RD: respiratory domain; SD: standard | | | | | | | | |

deviation; SLR: systematic literature review.

9.3.5 Adverse events

| Table 107, Summary | of adverse events | extracted by | the FAG from | FLX/TF7 | /IVA clinical trials |
|--------------------|-------------------|--------------|--------------|---------|----------------------|
| | | childeted by | | | |

| Trial programme | ELX/TEZ/IVA | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------|---------|-------------|----------------------|----------------|---------|----------------|---------|----------------|---------|
| Study | VX20-445- 111 | Zemanick 2019 | Mall 2022 | | Barry 2021 | | Heijerman 2019 | | Middleton 2019 | | Sutharsan 2022 | |
| Genotype | F/F or F/MF | F/F or F/MF | F/MF | | F/RF or F/ | F/RF or F/Gating F/F | | | F/MF | | F/F | |
| Age group | 2 to 5 | 6 to 11 | 6 to 11 | | 12+ | | 12+ | | 12+ | | 12+ | |
| Safety Period up to Week X | 28 | 28 | 28 28 | | 12 | 12 | 8 | 8 | 28 | 28 | 28 | 28 |
| Arm | ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Placebo | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Placebo | ELX/TEZ/IVA | TEZ/IVA |
| N SAS | 75 | 66 | 60 | 61 | 132 | 126 | 55 | 52 | 202 | 201 | 87 | 88 |
| Participants with AEs | 74 | 65 | 48 | 57 | 88 | 83 | 33 | 32 | 188 | 193 | 77 | 81 |

| Participants with serious AEs | 2 | 1 | 4 | 9 | 5 | 11 | 2 | 1 | 28 | 42 | 5 | 14 |
|--|--|-------------------|------------------|------------|-----------------|------------|--------------------|------------|--------|----|---|----|
| Alanine aminotransferase increased | 8 | 7 | 3 | 5 | 8 | 0 | | | 20 | 7 | 6 | 1 |
| Aspartate aminotransferase increased | 4 | | | | 8 | 0 | | | 19 | 4 | 5 | 0 |
| Gamma- glutamyltransferase increased | 4 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Increased bilirubin | NR | | NR | NR | | | NR | NR | 10 | 2 | | |
| Hepatic enzyme increased | NR | | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | | | | |
| Rash events | 12 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Hypertension | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | NR | NR | | | | |
| Cataracts | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Lens opacities | | | | | NR | NR | | | | | | |
| Note: where inconsistenci | Note: where inconsistencies occurred between the study CSR, full text and other trial records, AE data were preferentially included from the study CSRs. | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Abbreviations: AE: advers | e event; CSR: c | linical study rep | ort; EAG: extern | al assessm | ent group; ELX: | elexacafto | r; IVA: ivacaftor; | TEZ: tezac | aftor. | | | |

Table 108. Summary of adverse events extracted by the EAG from TEZ/IVA and LUM/IVA clinical trials

| Trial programme | | TEZ/IVA | | LUM/IVA | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|-------------|------------------------|-----------|-----------------|------------|-------------|-------------|---------|-----------|--|--|
| Study | Davies 2021 | Taylor- Cousar 2017 | Rowe 2017 | Rayment 2022 | Stahl 2021 | Ratjen 2017 | Wilson 2021 | TRAFFIC | TRANSPORT | | |
| Genotype | F/F or F/RF | F/F | F/RF | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | F/F | | |
| Age group | 6 to 11 | 12+ | 12+ | 1 to 2 | 2 to 5 | 6 to 11 | 12+ | 12+ | 12+ | | |



| Safety Period up to Week X | | 12 | | 28 | } | | 28* | | 26 | 48 | | 28 | | 28 | | 28 | | 28 | |
|---|------------|----------|--------|------------|----------|------------|-------------|--------|--------------|-------------|------------|-------------|----------|-----------|-----|---------|-----|---------|-----|
| Arm | TEZ/IVA | PBO | IVA | TEZ/IVA | PBO | TEZ/IVA | PBO | IVA | LUM/IVA | LUM/IVA | PBO | LUM/IVA | PBO | LUM/IVA | PBO | LUM/IVA | PBO | LUM/IVA | PBO |
| N SAS | 54 | 10 | 3 | 251 | 258 | 162 | 162 | 157 | 46 | 35 | 16 | 103 | 101 | 34 | 36 | 182 | 184 | 187 | 186 |
| Subjects with AEs | 41 | 8 | 2 | 227 | 245 | 117 | 126 | 114 | 44 | 35 | 17 | 98 | 98 | 30 | 35 | 174 | 174 | 175 | 181 |
| Subjects with serious AEs | 0 | 0 | 0 | 31 | 47 | 8 | 14 | 10 | 5 | 7 | 2 | 13 | 11 | 15 | 9 | 33 | 49 | 31 | 57 |
| Alanine aminotransferase increased | 1 | 1 | 0 | 13 | 8 | | | | NR | | | | | | | 3 | 5 | 4 | 4 |
| Aspartate aminotransferase increased | 0 | 1 | 0 | | | | | | NR | | | | | | | 3 | 3 | 5 | 5 |
| Gamma- glutamyltransferas e increased | NR | NR | NR | | | | | | NR | NR | NR | | | NR | NR | 1 | 0 | 1 | 1 |
| Increased bilirubin | NR | NR | NR | | | | | | NR | NR | NR | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Hepatic enzyme increased | | | | | | | | | NR | NR | NR | | | NR | NR | 2 | 0 | 2 | 0 |
| Rash events | | | | 4 | 13 | | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | 0 | 2 | 6 | 2 | 18 | 5 |
| Hypertension | NR | NR | NR | | | | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Cataracts | NR | NR | NR | | | | | | | | | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Lens opacities | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | | | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR | NR |
| Note: where inconsister | ncies occu | rred bet | ween t | he study C | CSR, ful | I text and | other trial | record | s, AE data w | ere prefere | entially i | ncluded fro | om the s | tudy CSRs | 3. | | | | |

Abbreviations: AE: adverse event; CSR: clinical study report; EAG: external assessment group; IVA: ivacaftor; LUM: lumacaftor; TEZ: tezacaftor.



9.4 Linked references of prioritised studies

| Title | Journal, Year | Authors | DOI/URL | | | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Sutharsan 2022 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Efficacy and safety of elexacaftor plus tezacaftor plus ivacaftor versus tezacaftor plus ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: a 24-week, multicentre, randomised, double-blind, active-controlled, phase 3b trial | The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2022 | Sutharsan, S., McKone, E. F., Downey, D. G., Duckers, J., MacGregor, G., Tullis, E., Van Braeckel, E., Wainwright, C. E., Watson, D., Ahluwalia, N., Bruinsma, B. G., Harris, C., Lam, A. P., Lou, Y., Moskowitz, S. M., Tian, S., Yuan, J., Waltz, D., Mall, M. A., Aurora, P., Verhulst, S., Lorenz, M., Roehmel, J., Gleiber, W., Naehrig, S., Stehling, F., van Koningsbruggen-Rietschel, S., Fischer, R., Downey, D., Haworth, C., Legg, J., Barry, P., Thursfield, R., Doe, S. J., Hilliard, T., Nash, E. F., Withers, N. J., Peckham, D., Barr, H. L., Lee, T., Gray, R., Vermeulen, F., Vanderhelst, E., Robinson, P. J., Smith, D. J., Mulrennan, S. A., Clements, B. S., Wark, P. | 10.1016/S2213- 2600%2821%2900454- 9 | | | | | | | |
| A study to evaluate the safety and efficacy of VX-445 / Tezacaftor / Ivacaftor in patients suffering from Cystic Fibrosis | 2019 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2019-001735-31- GB, 2019 | | | | | | | |
| A Study Evaluating the Efficacy and Safety of VX- 445/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects, Homozygous for F508del | 2019 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT04105972, 2019 | | | | | | | |
| Barry 2021 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Triple therapy for cystic fibrosis Phe508del-gating and -residual function genotypes | New England Journal of Medicine, 2021 | Barry, P. J., Mall, M. A., Alvarez, A., Colombo, C., de Winter-De Groot, K. M., Fajac, I., McBennett, K. A., McKone, E. F., Ramsey, B. W., Sutharsan, S., Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Tullis, E., Ahluwalia, N., Jun, L. S., Moskowitz, S. M., Prieto-Centurion, V., Tian, S., Waltz, D., Xuan, F., Zhang, Y., Rowe, S. M., Polineni, D. | 10.1056/NEJMoa21006 65 | | | | | | | |
| A Phase 3 Study of VX-445 Combination Therapy in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Subjects Heterozygous for | 2019 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT04058353 | | | | | | | |

Table 109. Linked references of studies prioritised in the EAG's clinical systematic literature review



| F508del and a Gating or Residual Function Mutation (F/G and F/RF Genotypes) | | | |
|--|---|--|---|
| Long-term safety and efficacy of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor in people with cystic fibrosis heterozygous for F508del-CFTR and a gating or residual function mutation | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2022 | Chmiel, J., Barry, P. J., Colombo, C., De Wachter, E., Fajac, I., Mall, M., McBennett, K., McKone, E., Mondejar-Lopez, P., Quon, B., Ramsey, B., Robinson, P., Sutharsan, S., Ahluwalia, N., Lu, M., Moskowitz, S., Prieto-Centurion, V., Tian, S., Waltz, D., Weinstock, T., Xuan, F., Zelazoski, L., Zhang, Y., Polineni, D. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2822%2900875- X |
| A phase 3, randomized, double-blind, controlled study evaluating the efficacy and safety of VX-445 combination therapy in subjects with cystic fibrosis WHO are heterozygous for the f508del mutation and a gating or residual function mutation (F/G and F/RF genotypes) | 2021 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://www.clinicaltrialsr egister.eu/ctr- search/trial/2018- 002835-76/results |
| A Phase 3 Study of VX-445 Combination Therapy in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Subjects Heterozygous for F508del and a Gating or Residual Function Mutation (F/G and F/RF Genotypes) | 2019 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2018-002835-76-IE |
| Middleton 2019 | | | |
| Elexacaftor-tezacaftor-ivacaftor for cystic fibrosis with a single Phe508del allele | New England Journal of Medicine, 2019 | Middleton, P. G., Mall, M. A., Drevinek, P., Lands, L. C., McKone, E. F., Polineni, D., Ramsey, B. W., Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Tullis, E., Vermeulen, F., Marigowda, G., McKee, C. M., Moskowitz, S. M., Nair, N., Savage, J., Simard, C., Tian, S., Waltz, D., Xuan, F., Rowe, S. M., Jain, R. | 10.1056/NEJMoa19086 39 |
| Phase 3 efficacy and safety of the ELX/TEZ/IVA triple combination in people with CF and F508del/minimal function genotypes | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2019 | Jain, R., Mall, M., Drevinek, P., Lands, L., McKone, E., Polineni, D., Ramsey, B., Taylor-Cousar, J., Tullis, E., Vermeulen, F., Marigowda, G., McKee, C., Moskowitz, S., Nair, N., Savage, J., Simard, C., Tian, S., Waltz, D., Xuan, F., Rowe, S., Middleton, P. | 10.1002/ppul.22495 |
| Impact of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor triple combination therapy on health-related quality of life in people with cystic fibrosis heterozygous for F508del | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2020 | Fajac, I., Van Brunt, K., Daines, C., Durieu, I., Goralski, J. L., Heijerman, H., Knoop, C., Majoor, C. J., Booth, J., Moskowitz, S. M., Savage, J., Wang, C., Quittner, A. L. | 10.1136/thorax-2020- BTSabstracts.70 |

| and a minimal function mutation: Results from a phase 3 clinical study | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Impact of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor triple combination therapy on health-related quality of life in people with cystic fibrosis heterozygous for F508del and a minimal function mutation (F/MF): Results from a phase 3 clinical study | Thorax, 2021 | Fajac, I., Van Brunt, K., Daines, C., Durieu, I., Goralski, J., Heijerman, H., Knoop, C., Majoor, C., Booth, J., Moskowitz, S. M., Savage, J., Wang, C., Quittner, A. | 10.1136/thorax-2020- BTSabstracts.70 |
| Impact of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor triple combination therapy on health-related quality of life in people with cystic fibrosis heterozygous for F508del and a minimal function mutation: results from a Phase 3 clinical study | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2020 | Fajac, I., Van Brunt, K., Daines, C., Durieu, I., Goralski, J., Heijerman, H., Knoop, C., Majoor, C., Booth, J., Moskowitz, S. M., Savage, J., Wang, C., Quittner, A. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2820%2930555- 5 |
| A Phase 3 Study of VX-445 Combination Therapy in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis Heterozygous for the F508del Mutation and a Minimal Function Mutation (F/MF) | 2018 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT03525444 |
| A Phase 3 Study of VX-445 Combination Therapy in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis Heterozygous for the F508del Mutation and a Minimal Function Mutation (F/MF) | 2018 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2018-000183-28- SE |
| PRS77 Application of the CFQ-R-8D to Estimate Utility Benefit of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA) in People with Cystic Fibrosis (CF) | Value in Health, 2020 | McGarry, L., Lopez, A., Booth, J., Yuan, J., Morlando Geiger, J., Lou, Y., Moskowitz, S. M. | 10.1016/j.jval.2020.08.1 957 |
| Heijerman 2019 | | | |
| Efficacy and safety of the elexacaftor plus tezacaftor plus ivacaftor combination regimen in people with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del mutation: a double-blind, randomised, phase 3 trial | The Lancet, 2019 | Heijerman, H. G. M., McKone, E. F., Downey, D. G., Van Braeckel, E., Rowe, S. M., Tullis, E., Mall, M. A., Welter, J. J., Ramsey, B. W., McKee, C. M., Marigowda, G., Moskowitz, S. M., Waltz, D., Sosnay, P. R., Simard, C., Ahluwalia, N., Xuan, F., Zhang, Y., McCoy, K. S., McCoy, K., Donaldson, S., Walker, S., Chmiel, J., Rubenstein, R., Froh, D. K., Neuringer, I., Jain, M., Moffett, K., Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Barnett, B., Mueller, G., Flume, P., Livingston, F., Mehdi, N., | 10.1016/S0140- 6736%2819%2932597- 8 |

| | | Teneback, C., Welter, J., Jain, R., Kissner, D., Patel, K., Calimano, F. J., Johannes, J., Daines, C., Keens, T., Scher, H., Chittivelu, S., Reddivalam, S., Klingsberg, R. C., Johnson, L. G., Verhulst, S., Macedo, P., Connett, G., Nash, E., Withers, N., Lee, T., Bakker, M., Heijerman, H., Vermeulen, F., Knoop, C., De Wachter, E., van der Meer, R., Merkus, P., Majoor, C. | |
|--|--|---|--|
| Phase 3 efficacy and safety of the ELX/TEZ/IVA triple combination in people with CF homozygous for the F508del mutation | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2019 | Heijerman, H., McKone, E., Downey, D. G., Mall, M., Ramsey, B., Rowe, S., Tullis, E., Van Braeckel, E., Welter, J., Ahluwalia, N., Marigowda, G., McKee, C., Moskowitz, S., Simard, C., Sosnay, P., Waltz, D., Xuan, F., Zhang, Y., Taylor-Cousar, J., McCoy, K. | 10.1002/ppul.22495 |
| Impact of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ ivacaftor triple combination therapy on health-related quality of life in people with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del: Results from a phase 3 clinical study | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2020 | Majoor, C. J., Van Brunt, K., Daines, C., Durieu, I., Fajac, I., Goralski, J. L., Heijerman, H., Knoop, C., Booth, J., Moskowitz, S. M., Savage, J., Wang, C., Quittner, A. L. | 10.1136/thorax-2020- BTSabstracts.71 |
| Impact of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor triple combination therapy on health-related quality of life in people with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508DEL (F/F): Results from a phase 3 clinical study | Thorax, 2021 | Majoor, C., Van Brunt, K., Daines, C., Durieu, I., Fajac, I., Goralski, J., Heijerman, H., Knoop, C., Booth, J., Moskowitz, S. M., Savage, J., Wang, C., Quittner, A. | 10.1136/thorax-2020- BTSabstracts.71 |
| Impact of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA) triple combination therapy on health- related quality of life (HRQoL) in people with cystic fibrosis (pwCF) homozygous for F508del (F/F): results from a Phase 3 clinical study | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2020 | Majoor, C., Van Brunt, K., Daines, C., Durieu, I., Fajac, I., Goralski, J., Heijerman, H., Knoop, C., Booth, J., Moskowitz, S. M., Savage, J., Wang, C., Quittner, A. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2820%2930268- X |
| A Study of VX-445 Combination Therapy in CF Subjects Homozygous for F508del (F/F) | 2018 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT03525548 |
| A Phase 3 Study of VX-445 Combination Therapy in CF Subjects Homozygous for F508del (F/F) | 2018 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2018-000184-89- BE |


| Erratum: Department of Error (The Lancet (2019) 394(10212) (1940-1948), (S0140673619325978), (10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32597-8)) | The Lancet, 2020 | Anonymous | 10.1016/S0140- 6736%2820%2931021- 7 |
|---|---|---|--|
| Mall 2022 | | | |
| Efficacy and Safety of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Children 6 Through 11 Years of Age with Cystic Fibrosis Heterozygous for F508del and a Minimal Function Mutation A Phase 3b, Randomized, Placebo- controlled Study | American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2022 | Mall, M. A., Brugha, R., Gartner, S., Legg, J., Moeller, A., Mondejar- Lopez, P., Prais, D., Pressler, T., Ratjen, F., Reix, P., Robinson, P. D., Selvadurai, H., Stehling, F., Ahluwalia, N., Arteaga-Solis, E., Bruinsma, B. G., Jennings, M., Moskowitz, S. M., Noel, S., Tian, S., Weinstock, T. G., Wu, P., Wainwright, C. E., Davies, J. C. | 10.1164/rccm.202202- 0392OC |
| A Study Evaluating Efficacy and Safety of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects 6 Through 11 Years of Age With Cystic Fibrosis and F/MF Genotypes | 2020 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT04353817 |
| A Study Evaluating Efficacy and Safety of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects 6 through 11 Years Old With Cystic Fibrosis and F/MF genotypes | 2020 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2019-003554-86- GB |
| Zemanick 2021 | | | |
| A phase 3 open-label study of elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor in children 6 through 11 years of age with cystic fibrosis and at least one F508del allele | American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2021 | Zemanick, E. T., Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Davies, J., Gibson, R. L., Mall, M. A., McKone, E. F., McNally, P., Ramsey, B. W., Rayment, J. H., Rowe, S. M., Tullis, E., Ahluwalia, N., Chu, C., Ho, T., Moskowitz, S. M., Noel, S., Tian, S., Waltz, D., Weinstock, T. G., Xuan, F., Wainwright, C. E., McColley, S. A. | 10.1164/rccm.202102- 0509OC |
| Evaluation of VX 445/TEZ/IVA in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects 6 Through 11 Years of Age | 2018 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT03691779 |
| A Phase 3 Study Evaluating the Pharmacokinetics, Safety, and Tolerability of VX-445/TEZ/IVA Triple | 2018 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://www.clinicaltrialsr egister.eu/ctr- |



| Combination Therapy in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects 6 Through 11 Years of Age | | | search/trial/2018- 001695-38/results |
|---|---|---|--|
| NCT04537793 | | | |
| Evaluation of ELX/TEZ/IVA in Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Subjects 2 Through 5 Years | 2020 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT04537793 |
| A Phase 3 Study Evaluating the Safety, Tolerability, and Pharmacokinetics of Elexacaftor/Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor Triple Combination Therapy in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects 2 Through 5 Years of Age | 2020 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://www.clinicaltrialsr egister.eu/ctr- search/trial/2020- 002251-38/DE |
| Taylor-Cousar 2017 | | | |
| Effects of tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508DEL- CFTR: Patient-reported outcomes in a phase 3 randomized, controlled trial (EVOLVE) | Thorax, 2018 | Yang, Y., Rizio, A. A., Chuang, C. C., Loop, B., You, X., Kosinski, M., Rendas-Baum, R., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Taylor-Cousar, J., Sole, A., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1136/thorax-2018- 212555.74 |
| Effects of tezacaftor/ivacaftor treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis and F508DEL/ F508DEL-CFTR: Patient-reported outcomes in a phase 3 randomized, controlled trial | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2018 | Yang, Y., Rizio, A., Chuang, C., Loop, B., You, X., Kosinski, M., Rendas-Baum, R., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Sole, A., Elborn, J. | 10.1002/ppul.24152 |
| Advances in treating patients homozygous for F508del | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2017 | Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Elborn, S. | 10.1002/ppul.23839 |
| Efficacy and safety of tezacaftor/ ivacaftor in patients aged >=12 years with cf homozygous for f508del-cftr: A randomized placebo-controlled phase 3 trial | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2017 | Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Wang, L., Lu, Y., Elborn, S. | 10.1002/ppul.23840 |
| Tezacaftor-ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for Phe508del | New England Journal of Medicine, 2017 | Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Munck, A., McKone, E. F., Van Der Ent, C. K., Moeller, A., Simard, C., Wang, L. T., Ingenito, E. P., McKee, C., Lu, Y., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1056/NEJMoa17098 46 |



| Effects of tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis and F508del/F508del- CFTR: Patient-reported outcomes in a Phase 3, randomised, controlled trial (EVOLVE) | Pneumologie, 2019 | Sommerburg, O., Yang, Y., Rizio, A. A., Loop, B., You, X., Kosinski, M., Rendas-Baum, R., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1055/s-0039- 1678165 |
|--|---|--|--|
| A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of VX-661 in Combination With Ivacaftor | 2015 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT02347657 |
| Efficacy and safety of tezacaftor/ivacaftor in patients aged >= 12 years with CF homozygous for F508del- CFTR: A randomized placebo (PBO)-controlled phase 3 trial | Pneumologie, 2018 | Sutharsan, S., Taylor-Cousar, J., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Wang, L., Lu, Y., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1055/s-0037- 1619211 |
| A study in people with Cystic Fibrosis (a rare hereditary lung disease) to assess the efficacy and safety of a combination of two experimental drugs | 2015 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2014-004837-13- SE |
| Rowe 2017 | | | |
| Efficacy and safety of tezacaftor/ ivacaftor and ivacaftor in patients aged >=12 years with CF heterozygous for f508del and a residual function mutation: A randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled, crossover phase 3 study | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2017 | Rowe, S. M., Davies, J. C., Nair, N., Han, L., Lekstrom-Himes, J. | 10.1002/ppul.23840 |
| CFTR modulation with tezacaftor/ivacaftor in patients heterozygous for F508del and a residual function mutation | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2017 | Rowe, S. M., Davies, J. | 10.1002/ppul.23839 |
| Tezacaftor-ivacaftor in residual-function heterozygotes with cystic fibrosis | New England Journal of Medicine, 2017 | Rowe, S. M., Daines, C., Ringshausen, F. C., Kerem, E., Wilson, J., Tullis, E., Nair, N., Simard, C., Han, L., Ingenito, E. P., McKee, C., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Davies, J. C. | 10.1056/NEJMoa17098 47 |
| Efficacy and safety of tezacaftor/ivacaftor in patients (Pts) aged >= 12 years with CF heterozygous for F508del and a residual function mutation: A | Pneumologie, 2018 | Fischer, R., Rowe, S. M., Davies, J. C., Nair, N., Han, L., Lekstrom- Himes, J. | 10.1055/s-0037- 1619210 |



| randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover phase 3 study | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Effects of tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) treatment in patients heterozygous for F508DEL-CFTR and a residual function mutation: patient-reported outcomes in a phase 3 randomized, controlled trial (expand) | Thorax, 2018 | Chuang, C. C., Rizio, A. A., Loop, B., Lekstrom-Himes, J., You, X., Kosinski, M., Rendas-Baum, R., Davies, J. C., Rowe, S. M., Yang, Y. | 10.1136/thorax-2018- 212555.73 |
| Effects of tezacaftor/ivacaftor treatment in patients heterozygous for F508DEL-CFTR and a residual function mutation: Patientreported outcomes in a phase 3 randomized, controlled trial | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2018 | Chuang, C., Rizio, A., Loop, B., Lekstrom-Himes, J., You, X., Kosinski, M., Rendas-Baum, R., Davies, J. C., Rowe, S. M., Yang, Y. | 10.1002/ppul.24152 |
| Effects of tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) treatment in patients heterozygous for F508del-CFTR and a residual function mutation: Patient-reported outcomes in a Phase 3, randomised, controlled trial (EXPAND) | Pneumologie, 2019 | Fischer, R., Rizio, A. A., Loop, B., Lekstrom-Himes, J., You, X., Kosinski, M., Rendas-Baum, R., Davies, J., Rowe, S. M., Yang, Y. | 10.1055/s-0039- 1678161 |
| A Phase 3 Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Ivacaftor and VX-661 in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older With Cystic Fibrosis, Heterozygous for the F508del-cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator (CFTR) Mutation | 2015 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT02392234 |
| A study in people with cystic fibrosis (a rare hereditary lung disease) to assess the efficacy and safety of two experimental drugs: ivacaftor and VX-661 in combination with ivacaftor | 2015 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2014-004788-18- NL |
| Davies 2021 | | | |
| A phase 3, double-blind, parallel-group study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of tezacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in participants 6 through 11 years of age with cystic fibrosis homozygous for | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2021 | Davies, J. C., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Naehrlich, L., Harris, R. S., Campbell, D., Ahluwalia, N., Short, C., Haseltine, E., Panorchan, P., Saunders, C., Owen, C. A., Wainwright, C. E. | 10.1016/j.jcf.2020.07.02 3 |



| F508del or heterozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation and a residual function mutation | | | |
|--|---|---|--|
| A Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety of TEZ/IVA in Subjects Aged 6 Through 11 Years With Cystic Fibrosis | 2018 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT03559062 |
| A Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety of TEZ/IVA in Subjects Aged 6 through 11 Years With Cystic Fibrosis | 2018 | WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2016-004479-35- PL |
| A phase 3, double-blind, parallel-group study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of tezacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in subjects aged 6 through 11 years with cystic fibrosis, homozygous or heterozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation | 2018 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | www.clinicaltrialsregister .eu/ctr-search/trial/2016- 004479-35 |
| Wainwright 2015, TRAFFIC/TRANSPORT | | | |
| Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for Phe508del CFTR by pulmonary function subgroup: a pooled analysis | The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2016 | Elborn, J. S., Ramsey, B. W., Boyle, M. P., Konstan, M. W., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Wainwright, C. E. | 10.1016/S2213- 2600%2816%2930121- 7 |
| Effect of lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in patients with CF who are homozygous for DELTAF508-CFTR: Phase 3 TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2014 | Wainwright, C. E., Elborn, J. S., Ramsey, B., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Boyle, M. P. | 10.1002/ppul.23107 |
| Combination lumacaftor/ivacaftor therapy improves inflammatory biomarkers in patients with CF homozygous for the F508DEL-CFTR mutation | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2016 | Sullivan, J. C., Accurso, F. J., Marigowda, G., Beusmans, J., Geho, D., Zhang, E., Moss, R., Waltz, D. | 10.1002/ppul.23576 |
| Association between changes in percent predicted FEV1 and incidence of pulmonary exacerbations, including those requiring hospitalization and/or iv | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2015 | McColley, S. A., Konstan, M. W., Ramsey, B. W., Elborn, J., Boyle, M. P., Wainwright, C. E., Waltz, D., Vera-Llonch, M., Jiang, J., Rubin, J. | 10.1002/ppul.23297 |
| | | | |



| antibiotics, in patients with CF treated with lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor | | | |
|--|--|---|---|
| Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor+ivacaftor combination therapy in patients with CF homozygous for F508DEL-CFTR by FEV1 subgroups | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2015 | De Boeck, K., Elborn, J., Ramsey, B., Boyle, M. P., Konstan, M. W., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Wainwright, C. E. | 10.1002/ppul.23297 |
| Improvement in inflammatory biomarkers in patients (pts) with cystic fibrosis (CF) homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation treated with lumacaftor (LUM) and ivacaftor (IVA) | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2016 | Sullivan, J. C., Accurso, F. J., Marigowda, G., Beusmans, J., Geho, D., Zhang, E., Moss, R. B., Waltz, D. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(16)30079-0 |
| Effect of lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in patients with CF who are homozygous for F508-CFTR: phase 3 TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies | Pediatric pulmonology, 2014 | Wainwright, C. E., Elborn, J. S., Ramsey, B., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D. | 2014;49 Suppl 38:156. [ABSTRACT NO.: S10.3] |
| Improvement in inflammatory biomarkers in patients (pts) with cystic fibrosis (CF) homozygous for the f508del-cftr mutation treated with lumacaftor (LUM) and ivacaftor (IVA) | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2016 | Sullivan, J. C., Accurso, F. J., Marigowda, G., Beusmans, J., Geho, D., Zhang, E., Moss, R. B., Waltz, D. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(16)30079-0 |
| Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor reduces pulmonary exacerbations in patients irrespective of initial changes in FEV1 | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2019 | McColley, S. A., Konstan, M. W., Ramsey, B. W., Stuart Elborn, J., Boyle, M. P., Wainwright, C. E., Waltz, D., Vera-Llonch, M., Marigowda, G., Jiang, J. G., Rubin, J. L. | 10.1016/j.jcf.2018.07.01 1 |
| Lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis who are homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2015 | Elborn, J. S., Ramsey, B., Boyle, M. P., Wainwright, C., Konstan, M., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(15)30003-5 |
| Lumacaftor/ivacaftor combination therapy in CF patients homozygous for F508del-CFTR with severe lung dysfunction | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2015 | Elborn, J. S., Ramsey, B., Boyle, M. P., Wainwright, C., Konstan, M., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(15)30320-9 |
| Lumacaftor-Ivacaftor in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for Phe508del CFTR | The New England journal of medicine, 2015 | Wainwright, Claire E., Elborn, J. Stuart, Ramsey, Bonnie W. | 10.1056/NEJMc151046 6 |



| Lumacaftor-ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for phe508del CFTR | New England Journal of Medicine, 2015 | Wainwright, C. E., Elborn, J. S., Ramsey, B. W., Marigowda, G., Huang, X., Cipolli, M., Colombo, C., Davies, J. C., De Boeck, K., Flume, P. A., Konstan, M. W., McColley, S. A., McCoy, K., McKone, E. F., Munck, A., Ratjen, F., Rowe, S. M., Waltz, D., Boyle, M. P. | 10.1056/NEJMoa14095 47 |
|--|---|---|--|
| Pulmonary exacerbations, lung dysfunction, and EQ- 5D measures in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis and homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation | Value in Health, 2016 | Solem, C. T., Vera-Llonch, M., Tai, M., O'Callaghan, L. | 10.1016/j.jval.2016.03.4 61 |
| Measuring recovery in health-related quality of life during and after pulmonary exacerbations in patients with cystic fibrosis | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2019 | Flume, P. A., Suthoff, E. D., Kosinski, M., Marigowda, G., Quittner, A. L. | 10.1016/j.jcf.2018.12.00 4 |
| Impact of pulmonary exacerbations (PEx) on health- related quality of life (HRQoL) assessed by the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R) in TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2018 | Suthoff, E. D., Kosinski, M., Sikirica, S., Quittner, A. L. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(16)30376-9 |
| Effect of lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis who are homozygous for F508del-CFTR: Transport study | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2014 | Ramsey, B., Boyle, M. P., Elborn, J., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Wainwright, C. E. | 10.1002/ppul.23108 |
| A Study of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older Who Are Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation | 2013 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT01807949 |
| A study in people with Cystic Fibrosis (a rare hereditary pulmonary disease) to assess the efficacy and safety of a combination of two experimental drugs | 2013 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2012-003990-24- DK |
| Effect of lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis who are homozygous for F508del-CFTR: The TRAFFIC study | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2014 | Elborn, J., Wainwright, C. E., Ramsey, B., Huang, X., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Boyle, M. P. | 10.1002/ppul.23108 |



| Prevalence of cataracts in a population of cystic fibrosis patients homozygous for the F508del mutation* | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2015 | Seliger, V., Bai, Y., Volkova, N., Tian, S., Waltz, D. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(15)30373-8 |
|---|---|--|--|
| A Study of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older Who Are Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation | 2013 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT01807923 |
| A study in people with Cystic Fibrosis (a rare hereditary pulmonary disease) to assess the efficacy and safety of a combination of two experimental drugs | 2013 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2012-003989-40-IE |
| Wilson 2021 | | | |
| VO ₂ max as an exercise tolerance endpoint in people with cystic fibrosis: Lessons from a lumacaftor/ivacaftor trial | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2021 | Wilson, J., You, X., Ellis, M., Urquhart, D. S., Jha, L., Duncan, M., Tian, S., Harris, R. A., Kotsimbos, T., Keating, D. | 10.1016/j.jcf.2020.12.00 6 |
| A Study of the Effects of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor on Exercise Tolerance in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation | 2016 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT02875366 |
| A Study of the Effects of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor on Exercise Tolerance in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation | 2017 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2016-000066-34- GB |
| Ratjen 2017 | | | |
| Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) in patients (pts) aged 6-11 years (yrs) with cystic fibrosis (CF) homozygous for F508del-CFTR: A randomized placebo (PBO)-controlled phase 3 trial | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2017 | Ratjen, F., Tian, S., Marigowda, G., Hug, C., Huang, X., Stanojevic, S., Milla, C. E., Robinson, P., Waltz, D., Davies, J. C. | 2017;16 S24 |
| Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor and ivacaftor in patients aged 6-11 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial | The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2017 | Ratjen, F., Hug, C., Marigowda, G., Tian, S., Huang, X., Stanojevic, S., Milla, C. E., Robinson, P. D., Waltz, D., Davies, J. C., Rosenfeld, M., Starner, T., Retsch-Bogart, G., Chmiel, J., Orenstein, D., Milla, C., Rubenstein, R., Walker, S., Cornell, A., Asfour, F., Black, P., Colombo, J., Froh, D., McColley, S., Ruiz, F., Quintero, D., Casey, | 10.1016/S2213- 2600%2817%2930215- 1 |
| | | | |



| | | A., Mueller, G., Flume, P., Livingston, F., Rock, M., O'Sullivan, B., Schmidt, H., Lahiri, T., McNamara, J., Chidekel, A., Sass, L., Keens, T., Schaeffer, D., Solomon, M., Chilvers, M., Lands, L., Junge, S., Griese, M., Staab, D., Pressler, T., van Koningsburggen-Rietschel, S., Naehrlich, L., Reid, A., Balfour-Lynn, I., Urquhart, D., Lee, T., Munck, A., Gaudelus, I. S., De Boeck, C., Reix, P., Malfroot, A., Bui, S., Selvadurai, H., Robinson, P., Wainwright, C., Clements, B., Hilton, J., Hjelte, L. | |
|--|-----------------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|
| Feasibility of ultrashort echo time MRI to evaluate the effect of lumacaftor/ ivacaftor therapy in children with cystic fibrosis homozygous for f508del | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2017 | Nagle, S. K., Brody, A., Woods, J. C., Johnson, K. M., Wang, L., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Goldin, J., Ratjen, F., Owen, C. | 10.1002/ppul.23840 |
| Feasibility of ultrashort echo time (UTE) MRI to evaluate the effect of lumacaftor/ivacaftor therapy in children with cystic fibrosis (CF) homozygous for F508DEL | Thorax, 2017 | Nagle, S., Brody, A. S., Woods, J., Johnson, K. M., Wang, L., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Goldin, J., Ratjen, F., Hug, C. | 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017- 210983.396 |
| Effect of lumacaftor/ivacaftor on total, bronchiectasis, and air trapping computed tomography (CT) scores in children homozygous for F508del-CFTR: Exploratory imaging substudy | Thorax, 2017 | Brody, A. S., Nagle, S., Hug, C., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Goldin, J., Ratjen, F., Wang, L. | 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017- 210983.99 |
| Effect of lumacaftor/ivacaftor on total, bronchiectasis, and air trapping computed tomography scores in children homozygous for F508DEL-CFTR: Exploratory imaging substudy | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2017 | Brody, A., Nagle, S. K., Owen, C., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Goldin, J., Ratjen, F., Wang, L. | 10.1002/ppul.23840 |
| Safety, tolerability, and pharmacodynamics of combination lumacaftor/ivacaftor therapy in patients aged 6-11 yrs with CF homozygous for the F508DEL- CFTR mutation | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2016 | Milla, C., Ratjen, F., Marigowda, G., Liu, F., Waltz, D., Rosenfeld, M. | 10.1002/ppul.23576 |
| Ultrashort echo time MRI can evaluate treatment effect of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor | Respirology, 2018 | Wainwright, C., Nagle, S., Brody, A., Woods, J., Johnson, K., Wang, L., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Goldin, J., Ratjen, F., Hug, C. | 10.1111/resp.13268 |



| Effect of lumacaftor/ivacaftor on ct scores: Exploratory imaging substudy | Respirology, 2018 | Wainwright, C., Brody, A., Nagle, S., Hug, C., Marigowda, G., Waltz, D., Goldin, J., Ratjen, F., Wang, L. | 10.1111/resp.13267 |
|---|---|--|--|
| A Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Lumacaftor in Combination With Ivacaftor in Subjects With CF, Homozygous for the F508del-CFTR Mutation | 2015 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT02514473 |
| Corrections: Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor and ivacaftor in patients aged 6-11 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial (The Lancet Respiratory Medicine (2017) 5(7) (557- 567)(S2213260017302151)(10.1016/S2213- 2600(17)30215-1)) | The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2017 | Anonymous | 10.1016/S2213- 2600%2817%2930270- 9 |
| Change in low-dose chest Computed Tomography (CT) scores after 72 weeks of tezacaftor/ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) in patients (pts) with cystic fibrosis and ppFEV1 >=70%: an exploratory phase 2 study | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2019 | Wainwright, C., Stick, S., Goldin, J., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Wang, L., Campbell, D., Wang, L. T., Harris, R. S., Owen, C. A., Brody, A. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2819%2930152- 3 |
| A study in children aged 6 Through 11 Years With Cystic Fibrosis to assess the efficacy and safety of a combination of two experimental drugs | 2015 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2015-000543-16- SE |
| Stahl 2022 | | | |
| A Study of the Effects of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor on Disease Progression in Subjects Aged 2 Through 5 Years With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for F508del | 2018 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://trialsearch.who.in t/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=EU CTR2017-003761-99- DE |
| A Study to Explore the Impact of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor on Disease Progression in Subjects Aged 2 Through 5 Years With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for F508del | 2018 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/s how/NCT03625466 |

| Long-term efficacy of lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) in children aged 2 through 5 years with cystic fibrosis (CF) homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation (F/F): a phase 2, open-label extension study | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2022 | Stahl, M., Roehmel, J., Eichinger, M., Doellinger, F., Naehrlich, L., Kopp, M. V., Dittrich, A. M., Sommerburg, O., Ray, P., Maniktala, A., Duncan, M. E., Xu, T., Wu, P., Joshi, A., Mascia, M., Tian, S., Wielputz, M. O., Mall, M. A. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2822%2900250- 8 |
|--|---|---|---|
| An exploratory study to determine the impact of lumacaftor/ivacaftor (LUM/IVA) on disease progression in children 2 through 5 years of age with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR (F/F) | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2021 | Stahl, M., Roehmel, J., Eichinger, M., Doellinger, F., Naehrlich, L., Kopp, M. V., Dittrich, A. M., Lee, C., Sommerburg, O., Tian, S., Xu, T., Wu, P., Joshi, A., Duncan, M., Wielputz, M. O., Mall, M. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2821%2900981- 4 |
| Rayment 2022 | | | |
| A Phase 3, Open-Label Study of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Children 1 to Less Than 2 Years of Age with Cystic Fibrosis Homozygous for F508del-CFTR | American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2022 | Rayment, J. H., Asfour, F., Rosenfeld, M., Higgins, M., Liu, L., Mascia, M., Paz-Diaz, H., Tian, S., Zahigian, R., McColley, S. A. | 10.1164/RCCM.202204- 0734OC |
| Safety and pharmacokinetic study of lumacaftor/ivacaftor in subjects 1 to less than 2 years of age with cystic fibrosis, homozygous for F508del | 2018 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT03601637 |
| A Phase 3, 2-part, Open-label Study to Evaluate the Safety and Pharmacokinetics of Lumacaftor/Ivacaftor in Subjects 1 to Less Than 2 Years of Age With Cystic Fibrosis, Homozygous for F508del | 2017 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://www.clinicaltrialsr egister.eu/ctr- search/trial/2017- 004794-13/results |
| Ramsey 2011 | | | |
| A CFTR potentiator in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation | New England Journal of Medicine, 2011 | Ramsey, B. W., Davies, J., McElvaney, N. G., Tullis, E., Bell, S. C., Drevinek, P., Griese, M., McKone, E. F., Wainwright, C. E., Konstan, M. W., Moss, R., Ratjen, F., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Rowe, S. M., Dong, Q., Rodriguez, S., Yen, K., Ordonez, C., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1056/NEJMoa11051 85 |
| Recovery of lung function following a pulmonary exacerbation in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation treated with ivacaftor | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2018 | Flume, P. A., Wainwright, C. E., Elizabeth Tullis, D., Rodriguez, S., Niknian, M., Higgins, M., Davies, J. C., Wagener, J. S. | 10.1016/j.jcf.2017.06.00 2 |

| Impact of pulmonary exacerbations and lung function on generic health-related quality of life in patients with cystic fibrosis | Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 2016 | Solem, C. T., Vera-Llonch, M., Liu, S., Botteman, M., Castiglione, B. | 10.1186/s12955-016- 0465-z |
|--|--|---|---|
| Effect of ivacaftor treatment in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation: Patient- reported outcomes in the STRIVE randomized, controlled trial | Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 2015 | Quittner, A., Suthoff, E., Rendas-Baum, R., Bayliss, M. S., Sermet- Gaudelus, I., Castiglione, B., Vera-Llonch, M. | 10.1186/s12955-015- 0293-6 |
| Efficacy and safety of VX-770 in subjects with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2011 | Ramsey, B., Dong, Q., Yen, K., Elborn, J. | 10.1002/ppul.21583 |
| VX-770, an investigational CFTR potentiator, in subjects with CF and the G551D mutation | European Respiratory Journal, 2011 | Plant, B. J., Ramsey, B., Yen, K., Dong, Q., Rodriguez, S., Elborn, J. S. | 38: 4655 |
| Patient-reported treatment effects of ivacaftor beyond respiratory symptoms in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2014 | Suthoff, E., Rendas-Baum, R., Vera-Llonch, M., Bayliss, M., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Quittner, A. L. | 10.1002/ppul.23108 |
| Impact of pulmonary exacerbations on EQ-5D measures in patients with cystic fibrosis | Value in Health, 2014 | Solem, C. T., Vera-Llonch, M., Liu, S., Botteman, M., Lin, F. J., Castiglione, B. | 10.1016/j.jval.2014.08.1 707 |
| Responsiveness of the EQ-5D index and visual analog scale to changes in lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis | Value in Health, 2014 | Solem, C. T., Vera, LLonch M., Liu, S., Botteman, M. F., Lasch, K., Rodriguez, S., Castiglione, B. | 10.1016/j.jval.2014.03.1 038 |
| Effect of ivacaftor on circulating inflammatory indices in CF patients with the G551D-CFTR mutation | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2013 | Seliger, V. I., Accurso, F. J., Konstan, M. W., Dong, Q., Lubarsky, B., Mueller, P. | 10.1002/ppul.22898 |
| Pulmonary exacerbations in a Phase 3 trial of ivacaftor in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have the G551D- CFTR mutation | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2012 | Griese, M., Ramsey, B., Rodriguez, S., Yen, K., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2812%2960213- 6 |
| Study of Ivacaftor in Cystic Fibrosis Subjects Aged 12 Years and Older With the G551D Mutation | 2009 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT00909532 |



| 2009 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://www.clinicaltrialsr egister.eu/ctr- search/trial/2008- 007416-15/GB |
|---|--|---|
| | | |
| Pediatric Pulmonology, 2013 | De Boeck, K., Paskavitz, J., Chen, X., Higgins, M. | 10.1002/ppul.22898 |
| Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014 | De Boeck, K., Munck, A., Walker, S., Faro, A., Hiatt, P., Gilmartin, G., Higgins, M. | 10.1016/j.jcf.2014.09.00 5 |
| of ivacaftor, a CFTR potentiator, in patients fibrosis and a non-G551D-CFTR gating the KONNECTION study Journal of 2014 De Boeck, K., Munck, A., Walker, S., Faro, A., Hiatt, P., Chan, J., Gilmartin, G. | | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(14)60004-7 |
| 2012 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT01614470 |
| 2012 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://www.clinicaltrialsr egister.eu/ctr- search/trial/2012- 000388-26/results |
| | | |
| The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2015 | Moss, R. B., Flume, P. A., Elborn, J. S., Cooke, J., Rowe, S. M., McColley, S. A., Rubenstein, R. C., Higgins, M. | 10.1016/S2213- 2600%2815%2900201- 5 |
| Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014 | Moss, R. B., Flume, P. A., Elborn, J. S., Cooke, J., Rowe, S. M., McColley, S. A., Rubenstein, R. C., Higgins, M. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(14)60137-5 |
| | 2009Pediatric Pulmonology, 2013Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 201420122012The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2015Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014 | 2009EU Clinical Trials Register RecordPediatric Pulmonology, 2013De Boeck, K., Paskavitz, J., Chen, X., Higgins, M.Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014De Boeck, K., Munck, A., Walker, S., Faro, A., Hiatt, P., Gilmartin, G., Higgins, M.Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014De Boeck, K., Munck, A., Walker, S., Faro, A., Hiatt, P., Gilmartin, G., Higgins, M.Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014De Boeck, K., Munck, A., Walker, S., Faro, A., Hiatt, P., Chan, J., Gilmartin, G.2012US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record2013EU Clinical Trials Register RecordThe Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 2015Moss, R. B., Flume, P. A., Elborn, J. S., Cooke, J., Rowe, S. M., McColley, S. A., Rubenstein, R. C., Higgins, M.Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2014Moss, R. B., Flume, P. A., Elborn, J. S., Cooke, J., Rowe, S. M., McColley, S. A., Rubenstein, R. C., Higgins, M. |

| Effects of ivacaftor in CF patients with R117H-CFTR | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2014 | Moss, R., Flume, P. A., Elborn, J., Cooke, J., Rowe, S. M., McColley, S. A., Rubenstein, R. C., Pilewski, J. M., Higgins, M. | 10.1002/ppul.23108 |
|--|--|---|--|
| Study of ivacaftor in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have the R117H-CFTR mutation (KONDUCT) | 2012 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record (duplicate of record below, erroneously included in review) | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT01614457 |
| Study of Ivacaftor in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Who Have the R117H-CF Transmembrane Conductance Regulator (CFTR) Mutation (KONDUCT) | 2012 | US National Institutes of Health Database (ClinicalTrials.gov) Record | https://clinicaltrials.gov/c t2/show/NCT01614457 |
| A Phase 3, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo- Controlled, Parallel-Group Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Ivacaftor in Subjects With Cystic Fibrosis who Have the R117H-CFTR Mutation | 2012 | EU Clinical Trials Register Record | https://www.clinicaltrialsr egister.eu/ctr- search/search?query=2 012-000387-19 |
| Pooled analyses | | | |
| Improved FEV1 based on airway recruitment and reduced airway narrowing in patients with CF receiving CFTR modulator therapy | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2016 | Ingenito, E. P., Waltz, D., Higgins, M., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Huang, X., Liu, L., Elborn, J. S., Ramsey, B., McKee, C. | 10.1002/ppul.23576 |
| Patient-reported outcomes in Phase 3 trials of ivacaftor in subjects with CF who have the G551D-CFTR mutation | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2012 | Quittner, A. L., Ramsey, B., Dong, Q., Yen, K., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2812%2960212- 4 |
| Patient-reported outcomes in phase 3 trials of ivacaftor in subjects with CF who have the G551D-CFTR mutation | atient-reported outcomes in phase 3 trials of ivacaftor subjects with CF who have the G551D-CFTR Pulmonology, utation 2012 Quittner, A., Ramsey, B., Rodriguez, S., Yen, K., Elborn, J. S. | | 10.1002/ppul.22682 |
| Pulmonary effects of the investigational CFTR potentiator, ivacaftor, in two phase 3 trials in subjects with CF who have the G551D-CFTR mutation | American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2012 | Elborn, S., Wainwright, C., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Nasr, S., Rodriguez, S., Yen, K., Ramsey, B. | 10.1164/ajrccm- conference.2012.185.1_ MeetingAbstracts.A2464 |



| Lung function, weight, and sweat chloride responses in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation treated with ivacaftor: A secondary analysis | European Respiratory Journal, 2013 | Elborn, S., Plant, B., Konstan, M., Aherns, R., Rodriguez, S., Munck, A., Johnson, C. | 42: 5059 |
|--|---|---|---|
| Lung function, weight, and sweat chloride responses in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation treated with ivacaftor: a secondary analysis | Journal of cystic fibrosis, 2013 | Plant, B. J., Konstan, M., Aherns, R., Rodriguez, S., Munck, A., Elborn, J. S., Johnson, C. M. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(13)60195-2 |
| Effects of the CFTR potentiator, ivacaftor, in two phase 3 trials in subjects with CF who have the G551D-CFTR mutation | European Respiratory Journal, 2012 | Elborn, J. S., Wainwright, C., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Rodriguez, S., Yen, K., Ramsey, B. | 40: 184 |
| Effect of ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation who have baseline FEV1 >90% of predicted | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2013 | iatric nonology, Elborn, J. S., Rodriguez, S., Lubarsky, B., Gilmartin, G., Bell, S. 3 | |
| Nutritional status measures among persons with CF carrying the G551D-CFTR mutation who received ivacaftor or placebo in phase 3 clinical trials | s with CF Pediatric eceived Pulmonology, Borowitz, D., Ramsey, B., Rodriguez, S., Yen, K., Elborn, J. S. s 2012 | | 10.1002/ppul.22682 |
| Measures of nutritional status in two Phase 3 trials of ivacaftor in subjects with cystic fibrosis who have the G551D-CFTR mutation | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2012 | Borowitz, D., Ramsey, B., Dong, Q., Yen, K., Elborn, J. S. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993%2812%2960041- 1 |
| Improved rate of decline in percent predicted FEV1 is not associated with acute improvement in percent predicted fev1 in patients with CF treated with ivacaftor | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2015 | McKone, E., Sawicki, G., Millar, S., Pasta, D., Rubin, J., Johnson, C., Konstan, M., Wagener, J. | 10.1002/ppul.23297 |
| Efficacy response in CF patients treated with ivacaftor: Post-hoc analysis | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2015 | Konstan, M. W., Plant, B. J., Elborn, J. S., Rodriguez, S., Munck, A., Ahrens, R., Johnson, C. | 10.1002/ppul.23173 |
| Nutritional Status Improved in Cystic Fibrosis Patients with the G551D Mutation After Treatment with Ivacaftor | Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 2016 | Borowitz, D., Lubarsky, B., Wilschanski, M., Munck, A., Gelfond, D., Bodewes, F., Schwarzenberg, S. J. | 10.1007/s10620-015- 3834-2 |



| Pulmonary exacerbations in CF patients with the G551D-CFTR mutation treated with ivacaftor | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2013 | Flume, P., Wainwright, C. E., Tullis, E., Rodriguez, S., Davies, J., Wagener, J. | 10.1016/S1569- 1993(13)60200-3 | | | |
|--|--|--|-----------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Retrospective analysis of physiological response patterns to tezacaftor/ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508DEL-CFTR or heterozygous for F508DEL-CFTR and a residual function mutation | Thorax, 2018 | Ingenito, E., Nair, N., Yi, B., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Elborn, J. S., Rowe, S. M. | 10.1136/thorax-2018- 212555.75 | | | |
| Retrospective analysis of physiological response patterns to tezacaftor/ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR or heterozygous for F508del-CFTR and a residual function mutation | Pediatric Pulmonology, 2018 | Ingenito, E., Nair, N., Yi, B., Lekstrom-Himes, J., Elborn, J., Rowe, S. M. | 10.1002/ppul.24152 | | | |
| Clinical development of triple-combination CFTR modulators for cystic fibrosis patients with one or two F508del alleles | ERJ Open Research, 2019 | Taylor-Cousar, J. L., Mall, M. A., Ramsey, B. W., McKone, E. F., Tullis, E., Marigowda, G., McKee, C. M., Waltz, D., Moskowitz, S. M., Savage, J., Xuan, F., Rowe, S. M. | 10.1183/23120541.0008 2-2019 | | | |
| Non-respiratory health-related quality of life in people with cystic fibrosis receiving elexacaftor/tezacaftor/ivacaftor | Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 2022 | Fajac, I., Daines, C., Durieu, I., Goralski, J. L., Heijerman, H., Knoop, C., Majoor, C., Bruinsma, B. G., Moskowitz, S., Prieto-Centurion, V., Van Brunt, K., Zhang, Y., Quittner, A. | 10.1016/j.jcf.2022.08.01 8 | | | |
| *Record identified as erroneously excluded at title and abstract appraisal during guality control | | | | | | |

9.5 Tables of excluded and deprioritised records with rationale

| Study | VX Protocol | Genotype/Mutation | Age | Interventions and comparators | Phase and Randomisation | Linked references | Reason for deprioritisation |
|-----------------------------|------------------|-------------------|---------|-------------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|--|
| Accurso 2010 ²⁶⁸ | VX06-770- 101 | G551D | 18+ | IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 268-277 | Study of ivacaftor monotherapy that did not report subgroup data for F/Gating population |
| Boyle 2014 ²⁷⁸ | VX09-809- 102 | F/F | 18+ | LUM/IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 278-285 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
| Davies 2013 ²⁸⁶ | VX08-770- 103 | G551D | 6 to 11 | IVA, PBO | Phase 3, randomised | 287-294 | Study of ivacaftor monotherapy that did not report subgroup data for F/Gating population |

Table 110. Table of studies included in the SLR but deprioritised for extractions following the pre-specified prioritisation plan in the Assessment Protocol.

BMJ TAG

PAGE 377

| Milla 2017 ²⁹⁵ | VX13-809- 011 | F/F | 6 to 11 | LUM/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 295-298 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
|----------------------------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------------------|--------------|-----------------------------|--------------|--|
| Donaldson 2018 ²⁹⁹ | VX11-661- 101 | F/F F/Gating | 18+ F/F 12+ F/Gating | TEZ/IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 299-305 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for 12+ F/F TEZ/IVA population and F/Gating is outside of marketing authorisation for TEZ/IVA |
| Williams 2015 ²⁶⁴ | NA | G551D | 18+ | IVA, PBO | NR, randomised | 264, 306 | Study of ivacaftor monotherapy that did not report subgroup data for F/Gating population |
| McNamara 2019 ³⁰⁷ | VX15-809- 115 | F/F | 2 to 5 | LUM/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 160, 307-309 | PBO controlled randomised Phase 2 trial data available for LUM/IVA the F/F 2 to 5 population |

| Hoppe 2021 ³¹⁰ | VX16-809- 116 | F/F | 2 to 5 | LUM/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 310-313 | Long-term extension study of McNamara 2019 |
|-----------------------------|------------------|-------------|--------|---------------------|-----------------------------|----------|--|
| Schwarz 2021 ³¹⁴ | VX16-661- 114 | F/F | 12+ | TEZ/IVA, PBO | Phase 3, randomised | 314-317 | Study of subgroup of people with CF who had discontinued LUM/IVA due to respiratory symptoms considered related to treatment |
| Keating 2019 ³¹⁸ | VX16-445- 001 | F/F F/MF | 18+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 318-321 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
| McNally 2022 ²⁶¹ | NA | F/X | 6+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Phase 4, non- randomised | 261, 322 | Observational Phase 4 clinical trial where RCT data are available. |
| Sagel 2021 ²⁶² | NA | F/F | 6+ | LUM/IVA | NR, non-randomised | 262, 263 | Observational study where RCT data are available |

| Walker 2019 ³²³ | VX15-661- 113 | F/F F/RF | 6 to 11 | TEZ/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 323-325 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
|----------------------------------|------------------|-------------|----------|--------------|-----------------------------|----------|--|
| NCT02730208 ³²⁶ | VX15-661- 112 | F/F | 12+ | TEZ/IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 326, 327 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
| NCT02508207 ³²⁸ | VX14-661- 111 | F/F | 18+ | TEZ/IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 328 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
| NCT02070744 ³²⁹ | VX13-661- 103 | F/F | 18+ | TEZ/IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 329 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
| Davies 2013 ³³⁰ | VX10-770- 106 | G551D | 6+ | IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 330-341 | Study of ivacaftor monotherapy that did not report subgroup data for F/Gating population |
| Edgeworth 2017 ³⁴² | NA | G551D | 16 to 70 | IVA, PBO | Phase 4, randomised | 342-352 | Study of ivacaftor monotherapy that did not report subgroup |

| | | | | | | | data for F/Gating population |
|----------------------------|------------------|---|----------|--------------|-----------------------------|----------|--|
| Ng 2021 ³⁵³ | NA | F/F | 12 to 40 | TEZ/IVA, PBO | Phase 2, randomised | 353, 354 | Phase 3 RCT data are available for this population |
| NCT02742519 ³⁵⁵ | VX15-770- 123 | G551D, G178R, S549N, S549R, G551S, G1244E, S1251N, S1255P, or G1349D. | 3 to 5 | IVA, PBO | Phase 3, randomised | 355 | Study of ivacaftor monotherapy that did not report subgroup data for F/Gating population. No randomised ELX/TEZ/IVA data in this age group. |
| NCT05111145 ³⁵⁶ | VX20-445-121 | NR | 12+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 356 | No results available at time of review. |
| NCT05153317 ³⁵⁷ | VX20-445-112 | NR | 2+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 357 | Extension study of VX20-445-111 Part B. No results available at time of review. |

| NCT04969224 ³⁵⁸ | VX20-445-126 | F/Gating | 12+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 358 | No results available at time of review. |
|-----------------------------|--------------|----------|-----|-------------|-----------------------------|-----|--|
| NCT04599465 ³⁵⁹ | VX19-445-117 | F/MF | 12+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 359 | No results available at time of review; subgroup of people with abnormal glucose metabolism. |
| NCT04545515 ³⁶⁰ | VX20-445-119 | F/MF | 6+ | ELX/TEZ/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 360 | No results available at time of review. |
| NCT04235140 ³⁶¹ | VX19-809-124 | F/F | 1+ | LUM/IVA | Phase 3, non- randomised | 361 | No results available at time of review; Long- term extension of included Rayment 2022 study. |
| NCT03956589 ²⁶⁵ | NA | F/F | 12+ | LUM/IVA | Phase 4, non- randomised | 265 | No results available at time of review. |
| DRKS00023862 ²⁶⁶ | NA | NR | 12+ | LUM/IVA | Phase 4, non- randomised | 266 | No results available at time of review. |

| DRKS00022267 ²⁶⁷ | NA NR | IR | 2 to 12 | LUM/IVA | Phase 4, non- randomised | 267 | No results available at time of review. |
|-----------------------------|-------|----|---------|---------|-----------------------------|-----|---|
|-----------------------------|-------|----|---------|---------|-----------------------------|-----|---|

Table 111. Table of studies excluded at the full-text appraisal stage of the clinical systematic literature review.

| Study | Linked References Excluded | Reason for exclusion |
|----------------------------|--|--|
| Clancy 2012 ³⁶² | Clancy 2010a; ³⁶³ Clancy 2010b; ³⁶⁴ Clancy 2010c; ³⁶⁵ Clancy 2011a ³⁶⁶ Clancy 2012; ³⁶² Lu 2011; ³⁶⁷ NCT00865904; ³⁶⁸ EUCTR2008-006446-25 ³⁶⁹ | Irrelevant intervention – lumacaftor monotherapy |
| Davies 2018 ³⁷⁰ | Davies 2018 ³⁷⁰ | Irrelevant intervention – VX659 |
| Flume 2012 ³⁷¹ | Flume 2011a; ³⁷² Flume 2011b; ³⁷³ Flume 2012 ³⁷¹ | Irrelevant genotype for intervention – Study of ivacaftor monotherapy in F/F genotype |
| Kerem 2021 ³⁷⁴ | Kerem 2020; ³⁷⁵ Kerem 2021a; ³⁷⁴ Kerem 2021b ³⁷⁴ | Irrelevant genotype for intervention – Study of ivacaftor monotherapy in F/RF genotype |
| McKone 2021 ³⁷⁶ | McKone 2021; ³⁷⁶ NCT02412111; ³⁷⁷ EUCTR2014-004838-25 ³⁷⁸ | Irrelevant genotype for intervention – Study of TEZ/IVA in F/Gating genotype |
| Munck 2020 ³⁷⁹ | Munck 2020; ³⁷⁹ NCT02516410; ³⁸⁰ EUCTR2014-004787-37 ^{381, 382} | Irrelevant genotype for intervention – Study of TEZ/IVA in F/MF genotype |



| Berkers 2021 ³⁸³ | Berkers 2021; ³⁸³ EUCTR2016-001585-29 ³⁸⁴ | Irrelevant genotype for intervention – Study of LUM/IVA in people with an <i>A455E</i> mutation | |
|---|--|---|--|
| McKone 2014 ³⁸⁵ | McKone 2011; ³⁸⁶ McKone 2012a; ³⁸⁷ McKone 2012b; ³⁸⁸ McKone 2013; ³⁸⁹ McKone 2014 ³⁸⁵ | Study design – Non-randomised study of ivacaftor monotherapy | |
| Altes 2017 ³⁹⁰ | Altes 2012a; ³⁹¹ Altes 2012b; ³⁹² Altes 2012c; ³⁹³ Altes 2014 ³⁹⁴ | Study design – small N pre-post study | |
| Sawicki 2017 ³⁹⁵ | Sawicki 2017 ³⁹⁵ | Study design – observational | |
| Gilmartin 2018 ³⁹⁶ | Gilmartin 2018 ³⁹⁶ | Study design – in vitro study linked to excluded RCT | |
| Nick 2020 ³⁹⁷ | Nick 2014a; ³⁹⁸ Nick 2014b; ³⁹⁹ Nick 2020 ³⁹⁷ | Study design – pilot study | |
| McGarry 2015 ⁴⁰⁰ | McGarry 2015 ⁴⁰⁰ | Study design – N-of-one trial, ivacaftor monotherapy without relevant genotype reported | |
| At full text appraisal, 8 further records were excluded due to being duplicates and 2 for being supplementary material associated with included studies | | | |



9.6 Detailed data extraction tables

9.6.1 Economic evaluation searches data extraction

| Author, year, country | Patient population | Key model inputs | Cost-effectiveness results |
|---|---|--|---|
| Multiple CFTR mod | ulators | | |
| Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER), 2018, USA ¹⁹⁵ | Patients with CF in both homogenous and heterozygous (gating mutation or RF) | Treatment effect is modelled as an immediate increase in ppFEV ₁ , weight for age z-score, and a decrease in the annual number of acute pulmonary exacerbations, sourced from the key trials relevant to the intervention Long term efficacy: assumed no decline in ppFEV ₁ for the first 2 years on treatment followed by a decline of 50% of the ECM rate for the remainder of the model Mortality is a combination of age specific mortality based on USA life table and a CF-specific rate (function of sex, ppFEV ₁ , weight-for-age z-scores, number of acute pulmonary exacerbations, diagnosis of CF-related diabetes, pancreatic sufficiency, and B. cepacia infection based on Liou <i>et al.</i> 2021 survival model. However S.aurus infection was not included in the model as Liou found the impact was decrease mortality - ICER found no explanation as to why this would be the case and so removed this from the Liou model Adverse events not explicitly modelled in terms of costs or disutility but captured in discontinuations | Base-case results - all CFTR modulators ICER compared to ECM alone only homozygous for the F508del mutation: LUM/IVA: \$890,739 per QALY TEZ/IVA: \$974,348 per QALY heterozygous for the F508del mutation with residual function: TEZ/IVA: \$941,110 per QALY IVA: \$840,568 per QALY heterozygous for the F508del mutation with gating function IVA: \$956,762 per QALY gained |
| | | Compliance based on rates reported in trials | |

| Institute for | Target population is | Treatment effectiveness: | Base-case results - all CFTR modulators ICER compared to |
|---------------------|-----------------------------|--|---|
| Clinical and | patients both | Treatment effect is modelled as an immediate increase in | ECM alone only |
| Economic Review | homozygous and | ppFEV ₁ , weight for age z-score, and a decrease in the | |
| (ICER) 2020, | heterozygous for the | annual number of acute pulmonary exacerbations. | homozygous for the F508del mutation: |
| USA ¹⁹⁶ | F508del mutation | Patients switching CFTR modulators are assumed to | LUM/IVA: \$1,480,000 per QALY |
| | | experience the net increase in ppFEV1 between the two | TEZ/IVA: \$1,380,000 per QALY |
| | Patients started on a | drugs, based on trial data where available. | ELX/TEZ/IVA: \$1,160,000 per QALY |
| | CFTR modulator when | | |
| | they were first eligible to | Long term treatment effect was assumed to be no ppFEV1 | heterozygous for the F508del mutation with residual function: |
| | receive that modulator as | decline whilst on the CFTR modulator for 2 years followed | TEZ/IVA: \$1,340,000 per QALY |
| | per the marketing | by a decline that is 50% of the standard care rate after | ELX/TEZ/IVA: \$1,100,000 per QALY |
| | authorisation and then | this time point for all CFTR modulators. | |
| | switch to a "more | | heterozygous for the F508del mutation with minimal function |
| | effective" modulator | Assumed no additional costs and disutilities due to AEs | ELX/TEZ/IVA: \$1,050,000 per QALY gained |
| | when they become age | but assumed those who discontinued in trials included | |
| | eligible | those discontinuing due to AEs | |
| Elexacaftor/Tezacat | for/Ivacaftor (ELX/TEZ/IVA) | | |

| CADTH Common Drug Review, 2021, Canada ²¹⁰ Target pop patients w 12 years w least 1 F50 in the CFT genotypes separate a 1. Homozy F508del-C 2. Heteroz F508del-C 2. Heteroz F508del-C minimal fu (F/MF) 3. Heteroz F508del-C residual m 4. Heteroz F508del-C gating mut inclusive of Also include analysis of monothera with an F/C | pulation is ith CF aged \geq who have at 08del mutation IR gene. 4 s considered in analyses: ygous for CFTR (F/F) zygous for CFTR with 1 unction mutationTreatment was ass through effects relation from key trials and ECMPatients on ELX/TE experience any dec after which it decline, based on of removed the relative weeks in their ownZygous for CFTR with 1 unction mutationDiscontinuation rate taken from the phase monotherapy. A 'po weeks used extense discontinuation occZygous for CFTR with a tation (F/G), of R117HDiscontinuation rate taken from the phase monotherapy. A 'po weeks used extense discontinuation occde a subgroup f IVA apy for patients G genotypeCompliance rates: 1 (genotype specific) study by Suthoff 20 Compliance affects The Company assu CADTH re-analyse | umed to impact disease progression ting to ppFEV ₁ , weight for age score, ate. Data on effectiveness was taken ITC (Bucher method) undertaken for EZ/IVA were assumed not to cline in ppFEV ₁ for the initial 96 weeks, ed at a rate of 61.5% of the ECM data from TEZ/IVA- CADTH analyses re reduction in ppFEV ₁ decline post 96 base-case es: up to the trial duration period were se III trials for ELX/TEZ/IVA and IVA ost-acute' phase up to an additional 96 ion studies. After this point no further surred. Taken from trials for first 24 weeks . Beyond the trial period taken from a 16 ⁴⁰¹ (not genotype specific). costs only and not treatment efficacy. umed 80% compliance whereas s assumed 100% compliance | Company's base case results: F/F genotype: incremental costs of \$4,638,324 and QALYs of 12.93. ICER = \$358,763 per QALY F/MF genotype: incremental costs of \$4,526,116 and QALYs of 12.59. ICER = \$359,597 per QALY F/RF genotype: incremental costs of \$3,782,240 and QALYs of 7.12. ICER = \$531,195 per QALY CADTH re-analyses base case results: F/F genotype: incremental costs of \$8,171,598 and QALYs of 7.13. ICER = \$1,140,840 per QALY F/MF genotype: incremental costs of \$7,916,634 and QALYs of 6.88. ICER = \$1,150,105 per QALY F/RF genotype: incremental costs of \$6,412,761 and QALYs of 3.35. ICER = \$1,911,977 per QALY |
|--|---|--|--|
|--|---|--|--|

| CADTH Common Drug Review, 2022, Canada ¹¹¹ | This is an extension of the previously submitted and reviewed submission for those are 12+ focusing on those aged 6-11 years old. | Treatment effectiveness: Treatment impacts disease progression through effects relating to ppFEV ₁ , weight for age score, and exacerbation rate sourced through the relevant clinical trials. Indirect treatment comparison was undertaken on patient level data as placebo-adjusted estimates were required. | Company's base case results: F/F genotype: incremental costs of \$2,792,413 and QALYs of 8.63 when compared with LUM/IVA. ICER = \$323,602 per QALY. When compared with ECM, it resulted in incremental costs of \$6,662,694 and QALYS of 14.76. ICER = \$451,377 per QALY. |
|---|--|---|--|
| | Target population is patients with CF aged ≥ 6 | Reduction in rate of ppFEV ₁ decline for patients on CFTR | F/MF genotype: incremental costs of \$6,689,307 and QALYs of 14.66. ICER = \$456,394 per QALY versus ECM |
| | F508del mutation in the CFTR gene. 4 genotypes considered in separate | LUM/IVA and IVA assumed to be equal to that calculated for patients aged 12+ (47.1% and 42% reductions compared to ECM, respectively). Patients on | F/RF genotype: incremental costs of \$6,678,270 and QALYs of 10.27. ICER = \$650,475 per QALY versus ECM |
| | analyses: 1Homozygous for F508del-CFTR (F/F) 2. Heterozygous for | ELX/TEZ/IVA were assumed not to experience any decline in $ppFEV_1$ for the initial 96 weeks, after which it declined at a rate of 20% of the ECM decline – CADTH analyses removed the relative reduction in $ppFEV_1$ | Key scenario analysis undertaken for the full indicated population for ELX/TEZ/IVA (age 6+ with at least one F508del mutation). weighted ICER accounting for prevalence of each genotype = \$407,601 |
| | F508del-CFTR with 1 minimal function mutation (F/MF) | decline post 96 weeks in their own base-case Treatment discontinuation: Taken from the relevant trials | CADTH reanalyses base case results: F/F genotype: incremental costs of \$4,043,775 and QALYs of |
| | F508del-CFTR with a residual mutation (F/RF) 4. Heterozygous for | weeks. After this point no further discontinuations were assumed to occur (rates not reported) | QALY. When compared with ECM, it resulted in incremental costs of \$9,961,485 and QALYS of 6.94. ICER = \$1,434,435 per QALY. |
| | F508del-CFTR with a gating mutation (F/G), inclusive of R117H | Compliance: 93% in Company base-case taken from the trials and observational data from LUM/IVA for data beyond the trial period. Costs were adjusted by the compliance rate yet efficacy was not. CADTH analyses | F/MF genotype: incremental costs of \$9,684,715 and QALYs of 5.86. ICER = \$1,653,605 per QALY versus ECM |
| | | assumed 100% compliance to account for all drug costs | F/RF genotype: incremental costs of \$10,174,150 and QALYs of 4.17. ICER = \$2,437,481 per QALY versus ECM |
| | | Adverse events: Based on trials for the relevant genotype and CFTR modulators (rates not reported) | Key scenario assessing the cost effectiveness of ELX/TEZ/IVA in the full Health Canada population (age 6+ |
| | | Lung transplant: assumed that 11.3% of patients with a ppFEV ₁ <30% would receive a lung transplant. | with at least one F508del mutation) resulted in an overall weighted ICER of \$1,136,142 per QALY. None of CADTH's |

| | scenario analyses produced an ICER below \$878,073 per |
|--|--|
| | QALY |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), 2021, | CF patients aged 12 years and older who have at least one F508del mutation in the | Treatment effectiveness was measured in terms of change in ppFEV ₁ , weight for age z score and pulmonary exacerbations | March 2019 submission (Costs and ICERs redacted): F/F population- Incremental LYs of 3.10 for ELX/TEZ/IVA versus TEZ/IVA and incremental QALYs of 4.55. Redacted ICER in the range \$155,00<\$255,000 |
|---|--|---|--|
| Australia ²¹¹ | cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene (F/any). | Changes in ppFEV1 and weight for age score for patients on ELX/TEZ/IVA versus TEZ/IVA taken from an ITC conducted of Study 109 and EVOLVE (TEZ/IVA) in the F/F population and an ITC of Study 104 and EXPAND (TEZ/IVA) for the F/RF population. | F/RF population- Incremental LYs of 1.14 for ELX/TEZ/IVA versus TEZ/IVA and incremental QALYs of 2.25. Redacted ICER in the range \$135,00<\$155,000 |
| | | Impact on PEs taken from Study 102 for all genotypes | F/MF population- Incremental LYs of 5.44 for ELX/TEZ/IVA versus ECM and incremental QALYs of 6.47. Redacted ICER in the range \$455,00<\$555,000 |
| | | Model assumed that short term treatment effects from the | |
| | | trials last for the lifetime. The long term decrease in the rate of $ppEEV/r$ decline for TEZ/IVA versus ECM (42% of | December 2019 resubmission: |
| | | ECM) was taken from a study of lumacaftor/ivacaftor. This | FI X/TEZ/IVA versus TEZ/IVA and incremental QAI Ys |
| | | was deemed to be uncertain and overly optimistic. For | (discounted) of 4.47. Redacted ICER in the range |
| | | ELX/TEZ/IVA this rate was assumed to be 61.5% of that | \$155,00<\$255,000 |
| | | for ECM, taken from a study of TEZ/IVA patients. It is | |
| | | uncertain if this data is directly applicable for | F/MF population- Incremental LYs (undiscounted) of 26.79 for |
| | | ELX/TEZ/IVA and overly optimistic | ELX/TEZ/IVA versus ECM and incremental QALYs (discounted) of 6.72. Redacted ICER in the range |
| | | Compliance = assumed 90%. Considered inappropriate by ESC | \$155,00<\$255,000 |
| | | Following resubmission to PBAC in December 2019 the | |
| | | following model changes were implemented: | |
| | | No treatment specific utility increment applied and an 80% | |
| | | relative rate of decline in ppFEV1 for ELX/TEZ/IVA as | |
| | | opposed to original 61.5%, based on longer follow up data from Study 105. | |
| Lumacaftor/Ivacafto | or (LUM/IVA) | | |

| National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) - TA786. 2016 ²⁰² | Cystic fibrosis patients homozygous for the F508del mutation (age 12+) | Main measure of treatment effect was change in ppFEV ₁ . This was taken from the pooled placebo-adjusted mean change from baseline in ppFEV ₁ measured as the average of weeks 16 and 24 from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies (increases by 2.8 percentage points by week 16 compared to starting ppFEV ₁ and assumed to remain constant until week 24, irrespective of if they remained on treatment). The committee stated that decline in ppFEV ₁ for the treatment group post 24 weeks may overestimate the benefit as it was based on data from 4 weeks onwards which includes a period in which ppFEV1 was still improving (treatment effect peaked at 8 weeks). ppFEV ₁ post 24 weeks for the ECM group is assumed to decline with age. This is taken from prospective multicentre observational studies in the US and Canada as they deemed the cross-sectional CF registry data inferior. ppFEV ₁ decline post 24 weeks for the treatment group was taken from a combination of data from the TRAFFIC, TRANSPORT and PROGRESS (open-label extension) studies. The Company used a "mixed model with random intercepts and slopes for each patient to estimate the slope of ppFEV ₁ . The unadjusted slope was annualised, and the analyses determined that patients declined at an average of 0.68 (95% CI -1.58% to 0.16%) percentage points per year". The committee noted how it had not been sufficiently justified why USA/Canada data was more relevant to the clinical population in England, resulting in uncertainty. The committee also stated how exploratory analyses should have been undertaken using the ppFEV ₁ decline for standard of care alone based on the 24-week trial data Discontinuation rates taken from the TRAFFIC and | Company's base case results (deterministic): Incremental costs of £753,570 and QALYs of 3.45. ICER = £218,248 per QALY ERG base-case: Incremental costs of £714,637 and an incremental QALY gain of 3.22. ICER = £221,992 per QALY ERG base case a combination of the following changes: - Setting the adherence rate to 96.5% rather than 90% - People could stop lumacaftor-ivacaftor treatment after 24 weeks. The rate for people stopping treatment between weeks 24–48 were taken from PROGRESS (13.5% annually), and was assumed to be 1.9% annually hereafter in line with a rate used by the Company in its scenario analysis. - The mean absolute change in ppFEV1 from baseline was based on the 24-week time point data alone rather than the average of the 16-week and 24-week data |
|---|---|---|--|
|---|---|---|--|

| TRANSPORT trials (6.8%) during the 24 week trial period. No change in treatment efficacy is applied for patients who discontinue during this period. Patients discontinuing after the initial 24 weeks have the same ppFEV ₁ decline as SoC patients. | |
|--|--|
| Treatment adherence used by the Company is 90%. Trial adherence was 96.5% but deemed to be unrealistically high due to trial settings. The ERG and committee stated that the trial value should be used if not adjusting efficacy | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

| Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC), 2016, Scotland ²⁰⁶ | CF patients aged 12 years and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation | Treatment effectiveness was measured through changes in ppFEV ₁ , pulmonary exacerbations and weight for age z score taken from the TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials. The annual rate of pulmonary exacerbations was taken from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials for the treatment arm (rate reduction) and published studies for standard care arm. The weight-for-age z-scores for the standard care arm were assumed to remain at baseline for the entire time horizon and the values reported in the studies were not used. | Company's base case ICER = £310,879 per QALY gained |
|---|--|--|---|
| Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC), 2019a, Scotland ²⁰⁷ | CF patients aged 6 years and older and aged 2 to 5 years who are homozygous for the F508del mutation | Treatment effectiveness was measured through changes in ppFEV ₁ , pulmonary exacerbations and weight for age z score For patients aged 12 years + this data were from a pooled analysis of the TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies. For patients aged 6 to 11 years, taken from study 109 and study 011. For patients aged 2 to 5 years, there was no placebo- controlled evidence available. Treatment adherence: adherence is assumed to be 80% based on retrospective USA claims data. This results in a 20% decrease in the cost of the drug | Company's base case results: Incremental costs of £930,000 and QALYS of 4.33. ICER = £214,772 per QALY gained If treatment is initiated only in patients aged 2 the ICER = approximately £173K If treatment is initiated only in patients aged 2 to 11 years the ICER = approximately £185K |

| CADTH Common Drug Review (CDR), 2016, Canada ²⁰⁰ | CF in patients aged 12 years + who are homozygous for the F508deI-CFTR mutation | Treatment effectiveness data based on TRANSPORT and TRAFFIC trials to inform changes in ppFEV ₁ , PEs and weight for age z score. Long term efficacy: Based on 24 week extension data from PROGRESS. The Company's model assumed a slower rate of decline in ppFEV ₁ for patients on LUM/IVA versus BCS. This was revised to assume improvement in ppFEV ₁ is maintained in the long term but the rate of decline is the same as ECM. Compliance = assumed to be 88% by the Company, applied by reducing drug price. CADTH instead assumed 100% compliance Company assumed a price reduction of 82% after 12 years to represent generic market access. CADTH removed this assumption from their analysis | Company's base case results: Incremental costs of \$1,718,342 and QALYS of 3.54. ICER = \$485,767 per QALY gained CDR re-analyses base case results: Incremental costs of \$1,995,321 and QALYS of 0.42. ICER = \$4,773,615 per QALY gained |
|--|---|---|--|
| CADTH Common Drug Review (CDR), 2018, Canada ²⁰¹ | Target population is patients 6 years of age and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation. Includes analyses for patients 6-11 and age 12+ separately | Treatment effectiveness: Treatment impacts disease progression through effects relating to ppFEV ₁ ,weight for age score, and exacerbation rates. For the first 24 weeks of the model, changes in ppFEV ₁ is taken from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies for patients aged over 12 and the 809-109 study for patients aged between six and 12. Post 24 weeks, the model used extension data from PROGRESS and the CDR analyses assumed a continuous treatment effect (same rate of decline) with both LUM/IVA + SoC and SoC alone post 24 weeks. This differed to the Company's submitted model which assumed a differential rate of decline favouring LUM/IVA + SoC based on short term observational studies | Company's base-case ICER (age 6+) = \$446,529 CDR re-analyses base case cost per QALY gained (age 12+) = \$3,785,432 CDR re-analyses base case cost per QALY gained (age 6- 11) = \$7,258,514 |

| | | Data on exacerbation rate as a function of ppFEV1 is sourced from analysis of USA CF registry data (figures not reported CADTH report) Adverse event rates are taken from clinical trials data but figures not reported in CADTH report | |
|--|---|--|---|
| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), 2018b, Australia ²⁰³ * combines multiple summary documents from resubmissions, extraction details results and final model inputs from the most recent submission, utilising earlier versions for details where needed | CF patients aged 12+ homozygous for the F508del mutation | Treatment effectiveness data taken from TRAFFIC & TRANSPORT trials to inform changes in ppFEV ₁ , PE's and weight for age z score Long term efficacy data based on PROGRESS 96 week open label extension trial to inform the rate of decline in ppFEV ₁ (42% of that of ECM) and weight for age z score post 24 weeks. Baseline hazard function for mortality is taken from Irish CF Registry 2013 Company assumed a price reduction at patent expiry (price reduction redacted) | Incremental QALYs of 1.97. Redacted ICER in the range \$105,000 - \$200,000 per QALY |
| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), 2018a, Australia ²⁰⁴ | CF patients aged 6-11 homozygous for the F508del mutation | Data from Study 109 informed changes in ppFEV₁ for patients ages 6-11 whilst changes in weight for age z score were informed by TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials. Long term efficacy (decline in ppFEV₁ post 24 weeks and changes in weight for age z score) informed by PROGRESS trial Baseline hazard function for mortality is taken from Irish CF Registry 2013 | Incremental QALYs of 3.19. Redacted ICER in the range \$105,000 - \$200,000 per QALY |

| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), 2019b, Australia ²⁰⁵ | CF patients aged 2–5 years who are homozygous for the F508del mutation | Data from Study 109 informed changes in ppFEV₁ for patients ages 6-11 whilst changes in weight for age z score were informed by TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials. Long term efficacy (decline in ppFEV₁ post 24 weeks (42%) and changes in weight for age z score) informed by PROGRESS trial. Baseline hazard function for mortality is taken from Irish CF Registry 2013 The only differences in the model compared to PBAC, 2018 study for patients ages 6-11 was treatment compliance of 99.20% for patients aged 2 to 5 years, informed by study 115. | Patients aged 2-5: Incremental QALYs of 2.42. Redacted ICER in the range \$105,000 - \$200,000 per QALY Patients aged 6+: Incremental QALYs of 1.83. Redacted ICER in the range \$105,000 - \$200,000 per QALY |
|--|---|---|---|
| Dilokthornsakul, P., <i>et al.</i> 2017, USA ¹⁹⁷ | CF patients (25+) with homozygous phe508del mutation | Data from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials was used to inform treatment effect on ppFEV1 which determined the probability of moving from moderate to mild health states and severe to moderate. Transition probability table not provided in report Efficacy of LUM/IVA is assumed to remain constant in the first 2 years then reduce to 50% of that rate for subsequent years. Mortality risks for severe and moderate lung disease ad lung transplantation were sourced from the literature but not reported | Incremental life-years of 2.91 (95% CI 2.55–3.56) Incremental costs of \$2,632,249 (95% CIs \$1,094,846– \$3,628,261) Incremental QALYs of 2.42 (95% CIs 2.10–2.98). ICER not reported |
| Sharma, D <i>et al.</i> , 2018, USA ¹⁹⁸ | 12 year old CF patients with homozygous F508del mutation | Data from TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials informed changes in ppFEV1 and pulmonary exacerbations between the two treatment arms. Long term efficacy is assumed to remain 100% throughout the model time horizon in the base case (i.e. no progression to severe health states and constant risk ration for PE reductions whilst on treatment) Lung transplant - age specific rates calculated from USA CF foundation patient registry annual report 2016 Mortality rates sourced from the literature and used age specific mortality rates for the CF population No adverse events noted | Base case analysis: Incremental costs of \$1,662,765 and QALYs of 0.45 compared with usual care. ICER = \$3,655,352 per QALY gained Sensitivity analyses resulted in ICERs in the range of \$2,773,949 - \$5,357,736, with the utility value used in the mild health state having the largest impact. | | | | |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Vadagam P <i>et al.</i> , 2018, USA ¹⁹⁹ | CF patients 12 years + with homozygous F508del mutation | Efficacy measured a change in ppFEV ₁ sourced from the TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT trials Risk of pulmonary exacerbations and discontinuation rates due to AEs was based on 48 week safety data Adverse events included those that occurred in at least 10% of patients in any treatment group. The most commonly reported SAE was pulmonary exacerbation Due to short time horizon of the model (1 year) no lung transplantation or mortality was included | Main outcome was incremental cost per absolute ppFEV ₁ . ICER = \$95,016 | | | | |
| Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor | Tezacaftor/Ivacaftor (TEZ/IVA) | | | | | | |

| Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC), 2019b, | CF patients 12 years and older who are homozygous for the F508del mutation or who | Treatment effectiveness was measured through changes in ppFEV ₁ , pulmonary exacerbations and weight for age z score (heterozygous population only) | Company's base case results: Homozygous populations - incremental costs of £1,528,711 and QALYs of 3.63. ICER = £421,173 per QALY gained |
|--|--|--|---|
| Scotland ²⁰⁹ | are heterozygous for the | Data from the EVOLVE trial was used for homozygous | Heterozygous population - incremental costs of £1,820,962 |
| | F508del mutation with residual function | patients and the EXPAND trial for heterozygous patients | and QALYs of 5.05. ICER = £360,499 per QALY gained |
| | | Long term decline in ppFEV1 used proxy data from other | |
| | | CFTR modulator trials. For homozygous patients, data | |
| | | from the phase 3 trials and open label extensions for | |
| | | lumacaftor/ivacaftor was compared with homozygous | |
| | | patients from the US Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient | |
| | | Registry (CFFPR). For heterozygous patients, a proxy for | |
| | | percentage reduction in long term ppFEV1 decline was | |
| | | derived from comparing data on decline in the trials for | |
| | | ivacaftor monotherapy with patients with homozygous | |
| | | mutation in the US CFFPR. | |
| | | T 1 1 1 1000/ 1/ 1/ 1/ | |
| | | I reatment compliance of 80% assumed (resulting in cost | |
| | | reduction only) | |

| Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBACa), 2019, Australia ²⁰⁸ | CF patients 12 years and older heterozygous for the F508del mutation with residual function | Treatment effects based on Study 108 Changes in treatment effect over time based on extension study PROGRESS (LUM/IVA for patients homozygous for the F508del mutation) and large longitudinal registry analyses | Incremental costs and ICERs were redacted but noted to be over \$200,000 (AUS\$) Submission base case: Incremental QALYs = 2.44 ESC base case: Incremental QALYs = 1.57 |
|--|--|---|--|
| | | Baseline hazard function, a Gompertz parametric distribution, was applied to extrapolate data from the Kaplan-Meier (KM) curve of patients from the Irish CF registry (not just RF patients). The hazard was then adjusted using based on patient characteristic from the Liou <i>et al.</i> 2001 survival model based on patient characteristics from Study 108 | |
| | | Long term decrease in the rate of decline in ppFEV ₁ (42%) for patients on tezacaftor/ivacaftor beyond the 8 week trial period was informed by the extension trial for lumacaftor/ivacaftor (PROGRESS) - this was deemed inappropriate and removed in the ESC base-case Reduction in pulmonary exacerbations was based on Study 108. Differences between the treatment and | |
| | | placebo arm were insignificant and the ESC removed this in their base case. | |

9.6.2 HRQoL searches data extraction

| Study | Author, year | Sample size | Patient population, recruitment | Instrument | Utility results |
|-------|---------------------------------|---------------------|--|-------------------------------|---|
| 1 | Acaster <i>et al.</i> 2015 | 401 participants | Self-reported clinical diagnosis of CF, 18 years or above and currently resident in the UK. Interested participants followed a link provided by the CF Trust Mean age = 28.7+/- 8.88, 39% Male | CRQ-R & EQ- 5D | EQ-5D by FEV1 Mild FEV (>70%) = 0.74 +/-0.27 Moderate FEV (41%-70%) = 0.7+/- 0.26 Severe FEV (<41%) = 0.54 +/-0.29 Total sample = 0.67+/-0.28 |
| 2 | Acaster <i>et al.</i> 2022/2019 | 335 participants | Vean age (SD) =47.4 (16) CFQ-R (TTO) 49.8% Female 35.3% British | | Regression model used to calculate utility based on 30 different parameters. |
| 3 | Angelis <i>et al.</i> 2015 | 74 patients | Patients recruited from the CF Trust. EQ-5D, Mean age (SD) All patients: 18.3 (15.1) Adult patients 31.1 (10.1) 52.7% Male | | EQ-5D Adult CF patients (n30) = 0.64 (0.264) |
| 4 | Bradley <i>et al.</i> 2013 | 94 participants | Mean age = 28.5+/- 8.2yrs baseline FEV1 = 58.7+/-26.8% 60 patients had no pulmonary exacerbation at visit 1 | EQ-5D | No exacerbations = 0.85 (0.8-0.89) Mild PE= 0.79 (0.67-0.91) Severe PE = 0.6 (0.44-0.76) |
| 5 | Bell <i>et al.</i> 2015 | 209 patients | Patients recruited from France (61), UK (54), Germany (47), Australia (38) and Ireland (9). Only patients with CF and >/1 <i>G551D</i> mutation and were receiving IVA for >/3months, or were homozygous for the <i>F508del</i> mutation and receiving SoC. | EQ-5D, WPAI | EQ-5D G551D/IVA patient group 0.9(0.02), n=72 F508del/SoC patient group 0.81(0.02), n=137 |
| 6 | Cameron <i>et al.</i> 2021 | 51 patients | Patients attending a single large adult CF centre in England were invited to participate in remote interviews conducted by video call. Mean age = 33(18-66) | EQ-5D measured with TTO | EQ-5D Mean = $0.82(0.2)$ Base case = $0.8(0.2)$ No exacerbations = $0.84(0.16)$ 3 exacerbations = $0.73(0.23)$ |

| | | | 47% male 69% on a CFTR modulator, Mean ppFEV1 = 66% (SD 20.3) | | Additional nebulized medicine = 0.78(0.2) Additional physiotherapy = 0.77 (0.22) |
|----|--|-------------------------------------|---|--------------------|---|
| 7 | NICE TA786 2016 Lumacaftor and ivacaftor combination therapy for treating cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del mutation [ID786] | 516 patients | Pooled TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT studies LUM-IVA + SoC n=340 Mean age (SD) = 25.1 (9.33) 51.8% Male Placebo + SoC n=176 Mean age (SD) = 24.9 (10.10) 51.1% Male | EQ-5D-3L, CFQ-R | EQ-5D of all TRAFFIC and TRANSPORT patients FEV1 = mean (SD) >/90% = 0.951 (0.096) 70%-<90% = 0.933 (0.124) 40%-<70%= 0.906 (0.141) <40% = 0.878 (0.14) All patients = 0.912 (0.137) |
| 8 | Solem <i>et al.</i> 2016 | 161 patients | CF diagnosis and <i>G551D-CFTR</i> mutations Mean age = 25.5(SD 9.5) 46% Female 83% normal weight 91% history of pancreatic insufficiency 42% use inhaled cycling antibiotic | EQ-5D, VAS | EQ-5D measures by FEV1% Normal (>90): 0.931 (0.023) Mild (90% -70%): 0.923 (0.021); Moderate (70%-40%): 0.904 (0.018); severe (<40%): 0.870 (0.020) |
| 9 | Tappenden <i>et al.</i> 2013 | Taken from Bra | adley <i>et al.</i> | | FEV1% = mean EQ-5D (SD) >70 = 0.864 (0.165) 40-70 = 0.81 (0.216) <40 = 0.641 (0.319) Disutility from major exacerbation = 0.174 (0.341) Disutility from minor exacerbation = 0.015 (0.048) |
| 10 | | Stahl <i>et al.</i> 136 patients | Mean age = 64.3 Predicted mean FEV1 % = 62% 41% Female | EQ-5D | FEV1% = mean EQ-5D (SD) >79 = 0.84(0.15) 60-79 = 0.73(0.23) |

| | | | | | 40-59 = 0.74 (0.25) <40 = 0.52 (0.26) |
|----|-------------------------------------|--|---|---|--|
| 11 | Tappenden <i>et al.</i> 2017 & 2014 | Taken from Br | adley <i>et al.</i> | Same as those taken from Bradley et al, in Tappenden, 2013 | |
| 12 | Tappenden <i>et al.</i> 2023 | Used a using a de novo function developed to map from absolute FEV1% pred. scores to the 3-Level Euroqol 5-Dimensions (EQ-5D-3L) using data collected during clinic visits in the CFHH trial in Wildman <i>et al.</i> 2021 | | | FEV1 > 70% predicted. = 0.82; FEV1 40–69% pred. = 0.79; FEV1 < 40% pred. = 0.71 |
| 13 | Whiting <i>et al.</i> 2014 | Ivacaftor clinical trial 167 in adult study 52 in child study | Mean age = 20 52% Female baseline predicted FEV1 = 71% | EQ-5D | Normal (percentage predicted FEV1 \geq 90%) = 0.97 Mild (percentage predicted FEV1 70–89%) = 0.95 Moderate (percentage predicted FEV1 40– 69%) = 0.93 Severe (percentage predicted FEV1 < 40%) = 0.91 |
| 14 | | Gee et al 223 adolescent patients | Patients recruited from two specialist adult CF units in Manchester and Leeds Mean age = 25.15yrs (14 to 52 years old) 46% Male Mean BMI = 20.88 (SD 2.6) Mean FEV1 = 55.63 (SD 23.5) | SF-36 | Utility values (SD) used in basecase, based on SF-36: Mild (percentage predicted FEV1 > 70%) = 0.803 (20.1) Moderate (percentage predicted FEV1 40– 69%) = 0.749 (20.5) Severe (percentage predicted FEV1 < 40%) = 0.688 (20.2) |
| 15 | Wildman <i>et al.</i> 2021 | 607 patients | >16 with cystic fibrosis, on the cystic fibrosis registry, not post lung transplant or on the active transplant list, who were able to consent and not using dry-powder inhalers Baseline FEV1% predicted Control 56.9 (SD 23) Intervention 60.6 (24.2) | EQ-5D | Control 0.81 (0.18) Intervention 0.84(0.15) |

Abbreviations: CF, cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R, cystic fibrosis questionnaire – revised; EQ-5D, EuroQoL-5D; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume; SoC, standard of care.

9.7 NMA diagnostic plots

Figure 16. Brooks-Gelman-Rubin diagnostic plots for the F/F fixed-effect ppFEV₁ base case analysis (A), fixed-effect ppFEV₁ sensitivity analysis (B), random effects ppFEV₁ analysis (D) and the trace plots and posterior distributions of the random effects analysis (C).



Figure 17. Brooks-Gelman-Rubin diagnostic plots for the F/Gating random effects ppFEV₁ analysis (A), random effects weight-for-age z-score analysis (B), fixed-effect ppFEV₁ analysis (C) and fixed-effect weight-for-age z-score analysis (D).



Figure 18. Brooks-Gelman-Rubin diagnostic plots for the F/RF fixed-effect ppFEV₁ analysis (A), fixed-effect weight-for-age z-score analysis (B), and for the F/F fixed-effect weight-for-age z-score analysis (C).



| | All patients aged ≥6 N (%) | Patients aged 6–12 N (%) | Patients aged >12 N (%) | | |
|--|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|
| | N (70) | N (70) | N (70) | | |
| F/F | 4000 (100) | 828 (20.7) | 3172 (79.3) | | |
| F/MF | 7304 (100) | 1471 (20.1) | 5833 (79.9) | | |
| F/RF | 423 (100) | 66 (15.6) | 357 (84.4) | | |
| F/Gating | 446 (100) | 111 (24.9) | 335* (75.1) | | |
| F/Gating (patients with <i>R117H</i> mutation) | 545 (100) | 88* (16.1) | 457* (83.9) | | |
| Source: Cystic Fibrosis Trust 2018. Number of individuals eligible by genotype for CFTR modulating therapy in each nation of the UK, defined by centre attended ²⁴⁰ | | | | | |
| * When figures were reported as <5 in the CF Registry, a value of 3 was assumed Abbreviations: F/F, <i>F508del</i> homozygous: MF, minimal function: RF, residual function: N, number | | | | | |

9.8 Age distribution of patients for each genotype in CF Registry 2018 to inform model population produced by the Company

9.9 Health economic established clinical management costs

| Inhaled Antibiotics | All patients | Proportion taking drug of those on treatment | Cost per year | Weighted annual cost | Assumptions | Source |
|----------------------------------|--------------|--|---------------|-------------------------|--|---|
| Tobramycin solution | 638 | 0.167 | £30,967.98 | £5,185.71 | 300 mg every 12 hours for 28 days, subsequent courses repeated after 28-day interval without tobramycin nebuliser solution | |
| Colistin | 647 | 0.170 | £4,733.64 | £803.85 | 2 million units per day | |
| Promixin | 797 | 0.209 | £9,934.80 | £2,078.22 | 1–2 million units 2–3 times a day, for specific advice on administration using nebulisers—consult product literature; maximum 6 million units per day. | BNF drug costs |
| Aztreonam | 645 | 0.169 | £14,228.64 | £2,408.79 | 75 mg 3 times a day for 28 days, doses to be administered at least 4 hours apart, subsequent courses repeated after 28-day interval without aztreonam nebuliser solution | taking inhaled antibiotics. Drug dose from Tappenden 2023 and confirmed by clinical experts |
| Colistimetha te dry powder | 448 | 0.118 | £12,637.65 | £1,486.00 | 1.66 million units twice daily. | |
| Tobramycin dry powder | 635 | 0.167 | £11,674.96 | £1,945.83 | 112 mg every 12 hours for 28 days, subsequent courses repeated after 28-day interval without tobramycin inhalation powder. | |
| | | | | £13,908.40 | | |

Table 112. Weighted cost of inhaled antibiotics